
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

20 November 2014 
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held on Thursday, 27th November, 2014, 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room 1 Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
NON CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 
in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
 

4 Question Time:  

 To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to Executive 
Procedure Rule No. 13 
 

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 None 
 

6 Draft Base Budget Forecasts 2015/16 to 2019/20 (Pages 5 - 42) 

 (Report of the Leader of the Council) 
 

7 Quarter Two 2014/15 Performance Report (Pages 43 - 104) 

 (Report of the Leader of the Council) 
 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



8 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
Mid-year Review Report 2014/15 (Pages 105 - 124) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

9 Council Taxbase 2015/16 (Pages 125 - 128) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

10 Cabinet Report for Write Offs 01/4/14 - 30/9/14 (Pages 129 - 136) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

11 I am Tamworth (Pages 137 - 160) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

12 Tamworth Castle Accreditation Supplementary (Pages 161 - 340) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

13 Exclusion of the Press and Public (Pages 341 - 346) 

 To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 
following resolution:- 
 
“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing the 
information to the public” 
 
At the time this agenda is published two representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
 

14 Golf Course Disposal of Asset (Pages 347 - 374) 

 (Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk 
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any 
particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
 
To Councillors: D Cook, R Pritchard, S Claymore, S Doyle, and M Thurgood. 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 

HELD ON 6th NOVEMBER 2014 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor D Cook (Chair), Councillors R Pritchard, S Claymore, 

S Doyle and M Thurgood 

 
The following officers were present: Anthony E Goodwin (Chief Executive), Rob 
Barnes (Director - Housing and Health) and Andrew Barratt (Director - Assets 
and Environment) 
 
 
 

56 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
None 
 

57 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23rd October 2014 were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor M Thurgood) 
 

58 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

59 QUESTION TIME:  

 
There were no questions from the public. 
 

60 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  

 
None 
 

61 COUNCIL HOUSING TENANTS' ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Community Development and Voluntary 
Sector seeking to provide details of the Council’s Landlord Performance for 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 6 November 2014 

 

 

2 
 

2013/2014 as required under the Homes & Community Agency Landlord 
Regulatory Framework 2012 was considered.   
 
 
RESOLVED: That: 

1. the Council’s Landlord Annual Tenants’ Report (2013/14) be 
endorsed, and; 
 

2. Cabinet endorsed the distribution of the Annual Tenants’ 
Report and Open House as e publications, available on line as 
well as targeted hard copy. 
  

 (Moved by Councillor S Doyle and seconded by Councillor D 
Cook) 

 
 

62 PREPARATION OF COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS FOR LAND AND 

PROPERTY ON THE TINKERS GREEN AND KERRIA REGENERATION SITES  

 
The Report of the Leader of the Council seeking to set out the current position in 
the preparation of compulsory purchase orders for land and property on the 
Tinkers Green & Kerria regeneration sites was considered. 
 
RESOLVED: That: 

 
1. the current position of land and asset acquisitions on the two 

regeneration sites be endorsed; 
 

2. the making in principle of a compulsory purchase order under 
section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 in respect of the 
acquisition of all remaining outstanding interests in the Kerria 
as shown edged red on the plan at appendix A, including 
authority to realign the red line should land currently identified 
not be required to deliver a viable regeneration scheme be 
endorsed; 
 

3. the making in principle of a compulsory purchase order (CPO) 
in respect of acquisition of all the remaining interests on the 
Tinkers Green site (shown edged in red on the plan at 
Appendix 2) under section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 or in the 
alternative section 226 (1)(a) of the Town Planning Act 1990 
(precise power to be finalised prior to making) be endorsed; 
 

4. delegated authority be given to the Director of Assets and 
Environment in consultation with the Solicitor to the Council, to 
take all such steps as are necessary to bring the above 
recommendations into effect including (but not limited to) land 
referencing and service of notices under section 16 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 
 

5. delegated authority be given to the Director of Assets and 

Page 2



Cabinet 6 November 2014 

 

 

3 
 

Environment to grant written authority to officers to enter onto 
the land or other land for the purposes of carrying out surveys 
pursuant to section 15 of the Local Government 
(miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 
 

6. delegated authority be given to the Director of Assets and 
Environment to continue with the process to voluntary 
negotiate all interests in land required in advance of making 
the above mentioned CPOs, and; 
 

7. a further report be produced to seek full authority to the 
making of the above CPOs if voluntary negotiations to acquire 
all the interests in the sites are not successful. 
 

 (Moved by Councillor D Cook and Seconded by Councillor R 
Pritchard) 

 
 

  

 Leader  
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

CABINET 
 

27th November 2014 
 

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

DRAFT BASE BUDGET FORECASTS 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 
Purpose 
 
To inform Members of the re-priced base budget for 2015/16, base budget forecasts for 
the period 2015/16 to 2019/20 (the 5 Year Medium Term Planning Period) and the 
underlying assumptions and to consider the future strategy to address the financial 
trends. 
 
Recommendations  
 
That: 
 
1. the technical adjustments and re-priced base budget figures for 2015/16 & 

indicative budgets to 2019/20 be approved (as attached at Appendix B, C, D, E, 
F & G); 
 

2. consideration be given to the proposed Policy Changes and Capital 
Programmes, as detailed within the report;  
 

3. consideration be given to the planned Council Tax and Housing Rent 
increases for 2015/16, as detailed within the report; and 

 
4. in compliance with the Constitution of the Council, the Joint Scrutiny Budget 

Workshop be asked to consider the budget proposals contained within this 
report. 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The following detailed budget information is contained within the report: 
 

• Re-priced base budget information (& the associated technical adjustments) for 
2015/16 in respect of the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA); 

 

• A five year, medium term financial forecast for the General Fund and HRA; 
 

• The associated strategy to address the financial trends & projection; 
 

• The Provisional Capital Programmes for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account for the period 2015/16 to 2019/20. 

 
The Medium Term Financial Planning process is being challenged by the ongoing 
uncertain economic conditions. The attached forecast is based on a 5 year period, but 
does contain a number of uncertainties. The forecast grant reductions will put significant 
pressure on the ability of the Council to publish a balanced 5 Year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) – it may have to be a 3 or 4 year MTFS, in compliance with 
the Prudential Code. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 2

Currently projections identify: 
 

1. a General Fund shortfall of £0.7m over 3 years (with a shortfall of £5.8m over 5 
years), including the minimum approved level of £0.5m; 

 
2. a HRA shortfall of £0.3m over 3 years (with a shortfall of £1.0m over 5 years) 

including the minimum recommended balances of £0.5m. 
 
The key uncertainties which will inform further budget considerations before the final 
budget proposals are developed are: 
 

a) Potential changes to future New Homes bonus levels following the announcement 
that the Government will be reviewing the scheme again; 

 
b) Future Revenue Support Grant levels following indications as part of the Local 

Government Finance Settlement 2014-15 and 2015-16 issued by the DCLG in 
January 2014 (which indicated a revenue support grant reduction of 31.8% in 
2015/16) – the provisional grant proposals are expected in December 2014 following 
the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement on 3rd December 2014;  

 
c) The impact of Business Rate Reform from 1st April 2013 and the associated forecast 

business rates receivable in 2014/15 and future years – of which the Council’s 
budget will receive 40% (subject to 20% levy reduction on ‘excess’ rates payable to 
the Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP) after 
deduction of the 50% central share, 9% County Council and 1% Fire & Rescue 
Authority share; 
 

d) The calculation of the level of business rate appeal costs – of which the Council has 
to fund 40% from its own budgets – a provision of £983k was set aside in 2013/14 
(40% of which relates to the Council); 
 

e) Future Pension contribution levels - following the triennial review carried out by the 
Actuaries employed by the Pension Fund - indicative ongoing annual increases in 
Employer’s contributions of c.2% p.a. for the next 3 years have been included. This 
now includes an ongoing lump sum (with an annual increase) relating to past 
liabilities and a set rate for future employer contributions of 16.5% p.a.  
 
The Council has also made savings of c.£84k through pre-payment of pension 
contributions for the next 3 years; 

 
f) The impact of Pension Auto-Enrolment and the single tier pension from 2016/17 – 

no additional cost associated with auto enrolment has been included as salary 
budgets are prepared on a full cost basis (and then reduced by the 5% vacancy 
allowance).  
 
An increase in Employer’s National Insurance contributions of 3.4% p.a. have been 
included from 2016/17 when the single-tier pension starts as the State Second 
Pension scheme will close and contracting out will end; 

 
g) While the Government announced a pay cap for 2014/15 & 2015/16, a 2.2% 

increase (plus other changes) has recently been agreed from 1st January 2015. The 
impact of inflation on pay settlements and other contractual arrangements for future 
years is less certain; 

Page 6



 3

 
h) Proposed changes set out in the Welfare Reform Act 2012 and the introduction of 

Universal Credit – impact on housing benefits  and associated income receipts 
(including Housing Rents) of the council; 
 

i) The impact of any further uncertainty over future interest rate levels and their impact 
on investment income / treasury management; 

 
j) The severity of the recession and the impact it has had and still could have on the 

Council’s income streams (including the impact of the Local Council Tax Scheme on 
council tax collection levels); 

 
k) Due to uncertainties around the Better Care Fund, a significant risk on the current 

grant funding for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) is highlighted after 2015/16. A 
grant of £224k p.a. has been assumed to be redistributed – in line with the funding 
notified for 2015/16. 

 
l) Finalisation of the expected outcomes and impact on the Council’s financial position 

from the programme of short-term and medium-term workstream reviews 
commissioned by Cabinet in August 2013 as part of the ‘Plan for a Sustainable 
Future’ overarching strategy to identify measures to help the Council cope with grant 
& income reductions in the coming years - potential savings arising from the 
Sustainability Plan workstreams have been included – it is anticipated that further 
review outcomes will be reported as policy changes in the next phase of the budget 
process;  

 
m) Review and finalisation of the revised budgets/policy changes and feedback from the 

Scrutiny process. 
 
 
 
 
 
Resource Implications 
 
The detailed financial & budgetary implications are outlined in detail within the report, 
however: 
 

• The Central Forecast projects a General Fund shortfall of £0.7m over 3 years 
(£5.8m over 5 years), including the minimum approved level of £0.5m – assuming 
annual Council Tax increases of below 2% p.a. - in line with the 2% cap set by the 
Department for Communities & Local Government (DCLG) for 2014/15. This 
excludes any further potential savings arising from the Sustainability Plan 
workstreams at this stage – which will be reported as policy changes in the next 
phase of the budget process; 
 
Key issues arising from the base budget review are detailed within the report and 
summarised below: 

 
a) Impact of Committee decisions on the 2014/15 budget – a General Fund net cost 

reduction of £1.1m; 
 

Page 7



 4

b) Budget issues 2014/15: 
 

• Marmion House – achievement of additional planned income generated 
through the Agile Working Project has been delayed, projected overspend of 
£59k; 

 

• Assembly Rooms Bar - £24k overspend; 
 

• Joint Waste Contingency budget not required (£34k); 
 

• Corporate Finance – 2014/15 pensions saving arising from pre-payment of 
costs for 3 years (£49k); 

 

• Commercial & Industrial Property Management - £61k additional rent income; 
 

• Development Control - £50k projected additional Planning Applications 
income. 

 
c) Base Budget review: 
 

• Commercial & Industrial Rents – increased income of £50k; 
 

• New Homes Bonus – reduced grant income of £63k; 
 

• Reduced Housing Benefits costs of £41k. 
 

• The current forecast projects a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shortfall of £0.3m 
over 3 years (£1.0m over 5 years) including the minimum recommended balances of 
£0.5m.  

 
However this includes contributions to capital spend of £5.1m over 3 years (£7.8m 
over the next 5 years) and the regeneration reserve of £7.0m over 3 years (£10.6m 
over 5 years) - resulting in balances of £1.0m over 3 years (£5.8m over 5 years).  

 
a) Impact of Committee decisions on the 2014/15 budget – a net cost increase of 

£1.5m; 
 

b) Budget issues 2014/15: 
 

• Rent income is projected to exceed budget by £95k for the year due to lower 
than budgeted void levels; 
 

• The budgeted increase in bad debts due to the impact of Welfare Benefit 
Reforms is being contained by robust and effective arrears recovery – 
pending implementation of Universal Credit. 

 
c) Base Budget review: 

 

• Reduced Income from Housing Rents of £646k arising from a reduced 
inflation factor in the rent calculation; 
 

• Increased Interest income receivable on HRA balances of £68k. 

Page 8



 5

Legal / Risk Implications 
 
The Council’s constitution requires Cabinet publish initial proposals for the budget, 
having first canvassed the views of local stakeholders as appropriate - budget proposals 
will be referred to the Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) for further advice and 
consideration. 
 
In line with the constitution a Joint Scrutiny Budget Workshop has been arranged for 2nd 
December 2014. 
 
In order to allow Scrutiny Committees to respond to the Cabinet on the outcome of their 
deliberations, a meeting of the Scrutiny Committee (Budget) has been arranged for 27th 
January 2015. 
 
Proposed amendments to the 2014/15 base budget, approved by Council on 25th 
February 2014, are detailed within the report. 
 
Risks to Forecasts: 
 

Risk Control Measure 

Major variances to the level of grant / 
subsidy from the Government (including 
specific grants e.g. Benefits administration, 
Business Rates Section 31 funding); 
(High) 

Sensitivity modelling undertaken to assess 
the potential impact in the estimation of 
future grant levels;  
 
(Medium / High) 
 

New Homes Bonus grant levels lower than 
estimated; Continuation of the scheme in 
its current form is uncertain – a further 
review is planned. 
(High/Medium) 

Future levels included on a risk based 
approach in order to offset further grant 
reductions / uncertainty over additional 
property numbers;  
(Medium) 
 

Potential ‘capping’ of council tax increases 
by the Government or local Council Tax 
veto / referendum; 
(Medium) 

Current indications are that increases of 
2% and above risk ‘capping’ (confirmed as 
2% for 2014/15);   
(Low) 
 

The achievement of substantial savings / 
efficiencies will be needed to ensure 
sufficient resources will be available to 
deliver the Council’s objectives through 
years 4 to 5. Ongoing;  
 
 
 
 
(High) 

A robust & critical review of savings 
proposals will be required / undertaken 
before inclusion within the forecast; 
 
A minimum General Fund capital balance 
of £500k is a requirement – this has been 
financed in the past by revenue 
contributions (held in a revenue reserve).  
  
(High/Medium) 

Pay awards greater than forecast; 
 
(Medium) 
 
 

Forecast assumes a 2% increase p.a.;  
 
(Medium / Low) 

Page 9



 6

Risk Control Measure 

Pension costs higher than planned / 
adverse performance of pension fund;  
 
 
 
 
(Medium) 

Regular update meetings with Actuary; 
Increases of c.2% p.a. with a new ‘lump 
sum’ element have been included with 
agreement made with Pension Fund 
following triennial review (during 2013 for 
2014/15) for next 3 years;  
(Medium) 

Assessment of business rates collection 
levels to inform the forecast / budget  
(NNDR1) and estimates of appeals, 
mandatory & discretionary reliefs, cost of 
collection, bad debts and collection levels;  
 
New burdens (Section 31) grant funding 
for Central Government policy changes – 
including impact on levy calculation; 
 
Potential changes to the Business Rates 
Retention system by the DCLG in support 
of Town Centre Regeneration / 
equalisation of the scheme; (High) 

Robust estimates included to arrive at 
collection target. Ongoing proactive 
management & monitoring will continue;  
 
Business Rates Collection Reserve - 
provision of reserve funding to mitigate 
impact of any changes in business rate 
income levels; 
 
 
Monitoring of the situation / regular 
reporting; 
 
(High / Medium) 

Local Council Tax Reduction scheme 
implementation – potential yield changes 
and maintenance of collection levels; 
 
 
(High) 

Robust estimates included. Ongoing 
proactive management & monitoring 
(including a quarterly healthcheck on the 
implications on the organisation – capacity 
/ finance) will continue; 
(High / Medium) 

Achievement of income streams in line 
with targets e.g. treasury management 
interest, car parking, planning, commercial 
& industrial rents etc.; (High / Medium) 

Robust estimates using a zero based 
budgeting approach have been included; 
(Medium) 

Insurance arrangements are due for re-
tendering during 2015/16 – a hardening 
market may see significant premium 
increases above inflation; 
(High / Medium) 

The tender will include options around 
excess levels and further use of self 
insurance. 
 
(Medium) 

Delivery of the capital programme (GF / 
HRA – including Regeneration schemes) 
dependent on funding through capital 
receipts and grants (including DFG funding 
through the Better Care Fund); 
(High / Medium) 

Robust monitoring and evaluation – should 
funds not be available then schemes 
would not progress. 
(Medium) 
 

 

If Members would like further information or clarification prior to the meeting please 
contact Stefan Garner, Director of Finance Ext. 242. 
 

Background Papers:- Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15 – 
2016/17, Council 25th February 2014 

Budget and Medium Term Financial Planning Process, 
Cabinet 21st August 2014 

Budget Consultation Report, Cabinet 23rd October 2014 
 

Page 10



 7

Base Budget Forecast 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 
Revisions / updates have been made to the 2014/15 base budget in order to produce an 
adjusted base for 2015/16 and forecast base for 2016/17 onwards. 
 
General Fund Revenue 
 
Forecast – When the budget for 2014/15, and indicative budgets for 2015/16 to 
2016/17, were approved by Council in February 2014 it was anticipated that balances 
would remain above the minimum approved level of £500k for the 3 year period.  
 
However, a number of issues have now arisen & will need to be considered: 
 
Budget Issues 2014/15 
 
Significant items currently identified relating to outturn overspends/under achievement 
of income are, 

 

• Marmion House – achievement of additional planned income generated 
through the Agile Working Project has been delayed, projected £59k 
overspend; 

 

• Assembly Rooms bar - £24k overspend. 
 

Significant items mitigating the financial impact of the above and contributing to the 
outturn position, 
 

• Joint Waste Contingency budget not required, £34k; 
 

• Corporate Finance – 2014/15 pensions saving arising from pre-payment of 
lump sum costs over 3 years of £49k; 

 

• Commercial & Industrial Property Management - £61k additional rent income; 
 

• Development Control - £50k projected additional Planning Applications 
income. 

 
Base Budget 
 
Key issues arising from the base budget review are detailed within the report and 
summarised below: 
 

• Commercial & Industrial Rents – increased rent income of £50k; 
 

• New Homes Bonus – reduced income of £63k following completion of CTB1 
return, mainly due to increased levels of empty homes in the Borough; 

 

• Reduced Housing Benefits costs of £41k. 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 8

Issues for the Medium Term 
 
The central forecast projects a General Fund shortfall of £0.7m over 3 years (£5.8m 
over 5 years), including the minimum approved level of £0.5m – assuming annual 
council tax increases of c.1.99% p.a. - in line with the 2% cap set by the Department for 
Communities & Local Government (DCLG). This excludes any further potential savings 
arising from the Sustainability Plan workstreams at this stage. 
 
Implications & Options 
 
It is currently estimated that further savings of around £230k per annum will be required 
over the next 3 years (based on annual c.1.99% increases in Council tax). 
 
Consideration of the level of Council tax increases over the 5-year period is needed to 
account for potential ‘capping’ by the Government or a local referendum / veto and to 
ensure that balances are maintained at the minimum approved level of £0.5m. 
 
Decisions on future funding will need to be made with reference to the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities together with the feedback & issues raised by the budget 
consultation exercise. 
 
There is a need to consider how the limited resources can be ‘prioritised’ (& whether 
service improvements in a priority area should be met from service reductions 
elsewhere). 
 
Responses / indications from Scrutiny Committees on priority areas for the future 
allocation of resources will be sought, as part of the consultation required by the 
constitution. 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
Forecast – When the budget for 2014/15, and indicative budgets for 2015/16 to 
2018/19, were approved by Council in February 2014 it was anticipated that balances 
would remain above the minimum approved level of £500k for the 5-year period, with 
significant planned contributions to a regeneration reserve. 
 
Budget Issues 2014/15 
 
Significant items currently identified relating to underspends/over achievement of 
income are, 
 

• Rent income is projected to exceed budget by £95k for the year due to lower 
than budgeted void levels; 
 

• The budgeted increase in bad debts due to the impact of Welfare Benefit 
Reforms is being contained by robust and effective arrears recovery – 
pending implementation of Universal Credit. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 9

Base Budget 
 

Key issues arising from the base budget review are detailed within the report and 
summarised below: 
 

• Reduced Income from Housing Rents arising from a revised inflationary 
increase – when the budget for 2014/15 and provisional budgets for 2015/16 
onwards were set, CPI inflation was expected to be 2.5% p.a. For September 
2014 (the month when the Government suggest the guideline increase) CPI 
was just 1.2% - a reduction of 1.3%; The impact is detailed in the following 
table: 
 

 2014/15   2015/16   

 
Planned 
Increase MTFS  

Draft 
Increase 

Draft 
MTFS 

Reduced 
income 

  £’000   £’000 £’000 

2015/16 3.50% 18,664  2.20% 18,297 367 

2016/17 3.00% 19,005  2.50% 18,541 464 

2017/18 3.00% 19,349  2.75% 18,832 517 

2018/19 3.00% 19,697  3.00% 19,171 526 

2019/20 3.00% 20,048  3.00% 19,514 534 

Total      2,408 
 

• Increased Interest income receivable on HRA balances of £68k. 
 

There is still a degree of uncertainty over the future financial position of the HRA arising 
from: 

 

• Update / finalisation of the costs / income associated with the regeneration / 
redevelopment schemes – to inform the likely need from the Regeneration 
Reserve; 

 

• The impact of restructuring following Supporting People funding reductions; 
 

• The effect of potential service charges implementation following the ongoing 
review; 

 

• Results of ongoing structural surveys e.g. High Rise; 
 

• The impact of Welfare Benefit Reform on rent collection levels – limited so far but 
further measures are to be rolled out (e.g. Universal Credit); 

 

• Future impact of the Government’s increased discounts to promote Right to Buy 
sales on housing stock numbers and associated income levels – 50 sales p.a. 
have been assumed in future years. There is also still uncertainty over retained 
receipt levels (pending further Government guidance) and spending plans. 

 

The current forecast projects a HRA shortfall of £0.3m over 3 years (£1.0m over 5 
years) including the minimum recommended balances of £0.5m.  
 

However this includes contributions to capital spend of £5.1m over 3 years (£7.8m over 
5 years) and the regeneration reserve of £7.0m over 3 years (£10.6m over 5 years) - 
resulting in balances of £1.0m over 3 years (£5.8m over 5 years).  
 

Consideration of the level of Housing Rent increases over the 5-year period is needed 
to inform the budget setting process and to ensure that balances are maintained at the 
minimum approved level of £0.5m. 

Page 13



 10

Detailed Considerations 
 
Base Budget Forecasts 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 
Revisions / updates have been made to the 2014/15 base budget in order to produce an 
adjusted base for 2015/16 and forecast base for 2016/17 onwards.  These changes, 
known as technical adjustments, have been informed by feedback from budget 
managers and calculated to take account of: 
 

• virements approved since the base budget was set; 

• the removal of non-recurring budgets from the base; 

• the effect of inflation; 

• changes in payroll costs and annual payroll increments; 

• changes in expenditure and income following decisions made by the Council; 

• other changes outside the control of the Council such as changes in insurance costs 
and reduction in grant income; 

• The ‘Zero base budgeting’ review of income levels. 
 
General Fund – Technical Adjustments Summary 
 

Technical Adjustments 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Base Budget B/Fwd 9,132 8,242 8,344 8,612 8,842 

Committee Decisions (1,099) (291) 86 65 - 

Inflation 36 47 50 52 52 

Other  (75) (69) (76) (90) 65 

Pay Adjustments (Including 
pay award / reduction of 5% for 
vacancy allowance) 

192 415 208 203 207 

Revised charges for non-
general fund activities 

56 - - - - 

Virements - - - - - 

Total / Revised Base Budget 8,242 8,344 8,612 8,842 9,166 

 
The technical adjustments are shown in detail at Appendix B with a summary by 
Directorate at Appendix D. The key assumptions made during the exercise are 
summarised at Appendix A. 
 

Page 14



 11

Future Revenue Support Grant & Business Rate income 
 
Given the current economic climate and further anticipated reductions in Central 
Government Grant support together with the uncertainty around the impact of the 
Business Rate Retention scheme, detailed modelling has been carried out in 
consultation with other Local Councils and with the support of LG Futures – who have 
also provided detailed estimates of the potential impact of further austerity cuts in Local 
Government funding. 
 
The 2015/16 settlement  
 
The final Local Government finance settlement figures for Tamworth for 2014/15 and 
the provisional figures for 2015/16 were announced in February 2014. They show that 
the Government funding assessment (Revenue Support Grant (RSG) plus the new 
business rates baseline retained income) totals £4.423m for 2014/15 (£5.114m 
2013/14) and £3.736m for 2015/16.  
 

 
External Finance 

 
2014/15 
£’000 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 

Business Rates Baseline 2,083 2,140 

 

Revenue Support Grant 2,340 1,596 

 

Total Funding Assessment 4,423 3,736 

 

% Change (Increase) / 
Decrease 

13.5% 15.5% 

 
The Council’s actual reduction in combined Revenue Support Grant / assessed 
Business Rates baseline funding need was 13.5% for 2014/15 (which means that 
Government support decreased by £0.69m over 2013/14) with a further reduction of 
15.5% (£0.69m) planned in 2015/16. 
 
Business Rates 
 
Additional monthly monitoring has been implemented since the implementation of 
business rate retention from 2013/14 – following approval of the NNDR1 form (Business 
Rates estimates) by Cabinet in January 2014. 
 
The Council received additional business rates during 2013/14 (above forecast / 
baseline) and had to pay a levy of £386k to the Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP). The latest estimates indicate additional business 
rates receivable above the baseline in 2014/15 and future years – of which the Council 
will receive 40% less the Government set tariff payment of c.£11m (and a 20% levy on 
any surplus over the baseline to the GBSLEP) - after deduction of the 50% Central 
Share, 9% County & 1% Fire & Rescue Authority shares).  
 
 
 

Page 15



 12

 
This is mainly due to the additional rates income generated from the warehouse site at 
Bitterscote – however, the future position for 2015/16 is less certain. A robust check & 
challenge approach has been taken of any increases on the base figure, including a risk 
assessed collection level. 
 
New Burdens (Section 31) grant is receivable for additional reliefs given by the 
Government relating to business rates from 1st April 2014 e.g. Small Business Rate 
Relief – of which 50% of any in excess of the baseline will be payable in levy to the 
GBSLEP. A prudent approach has been taken in respect of any new burdens funding – 
and, due to uncertainties & risk, the creation of an associated Business Rates Collection 
reserve to mitigate fluctuation in income.  
 
For future years, in light of indications of further grant reductions, it has been assumed 
that there will be a reduction in Revenue Support Grant as detailed below. It is expected 
that should grant levels deteriorate further than anticipated, this would be mitigated as 
New Homes Bonus funding has been included on a risk based approach. 
 

 
External Finance 

 
2014/15 
£’000 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 
2016/17 
£’000 

 
2017/18 
£’000 

 
2018/19 
£’000 

 
2019/20 
£’000 

 

Revenue Support 
Grant 

2,340 1,596 1,196 861 647 547 

 

% Change 
Increase/(Decrease) 

(23.8)% (31.8)% (25.1)% (28.0)% (24.9)% (15.5)% 

Page 16



 13

Forecast 
 
Using the central case funding forecast and assuming increases in Council Tax of 
c.2.0% per annum for 2015/16 onwards, the five year base budget forecast is as 
follows: 
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Estimated Net Cost of Services 8,242 8,344 8,612 8,842 9,166 

Proposed Policy Changes / 
Additional Costs Identified 
(Detailed at Appendix B) 

277 75 75 55 52 

Net Expenditure 8,519 8,419 8,687 8,897 9,218 

Financing:           

RSG (1,596) (1,196) (861) (647) (547) 

Collection Fund Surplus - - - - - 

Collection Fund Surplus 
(Business Rates) 

(492) (240) - - - 

Business Rates S.31 Grants 
(75%, 75% then 50% p.a.) 

(388) (329) (238) (256) (274) 

Business Rates Levy 485 507 406 320 243 

Tariff Payable 10,640 10,853 11,070 11,291 11,517 

Non Domestic Ratepayers (13,234) (13,611) (13,633) (13,691) (13,771) 

Council Tax Income (3,272) (3,354) (3,448) (3,544) (3,642) 

Gross Financing (7,857) (7,370) (6,704) (6,527) (6,474) 

Surplus(-) / Deficit 662 1,049 1,983 2,370 2,744 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(2,847) (1,798) 185 2,555 5,299 

 

Per Council, 25th February 2014 (1,968) (500) - - - 

 
 

Indicating a potential shortfall in General fund balances of approx. £0.7m over 3 years 
(£3.1m over 4 years & £5.8m over the 5 year period) - including the minimum approved 
level of £0.5m. 
 
Balances are forecast to be £3.51m at 31st March 2015. 
 
A detailed summary of the budget for 2015/16 is attached at Appendix F with 5 years 
attached at Appendix G. 
 
 

Page 17



 14

Future Strategy 
 
Due to the adverse financial forecast, there is a need to reconsider the inclusion of 
items contained within the forecast / budget:  
 
1) Variations to Council Tax Policy/Strategy 
 
The Government indicated that it would offer grant support for the 4 year 
Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) period should the Council freeze Council Tax 
levels for 2011/12. There was no mention that this arrangement would continue 
thereafter. A subsequent offer was announced for 2012/13 but with Government grant 
support for one year, 2012/13 only. A similar offer was announced for 2013/14 & 
2014/15 where Government grant support equivalent to 2% of a Council Tax increase 
would be payable over a 2 year period (i.e. 1% p.a.). It is anticipated that a similar 
scheme will operate for 2015/16 should the Council freeze the Council Tax level. 
 
Also, for future years potential ‘capping’ of the increase by the Government or a 
proposed local council tax referendum/veto needs to be considered when setting future 
Council Tax increases. The Council’s Council Tax is currently £155.50 which is below 
the average of the council tax charges of similar councils (from the Cipfa nearest 
neighbour grouping). 
 
The indication is that the 'capping' threshold will be 2.0% - following a freeze in 2011/12 
& 2012/13 and a below 2% increase for 2013/14 & 2014/15, the impact of a lower than 
2% p.a. increase (Band D) is outlined below: 
 

Model 1 Impact of 1.99% increase in Council tax in 2015/16 (followed by 
inflationary increases of c.1.99% p.a.) 

 Year: 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Surplus (-) /Deficit 662 1,049 1,983 2,369 2,744 

Balances Remaining (-) /    
Overdrawn 

(2,847) (1,798) 185 2,555 5,299 

            

£ Increase 3.10 3.15 3.20 3.25 3.35 

% Increase 1.99% 1.99% 1.98% 1.97% 1.99% 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 158.60 161.75 164.95 168.20 171.55 

 
which indicates a potential shortfall in balances of £0.7m over 3 years, £5.8m over 5 
years - further savings of approx. £1.2m per annum would have to be identified. 
 

Page 18



 15

In order to take advantage of the potential Council Tax Freeze grant, the following 
scenarios have been modelled: 
 

Model 1a Impact of 0% increase in Council tax in 2015/16 (followed by increases 
of c.1.99% p.a.) 

 Year: 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Reduction in Council Tax £ 63 64 65 66 68 

Revised Surplus (-) / Deficit 725 1,113 2,048 2,435 2,812 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(2,785) (1,672) 376 2,812 5,624 

            

£ Increase - 3.10 3.15 3.20 3.25 

% Increase 0.0% 1.99% 1.99% 1.98% 1.97% 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 155.5 158.60 161.75 164.95 168.20 

 
Less £70k freeze grant - indicates a potential shortfall in balances of £0.9m over 3 
years, £6.1m over 5 years - further savings of approx. £1.2m per annum would have to 
be identified. 
 
Further indicative models are outlined below: 
 
Model 2 Impact of 2.5% increase in Council tax in 2014/15 (followed by increases 
of 2.5% thereafter) 

 Year: 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Increase in Council Tax £ (18) (36) (55) (74) (93) 

Revised Surplus/(Deficit) 644 1,013 1,928 2,295 2,651 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(2,866) (1,853) 75 2,371 5,022 

            

£ Increase 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.20 4.30 

% Increase 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 159.40 163.40 167.50 171.70 176.00 

 
which indicates a potential shortfall in balances of £0.4m over 3 years, £5.5m over 5 
years - further savings of approx. £1.1m per annum would have to be identified. 
 
However, given the announced 2% cap, a referendum would be required at this level 
which is not considered feasible given the risk & associated costs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 16

Model 3 Impact of 0% increase in Council tax in 2014/15 (followed by increases of 
0% thereafter) 

 Year: 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Reduction in Council Tax £ 64 129 196 264 335 

Revised Surplus/(Deficit) 726 1,178 2,179 2,633 3,079 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(2,783) (1,605) 574 3,208 6,287 

            

£ Increase - - - - - 

% Increase - - - - - 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 155.50 155.50 155.50 155.50 155.50 

 
Less £70k freeze grant - indicates a potential shortfall in balances of £1.1m over 3 
years, £6.7m over 5 years - further savings of approx. £1.3m per annum would have to 
be identified. 
 
 
 
 
 

Model 4 Impact of 1% increase in Council tax in 2014/15 (followed by increases of 
1% thereafter) 

 Year: 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Reduction in Council Tax £ 32 65 99 134 171 

Revised Surplus/(Deficit) 694 1,114 2,082 2,503 2,915 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(2,815) (1,701) 381 2,885 5,800 

            

£ Increase 1.55 1.57 1.58 1.60 1.61 

% Increase 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 157.05 158.62 160.20 161.80 163.41 

 
which indicates a potential shortfall in balances of £0.9m over 3 years, £6.3m over 5 
years - further savings of approx. £1.3million per annum would have to be identified. 
 

Page 20



 17

2) Potential Savings / additional costs 
 

Potential revenue policy changes are highlighted below: 
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Policy Changes Identified  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

There is a requirement to increase 
the ICT budget (Application 
Software) to cover upgrade costs 
for Microsoft products. This 
requirement is for £35K p.a. 

35.0 35.0 35.0  35.0  35.0  

Contingency budget to allow for 'in 
year' decisions to be made by 
Cabinet & to provide for any 
potential further reductions in 
income as a result of the financial 
climate 

100.0 - -   -  - 

Revised budgetary contribution 
required re Staffs Connects 
partnership & continued 
development of CRM system - as 
per Staffs Connects Strategic 
Advisory report and revised budget 
proposals agreed March 2014. 

10.0  10.0 10.0 (10.5) (12.8) 

Agile Working Project - Deferral of 
receipt of projected income for 
Marmion House 

102.3 -  -  -  - 

Estimated increase in costs for 
Street Scene equipment when new 
contract let 

30.0  30.0  30.0  30.0  30.0 

            

Total New Items / Amendments 277.25 75.0 75.0 (54.5) (52.2) 

 
As part of the planned review & scrutiny process leading up to formal presentation of 
the budget, Executive Management Team will consider feedback received from the 
Budget Consultation process, the Joint Scrutiny Budget workshop and the Joint Budget 
Scrutiny Committee (planned for 27th January 2015) in order to inform the next stages of 
the budget process: 
 

� a review of the proposals including: 
 

• Reference to the Council’s corporate priorities together with the feedback 
& issues raised by the budget consultation exercise. 
 

• Consideration of how the limited resources can be ‘rationed’ (& whether 
service improvements in a priority area should be met from service 
reductions elsewhere). 

 
� Inclusion of any further potential savings arising from the Sustainability Plan 

workstreams in order to mitigate the forecast budget shortfall. This process is 
ongoing and will be reported as policy changes in the next phase of the budget 
process in order to formulate a balanced medium term financial strategy for 
approval by Cabinet & Council in February 2015. 

 

Page 21



 18

Housing Revenue Account – Technical Adjustments Summary 
 

Technical Adjustments 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Base Budget 984 3,187 658 604 446 

Committee Decisions 1,509 (3,212) 100 - - 

Inflation 127 143 148 151 156 

Other 556 407 (369) (374) (383) 

Pay Adjustments 61 133 67 65 57 

Revised charges for non-
general fund activities 

(50) - - - - 

Virements - - - - - 

Total / Revised Base Budget 3,187 658 604 446 276 
 

The detail of the technical adjustments are shown in Appendix C with a more 
detailed summary of the HRA Technical Adjustments at Appendix E. Assuming 
increases in Rent in line with Government guidance (Consumer price index plus 1.0% 
from 2015/16), the five year base budget forecast is as follows: 
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Estimated Net (Surplus) / Deficit 3,187 658 604 446 276 

Proposed Policy Changes / 
Additional Costs Identified 

(7) (7) (7) (7) (7) 

Surplus (-) / Deficit 3,180 651 597 439 269 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(1,460) (809) (212) 227 496 

 

Per Council, 25th February 2014 (1,394) (1,265) (1,285) (1,492) - 

 
Indicating a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shortfall of £0.3m over 3 years (with a 
shortfall of £1.0m over the next 5 years) including the minimum recommended balances 
of £0.5m.  
 
However this includes contributions to capital spend of £5.1m over 3 years (£7.8m over 
the next 5 years) and the regeneration reserve of £7.0m over 3 years (£10.6m over 5 
years) - resulting in balances of £1.0m over 3 years (£5.8m over 5 years). 
 
A summary of the HRA over the 5 year period is shown at Appendix H. 
 
There is still a degree of uncertainty over the future financial position of the HRA arising 
from: 

 

• Update / finalisation of the costs / income associated with the regeneration / 
redevelopment schemes – to inform the likely need from the Regeneration 
reserve; 

Page 22



 19

• The impact of restructuring following Supporting People funding reductions; 
 

• The effect of potential service charges implementation following the ongoing 
review; 
 

• Results of ongoing structural surveys e.g. High Rise; 
 

• The impact of Welfare Benefit Reform on rent collection levels – limited so far but 
further measures are to be rolled out (e.g. Universal Credit); 

 

• Future impact of the Government’s increased discounts to promote right to buy 
sales on housing stock numbers and associated income levels – 50 sales p.a. 
have been assumed in future years. There is also still uncertainty over retained 
receipt levels (pending further Government guidance) and spending plans. 

 
Potential revenue policy changes for the HRA are highlighted below: 
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Policy Changes Identified  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Potential savings arising from 
Service Review options - Delete 
apprenticeship post in Investment 
team 

(6.6) (6.6) (6.6) (6.6) (6.6) 

Reduced PTP budget to transfer 
funds from PTP to Capital to fund 
Energy Efficiency Improvements 
 

(50.0) (50.0) (50.0) (50.0) (50.0) 

Contribution to Capital Programme 
- to transfer funds from PTP to 
Capital to fund Energy Efficiency 
Improvements 

50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 

Total New Items / Amendments (6.6) (6.6) (6.6) (6.6) (6.6) 

 
Rent Restructuring 
 

The introduction of rent restructuring in April 2003 required the Council to calculate 
rents in accordance with a formula on a property by property basis and account 
separately for rental payments and payments which are for services (for example 
grounds maintenance, upkeep of communal areas, caretaking) within the total amounts 
charged.   
 

This framework removed the flexibility to independently set rent levels from Social 
Landlords and replaced it with a fixed formula (RPI plus 0.5% plus £2.00) based on the 
value of the property and local incomes.  The aim of the framework was to ensure that 
by a pre-set date all social landlord rents have reached a ‘target rent’ for each property 
that will reflect the quality of accommodation and levels of local earnings. In achieving 
this target rent councils were also annually set a “limit rent” which restricted the level of 
rent increase in any one year. 
 

Housing rents were increased in accordance with the Rent Restructuring Framework for 
2014/15. However, from 2015/16, it is for the Council to decide locally at what level to 
increase rents. An increase in line with CPI plus 1% has been assumed following 
receipt of Government Guidance.  

Page 23



 20

 
However, should the Council agree to vary this level, for 2015/16 only, the alternative 
increases outlined below could generate additional funding to support increased 
maintenance costs and the regeneration of key housing areas within the Borough. 
 
 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Option 1: CPI + 1% 
(capped at Formula 
Rent)       
Actual Rent (52 Weeks) 79.94 80.87 82.89 85.17 87.73 90.36 
Actual Rent (48 Weeks) 86.60 87.61 89.80 92.27 95.04 97.89 
% Increase  1.17% 2.50% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 
       
Option 2: CPI + 1% + 
£2 (capped at Formula 
Rent)       
Actual Rent (52 Weeks) 79.94 81.51 83.55 85.84 88.42 91.07 
Actual Rent (48 Weeks) 86.60 88.30 90.51 93.00 95.79 98.66 
% Increase  1.96% 2.50% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 
Increased Rent 
compared to Option 1  144,100 146,030 148,320 151,000 153,690 
    5 year impact 743,140 

       
Option 3: All at 
Formula Rent       

Actual Rent (52 Weeks) 79.94 82.56 84.62 86.95 89.56 92.25 
Actual Rent (48 Weeks) 86.60 89.44 91.68 94.20 97.02 99.93 
% Increase  3.28% 2.50% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 
Increased Rent 
compared to Option 1  382,190 387,300 393,360 400,460 407,600 
    5 year impact 1,970,910 
       
Inflation at CPI + 1% 3.20% 2.20% 2.50% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 
February 2014 MTFS 
Expected increase 

3.20% 3.50% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

 
However, it should be noted that an increase to Formula Rent could mean a substantial 
increase in rents for individual properties – where the current rent is significantly below 
the formula rent level. 
 
In addition, under Benefit regulations and circulars issued by the DWP, the Rent Rebate 
Subsidy Limitation scheme penalises the Council should the average rent be above the 
notified limit rent – for 2014/15 this was £80.85 (per circular HB S5/14 received in June 
2014, after rent setting for 2014/15). The guidance on rent increases stated a CPI + 1% 
increase which, when applied to the 2014/15 limit rent, would give a limit rent for 
2015/16 of £82.63 which would suggest that the above increases would not mean a loss 
of Housing Benefit subsidy grant. 
 
It should also be noted that when the budget for 2015/16 and provisional budgets for 
2016/17 onwards were set, CPI inflation was expected to be 2.5% p.a. For September 
2014 (the month when the Government suggest the guideline increase) CPI was just 
1.2% - a reduction of 1.3% which has impacted on forecast rent income for 2015/16 and 
future years. 

Page 24



 21

Capital Programme 
 
Following a review of the Capital Programme approved by Council on 25th February 
2014, a revised programme has been formulated including additional schemes which 
have been put forward for inclusion. 
 
Each scheme has been assessed with regard to: 

• the contribution its delivery makes towards the achievement of the Council’s 
corporate priorities; 

• the achievement of Government priorities and grant or other funding availability; 

• the benefits in terms of the contribution to the Council’s Corporate Objectives and 
compliance with the Corporate Capital Strategy requirements of: 

 
1. Invest to save 
2. Maintenance of services and assets 
3. Protection of income streams 
4. Avoidance of cost. 

 
The current de-minimus for capital expenditure is £10k per capital scheme. 
 
General Fund 
 
It is estimated that approximately £2.2m (excluding the £0.5m approved minimum 
balance) will be needed during the period to 2019/20 for future capital spending 
(including the usable capital receipts generated from the sale of council housing).  
 
A shortfall over 3 years of £35k is highlighted, £333k over 5 years. This allows for the 
current Agile Working & Assembly Rooms commitments to be continued, subject to 
revised business case submissions. 
 
Details of the proposed capital programme are shown in Appendix I. 
 
The capital programme has been reviewed and updated: 
 

a) Technology Replacement 

 A revised capital submission had been prepared for £60k p.a. from 
2015/16 (the provisional programme included £70k p.a. from 2016/17); 

  

b)  Agile Working 

 The provisional programme included £80k for refurbishment and £48k 
for new furniture for 2015/16 (as well as £128k in 2014/15) in addition to 
the 7th floor scheme in 2013/14; 

 As the 2014/15 budget will not be spent by March 2015 it will be 
forecast to underspend – with a new business case to be prepared; 

  

c) Disabled Facilities Grants 

 No changes have been made. However, due to current demand, it is 
likely that an increased budget will be needed – subject to the usual 
funding constraints. 

 
 
 

 

Page 25



 22

d) CCTV Camera Renewals 

 Required for the rolling replacement of cameras, subject to funding 
constraints. 

  

e)  Assembly Rooms 

 The scheme business case has not been revised to reflect the current 
bid/s for funding from the single local growth fund, HLF, ERDF etc. 

 An update on the Cultural Quarter is due to be presented to Cabinet in 
January following notification of the results of the bids. 

 As a substantial element of the 2014/15 budget will not be spent by 
March 2015 it will be forecast to underspend – with, subject to a 
successful bid, a new business case to be prepared. 

  

f)  Gateways 

 The inclusion of £83k in 2013/14 followed by £50k p.a. from TBC 
thereafter has drawn in funding and professional support from SCC – 
with plans for significant capital works in 2015/16 (funded mainly by 
SCC through their section 106 funds) and future years. 

  

g)  Contingency 

 It was agreed that a £50k contingency budget would be required for 
2015/16 – to be re-profiled from the unspent 2014/15 budget. 

 
Housing 
 
The proposed 5 year Housing Capital Programme is attached at Appendix J.  
 
It is estimated that approximately £51.85m (excluding the £0.5m approved minimum 
balance) will be needed during the period to 2019/20 for future capital spending 
(including revenue contributions from the HRA of £11.3m, Regeneration reserve 
balances of £7.4m & additional borrowing of £7.2m – the ‘headroom’ in line with the 
HRA Government debt cap is £11.3m) - resulting in balances of £1.0m over 3 years 
(£5.8m over 5 years).  
 
The capital programme has been reviewed and updated to include the new year 5 costs 
– with costs then smoothed over the new 5 year planning period. In addition, certain 
demand led schemes have been reviewed and updated to reflect current trends: 
 

a) Disabled Adaptations 

 The budget had been increased from c.£200k p.a. to c.£300k p.a. to 
reflect increased demand. 

  

b) Structural Works 

 The budget for 2015/16 only had been increased from £100k to £200k 
to address the backlog. 

  

c) Fire Upgrades (Sprinklers) 

 The budget of £565k had been re-profiled over 2 years. 

 
 
 

 

Page 26



 23

d) High Rise Balconies 

 The budget had been increased from £60k p.a. to £525k p.a. for 4 
years, subject to the results of the ongoing survey / confirmation of the 
costs. 

  

e) Sheltered Schemes 

 A new budget of £250k had been included as a contingency pending 
the results of a review / survey.  

  

f) General Estate Works 

 The budget had been reduced from c.£250k p.a. to £200k p.a. 

  

g) Regeneration Schemes 

 The budgets for Tinkers Green & Kerria have not yet changed but will 
be updated to reflect final scheme designs. 

Page 27



 24

 
APPENDIX A 

Main Assumptions 
 

Inflationary Factors 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Inflation Rate - Pay 
Awards 

2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

National Insurance 7.10% 10.50% 10.50% 10.50% 10.50% 

Superannuation 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 

Inflation Rate (RPI) 2.50% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 

Inflation Rate (CPI) 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Investment Rates 1.25% 2.25% 2.75% 3.25% 3.25% 

Base Interest Rates 1.00% 1.75% 2.25% 2.75% 2.75% 

 
1. Pay award – it has been assumed that public sector pay will rise in line with the 

latest consultation for 2014/15 & 2015/16 (generally 2.2% from 1st January 2015 plus 
other one-off payments) and is estimated to mirror the Government’s inflation target 
of 2% thereafter. 

 

2. Overall Fees and Charges will rise generally by 2.5% annually except where a 
proposal has otherwise been made (car parking charges, corporate & industrial 
property rental income, statutory set planning fees, leisure fees); 

 

3. No effect of any Prudential Borrowing has been included; 
 

4. Revised estimates for rent allowance / rent rebate subsidy levels have been 
included; 

 

5. Changes to the level of recharges between funds has been included; 
 

6. Within the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2014/15 and the provisional 
settlement for 2015/16 announced in February 2014, the Government proposed cuts 
of 15.5% to the Councils funding streams for 2015/16 – revised annual grant 
reductions have been included. 

 

7. The Government has not yet indicated its policy regarding council tax bills being 
frozen for the next year. It is anticipated that a grant will be available to authorities 
that agree to freeze or reduce Council Tax in 2015/16; 

 

8. The major changes to the previously approved policy changes are included within 
this forecast – Directors were issued with the provisional information in August to 
review, confirm & resubmit by the end of September; 

 

9. Annual year-on-year increases of c.2% in the pension lump sum element for past 
liabilities have been included (for 3 years following SCC triennial review). 

 

10. Increases in rent levels are restricted by the Government guidelines & current 
indications that sales of council houses will be approximately 50 per annum.  

Page 28



 25

 
APPENDIX B 

Technical Adjustments Analysis – General Fund 
 
   £ £ £ 

      

Chief Executive    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions  -  

 Inflation   160  

 Other     

  
2015/16 BWP 005 Corporate Services Car 
Allowances (620)   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 180   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (210) (650)  

 Pay Adjustments  5,780  

 Changes in External Recharges  (5,310)  

       

     (20) 

      

      

Executive Director Corporate Services    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2014/15 Policy Change ED2 New Burdens - 
Local Council Tax Scheme Grant 73,710 73,710  

 Inflation   (640)  

 Other     

  2015/16 BWP 005 Car Allowances (1,250)   

  
2015/16 BWP 014 Benefits Welfare Benefits & 
Fairer Charging (8,950)   

  2015/16 BWP 016 Benefits Estimates (41,280)   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 930   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges (530)   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (640) (51,720)  

 Pay Adjustments  16,360  

 Changes in External Recharges  (13,230)  

       

     24,480 

      

      

Director of Finance    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2011/12 Policy Change Removal Council Tax 
Freeze Grant 87,130   

  
2012/13 Policy Change FER1 New Homes 
Bonus Grant Income (57,000)   

  2013/14 Policy Change DF1 New Homes Bonus (29,350)   

  
2013/14 Policy Change DF2 Remove Part 
General Contingency (80,000)   

  
2014/15 Policy Change DF2 Remove General 
Contingency (100,000)   

  
2014/15 Policy Change DF5 Remove NNDR 
Provisional Levy Payment (145,080) (324,300)  

 Inflation   3,050  

      

Page 29



 26

   £ £ £ 

 Other 
Reversal of impact 2011/12 Policy Change as 
budget already removed (87,130)   

  2014/15 BWP 019 Debt Management Expenses 250   

  2014/15 BWP 025 Treasury Management (37,200)   

  2014/15 BWP Contingencies 80,000   

  
2015/16 BWP 005 Corporate Services Car 
Allowances (1,450)   

  2015/16 BWP 010 Cost of Collection Grant 50   

  
2015/16 BWP 011 Revenues Court Costs 
Income (17,150)   

  2015/16 BWP 013 Pensions (9,300)   

  2015/16 BWP 018 Ext Audit Fee (11,780)   

  2015/16 BWP 019 Interest SOCH/HAA 20   

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation 116,290   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 3,510   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges (3,370)   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (820)   

  2015/16 BWP 037 Finance Leasing Interest (843,750)   

  2015/16 BWP 038 New Homes Bonus 62,980   

  2015/16 BWP 040 Treasury Management 52,030 (696,820)  

 Pay Adjustments  20,950  

 Changes in External Recharges  (59,120)  

       

     (1,056,240) 

      

      

Director of Technology & Corporate Programmes    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions  -  

 Inflation   11,720  

 Other     

  
2015/16 BWP 005 Corporate Services Car 
Allowances 80   

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation (83,640)   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 1,710   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (900)   

  2015/16 BWP 035 Procurement Savings (3,000) (85,750)  

 Pay Adjustments  17,990  

 Changes in External Recharges  56,150  

       

     110 

      

      

Solicitor to the Council    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions  -  

 Inflation   4,520  

 Other     

  2015/16 BWP 003 Members Allowances (460)   

  
2015/16 BWP 005 Corporate Services Car 
Allowances 80   

  2015/16 BWP 017 NNDR TBC Properties 20   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 380   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges 10   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance 100 130  

Page 30



 27

   £ £ £ 

 Pay Adjustments  9,430  

 Changes in External Recharges  (20,860)  

       

     (6,780) 

      

      

Director of Transformation & Corporate Performance    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2014/15 Policy Changes TCP2 Service Review 
Savings Customer Services (50,380) (50,380)  

 Inflation   2,630  

 Other     

  
2015/16 BWP 005 Corporate Services Car 
Allowances (1,170)   

  2015/16 BWP 007 Staff Health Insurance 3,320   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 730   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges (660)   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance 1,800   

  2015/16 BWP 035 Procurement Savings (3,000) 1,020  

 Pay Adjustments  19,240  

 Changes in External Recharges  24,910  

       

     (2,580) 

Director of Communities, Planning & Partnerships    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2013/14 Policy Change CPP 1 County's 
Strategic Partnership Post 700   

  2013/14 Policy Change CPP3 Small Grants 1,000   

  Cabinet 11/09/14 Closure of the Golf Course (86,310) (84,610)  

 Inflation   (1,850)  

 Other     

  2014/15 BWP 025 Treasury Management -   

  
2014/15 BWP 036 Quick Wins Reduce Salaries 
Budget  (7,540)   

  2015/16 BWP 017 NNDR TBC Properties 5,300   

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation (1,440)   

  2015/16 BWP 027 Income Targets 10,460   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets (30)   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges (1,420)   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (1,810)   

  
2015/16 BWP 032 Community Services Car 
Allowances (2,180) 1,340  

 Pay Adjustments  42,800  

 Changes in External Recharges  (52,820)  

       

     (95,140) 

Director of Housing & Health    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2013/14 Policy Changes HH1 Preventing 
Homelessness (162,000)   

  
2014/15 Policy Change HH1 Service Review 
Savings Strategic Housing (21,710) (183,710)  

      

Page 31



 28

   £ £ £ 

 Inflation   1,010  

 Other     

  
2014/15 BWP 036 Quick Wins Homelessness 
Prevention Grant 11,460   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 510   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (600)   

  
2015/16 BWP 032 Community Services Car 
Allowances 20 11,390  

 Pay Adjustments  4,370  

 Changes in External Recharges  88,630  

       

     (78,310) 

Director of Assets & Environment    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions    

  
2014/15 Policy Change AE1 Additional Rent 
Marmion House (74,750)   

  
2014/15 Policy Change AE1 Additional Service 
Charges from Marmion House (27,500)   

  
2014/15 Policy Change AE5 Waste 
Management Revised Organic Waste (145,000)   

  
SOD Oct 14 Kettlebrook CC declared surplus 
asset to be included in local plan for housing 5,500   

  
Cabinet 21/08/14 Service Review Savings 
Public Conveniences  (71,270)   

  
Cabinet 21/08/14 Service Review Savings 
CCTV and Street Wardens  (217,120) (530,140)  

 Inflation   15,190  

 Other     

  2015/16 BWP 017 NNDR TBC Properties (14,030)   

  
2015/16 BWP 021 Marmion House Rents and 
Service Charges  24,810   

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation (31,210)   

  2015/16 BWP 026 Income Targets (15,070)   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 2,580   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges 1,240   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance 9,030   

  
2015/16 BWP 032 Community Services Car 
Allowances (890)   

  
2015/16 BWP 036 Joint Waste Management 
Arrangement (4,230)   

  2015/16 BWP 037 Finance Leasing Interest 843,750   

  
2015/16 BWP 039 Commercial and Industrial 
Rents (50,000)   

  
2015/16 BWP 041 Car Park Income and 
Expenditure (15,390)   

  
2015/16 BWP 042 Enviromental Health Vehicle 
Hire (4,170) 746,420  

     

 Pay Adjustments  54,780  

 Changes in External Recharges  37,930  

       

     324,180 

TOTAL   (890,300) 
 

( ) denotes saving 

Page 32



 29

Technical Adjustments Analysis – Housing Revenue Account           APPENDIX C 
 

   £ £ £ 

      

Director of Housing and Health    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions:    

  
2014/15 Policy Change HH1 Service Review 
Savings Strategic Housing  (10,450) (10,450)  

 Inflation  31,770  

 Other     

  2014/15 BWP 023 External Audit Fees (6,550)   

  2014/15 BWP 029 HRA SP Alarm Call Charges (1,320)   

  
2015/16 BWP 007 Healthshield Staff Health 
Insurance 1,810   

  2015/16 BWP 017 NNDR TBC Properties 70   

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation (2,870)   

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 5,580   

  2015/16 BWP 029 Bank Charges (340)   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance (3,250)   

  2015/16 BWP 033 Car Allowances (730) (7,600)  

 Pay Adjustments  57,610  

 Changes in External Recharges  (59,210)  

       

     12,120 

      

      

Director of Assets & Environment    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions:    

  
2014/15 Policy Change AE7 Service Review 
Savings Housing Investments (13,510) (13,510)  

 Inflation  190  

 Other     

  2015/16 BWP 028 Insurance Budgets 50   

  2015/16 BWP 031 Vacancy Allowance 510   

  2015/16 BWP 033 Car Allowances (40) 520  

 Pay Adjustments  3,730  

 Changes in External Recharges  9,080  

       

     10 

      

      

Housing Revenue Account Summary    

 Virements  -  

 Committee Decisions:    

  
2012/13 POLICY CHANGES HRA2B Rent 
Increase  (704,360)   

  
2012/13 POLICY CHANGES HRA2D Increase in 
Interest Costs 3,680   

  
2012/13 POLICY CHANGES HRA7 Contirbution 
to Regeneration Reserve 2,546,000   

  
2012/13 Policy Changes HRA2 Reduction in 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (712,150)   

  
2013/14 Policy Changes HRA11 Contribution to 
Regeneration Reserve 400,000 1,533,170  

 

 Inflation  94,680   

Page 33



 30

   £ £ £ 

 Other      

  2014/15 BWP 019 Debt Management Expenses 1,460    

  2014/15 BWP 025 Treasury Management (67,550)    

  2015/16 BWP 013 Pensions (720)    

  2015/16 BWP 019 Interest SOCH/HAA (60)    

  2015/16 BWP 024 Depreciation (8,010)    

  2015/16 BWP 030 HRA Garage Rents 540    

  2015/16 BWP 034 Housing Rents 645,680    

  2015/16 BWP 040 Treasury Management (8,060) 563,280   

 Pay Adjustments  -   

 Changes in External Recharges  -   

        

     2,191,130  

       

     2,203,260  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 34



 31 

 

APPENDIX D 
General Fund 
 

   Technical Adjustments  

Figures exclude internal recharges 
which have no bottom line impact 

Budget  
2014/15 

Virements 
£ 

Committee 
Decisions 

£ 
Inflation 

£ 
Other 

£ 

Pay 
Adjustments 

£ 

External 
Recharge 
Changes 
(non-GF 

Activities) 
£ 

Total 
Adjustments 

£ 

Total 
Adjusted 

Base 
2015/16 

                     

  
Chief Executive 156,670 - - 160 (650) 5,780 (2,210) 3,080 159,750 

  

Executive Director Corporate 
Services 

340,230 - 73,710 (640) (51,720) 16,360 2,230 39,940 380,170 

  
Director of Finance 79,920 - (324,300) 3,050 (696,820) 20,950 (15,700) (1,012,820) (932,900) 

  

Director of Technology & Corporate 
Programmes 

894,590 - - 11,720 (85,750) 17,990 17,690 (38,350) 856,240 

  
Solicitor to the Council 554,580 - - 4,520 130 9,430 (5,440) 8,640 563,220 

  

Director of Transformation & 
Corporate Performance 

939,450 - (50,380) 2,630 1,020 19,240 (17,700) (45,190) 894,260 

  

Director of Communities, Planning & 
Partnerships 

2,337,010 - (84,610) (1,850) 1,340 42,800 - (42,320) 2,294,690 

  
Director of Housing & Health 1,033,190 - (183,710) 1,010 11,390 4,370 76,500 (90,440) 942,750 

  
Director of Assets & Environment 2,796,590 - (530,140) 15,190 746,420 54,780 910 287,160 3,083,750 

                     

Grand Total 9,132,230 - (1,099,430) 35,790 (74,640) 191,700 56,280 (890,300) 8,241,930 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



 32 

 

 
 

APPENDIX E 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
   Technical Adjustments  

Figures exclude internal recharges 
which have no bottom line impact 

Budget  
2014/15 

Virements 
£ 

Committee 
Decisions 

£ 
Inflation 

£ 
Other 

£ 

Pay 
Adjustments 

£ 

External 
Recharge 
Changes 
(non-HRA 
Activities) 

£ 

Total 
Adjustments 

£ 

Total 
Adjusted 

Base 
2015/16 

                     

  Director of Housing & Health 4,052,290 - (10,450) 31,770 (7,600) 57,610 (59,210) 12,120 4,064,410 

  Director of Assets & Environment 12,280 - (13,510) 190 520 3,730 9,080 10 12,290 

  HRA Summary (3,080,310) - 1,533,170 94,680 563,280 - - 2,191,130 (889,180) 

                     

Grand Total 984,260 - 1,509,210 126,640 556,200 61,340 (50,130) 2,203,260 3,187,520 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 36



 

 

33 
 

Appendix F 
General Fund Summary Budgets – 2015/16 
 

Figures exclude internal recharges 
which have no bottom line impact. 

 Base 
Budget 
2014/15 

Technical 
Adjustments 

Policy 
Changes 

Budget 
2015/16 

  £ £ £ £ 

Chief Executive 156,670 3,080 - 159,750 

Executive Director Corporate Services 340,230 39,940 - 380,170 

Director of Finance 79,920 (1,012,820) 100,000 (832,900) 

Director of Technology & Corporate 
Programmes 

894,590 (38,350) 35,000 891,240 

Solicitor to the Council 554,580 8,640 - 563,220 

Director of Transformation & Corporate 
Performance 

939,450 (45,190) 10,000 904,260 

Director of Communities, Planning & 
Partnerships 

2,337,010 (42,320) - 2,294,690 

Director of Housing & Health 1,033,190 (90,440) - 942,750 

Director of Assets & Environment 2,796,590 287,160 132,250 3,216,000 

          

 9,132,230 (890,300) 277,250 8,519,180 

          

 
 
 
 
  

Page 37



 

 

34 
 

APPENDIX G 
General Fund Summary Budgets – 2014/15 to 2019/20 
 

Figures exclude internal recharges 
which have no bottom line impact. 

Base 
Budget  
2014/15 

Budget 
2015/16 

Budget 
2016/17 

Budget 
2017/18 

Budget 
2018/19 

Budget 
2019/20 

    £ £ £ £ £ £ 

                
                

  
Chief Executive 156,670 159,760 168,100 171,830 175,630 179,500 

  
Executive Director  
Corporate Services 

340,230 380,160 394,930 406,730 418,300 430,110 

  
Director of Finance 79,920 (932,920) (1,106,930) (1,058,900) (1,041,980) (936,100) 

  
Director of Technology & Corporate 
Programmes 

894,590 856,240 892,840 917,770 943,300 968,400 

  
Solicitor to the Council 554,580 563,210 583,840 598,210 611,880 625,840 

  
Director of Transformation & 
Corporate Performance 

939,450 894,260 893,660 916,340 939,710 963,900 

  
Director of Communities, Planning 
& Partnerships 

2,337,010 2,294,690 2,328,090 2,367,290 2,400,800 2,442,670 

  
Director of Housing & Health 1,033,190 942,760 953,320 958,810 964,470 970,290 

  
Director of Assets & Environment 2,796,590 3,083,770 3,235,950 3,333,760 3,429,570 3,521,480 

                

   9,132,230 8,241,930 8,343,800 8,611,840 8,841,680 9,166,090 

                

 
 

P
age 38



 

 

35 
 

Appendix H 
Housing Revenue Account 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 

Figures exclude internal recharges 
which have no bottom line impact. 

Base 
Budget  
2014/15 

Budget 
2015/16 

Budget 
2016/17 

Budget 
2017/18 

Budget 
2018/19 

Budget 
2019/20 

    £ £ £ £ £ £ 

               

  Director of Housing & Health 4,073,760 4,088,800 4,241,440 4,336,080 4,430,980 4,520,390 

  Director of Assets & Environment (9,190) (12,100) (5,160) (1,320) 1,590 4,580 

  HRA Summary (3,080,310) (889,180) (3,577,840) (3,731,250) (3,986,570) (4,249,040) 

         

Grand Total 984,260 3,187,520 658,440 603,510 446,000 275,930 

 
 
 P

age 39



 

 

36 

 

 
Appendix I 

Draft General Fund Capital Programme 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 
 

    2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total 

    £ £ £ £ £ £ 

General Fund Capital Programme             

 
Technology Replacement 

            
60,000  

            
60,000  

            
60,000  

            
60,000  

            
60,000  

          
300,000  

 Agile Working - Floor 
Refurbishment 

            
80,000  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

            
80,000  

 
Agile Working - Furniture 

            
48,000  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

            
48,000  

    
            

  
Subtotal 

          
188,000  

            
60,000  

            
60,000  

       
60,000  

            
60,000  

          
428,000  

    
            

 Private Sector Grants - 
Disabled Facilities Grants 

          
300,000  

          
250,000  

          
250,000  

          
250,000  

          
250,000  

       
1,300,000  

 
CCTV Camera Renewals 

            
15,000  

            
15,000  

            
15,000  

            
15,000  

            
15,000  

            
75,000  

 
Assembly rooms development 

          
100,000  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

        
-  

          
100,000  

 
Gateways 

            
50,000  

            
50,000  

            
50,000  

            
50,000  

            
50,000  

          
250,000  

  
Contingency 

                       
-  

                       
-  

                      
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

    
            

  
Subtotal 

          
465,000  

          
315,000  

          
315,000  

          
315,000  

          
315,000  

       
1,725,000  

    
            

  
Total General Fund Capital 

          
653,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

       
2,153,000  

    
            

  Proposed Financing: 
            

  
Supported Capital Expenditure 

                       
-  

                 
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

 
Grants - Disabled Facilities 

          
224,000  

          
224,000  

          
224,000  

          
224,000  

          
224,000  

       
1,120,000  

 
General Fund Capital Receipts 

          
100,000  

          
146,900  

            
73,500  

              
4,400  

                       
-  

          
324,800  

  Sale of Council House 
Receipts 

          
190,000  

              
4,100  

            
21,900  

              
216,000  

  
General Fund Capital Reserve 

            
81,000  

                       
-  

            
20,200  

                       
-  

                       
-  

          
101,200  

  Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay in Year 

            
58,000  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

                       
-  

            
58,000  

  
Unsupported Borrowing 

                
35,400  

          
146,600  

          
151,000  

          
333,000  

    
            

  
Total 

          
653,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

          
375,000  

       
2,153,000  

                

Page 40



 

 

37 

 

Appendix J 
Draft Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 TOTAL 

   £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing Revenue Account              

Capital Programme             

   Bathroom Renewals  
                 

755,370  
                 

774,250  
                 

795,540  
                 

817,420  
               

839,900  
              

3,982,480  

  
 Disabled Facilities 
Adaptations  

                 
300,000  

                 
307,500  

                 
315,960  

                 
324,650  

               
333,580  

              
1,581,690  

  
 Gas Central Heating 
Upgrades and Renewals  

          
557,560  

                 
569,830  

                 
582,360  

                 
595,170  

               
608,260  

              
2,913,180  

   Kitchen Renewals  
                 

897,000  
                 

919,430  
                 

944,710  
             

970,690  
               

997,380  
              

4,729,210  

   High Rise Lift Renewal  
                 

335,090  
                 

342,460  
                 

349,990  
                              
-  

                            
-  

              
1,027,540  

  
 Major Roofing Overhaul and 
Renewals  

                 
152,950  

                 
156,770  

                 
161,080  

                 
165,510  

               
170,060  

                 
806,370  

   Fencing/Boundary Walls  
                   

30,000  
     

30,000  
                   

30,000  
                   

30,000  
                 

30,660  
                 

150,660  

   Fire Upgrades to Flats  
                 

300,000  
                 

265,460  
                              
-  

                
-  

                            
-  

                 
565,460  

   Structural Works  
                 

200,000  
                 

100,000  
                 

100,000  
                 

100,000  
               

100,000  
                 

600,000  

   High Rise Balconies  
                 

525,000  
                 

525,000  
                 

525,000  
                 

525,000  
                            
-  

              
2,100,000  

   Sheltered Schemes  
                 

250,000  
                            
-  

                              
-  

                              
-  

                            
-  

                 
250,000  

   General Estate Works  
                 

200,000  
                 

200,000  
                 

200,000  
                 

200,000  
               

200,000  
              

1,000,000  

  
 Energy Efficiency 
Improvements  

                   
50,000  

                   
50,000  

                   
50,000  

                   
50,000  

                 
50,000  

                 
250,000  

   Window and Door Renewals  
                 

292,310  
                 

298,740  
                 

305,310  
                 

312,030  
               

318,900  
              

1,527,290  
  

Gas Heating at Belgrave 
                 

284,820  
                              
-  

                              
-  

                              
-  

                            
-  

                 
284,820  

  Contingency 
                 

100,000  
                 

100,000  
                 

100,000  
                 

100,000  
           

100,000  
                 

500,000  

   Capital Salaries  
                 

165,670  
                 

169,310  
                 

173,040  
                 

176,840  
               

180,730  
                 

865,590  

   CDM Fees  
                      

9,950  
                   

10,170  
                   

10,390  
                   

10,620  
                 

10,850  
                   

51,980  

                
  

Regeneration Schemes           
                              
-  

  
Kerria 

              
2,930,000  

  
3,845,000  

                              
-  

                              
-  

                            
-  

              
6,775,000  

  
Tinkers Green 

              
4,890,000  

              
5,239,000  

              
5,339,000  

                   
-  

                            
-  

            
15,468,000  

  
Redevelopment of Garage 
sites and other acquisitions 

              
1,605,000  

              
1,605,000  

              
1,605,000  

              
1,605,000  

                            
-  

              
6,420,000  

  
             

               

  Total HRA Capital 
            

14,830,720  
            

15,507,920  
           

11,587,380  
              

5,982,930  
            

3,940,320  
            

51,849,270  

               

Page 41



 

 

38 

 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 TOTAL 

   £ £ £ £ £ £ 

  Proposed Financing:             

               
  

Major Repairs Reserve 
              

4,482,060  
              

4,482,060  
              

4,482,060  
              

4,327,930  
            

3,890,320  
            

21,664,430  

  
Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay in Year 

  
923,660  

                 
336,860  

                 
161,320  

                   
50,000  

                 
50,000  

              
1,521,840  

 Capital Receipts from add 
Council House Sales 

              
1,000,000  

              
1,000,000  

     
1,000,000  

                              
-  

                            
-  

              
3,000,000  

 
Sale proceeds 

                              
-  

                 
649,000  

                 
649,000  

                              
-  

             
-  

              
1,298,000  

 Regeneration Revenue 
Reserves 

              
3,312,000  

              
2,000,000  

              
1,840,000  

                 
200,000    

              
7,352,000  

 Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay in Year 

    
2,871,000  

              
2,068,000  

              
3,455,000  

              
1,405,000  

                            
-  

              
9,799,000  

 
Unsupported Borrowing 

              
2,242,000  

              
4,972,000  

                              
-  

                              
-  

                            
-  

              
7,214,000  

  Shortfall           - 

  Total 14,830,720 15,507,920 11,587,380 5,982,930 3,940,320 51,849,270 

                

 

Page 42



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2014 

 
 
 

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
 

QUARTER TWO 2014/15 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 

Not applicable 
 
 
 
PURPOSE 

This report aims to provide Cabinet with a performance health-check 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet endorses the contents of this report 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
This report looks at  
 

1. High level corporate plan projects/programmes, 
2. Key Service Performance Indicators, 
3. Impact of welfare benefit reform, 
4. Performance management framework, 
5. Corporate risks, 
6. LGA Corporate Peer Challenge, 
7. Sustainability Strategy, 
8. Financial health check 

 
 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not applicable 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
There are none 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
There are none 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
There are none 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
John Day 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Quarter Two Performance Report 
 

Page 44



1 

1. High level corporate plan projects/programmes 
  

  
 

 Corporate Priority 

 1.To Aspire and Prosper in Tamworth 
 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  Cultural Quarter Project Business case A business case has been submitted  

  

External funding bids The Heritage Lottery Fund has accepted an 

extension to the application for lottery funding.  

A further submission has been made for the 

Single Local Growth Fund Bid.  

  

Growth and Regeneration Plan Business support Continued focus on key projects working in 

partnership with internal and external 

stakeholders.  

  

People:  

Skills and employment 

Continued focus on key projects working in 

partnership with internal and external 

stakeholders.  

  

Place: 

town centre 

employment sites 

housing  

transport 

Continued focus on key projects working in 

partnership with internal and external 

stakeholders.  

  

Improve the green environment including 

management and maintenance of local 

nature reserves, open spaces and parks, 

and to provide an efficient waste collection 

service 

The waste collection service delivers further efficiencies throughout the 

year that complement opportunities created by the new energy from 

waste disposal facility. 

The changes in the way organic waste is 

collected were introduced in the summer.  

  
Achieving a gold award in the “Heart of England in Bloom” competition, 

and receiving acknowledgement in the national Britain in Bloom 

Tamworth achieved a gold award for the fifth 

year running in the Heart of England in Bloom 

P
age 45



2 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

judging competition.  

  
Works to make Broad Meadow accessible and completion of the LNR 

designation 

The tender document was released in August 

2014 and is currently being evaluated.  

  
Town Wall gaining designation as a Local Nature Reserve by March 

2014 

The issue regarding land ownership is still 

ongoing.  

  

Local Plan 1. Consultation draft Completed.  

A pre-submission draft of the Local Plan went 

to Council on 8th October 2014.  

Six weeks consultation will follow this; 

following which a submission will be made to 

The Secretary of State.  

  2. Submission document   

  3. Examination   

  4. Adopted Local Plan   
 

 Corporate Priority 

 2. To be healthier and safer in Tamworth 
 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  Healthy Tamworth Formal establishment of Steering group The Public Health Commissioning Prospectus 

provides funding to Voluntary and Community 

Sector organisations for projects which improve 

health outcomes for residents of Tamworth; 

projects are funded for 1 year.  

The prospectus is £68,000 of funding provided 

by Public Health Staffordshire and Tamworth 

Borough Council and has funded 5 Voluntary 

and Community Sector groups in 2014. These 

  Development of the delivery framework 

  

Community engagement completed 

P
age 46



3 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

were:  

C.H.O.I.C.E.S Ltd, Community Together CIC, 

Staffordshire-Safety.Net, 

The Samaritans of Tamworth and Tamworth 

Cornerstone Housing Association.  

 

Additional activity has seen a 'nudge' workshop 

to inform partners how behavioural insight can 

be used to change behaviour to get residents to 

make positive life choices.  

 

In 2014, all 4 training modules of Let’s Work 

Together were delivered;  

Olive Branch and Be Safe, Feel Secure, Make 

Every Contact Count and Financial Difficulties, 

Medicine, Isolation and Carers, Housing and 

Slips, Trips and Falls.  

A review of Let’s Work Together has been 

undertaken to see how it is delivered in the 

future.  

 

  

Housing Regeneration - Kerria and Tinkers 

Green 

Decant commences Regeneration of Tinkers Green and Kerria 

Centre is progressing in accordance with 

project plan.  

The bungalows at Cottage Walk have been 

demolished.  

The decanting of tenants from Hastings Close is 

progressing well and successful consultation 

with residents has been undertaken for both 

areas. Outcomes from the consultation will be 

P
age 47



4 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

utilised in master planning exercise along with 

technical data.  

Further work with architects is progressing and 

financial modelling is underway.  

  

Consultation complete Regeneration of Tinkers Green and Kerria 

Centre is progressing in accordance with 

project plan.  

The bungalows at Cottage Walk have been 

demolished.  

The decanting of tenants from Hastings Close is 

progressing well and successful consultation 

with residents has been undertaken for both 

areas. Outcomes from the consultation will be 

utilised in master planning exercise along with 

technical data.  

Further work with architects is progressing and 

financial modelling is underway  

  Outline planning permission submitted- December 2014   

  

Implementation of the new Allocations 

Policy 

Implementation plan in place Implementation of the Council’s new allocations 

policy is underway with training of staff 

completed and IT systems updated and tested. 

Letters have been sent to all existing applicants 

to enable re-banding to take place. Successful 

delivery of the implementation to be completed 

in line with project milestones.  

  

IT Systems updated Implementation of the Council’s new allocations 

policy is underway with training of staff 

completed and IT systems updated and tested. 

Letters have been sent to all existing applicants 

P
age 48



5 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

to enable re-banding to take place. Successful 

delivery of the implementation to be completed 

in line with project milestones.  

  New policy implemented and publicised   

  To ensure all regulatory functions 

provided by the Council are delivered in a 

transparent, consistent and fair manner to 

promote public safety and to minimise the 

burden to businesses. 

A reduction in workplace accident investigations Work is ongoing throughout the year.  

  Air Quality Improved Work is ongoing throughout the year.  

  
All Licensing applications processed in a timely fashion, with any 

appeals dealt with in a professional manner 

Work is ongoing throughout the year.  

  All planned food and health and safety inspections completed Work is ongoing throughout the year.  

  
Statutory nuisance investigations/actions completed within acceptable 

timescales 

Work is ongoing throughout the year.  

 

 Corporate Priority 

 3. Approachable, Accountable and Visible 
 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  Budget / Council Tax Setting - Key Budget 

milestones completed in line with the 

agreed timetable 

Executive Board (additional) meetings timetabled Completed  

  Budget Consultation Process reviewed Completed  

  Budget Process approval Approved by Cabinet 21/8/14  

  
Budget Consultation results to CMT / EB Circulated to CMT 2nd October 2014. Due for 

Cabinet consideration 23rd October 2014  

  
Circulation of Revised recharges to CMT/ADs/Managers for 

review/challenge 

  

  Consideration of Initial Capital Programme proposals by CMT/EB   

  Consideration of Initial Policy Changes by CMT/EB   

P
age 49



6 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  Approval of Council Taxbase   

  Base Budget forecast to CMT/EB   

  
Council Members Budget Workshop (instead of 1 Joint Budget Scrutiny 

Committee) 

  

  Joint Budget Scrutiny Committee   

  Approval of Budget by Council   

  Council Tax Leaflet published   

  
Treasury Management Policy & Prudential Indicators / Limits reported & 

set 

  

  
Completion of Statutory Returns to ODPM (Revenue Estimates / Budget 

Requirement / capital estimates 

  

  

Corporate Information Security 

Development 

Development of security policies and procedures The Records Management Policy was approved 

by Cabinet in September 2014.  

It will be externally assessed in January 2015.  

  

Information security training Training is to be provided in the following 

areas:  

Information security and management,  

Data protection,  

Freedom of information.  

The training will be designed internally but 

delivered by an external provider. It is 

anticipated quotes will be sought for this work 

in January/February 2015 with delivery in 

2015/16 financial year.  

  Management of vendors and suppliers This is an ongoing activity through out the year. 

  Review security monitoring tools, particularly in line with obligations Work is still ongoing on the gold tool as it is 

P
age 50



7 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

defined by the Government Code of Connection felt this will be able to incorporate most 

elements of security.  

Also looking at anti-virus renewal to 

encompass all four facets of firewall, anti-virus, 

web filter and mobile development 

management.  

  Risk assessment and response to incident This is an ongoing activity through out the year. 

  Customer Service and Access Strategy Agreement of strategy at Corporate Management Team Agreed at CMT on 14th July 2014.  

  
'Quick win' action plan agreed by Corporate Management Team Agreed at Corporate Management Team on 8th 

September 2014.  

  Action plan developed for delivery of strategy   

  £50k savings achieved by 31st March 2016   

  £100k savings achieved by 31st March 2017.   

  
80% of customer contact dealt with by Customer Services Centre by 

March 2017. 

  

  
E-mail enquiries increased from 12,500 a year to 25,000 a year by 

March 2017 

  

  
Face to face interactions reduced from 91,720 to 17,000 a year by 

March 2017. 

  

  Self service processes increased from 1 to 5,000 by March 2017   

  
Telephone calls into Tamworth Borough Council reduced from 30,000 

per year to 5,000 per year by March 2017. 

  

  
Text messages sent out increased from 2,000 a year to 5,000 a year by 

March 2017 

  

  The number of hits on website increased from 597,000 a year.   

P
age 51



8 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  Elections 2014 Election Meetings begin  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All milestones completed 

  

  Election preparation begins 

  

Prepare Candidates & Agents Packs including Nomination Papers 

Complete Staffing 

Write to Police SPOC (Gary Lote) with details of Polling Stations 

  Absent Voter Refresh period 

  Press Release Agents meeting 

  
LIVE poll card data and 

LIVE postal vote data deadline 

  Candidates and Agents Meeting 

  Poll cards approval, sort and delivery 

  
Notice of Election 

Pre-election period begins 

  
Nomination Period 

7 Apr – 24 April 

  Last day for the publication of the Statement of Persons Nominated 

  

Ballot Boxes preparation begins + Count preparations + Postal Vote 

opening and Issue leading up to Polling Day 

28th April – 19th May 

  Ballot Papers proofs, checking printing delivery 

  
Last day for withdrawal of candidature 

Last day for receipt of Notice of Appointment of Election Agents 

  Staff Training events 

  Notice of Poll Deadline 

  Deadline for new registrations 

P
age 52



9 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

Deadline to apply, amend or cancel a postal vote or postal-proxy 

Deadline to amend or cancel an existing proxy vote 

  Postal Vote date deadline 

  Checking of Postal Packs for despatch 

  Count at close of Poll 

  Implementation of Self Serve - Human 

Resources/ Payroll Module 

Scope project The project is now scoped.  

  Implement   

  Review   

  Individual Electoral Registration Publication of revised register in England Completed  

  

EROs to conduct delayed 2013 canvass period. Information to be 

published to keep public informed 

Oct 2013 – Feb 2014 

Completed  

  

New software installation to support IER and electoral process going 

forward  

Feb - April 2014 

Completed  

  
Seconded post to be filled to assist process  

April 2014 ongoing 

  

  

Data-matching underway on the final pre-IER register EROs write-out 

to those on the final pre-IER register to assure them that they are 

confirmed as registered under the new system, or to invite them to 

supply their personal identifiers 

Confirmation Live Run completed 14 July 2014.  

  

Electoral Commission public awareness campaign goes live across 

England, Scotland and Wales in time to support the write-out and other 

registration activity undertaken by electoral registration officers. 

National and Local advertising campaign started 

in July 2014  

  IER goes live; new applicants will be registered under IER.   

P
age 53



10 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

  
Rolling registration continues  

March to Sept 2014 

  

  
Publication of revised register. Estimated project will be complete by 

December 2015 

  

  Legal Spend Review Initial approach made to external service providers Completed  

  
Options looked at to decide the most appropriate source of legal 

support 

Completed  

  Meetings with stakeholders to discuss operation of service Completed  

  
Meeting with Lichfield Legal Services to explore larger shared service 

option 

Completed  

  
Scheme of Delegation Report for approval to enter shared service 

agreement 

Completed  

  

Draft shared service agreement to be agreed Final draft of agreement reached with 

Birmingham City Council. Lichfield District 

Council is not taking part at this point in time.  

  
Ongoing co-ordination through legal services of legal spend across 

TBC 

Proposals taken to heads of service meeting 

and implemented with services.  

  

Roll out of shared service to stakeholders Heads of service have taken on board 

instruction of legal services through legal to 

control spending.  

  

Maximisation of income/collection Council 

Tax, Non-Domestic Rates, Debtors and 

Mortgages. Improved cash flow and local 

collection targets achieved – including 

monitoring of the impact of Welfare 

Benefit Reform. 

In year % collection of Debtors - 95% Current year is ahead of target by 17%  Debts 

over 6 months old are behind due to several 

aged debts - an analysis of aged debt is being 

prepared with options for the way forward  

  
In year % collection of Council Tax - 97.5% Council Tax current year is ahead of target by 

0.2% at 30 September. 

P
age 54



11 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

Court costs income is ahead of target by £32k   

Arrears slightly behind target but will continue 

to target additional income wherever possible. 

  

In year % collection of Non-Domestic Rates – 98% Current year collection is significantly behind 

target by 3.5% (£1.2m) at 30 September. This is 

due to the take up of 12 monthly instalments 

by large companies. Income for February/March 

2014 was £619k - it is projected for Feb/March 

15 to be £1,380,929.12 in February and 

£1,162,837.00 in March. There is also £168k in 

arrangement amounts due during those 

months. At this stage there is not a concern  

Costs slightly behind target (£1k)  

Arrears ahead of target  

 

  

Monitor the effects of changes to Benefits 

regulations & their impact on the 

collection & recovery of Council Tax and 

Monitoring of arrangements for 

localisation of Non-domestic rates 

In year % collection of Debtors - 95% Current year is ahead of target by 17%  Debts 

over 6 months old are behind due to several 

aged debts - an analysis of aged debt is being 

prepared with options for the way forward  

  

In year % collection of Council Tax - 97.5% Council Tax current year is ahead of target by 

0.2% at 30 September. 

Court costs income is ahead of target by £32k   

Arrears slightly behind target but will continue 

to target additional income wherever possible. 

  

In year % collection of Non-Domestic Rates – 98% Current year collection is significantly behind 

target by 3.5% (£1.2m) at 30 September. This is 

due to the take up of 12 monthly instalments 

by large companies. Income for February/March 

2014 was £619k - it is projected for Feb/March 

P
age 55



12 

  Corporate Project/Programme Milestone/Measure of Success Latest update 

15 to be £1,380,929.12 in February and 

£1,162,837.00 in March. There is also £168k in 

arrangement amounts due during those 

months. At this stage there is not a concern  

Costs slightly behind target (£1k)  

Arrears ahead of target  

 

  

Provision of financial advice, assistance 

and business support for Directorates & 

budget managers & preparation of 

monthly financial performance 

management reports for CMT & Quarterly 

for Cabinet 

Bank Reconciliation completed within 10days (Payments Account) / 15 

days (General Account) of period end 

Bank Reconciliation completed within 7days 

(General Account) / 15 days (Payments Account) 

for August 2014  

  

Ledgers closed down within 5 working days of period end Financial ledger (efinancials) and Collaborative 

Planning budget setting & monitoring updated 

as at 30 September 2014 on 1 October 2014  

  

Spending maintained within approved budget and without significant 

underspends – target range of up to 5% underspend. 

First Quarter financial healthcheck reported to 

CMT / Cabinet August 2014, Second Quarter 

healthcheck due to be reported to CMT / 

Cabinet November 2014  

  

To complete the Final Accounts process 

with an unqualified audit opinion 

Preparation of Draft Accounts by 30th June Final accounts prepared & provided to External 

Auditors and Audit & Governance Committee on 

26 June 2014  

  

Completion of Statutory Returns to ODPM (Revenue Out-turn / Capital 

Out-turn / WGA return) by 30th July 

Completed 

 

  
Approval by Audit & Governance Committee by statutory deadline of 

30th September 

Approved by Audit & Governance Committee on 

25th September 2014  

  Publication by statutory deadline of 30th September Completed  

  Publication by statutory deadline of 30th September Completed  
 

P
age 56



13 

 

 
2. Key Service Performance Indicators 

 

Assets and Environment Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Assets & Environment 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_A&E_KPI001 Monitor 

the local air quality in 

Tamworth, taking any 

necessary action as dictated 

by the results 

 
Yes 2013/14 Yes  

16-Jul-2014 Air Quality Management Area (AMQA) was designated by 

Cabinet in March 2014  

LPI_A&E_KPI002 Work with 
 

 2014/15 Yes  02-Oct-2014 Work is still underway with letting available space. 

P
age 57



14 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

other public sector 

organisations to offer co-

location in strategic council 

premises 

There has been increased co-location with Staffordshire County 

Council and the Community Safety Hub  

LPI_A&E_KPI003 Deliver 

100% of the Housing 

Capital Programme 
 

100% 2013/14 100%   

 

 

Environmental Health & Regulatory Services 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_EHRS001 The number 

of 0 and 2 star rated 

businesses 
 

53 Q2 2014/15   
 

10-Oct-2014 Increased number of businesses opening not meeting 

standards and lower risk businesses standards falling due to other 

work priorities. 

LPI_EHRS003 The annual 

percentage of planned high 

risk inspections undertaken 
 

100% Q2 2014/15 50% 
 

 

 

 

Waste Management 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

NI 192 Percentage of 

household waste sent for 

reuse, recycling and 

composting (Tamworth) 

 
56.00% Q1 2014/15 50.00% 

 
 

 
 

P
age 58



15 

Communities Planning and Partnerships Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 

 

  

  
 

 
 

Community Development 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CEPCDCD001am The 

number of partners 

delivering services in 

response to agreed issues - 

Amington 

 
31 Q2 2014/15 27 

 
 

LPI_CEPCDCD001bg The 

number of partners 

delivering services in 

response to agreed issues - 

Belgrave 

 
30 Q2 2014/15 27 

 
21-Oct-2014 No change from last quarter - partnership involvement 

sustained.  

P
age 59



16 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CEPCDCD001gl The 

number of partners 

delivering services in 

response to agreed issues- 

Glascote 

 
29 Q1 2014/15 27 

 

24-Jul-2014  

Partners as at June 2014 

Staffs Library Service, Children’s Centre, Glascote Primary School, 

School Farm parents group, Home start, Staffs College, Healthwatch, 

Waistlines, St Peters Church, TBC Caretaking, St Wardens, Staffs 

Police, Midland Heart, Bancroft Community Centre, Silver Court 

Residents Group, Staffs College, Healthwatch, Community Organiser, 

FEI, Steps to Work, TBC Housing, Oakhill School, Midland Psychology, 

Community Together CIC, Staffs Youth Service, Tamworth Volunteer 

Centre, (26) Burgess Nature Park, FARS, Affinity Sutton  

LPI_CEPCDCD001st The 

number of partners 

delivering services in 

response to agreed issues - 

Stonydelph 

 
30 Q1 2014/15 27 

 
 

 

P
age 60



17 

 

Community Leisure 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CPP_GOLF_023 Total 

Pay and Play rounds - 9 

hole (Tamworth Golf 

Course) 

 
694 Q2 2014/15 853 

 
 

LPI_CPP_GOLF_024 Total 

Pay and Play rounds - 18 

hole (Tamworth Golf 

Course) 

 
536 Q2 2014/15 799 

 
 

LPI_CPP_GOLF_025 Total 

Membership (Tamworth Golf 

Course) 
 

163 2014/15 229 
 

 

LPI_CSPCDCLAR003 Total 

Attendance Overall - 

Assembly Rooms 
 

6,558 Q2 2014/15 15,000 
 

 

LPI_CSPCDCLAR015 

Customer Satisfaction - 

Assembly Rooms 
 

99% April 2014 96% 
 

 

LPI_CSPCDCLOE001 Visitor 

Numbers (Outdoor Events)  
15,982 Q2 2014/15 14,000 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCLTC002 Total 

Number of visits/usages - 

Tamworth Castle 
 

9,762 Q1 2014/15 9,100 
 

 

LPI_CSPCDCLTC020 Trip 

Advisor Rating - Tamworth 

Castle 
 

4.5 2013/14 4.5 
 

 

LPI_PCPCL001 Total 16+ 

attending organised activity 

across the Borough 
 

80,654 Q1 2014/15 25,000 
 

 

LPI_PCPCL002 Total  under 

16 attending organised 

activity across the Borough 
 

66,912 Q1 2014/15 24,500 
 

 

 

P
age 61



18 

 

Community Safety 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CSPCDCS001 Burglary 

Dwelling  
47 Q2 2014/15 49 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCS008 Incidents 

of Anti-Social Behaviour  
613 Q2 2014/15 643 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCS011 Serious 

Violence  
12 Q2 2014/15 7 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCS011a Less 

Serious Violence  
149 Q2 2014/15 149 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCS012 Serious 

Acquisitive Crime  
141 Q2 2014/15 120 

 
 

LPI_CSPCDCS018 Violence 

with injury  
161 Q2 2014/15 156 

 
 

 

 

Development Control 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

BV109a NI 157a Processing 

of planning applications: 

Major applications 

(Tamworth) 

 
100.00% Q2 2014/15 60.00% 

 

The performance of 100% was achieved by determining all 3 major 

applications decided in the quarter within 13 weeks  

 

BV109b NI 157b Processing 

of planning applications: 

Minor applications 

(Tamworth) 

 
78.26% Q2 2014/15 65.00% 

 

The performance level of 78.2 % was achieved by determining 18 out 

of 23 applications within the 8 week target time  

 

BV109c NI 157c Processing 

of planning applications: 

Other applications 

(Tamworth) 

 
91.83% Q2 2014/15 80.00% 

 

The performance level of 91.83% was achieved by determining 45 

out of 49 applications within the 8 week target time  

 
 

P
age 62



19 

 

Economic Development 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CPPSPDED005 

Percentage of working age 

population claiming Job 

Seekers Allowance 

 
0.9% Q2 2014/15 1.6% 

 

21-Oct-2014 448 people claiming JSA.  

2.8% in West Midlands  

2.2% in Great Britain  

LPI_CPPSPDED006 

Percentage of total rateable 

value of commercial 

floorspace that is 

unoccupied 

 
5.15% Q2 2014/15 8.67% 

 

The drop from 8.7% at the end of quarter 1 is largely attributable to 

the reoccupation by Hermes of the empty part of the Tamworth 594 

unit. This represents an historic low for this indicator since we began 

monitoring it and is symptomatic of a strong local economic recovery 
.  

LPI_CPPSPDED007 

Percentage change in 

rateable value of 

commercial buildings 

 
0% Q2 2014/15 0.50% 

 
 

 

 

Partnerships & Community Development 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_PCDCFS_001 The 

number of reported 

concerns - Children 
 

9 Q2 2014/15 6.25 
 

 

LPI_PCDCFS_002 The 

number of reported 

concerns - Adults 
 

13 Q2 2014/15 7.5 
 

 

 

P
age 63



20 

 

Partnerships Support & Development 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CSBDS_005 20 new 

jobs created in existing 

organisations per annum 

directly attributable to 

interventions under the 

Contract (BDS – 

Infrastructure Support for 

business and third sector) 

 
12 Q2 2014/15 5 

 
 

LPI_CSBDS_006 10 first-

time business start ups over 

two years with information 

broken down by sector and 

level of support provided 

(BDS – Infrastructure 

Support for business and 

third sector) 

 
0 Q2 2014/15 2.5 

 

28-Jul-2014 We have negotiated with BDS not to provide these 

targets in Year 1 (2014/15) due to a duplicate service being provided 

by Blue Orchid. The target is to be achieved in Year 2 (2015/16) of 

the Contract.  

 

P
age 64



21 

 

Planning and Regeneration 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_SP1_1d_003 The 

occupancy levels of Town 

Centre retail outlets 
 

86% Q1 2014/15 91% 
 

28-Jul-2014 There are 42 vacant units within the town centre 

boundary; this gives an occupancy rate of 87%.  

A slight fall of 1% in the occupancy level in the town centre. A 

breakdown of use classes across the town centre is listed below:  

 

A1 147  

A2 48  

A3 21  

A4 13  

A5 11  

B1 1  

C1 3  

C3 1  

D1 6  

D2 0  

Sui generis 9  

 

Vacant 42  

 

 

NI 154 Net additional 

homes provided (Tamworth)  
50 2013/14 216 

 

23-Jul-2014 Completions for the year 2013/14 are 50 units. This 

marks the 3rd year in a row of falling total completions across the 

Borough. The Council's role in providing new homes is setting the 

right environment for house building by producing an up to date and 

sound Local Plan and the approval planning applications for 

sustainable development.  

Without the availability of large housing allocations it can be difficult 

to bring forward large amounts of additional housing. The current 

supply within Tamworth is predominantly made up of small 

application sites; the only remaining large site is Anker Valley, which 

is current in with Development Management as a planning 

application. Without a constant supply of larger sites there will be 

peaks and slumps of completions.  

  

Despite the set back of withdrawing the Local Plan from examination 

in 2013, good progress has been made in the new draft Local Plan. A 

wider range of large allocations have been proposed and smaller sites 

within the urban area are also being proposed for allocation. The 

P
age 65



22 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

Local Plan will be specific to the supply of housing within the borough 

for the next 15 years.  

  

Planning & Regeneration will continue to work with the development 

industry in a productive manner to bring forward more housing within 

Tamworth.  

Despite the low completion rate, there still remains a supply of 

smaller applications sites; however progress by the house building 

industry has been slowed to bring forward these applications to 

completion.  

NI 155 Number of 

affordable homes delivered 

(gross) (Tamworth) 
 

7 2013/14 117 
 

23-Jul-2014 Affordable completions for the year 2013/14 is 7 units. 

The Council's role in providing new homes is setting the right 

environment for house building by producing an up to date and sound 

Local Plan and the approval planning applications for sustainable 

development.  

Without the availability of large housing allocations it can be difficult 

to bring forward large amounts of additional housing. The current 

supply within Tamworth is predominantly made up of small 

application sites; the only remaining large site is Anker Valley, which 

is current in with Development Management as a planning 

application. Without a constant supply of larger sites there will be 

peaks and slumps of completions.  

 

Despite the set back of withdrawing the Local Plan from examination 

in 2013, good progress has been made in the new draft Local Plan. A 

wider range of large allocations have been proposed and smaller sites 

within the urban area are also being proposed for allocation. The 

Local Plan will be specific to the supply of housing within the borough 

for the next 15 years.  

 

Planning & Regeneration will continue to work with the development 

industry in a productive manner to bring forward more housing within 

Tamworth.  

 

Despite the low completion rate, there still remains a supply of 

smaller applications sites; however progress by the house building 

industry has been slowed to bring forward these applications to 

completion.  

 

The situation for affordable housing is worse than that of general 

market housing because the current planning policy requires only 

P
age 66



23 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

sites of 14 or more units to contribute to affordable housing 

provision. Without the larger sites affordable homes will not come 

forward. The draft Local Plan sets this threshold much lower and 

requires smaller sites to make a contribution to affordable housing 

provision.  

 

However, at the 1st April 14 there were 38 affordable units under 

construction with a further supply of 82 units with consent.  
 

 

P
age 67



24 

Finance Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
  

  
 

 
 

Corporate Finance 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_AAV_002 Achievement 

of an unqualified audit 

opinion on the financial 

statements 

 
Yes 2013/14 Yes 

 

06-Oct-2014 Unqualified Audit opinion signed by Grant Thornton 25th 

September 2014. Audit Conclusion certificate issued 2nd October 

2014  

LPI_RDCF001 Spending 

maintained within approved 

budget and without 

significant underspends 

 
0.74% August 2014 -5% 

 
 

LPI_RDCF002 Number of 

material final account audit 

adjustments 
 

0 2013/14 0 
 

 

P
age 68



25 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_RDCF025 Ledgers 

closed down within 5 

working days of period end 
 

1 Q2 2014/15 5 
 

 

LPI_RDCF026a Bank 

Reconciliation completed 

within 10 days (Payments 

Account) 

 
6.5 Q2 2014/15 10 

 
 

LPI_RDCF026b Bank 

Reconciliation completed 

within 15 days (General 

Account) of period end 

 
12 Q2 2014/15 15 

 
 

 

 

Revenues Services 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

BV10 Percentage of Non-

domestic Rates Collected  
55.40% Q2 2014/15 58.90% 

 

23-Oct-2014 Greater than anticipated take up of extended 

instalments. Approx £2.6m due in Feb/ Mar 2015 compared to £600k 

collected Feb/ Mar 2014. Also a number of large new bills, e.g. 

Hermes reoccupied, £400k debit raised all due Nov-Mar  

BV9 % of Council Tax 

collected  
58.10% Q2 2014/15 57.90% 

 
 

LPI_RDFOREV009 Debtors 

current year collection  
97.33% Q2 2014/15 80% 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 69



26 

Housing and Health Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 

 

  
 

 
 

Housing Empty Property Management 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI BV212 Average number 

of days taken to re-let local 

authority housing (Standard 

Empty Homes) 

 
15 Q2 2014/15 16 

 
 

LPI_CSHSEPM009 The 

percentage of customers 

satisfied with the "Finding a 

Home" Service 

 
100% September 2014 80% 

 

03-Oct-2014 During September we received 10 completed surveys of 

which all rated the service as good or above  

 

P
age 70



27 

 

Housing Estate Management 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_CSHSCS001 Percentage 

of offensive graffiti removed 

within 48 hours 
 

100% Q2 2014/15 100% 
 

 

 

 

Housing Maintenance 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_HMLSHMM001 Overall 

percentage of tenant 

satisfaction with the 

responsive repairs service 

provided by Mears 

 
94.4% August 2014 85% 

 
 

LPI_HMLSHMM003 

Percentage of all responsive 

repairs completed within 

target 

 
98.6% Q2 2014/15 97% 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 71



28 

Legal and Democratic Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 
  
 

 
 

Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_SMO001 Number of 

Standard Searches carried 

out 
 

363 Q2 2014/15   
 

06-Oct-2014 **enter note here**116 full searches 247 personal 

searches 

LPI_SMO002 The number of 

exempt items presented to 

meetings 
 

12 Q2 2014/15   
 

03-Oct-2014 There were 12 confidential reports for Q2 2014/15  

LPI_SMO003 Percentage of 

Household Enquiry Forms 

returned 
 

 Q4 2013/14    
14-May-2014 Household Enquiry Forms will not be in use until June 

2014 so collection of this indicator will not commence until after then.  

LPI_SMO004 Percentage of 

Individual Elector 

Registration Forms returned 
 

88% Q2 2014/15    
30-Sep-2014 This is a good rate of return for the new individual 

registration system.  

 

P
age 72



29 

 

  

Technology and Corporate Programmes Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

Technology & Corporate Programmes 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_RDICT001 Percentage 

of incidents fixed by ICT  
89.05% Q2 2014/15 70% 

 
 

LPI_RDICT002 Incidents 

Responded within SLA  
93.66% Q2 2014/15 90% 

 
 

LPI_RDICT003 Incidents 

Resolved within SLA  
97.13% Q2 2014/15 90% 

 
 

LPI_RDICT004 ICT Backups 
 

91.44% Q2 2014/15 100% 
 

 

P
age 73



30 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_RDICT005 Service 

Availability  
99.84% Q2 2014/15 99% 

 
 

LPI_RDICT006 Maintain 

accreditation against 

ISO20000 
 

Yes 2012/13 Yes 
 

 

LPI_RDICT007 Maintain 

accreditation against 

ISO27001 
 

Yes 2012/13 Yes 
 

 

LPI_RDICT008 Freedom of 

Information Requests 

Responded To Within 

legislative timescales 

 
100% Q1 2014/15 100% 

 
 

LPI_RDICT015 ICT Support 

Desk - Percentage of calls 

answered within 15 seconds 
 

92.35% Q2 2014/15 92% 
 

 

LPI_RDICT016 ICT Support 

Desk - Percentage of calls 

abandoned 
 

3.8% Q2 2014/15 3% 
 

 

LPI_RDICT017 ICT Service 

Desk - Outstanding 

Incidents 
 

52 June 2014   
 

 

LPI_RDICT018 LLPG Quality 
 

3 August 2014 5 
 

10-Sep-2014 Staffs Highways deleted 17 footways for the NSG before 

consulting. Corresponding footways were deleted from the LLPG as 

soon as aware however Geoplace had already run reports.  
 
 

  

 

P
age 74



31 

Transformation and Corporate Performance Key Service Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 

 

  

 
 

Health and Safety 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_ACEODHS001 Number 

of accidents to employees 

reported 
 

11 Q2 2014/15   
 

 

LPI_ACEODHS002 Number 

of accidents to non-

employees reported 
 

1 Q2 2014/15   
 

 

LPI_ACEODHS004 Number 

of HSE 

notifications/interactions 
 

2 Q2 2014/15   
 

 

LPI_ACEODHS005 Number 

of violent/threatening 

incidents 
 

4 Q2 2014/15   
 

 

P
age 75



32 

 

 

Human Resources 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

BV12 Working Days Lost 

Due to Sickness Absence  
3.27 Q2 2014/15 4.25 

 
 

 

 

Payroll 
 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_T&CP_005 The number 

of payroll errors  
1 Q2 2014/15   

 
 

 

 

Transformation and Corporate Performance 

 

PI Code & Short Name PI Status Current Value Last Update Current Target 

Performance 

compared to last 

reporting period 

Latest Notes 

LPI_T&CP_001 The number 

of hits on the website  
287,871 Q2 2014/15   

 
 

LPI_T&CP_002 Average 

time spent on the website  
3.44 Q2 2014/15   

 
 

LPI_T&CP_003 SoCITM 

Website score  
1 2013/14 4 

 

01-May-2014 This was assessed in November 2013, therefore was on 

our old website. We have since launched a new website so this score 

is not reflective of our current situation.  
 
 

  

P
age 76



33

  
3. Impact of Welfare Benefit Reform on Council services 
 
Quarterly updates are presented to monitor the impact of welfare benefit reform changes on 
Council services including customer demand via customer services monitoring of 
calls/contacts together with the financial impact of collection and demand for benefits and 
effect on income streams such as rent, council tax and business rates. 
 
Quarterly updates are presented to monitor the impact of welfare benefit reform changes on 
Council services including customer demand via customer services monitoring of 
calls/contacts together with the financial impact of collection and demand for benefits and 
effect on income streams such as rent, council tax and business rates. 
 
Benefits 
 
DHP claims are underspent by £44k with 228 successful claims from 360 applications 
(compared to 67 successful claims from 182 applications at September 2013). 
 
Live caseload figures are in line with 2013/14 – currently 6919 (6922 at September 2013) 
although there is a 4 week backlog (3 weeks as at 30 September 2013) with claims still to 
be processed which will increase this figure. 
 
NNDR 
 
Reminders (538 at 30 September) are higher than 2013/14 levels (469 at 30 September 
2013) although summons, liability orders and Enforcement Agent referrals are lower. 

Current year collection is significantly behind target by 3.5% (£1.2m) at 30 September.  

This is due to the take up of 12 monthly instalments by large companies. Income for 
February/March 2014 was £619k - it is projected for February/March 2015 to be £1.4m in 
February and £1.2m in March. There is also £168k in arrangement amounts due during 
those months. At this stage there is not a concern. 

Costs are slightly behind target (£1k). 

Council Tax 
 
Reminders etc. are lower than 2013/14 levels although Enforcement Agent referrals are 
higher (364 additional referrals as at September 2014). 
 
Current year is 0.2% ahead of the collection target (97.5% for 2014/15).  
 
Court cost income is ahead of target by £32k. 
 
Collection Fund – Estimated surplus £24k for the year. 
 
LCTS projected underspend of £37k (total £60k). 
 
 
Customer Services (last updated July 2014) 
 
Visits to Marmion House - since the increased levels in 2013/14, visits in the months to July 
2014 were significantly lower, 2705 visits in July 2014 compared to 4036 in July 2013.  Page 77



34

 
 
Enquiries for council tax & benefits enquiries have also been lower than in 2013/14. 
 
Housing 
 
Total Rent arrears (excluding former tenants) at 30th June 2014 are £486k compared to 
£412k at 31st March 2014 – an increase of £74k (compared to a £172k increase as at 30th 
September 2013). 
 
Total arrears (including garages etc.) are £1.46m at 30th September 2014, compared to 
£1.31m at 31st March 2014, an increase of £152k (compared to a £210k increase between 
31st March 2013 and 30th September 2013). 
 
(Total arrears (including garages etc.) were £1.31m - £125k higher at 31 March 2014 
compared to 31 March 2013 - £1.18m). 
 
4. Corporate Risk register 
 

The Corporate Risk register is reviewed and updated by the Corporate Management Team. 
 
There are currently fifteen risks on the Corporate Risk Register, none of which are high risks 
and the “heat map” below indicates the current position of their risk status 
 

 
 
5. Performance Management Framework 
 
 
Activity in quarter two 2014/15 saw: 
 
� Performance and financial healthcheck report at Cabinet, 
� Commencement of the budgeting process, 
� Public budget consultation. 

 
 

Page 78



35 

 
6. LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Reaction Plan Update 
 

  
 

 

High Level Reaction Plan in Relation to LGA Peer Challenge Feedback 
 

  

 1. Local Context & Priority Setting 
 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

  

a) Review and prioritise all major actions 

detailed in both the Sustainability Strategy 

and Corporate Change Programme 

06-Oct-2014 A planned quarterly update 

was discussed at the CMT meeting on 1st 

October 2014 and the MTFS monitoring 

model updated to reflect the current 

forecasts / position regarding the 

implementation of the Sustainability Strategy 

actions and their associated timetable.  

CMT for discussion and 

endorsement from Cabinet  

Corporate Management Team 

  

b) Maintain focus and resourcing to ensure 

timely sign-off of Local Plan having regard to 

the need and significance of our neighbours 

“Duty to Co-operate”. 

03-Oct-2014 Continue to prioritise the Local 

Plan timetable. Additional resources put in 

place to adhere to the duty to cooperate and 

adhere to the timetable.  

Director CPPs/Strategic 

Planning Team  

Support: CEO/Portfolio 

Member/Leader  

Director H&H/Director A&E  

Rob Mitchell 

  

c) Review “bottom up” connectivity between 

partners and TBC resources at locality level 

and their senior representatives at TSP Board 

level 

22-Jul-2014 This has been completed.  Director CPPs/Community 

Development Team 

(External/Peer support may 

be necessary). Support from 

relevant partnership 

organisations/data & 

intelligence sources/Elected 

Members  

Rob Mitchell 

 

P
age 79



36 

  

 2. Financial Planning & Viability 
 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

  

a) Monitor income flows and encourage 

innovative income generation options 

15-Jul-2014 A successful bid for grant 

funding from Improvement and Efficiency 

West Midlands (IEWM) was made, to support 

the development of a multi-agency approach 

to Commissioning for outcomes in 

Tamworth, and the exploration and 

development of a Tamworth Borough Council 

approach to Commissioning  

  

In achieving these aims the Council drew up 

a specification for the provision of 

‘Commercial Skills’ training (i.e. 

commissioning services, costing and 

responding to tender opportunities) for staff 

who may be involved in commissioning 

services or potentially providing services to 

other organisations. Thornton & Lowe 

successfully won the ‘Quick Quote’ process 

to develop a training course tailored to our 

requirements to run as a ‘pilot’ in March 

2014. A further training day has since been 

held, and the success/relevance of the 

course is to be evaluated to inform decision-

making around further training/responding 

to skills gaps identified.  

  

The need for changes to the Council’s 

Constitution & Scheme of Delegation and 

All CMT members with 

income generation 

capability/Service Heads/All 

Staff.  

Corporate Management Team 

P
age 80



37 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

Standing Orders/Financial Guidance was 

identified, to enable Directors to be more 

commercial / allow them to act quickly 

where an opportunity arises. Amendments 

have been proposed to allow Directors, in 

consultation with their Portfolio Holders via a 

Scheme of Delegation report:-  

  

1) to bid for grants up to £100k without 

referring back to Cabinet  

2) to bid for tenders for provision of TBC 

services  

3) to submit joint bids with partners  

  

  

b) Consider broadening the terms of reference 

for Service Reviews in order to capture the 

more transformational outcomes from the 

process 

03-Oct-2014 Additional questions around 

service transformation are now required to 

be addressed in the service review process  

CEO/Director CPPs via work 

stream, Directors & Heads of 

Service to lead on process 

and report progress via the 

CMT/CCB infrastructure and 

relevant member 

consultation.  

Tony Goodwin; Rob Mitchell 

  

c) Monitor progress of workstreams against 

strategy profile – manage any emerging risk 

of back loading 

06-Oct-2014 A planned quarterly update 

was discussed at the CMT meeting on 1st 

October 2014 and the MTFS monitoring 

model updated to reflect the current 

forecasts / position regarding the 

implementation of the Sustainability Strategy 

actions and their associated timetable.  

CEO/ED/DoF/Leadership  Stefan Garner; Tony Goodwin; John 

Wheatley 

 

  

P
age 81



38 

  

 3. Political & Managerial Leadership 
 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

  

a) Reality check the political statement that 

there are “No Sacred Cows” as early as 

possible. 

27-Oct-2014 The Cabinet and Corporate 

Management Team are scheduled to meet 

and discuss progress to date and proposals 

going forward in relation to the Sustainability 

Strategy in November, 2014. Member 

involvement in this review and the budget 

setting/MTFS planning will address this 

issue. 

 

CEO via the presentation of 

options and proposals 

relating to service cuts 

and/or efficiencies. Support 

from CMT/Endorsed by 

Cabinet  

Corporate Management Team 

  

b) Clearly define, articulate and then 

communicate the operating model that best 

describes the organisation going forward 

27-Oct-2014 Indirectly this has been 

achieved via the AGM. Employees are aware 

that we have adopted a multi-economy 

approach to service delivery via in-house 

efficient service delivery; shared service 

arrangements (Lichfield & South Staffs); joint 

working (multi-agency hub/locality 

commissioning) and outsourcing (MEARS).  

.  

CMT to draft the basis and 

rationale for a ‘preferred’ 

operating model. Cabinet & 

Partners to be consulted and 

to buy-in to new model  

Corporate Management Team 

  

c) Sustain and develop means of improving 

skills and in-house expertise relating to 

forthcoming challenges. 

08-Jul-2014 A risk matrix to support 

succession planning and workforce 

development has been developed and, in the 

first instance, will be piloted before roll-out.  

CMT/Cabinet and key 

strategic partners 

(Independent, peer and/or 

professional support may be 

necessary).  

Corporate Management Team 

 

  

P
age 82



39 

  

 4. Governance & Decision Making 
 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

  

a) Introduction of formal, annual Member 

induction training 

30-Sep-2014 An on-line training 

programme is being developed for May 2015  

Executive Management Team  

Supported by current 

Chairs/Democratic Services 

(Independent 

peer/professional support 

may be necessary).  

Corporate Management Team 

  

b) Consideration of adopting an approach 

whereby Members who have failed to attend 

training upon key decision making or 

regulatory matters cannot sit on the 

Committee until trained to do so.  Examples 

include Planning; Licensing; Audit & 

Governance. 

30-Sep-2014 Awaiting a response from 

members with regard to the review of 

member's allowances.  

Member uptake of training has been good in 

this last quarter with leaders prioritising this 

through their respective groups.  

Executive Management Team  

Supported by current 

Chairs/Democratic Services 

(Independent 

peer/professional support 

may be necessary).  

Corporate Management Team 

  

c) Consideration of a package of options 

designed to improve Scrutiny and other 

committees 

30-Sep-2014 Training events for scrutiny 

chairs have been identified and they have 

been invited to take part in discussion 

forums.  

Executive Management Team  

Supported by current 

Chairs/Democratic Services 

(Independent 

peer/professional support 

may be necessary).  

Corporate Management Team 

 

  

 5. Organisational Capacity 
 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

  

a) Sustain and build upon existing strategic 

relationships e.g., Lichfield and Staffordshire 

25-Jul-2014 Progress has been made on 

both fronts. An announcement on a shared 

Audit Management function with Lichfield is 

Executive Management 

Team/All involved in existing 

arrangements  

Corporate Management Team 

P
age 83



40 

  Action Latest Note Owner Assigned To 

expected within the next reporting period.  

Following a major piece of work led by 

Tamworth Borough Council's Chief Executive 

Officer, the Health and Well Being Board has 

endorsed a proposition for the managed 

transformation from district/borough Local 

Strategic Partnerships to Locality Based 

Commissioning Boards commencing with 

immediate effect.  

Shared service arrangements and joint 

working opportunities are currently being 

explored with Walsall MBC South Staffs DC 

and the County.  

The fact that we are still doing it 

demonstrates that it is being ‘sustained’. As 

and when appropriate, we shall look to build 

upon it. 

 

  

b) Early management structure review to focus 

upon “spans of control" 

25-Jul-2014 This particular action is now 

formally wrapped up in the ongoing Service 

Review work stream as approved by Council 

in relation to the Sustainability Strategy  

   

  

c) Embed current methods of project and 

programme management across organisation 

and also key dependents 

30-Sep-2014 Prince2 training was held for 

key members of staff in July 2014.  

Any projects of corporate importance are 

overseen by corporate project management.  

CMT/TSP  

Support of OD Manager 

(Independent 

peer/professional support 

may be required).  

Corporate Management Team 

 

 

P
age 84



 
7. Sustainability Strategy (Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014-2019 Monitoring) 
 
Following the introduction of the Sustainability Strategy last year, work has been underway on the strands included within it. The strategy 
contains a number of workstreams – led by CMT members - which all contribute to the organisation working in the most efficient way, 
providing the best services we can, while working towards reducing the shortfall in our budgets in coming years. 
 
CMT recently held a meeting to look at the most up-to-date budget forecasts, and discussed the delivery of the Sustainability Strategy and 
our Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS): 
 

General Fund 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

MTFS 2015/16-2019/20 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

              

Projected Balances per 
MTFS Council February 
2014 

(3,232) (1,968) (500) 1,374 3,294 5,213 

Revised Stress Tested:             

Central Case Forecast (3,293) (2,342) (1,711) (128) 1,961 4,137 

Worse Case Forecast (3,293) (1,988) (963) 1,109 3,641 6,391 

Best Case Forecast (3,293) (2,467) (2,071) (1,161) 103 1,247 

 
The forecast has been updated to include: 
a) the improved projections contained within the latest projected outturn position; 
b) any known changes to the savings targets included within the current MTFS; 
c) updated impact on new homes bonus and council tax income from expected housing developments - arising from discussions / joint 

working with Planning and Strategic Housing; 
d) Revised Business Rates income forecasts following NNDR1 completion; 
e) Other strategic changes e.g. Pensions lump sum discount, LEP funding; 
f) The potential for a further significant reduction in future RSG levels under a worse case scenario. 

 

P
age 85



 
When the 3 year MTFS for the General Fund was approved by Council in February 2014, the forecast MTFS shortfall was c.£1.8m per 
annum from 2017/18. Following the updates considered by CMT the model indicates:  
 
1) The Central Case forecast identifies a shortfall of £0.372m over 3 years, £4.637m over 5 years; 
2) The Worse Case forecast identifies a shortfall of £1.609m over 3 years, £6.891m over 5 years; 
3) The Best case forecast identifies a surplus of £0.661m over 3 years and a shortfall of £1.747m over 5 years. 
 
These figures will be regularly updated and models used to look at the best, central and worst case scenarios. 
Changes have been introduced following service reviews in the following areas: 
 

• Revisions to the joint waste management service arrangements - to save the joint waste service £400,000 per year; 

• Street Wardens and CCTV services – saving over £200k per year; 

• Public conveniences – saving £39k per year. 
 
Achievement of further savings is dependent on the outcomes of ongoing service reviews or workstream actions. 
 
With regard to the Housing Revenue Account, an improved position is forecast: 
 
HRA 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

MTFS 2015/16-2019/20 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Projected Balances per 
MTFS Council February 
2014 

(4,315) (1,395) (1,265) (1,286) (1,492) (1,492) 

Revised:             

Revised Projected 
Balances 

(4,527) (1,650) (1,833) (2,158) (2,670) (2,975) 

 
This is forecast to be mainly due to the planned implementation of Service Charges which will increase income from 2015/16. 

P
age 86



 
8. Financial Healthcheck Report –September 2014 
 
Executive Summary 
 

This section to the report summarises the main issues identified at the end of September 2014.  
 
General Fund 
 

Revenue 
 

GENERAL FUND 
YTD 
Budget   
£000 

YTD 
Spend   
£000 

Variance  
£000 

Budget  
£000 

Predicted 
Outturn  
£000 

Variance  
£000 

Chief Executive 90 99 9 - 9 9 

Executive Director Corporate 
Services 

8 34 26 511 477 (34) 

Director of Finance 1,984 1,337 (647) 481 311 (170) 

Director of Technology & 
Corporate Programmes 

614 580 (34) 32 57 25 

Solicitor to the Council 376 315 (61) 713 723 10 

Director of Transformation & 
Corporate Performance 

640 644 4 280 322 42 

Director of Communities, Planning 
& Partnerships 

1,078 935 (143) 2,957 2,953 (4) 

Director of Housing & Health 229 221 (8) 1,144 1,136 (8) 

Director of Assets & Environment 1,655 1,476 (179) 3,014 3,008 (6) 

              

Total 6,674 5,641 (1,033) 9,132 8,996 (136) 
 

• The General Fund has a favourable variance against budget at Period 6 of £1.03m (£971k at period 5).  

• The projected full year position identifies a projected favourable variance against budget of £136k or 1.49% (£68k or 0.74% 
unfavourable reported at period 5) 

P
age 87



 
• This projection has highlighted several budget areas for concern (detailed at APPENDIX A). On-going investigations into these areas 

have been initiated to mitigate the levels of the deficit. 
 

• A balance of £85k was held in the General Contingency Budget at the end of September 2014. 
 
Capital 
 

GENERAL FUND
YTD Budget 

£000

YTD 

Spend  

£000

Variance  

£000
Budget  £000

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000

Variance 

£000

Reprofile 

£000

Outturn 

£000

Director of Technology & Corporate 

Programmes
98 43 (55) 123 123 - - -

Director of Transformation & 

Corporate Performance
30 - (30) 30 30 - - -

Director of Communities, Planning & 

Partnerships
1,786 137 (1,649) 3,005 296 (2,709) 330 (2,379)

Director of Housing & Health 162 162 - 162 72 (90) 90 -

Director of Assets & Environment 340 235 (105) 687 609 (78) - (78)

Contingency 315 - (315) 340 - (340) 340 -

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 2,731 577 (2,154) 4,347 1,130 (3,217) 760 (2,457)  
 

• Capital expenditure incurred was £0.58m (£0.56m reported at period 5) compared to a profiled budget of £2.73m (£2.48m reported at 
period 5). 
 

• It is predicted that £1.13m will be spent by the year-end (£4.12m reported at period 5) compared to a full year budget of £4.35m (this 
includes re-profiled schemes from 2013/14 of £1.365m). There is a projected requirement to re-profile £760k of spend into 2015/16. 

 

• A summary of Capital expenditure is shown at APPENDIX B. 
 

P
age 88



 
Treasury Management 
 

• At the end of September 2014 the Authority had £31.30m invested in the money markets (excluding the £1.278m which is classified 
as sums at risk invested in Icelandic Banks). The average rate of return on these investments is 0.56% though this may change if 
market conditions ease. At this point it is anticipated that our investments will earn approximately £185k compared to the budgeted 
figure of £189k, an unfavourable variance of £4k.   

 

• Borrowing by the Authority stood at £65.060m at the end of September 2014, all being long term loans from the Treasury Public 
Works Loans Board. The average rate payable on these borrowings equates to 4.47%.  At this point it is anticipated that our interest 
payments will be £2.911m which is no variance to budget. 

 

• A more detailed summary of the Treasury Management situation, detailing our current Lending and Borrowings together with the 
situation with our Icelandic investments, can be found at APPENDIX C. 

 
Balances 
 

Balances on General Fund are projected to be in the region of £3.509m at the year-end from normal revenue operations (£3.305m 
reported at period 5) compared to £3.231m projected within the 2014/15 budget report – an increase of £278k 

P
age 89



 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
Revenue 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
YTD 
Budget   
£000 

YTD 
Spend   
£000 

Variance  
£000 

Budget  
£000 

Predicted 
Outturn  
£000 

Variance  
£000 

              

Director of Housing & Health 1,491 1,336 (155) 3,989 3,961 (28) 

Director of Assets & Environment (83) (91) (8) - (5) (5) 

HRA Summary (7,014) (7,751) (737) (3,004) (3,116) (112) 

              

Total (5,606) (6,506) (900) 985 840 (145) 

 

• The HRA has a favourable variance against budget at Period 6 of £900k (£987k reported at period 5). 
 

• The projected full year position identifies a favourable variance against budget of £145k (£22k reported at period 5). Individual significant 
budget areas reflecting the variance are detailed at APPENDIX A. 

 
Capital 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
YTD Budget 

£000

YTD 

Spend  

£000

Variance  

£000
Budget  £000

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000

Variance 

£000

Reprofile 

£000

Outturn 

£000

Director of Housing & Health 1,591 1,158 (433) 2,612 2,612 - - -

Director of Assets & Environment 1,519 1,523 4 4,774 4,723 (51) - (51)

HRA Contingency 50 - (50) 100 - (100) - (100)

TOTAL HOUSING REVENUE 

ACCOUNT
3,160 2,681 (479) 7,486 7,335 (151) - (151)

 
 

P
age 90



 
• Housing Capital expenditure of £2.68m (£2.38m reported at period 5) has been incurred as at the end of Period 6 compared to a profiled 

budget of £3.16m (£2.79m reported at period 5).  
 

• It is predicted that £7.34m will be spent by the year-end (£7.39m reported at period 5) compared to the full year budget of £7.49m 
(including £1.483m re-profiled from 2013/14); 

 

• A summary of Capital expenditure is shown at APPENDIX B. 
 

Balances 
 
• Balances on the Housing Revenue Account are projected to be in the region of £4.641m at the year-end (£4.518m reported at period 5) 

compared to £4.314m projected within the 2014/15 budget report – additional balances of £327k. 

P
age 91



 
APPENDIX A 

General Fund – Main Variances 

Cost Centre Account Code 
Year To Date 
Position Sub 

Total 

Year To Date 
Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

Development 
Control 

Fees & Charges 
Planning App 

(131,465) (64,980) (66,485) (130,000) (50,000) (180,000) 
Income is well above profiled budget 
to date. There is potential for further 
large planning applications. 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Salaries 20,256 46,560 (26,304) 93,120 (72,000) 21,120 
Following a decision made by 
Cabinet on 11th September the golf 
course closed on 30th September in 
order to manage the financial risk. 
  

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Payments For 
Temporary Staff 

23,997 0 23,997 0 26,500 26,500 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Refund Of Fees 30,095 0 30,095 0 21,500 21,500 

Following a decision made by 
Cabinet on 11th September the golf 
course closed on 30th September in 
order to manage the financial risk. 
Membership fees received in advance 
have been refunded 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Green Fees - 18 
Hole 

(37,141) (55,000) 17,859 (65,260) 28,120 (37,140) 

Following a decision made by 
Cabinet on 11th September the golf 
course closed on 30th September in 
order to manage the financial risk. 
 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Green Fees - 9 Hole (26,789) (70,000) 43,211 (80,230) 53,440 (26,790) 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

Green Fees - 5 Day 
Season 

(15,393) (23,000) 7,607 (26,230) 10,850 (15,380) 

Golf Course (In 
House) 

7 Day Season (27,886) (32,000) 4,114 (35,040) 7,160 (27,880) 

Golf Course 
(Maintenance Of 
Grounds) 

Salaries 28,672 33,480 (4,808) 66,960 (37,960) 29,000 

Golf Course 
(Maintenance Of 
Grounds) 

Equipment Hire 15,775 23,770 (7,995) 38,500 (20,500) 18,000 
Following a decision made by 
Cabinet on 11th September the golf 
course closed on 30th September. 

P
age 92



 

Cost Centre Account Code 
Year To Date 
Position Sub 

Total 

Year To Date 
Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

Assembly Rooms 
Bar 

Bar Sales (19,727) (30,000) 10,273 (59,230) 24,230 (35,000) 
Savings will be identified from 
elsewhere to mitigate this. 

Arts Development 
Contribution To 
Reserves 

39,000 0 39,000 0 39,000 39,000 
Reserve will be requested to enable 
funding received from the Arts 
Council to be used during 2015/16 

Arts Development Government Grants (39,000) 0 (39,000) 0 (39,000) (39,000) 

Unbudgeted income. Successful bid 
for funding by the Arts Council.  It is 
likely that most of the grant will be 
used in 2015/2016 to deliver various 
Arts Projects. 

Commercial 
Property 
Management 

Rents (975,070) (952,000) (23,070) (1,641,000) (39,000) (1,680,000) 

Based on current occupancy levels - 
situation will be closely monitored 
throughout the year. This additional 
income will be used to offset the 
under recovery of income on 
Marmion House. 

Industrial Properties Rents (461,625) (458,000) (3,625) (675,000) (22,000) (697,000) 

Based on current occupancy levels - 
situation will be closely monitored 
throughout the year. This additional 
income will be used to offset reduced 
income on Marmion House, 

Marmion House Rents (45,864) (52,880) 7,016 (75,170) 14,000 (61,170) 

Additional income expected through 
Agile Working Project which is 
subject to on-going negotiations. This 
will be offset by the increase in 
commercial rents. 

P
age 93



 

Cost Centre Account Code 
Year To Date 
Position Sub 

Total 

Year To Date 
Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

Marmion House 
Contribution-
Common Services 

0 0 0 (121,790) 45,000 (76,790) 
Additional income expected through 
Agile Working Project which is 
subject to on-going negotiations. 

Public Conveniences Salaries 22,925 23,280 (355) 46,550 6,000 52,550 

The figures do not include any 
associated Service Review costs. 
These should be known by the 3rd 
quarter report as it is anticipated that 
all Service Review recruitments will 
be completed by end of November. 

Public Spaces Vacancy Allowance 0 (29,760) 29,760 (59,470) 59,470 0 
Vacancy allowance overspent as full 
or nearly full establishment of staff. 

TBC Highways 
Maintenance 

Maintenance 
Highway Related 
Assets 

51,933 51,300 633 102,540 0 102,540 
Estimated figures from County 
limited to end of June. 

TBC Highways 
Maintenance 

Maintenance Of 
Water Courses 

1,225 17,400 (16,175) 34,780 0 34,780 

TBC Highways 
Maintenance 

Contribution To 
Reserves 

54,232 0 54,232 0 0 0 

Any underspends on this cost centre 
will be transferred to the A5 
Balancing Ponds retained fund at the 
year end. 

TBC Highways 
Maintenance 

Maintenance Of 
Roads (HRA) 

0 23,160 (23,160) 46,320 0 46,320 
Estimated figures from County 
limited to end of June. TBC Highways 

Maintenance 
Management 
Agreement 

25,860 36,600 (10,740) 73,170 0 73,170 

P
age 94



 

Cost Centre Account Code 
Year To Date 
Position Sub 

Total 

Year To Date 
Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

Street Wardens Salaries 170,260 173,520 (3,260) 347,020 (6,300) 340,720 The figures do not include any 
associated Service Review costs. 
These should be known by the 3rd 
quarter report as it is anticipated that 
all Service Review recruitments will 
be completed by end of November. CCTV Salaries 180,458 187,200 (6,742) 374,380 (11,000) 363,380 

Joint Waste 
Arrangement 

Specific 
Contingency 

0 34,150 (34,150) 34,150 (34,150) 0 

Specific contingency budget not 
expected to be used - budgets will be 
monitored closely throughout the 
year. 

Corporate Finance Pensions 264,890 313,990 (49,100) 313,990 (49,100) 264,890 
2014/15 saving arising from pre-
payment of pension lump sum. 

Corporate Finance 
Specific 
Contingency 

0 0 0 85,000 (50,000) 35,000 
Cabinet approved 31st July £15k re 
ICT Members Laptops, £50k 
underspends projected. 

Corporate Finance Vacancy Allowance 0 0 0 50,000 (50,000) 0 
Offsetting budgeted savings target on 
service cost centres. 

Corporate Finance 
Contribution To 
Reserves 

0 0 0 150,000 11,000 161,000 
Increased contribution to NNDR 
Collection reserve due to higher 
Section 31 grant level forecast Qtr2 

Corporate Finance 
NNDR Levy 
Payments 

(355,528) 0 (355,528) 145,080 162,000 307,080 
Increased levy contribution due to 
higher Section 31 grant level forecast 
Qtr. 2 (50% levy) 

P
age 95



 

Cost Centre Account Code 
Year To Date 
Position Sub 

Total 

Year To Date 
Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

Corporate Finance Government Grants (208,390) 0 (208,390) (150,000) (173,000) (323,000) 
Higher Section 31 grant level forecast 
at Qtr2 (offset by increased levy & 
contribution to NNDR Reserve) 

Benefits Rent Allowances 5,634,412 5,217,250 417,162 11,222,320 (749,530) 10,472,790 

Based on DWP claim @ P6 

Benefits 
Council Tenant Rent 
Rebates 

5,665,992 5,652,480 13,512 11,540,740 (530,651) 11,010,089 

Benefits 
Council Tenant 
Grant 

(5,535,222) (5,560,080) 24,858 (11,351,700) 502,666 (10,849,034) 

Benefits Private Tenant Grant (5,477,454) (5,106,540) (370,914) (10,984,660) 769,208 (10,215,452) 

Benefits 
Discretionary 
Housing Payment 
Grant 

(37,684) 0 (37,684) 0 (37,684) (37,684) DHP Grant rec'd to date 

Benefits 
Overpayment 
Private Tenant 

(244,766) (167,640) (77,126) (335,310) (154,222) (489,532) 

Based on e-Fins @ P6 

Benefits 
Overpayment 
Council Tenant 

(166,724) (148,560) (18,164) (297,120) (36,328) (333,448) 

Benefits 
PT Overpayment 
Recovery 

37,966 0 37,966 0 75,932 75,932 

Benefits 
Ct Overpayment 
Recovery 

49,338 0 49,338 0 98,676 98,676 

Benefits 
Administration 

Vacancy Allowance 0 (15,360) 15,360 (30,740) 30,740 0 Vacancy Allowance Savings Target 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



 
Housing Revenue Account – Main Variances 

 

Cost Centre Account Code 

Year To 
Date 

Position Sub 
Total 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Budget 

Year To 
Date 

Position 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Budget 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 
Variance 

Full Year 
Position 
Predicted 
Outturn 

Comment 

H R A Summary 
Contribution To Repairs 
A/C 

1,763,278 2,058,780 (295,502) 4,117,600 0 4,117,600 

Multiple contracts of which the Planned 
Maintenance is currently £72K 
underspent and the responsive repairs 
contract is currently £121K underspent. 

H R A Summary Provision For Bad Debts 126,576 470,000 (343,424) 470,000 0 470,000 

Budget increased due to potential 
impact of welfare reforms and 
escalation of arrears. There is still a very 
real potential as we prepare for 
Universal Credit but presently bad debt 
is being contained by robust and 
effective arrears recovery management. 

H R A Summary Rents (9,536,731) (9,459,739) (76,992) (18,162,700) (95,000) (18,257,700) 

Rent income is currently exceeding 
budget due to void levels being lower 
than budgeted. However the forecast is 
reducing month on month due to right to 
buy sales and properties being vacated 
pending demolition prior to 
regeneration. 

 
 
 
 

 

P
age 97



 
APPENDIX B 

Capital Programme Monitoring 

 

GENERAL FUND 

YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  

£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

Director of Technology 

& Corporate 

Programmes 

                  

Replacement It 
Technology 

20 14 (6) 20 20 - - - 
£14k for corporate radios project & remaining budget 
to be utilised in support of agile working 

EDRMS (Electronic 
Document Records 
Management System) 

54 29 (25) 79 79 - - - Corporate roll-out of EDRMS progressing 

Gazetteer Development 24 - (24) 24 24 - - - Linked to CRM/agile working projects 

TOTAL 98 43 (55) 123 123 - - - - 

Director of 

Transformation & 

Corporate Performance 

- - - - - - - - - 

Website 22 - (22) 22 22 - - - 
Budget will be required for improvements linked to 
website and Infozone 

HR / Payroll System 7 - (7) 7 7 - - - 
Budget earmarked for development of the HR side of 
the system 

TOTAL 30 - (30) 30 30 - - - - 

Director of 

Communities, Planning 

& Partnerships 

- - - - - - - - - 

Castle HLF 90 58 (32) 90 72 (18) - (18) 
Scheme completed Sept 30 final claim to be submitted 
to HLF 

Assembly Rooms 
Development 

1,238 79 (1,159) 2,432 71 (2,361) - (2,361) 

Phase 1 nearly complete. As a report on final options 
to be submitted to Cabinet in January 2015 and a new 
capital bid will be submitted for the 2015/16 
Programme. The 2014/15 budget will be underspent 
and funds returned to balances. 

GENERAL FUND 

YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  

£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

Castle Mercian Trail 350 - (350) 350 20 (330) 330 - 
Outcome of Bid to HLF expected Dec 2014. Will need 
to reprofile approx. £330k to 2015/16 

P
age 98



 

Gateways 108 - (108) 133 133 - - - 
Delay in the delivery of the scheme due to the County 
timescales. 

TOTAL 1,786 137 (1,649) 3,005 296 (2,709) 330 (2,379) - 

Director of Housing & 

Health 
- - - - - - - - - 

Private Sector Coalfields 
Fund 

162 162 - 162 72 (90) 90 - 

Waterloo scheme progressing well working with 
HCA. Grants to be reviewed Jan - Mar so will need to 
reprofile approx. £90k funding to 2015/16 

TOTAL 162 162 - 162 72 (90) 90 - - 

Director of Assets & 

Environment 
- - - - - - - - - 

Disabled Facilities Grant 230 202 (28) 405 405 - - - 

Sufficient works identified to take up full budget. 
Current waiting lists indicate a shortfall of approx. 
£200k. The shortfall will increase as more grant 
applications are received. 

CCTV Camera Renewals 9 5 (4) 17 17 - - - Enhancements and upgrades to existing equipment 

Street scene Service 
Delivery Enhancements 

30 - (30) 30 30 - - - 

Delays in the full implementation of the new CRM 
system 
 - future agile service delivery dependant on delivery 
of scheme. 

Designate New Cemetery 
Land 

21 22 1 21 21 - - - 
Scheme nearly complete awaiting final snagging and 
project sign off before final bills can be paid 

Repair To River Bank 
Castle PG 

4 - (4) 4 4 - - - To be included in Gateway Project 

Marmion House Agile 
Working 

39 - (39) 78 - (78) - (78) 
Project to be included in a new capital scheme for 
2015/16 programme. 

Broad meadow Nature 
Reserve 

- 6 6 125 125 - - - 
Tender for works likely to be awarded October works 
to start November 

GENERAL FUND 
YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  
£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

BMX Track 7 - (7) 7 7 - - - 
Balance of external funding held for future capital 
works / needs 

TOTAL 340 235 (105) 687 609 (78) - (78) - 

GF Contingency 25 - (25) 50 - (50) 50 - 
No spend anticipated - to be reprofiled and included in 
2015/16 Capital Programme. 

Contingency-Return On 
Investment 

160 - (160) 160 - (160) 160 - - 

P
age 99



 

Psig-HRA 130 - (130) 130 - (130) 130 - 

Cabinet  Nov 2013 approved use for Works in Default 
Scheme. Details of scheme being worked up likely to 
slip into 2015/16. 

TOTAL 315 - (315) 340 - (340) 340 - - 

GENERAL FUND 

TOTAL 
2,731 577 (2,154) 4,347 1,130 (3,217) 760 (2,457) - 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

HOUSING REVENUE 

ACCOUNT 

YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  

£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

Director of Housing & 

Health 
- - - - - - - - - 

Gas Cent Heating 
Upgrade & Renewals 
2012 

400 806 406 749 749 - - - Anticipate full spend at year end 

Gas Heating Belgrave - - - 319 319 - - - 

Gas now installed by external contractor to most 
properties, work on installation of heating systems 
can now begin. Works likely to start October and be 
completed by year end. 

Carbon Monoxide 
Detectors 

- - - 102 102 - - - 

Properties currently being assessed with a view to 
creating a replacement programme. Works likely to 
start on site December. 

Tinkers Green Project 320 308 (12) 531 531 - - - 

Demolition works well under way and due for 
completion mid-September. Phase 2 of decant now 
underway. 

Kerria Estate Project 535 44 (491) 574 574 - - - Project focus initially on Tinkers Green 

Regeneration General 336 - (336) 336 336 - - - - 

TOTAL 1,591 1,158 (433) 2,612 2,612 - - - - 

HOUSING REVENUE 

ACCOUNT 

YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  

£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

Director of Assets & 

Environment 
- - - - - - - - - 

Structural Works 60 39 (21) 110 110 - - - 
Insufficient budget to complete all identified works, 
some work will have to be deferred until 2015/16. 

Bathroom Renewals 
2012 

426 361 (65) 851 851 - - - Anticipate full spend at year end. 

Kitchen Renewals 2012 510 359 (151) 1,019 1,019 - - - Anticipate full spend at year end. 

P
age 100



 
High Rise Lift Renewals 
2012 

- - - 393 393 - - - New contract likely to start winter 2014 

Fire Upgrades To Flats 
2012 

- - - 553 553 - - - Works due to commence final quarter of 2014 

Enhancements To Flats 
2012 

- (1) (1) - - - - - - 

Thomas Hardy Court 
Heating Replacement - - - 500 500 - - - 

Works commenced early October and due for 
completion in January 15 

Roofing High-Rise 2012 - 30 30 43 43 - - - Works to commence late summer/autumn 2014 

Roofing Overhaul & 
Renewal2012 

73 60 (13) 147 147 - - - 
Sufficient work identified to take up full spend at 
year-end 

Fencing/Boundary Walls  
2012 

32 32 - 32 32 - - - Project complete 

Window & Door 
Renewals 2012 

- 194 194 286 286 - - - 
Area based programme, sufficient work identified 
to take up full spend at year-end. 

High Rise Balconies - - - 60 60 - - - 

Scheme in development and likely to require some 
additional works due to structural report. Not likely 
to commence until final quarter of 2014/15. 

External and 
Environmental Works 

154 91 (63) 353 353 - - - 

Works on site, sufficient work identified to take up 
full spend. New schemes identified by TCG will be 
deferred until 2015/16. 

Disabled Adaptations 102 193 91 205 205 - - - 

There will be insufficient budget to fund the current 
waiting list. Some works will have to be deferred 
until 2015/16 

Capital Salaries 2012 162 157 (5) 162 162 - - - - 

HOUSING REVENUE 

ACCOUNT 

YTD 

Budget 

£000 

YTD 

Spend  

£000 

Variance  

£000 

Budget  

£000 

Predicted 

Outturn  

£000 

Variance 

£000 

Reprofile 

£000 

Outturn 

£000 
Comments 

CDM Fees 2012 - 9 9 10 10 - - - Tendered fee will be due in full at year end. 

HRA Agile Working - - - 51 - (51) - (51) 
Project to be included in a new capital scheme for 
2015/16 programme. 

TOTAL 1,519 1,523 4 4,774 4,723 (51) - (51) - 

HRA Contingency 50 - (50) 100 - (100) - (100) - 

TOTAL 50 - (50) 100 - (100) - (100) - 

HOUSING REVENUE 

ACCOUNT TOTAL 
3,160 2,681 (479) 7,486 7,335 (151) - (151) - 

 

 

P
age 101



   

APPENDIX C 

 

Treasury Management Update – Period 6 - 2014/15 
 

Investments held as at 30
th
 September 2014:  

 

Borrower Deposit      
£m 

Rate           
% 

From To Notice 
 

Lloyds TSB 2.00 0.98 01/11/2013 31/10/2014 - 

Lloyds TSB 1.00 0.98 11/11/2013 10/11/2014 - 

Lloyds TSB 1.00 0.98 02/10/2013 01/10/2014 - 

Bank of Scotland 2.00 0.95 12/02/2014 11/02/2015 - 

Nationwide 1.00 0.50 07/08/2014 07/11/2014 - 

Nationwide 2.00 0.64 08/07/2014 08/01/2015 - 

Nationwide 1.00 0.64 15/07/2014 15/01/2015 - 

Barclays 2.00 0.48 01/08/2014 03/11/2014 - 

Barclays 1.00 0.48 05/09/2014 05/12/2014 - 

Barclays 1.00 0.61 05/09/2014 05/03/2015  

Standard Chartered  2.00 0.56 02/04/2014 02/10/2014 - 

Coventry  2.00 0.41 02/09/2014 02/10/2014  

Coventry  2.00 0.41 05/09/2014 06/10/2014 - 

Coventry  1.00 0.41 16/09/2014 20/10/2014  

Santander  4.00 0.40 - - On call 

MMF - PSDF 4.00 0.38* - - On call 

MMF – IGNIS 3.30 0.42* - - On call 

Total 31.30 
0.56 
(avg) 

   

 
* Interest rate fluctuates daily dependant on the funds investment portfolio, rate quoted is approximate 7 day average. 

P
age 102



   

External Borrowing as at 30
th

 September 2014: 
 

Borrowing from PWLB       

          

Loan Number Rate Principal Start Maturity 

468372 11.625% 1,000,000 29/03/1990 18/08/2015 

468478 11.750% 2,000,000 23/04/1990 18/02/2017 

475875 8.875% 1,200,000 29/04/1995 25/04/2055 

478326 8.000% 1,000,000 17/10/1996 17/10/2056 

479541 7.375% 1,000,000 28/05/1997 28/05/2057 

479950 6.750% 2,000,000 02/10/1997 03/09/2057 

481087 5.625% 3,000,000 22/06/1998 22/06/2058 

481641 4.500% 1,400,000 09/10/1998 09/10/2058 

483694 4.875% 92,194 21/12/1999 18/10/2059 

484204 5.125% 2,000,000 20/04/2000 18/10/2015 

488835 5.000% 2,000,000 01/07/2004 01/07/2034 

490815 4.250% 1,000,000 24/11/2005 24/05/2031 

494265 4.430% 2,000,000 21/01/2008 01/01/2037 

494742 4.390% 700,000 15/08/2008 15/08/2058 

500759 3.520% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2053 

500758 3.510% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2054 

500757 3.510% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2055 

500761 3.510% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2056 

500755 3.500% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2057 

500756 3.500% 3,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2058 

500753 3.500% 1,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2059 

500760 3.490% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2060 

500762 3.490% 5,000,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2061 

500754 3.480% 5,668,000 28/03/2012 28/03/2062 

Total  65,060,194   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



   

30/09/2014

Deposit with; Ref Number Date Invested Amount %

1 GLITNIR 1696 10/10/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1715 31/08/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1754 14/12/2007 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000

Estimated of Contractual or Interest due to point 

of administration (subject to currency exchange 

rate fluctuations)

155,000

Total of Claim 3,155,000

Repayments Received to date (2,554,432) * 80.96

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 600,568 **

- Best case recovery 100%

2 Heritable Bank 1802 12/09/2008 500,000

Heritable Bank 1803 15/09/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 1,500,000

Interest due at point of administration 07/10/2008 5,127

Total of Claim 1,505,127

Repayments Received to date (1,415,080) 94.02

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 90,047

- Final recovery received of 94.02% (declared 23/08/13, though Administrators are retaining a
contingency for disputed claims that could be distributed at a later date).

3 Singer & Friedlander 1716 31/08/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1740 31/10/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1746 14/01/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000

Interest due at point of administration 08/10/2008 175,256

Total of Claim 3,175,256

Repayments Received to date (2,587,833) 81.50

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 587,423

- Current indications project an 85.25% recovery of our investments 

Summary

Total Principal 7,500,000

Interest 335,383

Total of Claim 7,835,383

Repayments Received to date (6,557,346) 83.69

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 1,278,038

1 Registered Bank in Iceland - In Administration under Icelandic Law

2 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

3 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

ICELANDIC BANKING SITUATION AS AT

*Partial repayment received on the 15th March 2012 in GBP/EUR/USD/NOK. The balance is currently being 

held in Icelandic Krone (ISK). Release of these funds is dependent on a change in Icelandic Law which 

currently does not allow the distribution of ISK ou

 

 

Page 104



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2014 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2014/15 

 
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None  
 
PURPOSE 

 

To present to Members the Mid-year review of the Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement and Annual Investment Strategy. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 

That Cabinet recommend Council: 

 

Accept the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2014/15. 

 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice, and covers the following 

 

• An economic update for the first six months of 2014/15; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy; 

• The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators); 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2014/15; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2014/15; 

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2014/15; 

• Icelandic Banking Situation; 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2014/15. 

 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



The main issues for Members to note are: 

 

1. The Council has complied with the professional codes, statutes and guidance. 

 

2. There are no issues to report regarding non-compliance with the approved 

prudential indicators. 

 

3. The investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.56% 

(0.87% for the same period in 2013/14) compared to the 3 Month LIBID 

benchmark rate of 0.42% (0.38% for the same period in 2013/14). This 

excludes all investments currently classified as ‘At Risk’ in the former Icelandic 

Banking institutions. 

 

4. Following the withdrawal of the Co-operative Bank from Local Authority 

banking service provision, the Council retendered for its banking services in 

June 2014. Following the competitive tender process, the new contract was 

awarded to Lloyds Bank Ltd, and the provision of service by them commenced 

on the 1st November 2014.  

 

The aim of this report is to inform Members of the treasury and investment 

management issues to enable all Members to have ownership and understanding 

when making decisions on Treasury Management matters. In order to facilitate this, 

training on Treasury Management issues has been delivered for Members in 

February and October 2010, September 2011 and February 2014. 
 

 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to 

the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

 

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has 

been adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management 

processes. 
 

 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

 

None 
 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

 
 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued its 

revised Code of Practice for Treasury Management in November 2009 (revised 

2011) following consultation with Local Authorities during that summer. The 

revised Code suggests that members should be informed of Treasury 

Management activities at least twice a year, but preferably quarterly.  

 

Page 106



This is the second monitoring report for 2014/15 presented to Members this year 

and therefore ensures this Council is embracing Best Practice in accordance 

with CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. Cabinet also receive regular monitoring 

reports as part of the quarterly health check on Treasury Management activities 

and risks. 

 

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised 

during the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management 

operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies 

being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially 

before considering maximising investment return. 

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of 

the Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 

need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the 

Council can meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer 

term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 

cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 

restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

Treasury Management is defined as: 

 

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 

banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 

the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 

performance consistent with those risks. ” 

 

1. Introduction 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management (revised November 2011) was adopted by 

this Council on 13th December 2012.  

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which 

sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s Treasury Management 

activities. 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out 

the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 

objectives. 

 Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 

Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an 

Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the previous 

year. 

  

Page 107



Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 

Treasury Management policies and practices and for the execution and 

administration of Treasury Management decisions. 

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of Treasury Management 

strategy and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated 

body is the Audit and Governance Committee. 

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice, and covers the following: 

• An economic update for the first six months of 2014/15; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy; 

• The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators); 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2014/15; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2014/15; 

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2014/15; 

• Icelandic Banking Situation; 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2014/15. 

2 Economic Update 

2.1 Economic performance to date 

2.1.1     U.K. 

After strong UK GDP quarterly growth of 0.7%, 0.8% and 0.7% in quarters 2, 3 and 4 

respectively in 2013, (2013 annual rate 2.7%), and 0.7% in Q1, 0.9% in Q2 and a first 

estimate of 0.7% in Q3 2014 (annual rate 3.1% in Q3), it appears very likely that strong 

growth will continue through 2014 and into 2015 as forward surveys for the services and 

construction sectors, are very encouraging and business investment is also strongly 

recovering.  The manufacturing sector has also been encouraging though the latest 

figures indicate a weakening in the future trend rate of growth.  However, for this recovery 

to become more balanced and sustainable in the longer term, the recovery needs to 

move away from dependence on consumer expenditure and the housing market to 

exporting, and particularly of manufactured goods, both of which need to substantially 

improve on their recent lacklustre performance.  This overall strong growth has resulted in 

unemployment falling much faster through the initial threshold of 7%, set by the Monetary 

Policy Committee (MPC) last August, before it said it would consider any increases in 

Bank Rate.  The MPC has, therefore, subsequently broadened its forward guidance by 

adopting five qualitative principles and looking at a much wider range of about eighteen 

indicators in order to form a view on how much slack there is in the economy and how 

quickly slack is being used up. The MPC is particularly concerned that the current 

squeeze on the disposable incomes of consumers should be reversed by wage inflation 

rising back above the level of inflation in order to ensure that the recovery will be 

sustainable.  There also needs to be a major improvement in labour productivity, which 

has languished at dismal levels since 2008, to support increases in pay rates.  Most 

economic forecasters are expecting growth to peak in 2014 and then to ease off a little, 

Page 108



though still remaining strong, in 2015 and 2016.  Unemployment is therefore expected to 

keep on its downward trend and this is likely to eventually feed through into a return to 

significant increases in pay rates at some point during the next three years.  However, 

just how much those future increases in pay rates will counteract the depressive effect of 

increases in Bank Rate on consumer confidence, the rate of growth in consumer 

expenditure and the buoyancy of the housing market, are areas that will need to be kept 

under regular review. 

Also encouraging has been the sharp fall in inflation (CPI), reaching 1.2% in September, 

the lowest rate since 2009.  Forward indications are that inflation is likely to fall further in 

2014 to possibly 1%. Overall, markets are expecting that the MPC will be cautious in 

raising Bank Rate as it will want to protect heavily indebted consumers from too early an 

increase in Bank Rate at a time when inflationary pressures are also weak. 

 A first increase in Bank Rate is therefore expected in Q2 2015 and they expect increases 

after that to be at a slow pace to lower levels than prevailed before 2008 as increases in 

Bank Rate will have a much bigger effect on heavily indebted consumers than they did 

before 2008.  
 

The return to strong economic growth has also helped lower forecasts for the increase in 

Government debt (by £73bn over the next five years) compared to that projected in the 

2013 Autumn Statement.  It also lowers the Government forecast debt by an additional 

£24bn compared to that announced in the March 2014 Budget. 

The March Budget also projected a return to a significant budget surplus (£5bn in 2018-

19) though monthly public sector deficit figures have so far disappointed in 2014/15. 

2.1.2     U.S. 

In September, the Federal Reserve continued with its monthly $10bn reduction in asset 

purchases, which started in December 2013. Asset purchases fell from $85bn to $15bn 

and ended on 29th October 2014.  First quarter GDP figures for the US were depressed 

by exceptionally bad winter weather, but growth rebounded very strongly in Q2 to 4.6% 

(annualised). 

 

The U.S. faces similar debt problems to those of the UK, but thanks to reasonable 

growth, cuts in government expenditure and tax rises, the annual government deficit has 

been halved from its peak without appearing to do too much damage to growth, although 

the weak labour force participation rate remains a matter of key concern for the Federal 

Reserve when considering the amount of slack in the economy and monetary policy 

decisions. 

2.1.3     Eurozone 

The Eurozone is facing an increasing threat from weak or negative growth and from 

deflation. In September, the inflation rate fell further, to reach a low of 0.3%. However, 

this is an average for all EZ countries and includes some countries with negative rates of 

inflation. Accordingly, the ECB took some rather limited action in June to loosen monetary 

policy in order to promote growth. In September it took further action to cut its benchmark 

rate to only 0.05%, its deposit rate to -0.2% and to start a programme of purchases of 

corporate debt. However, it has not embarked yet on full quantitative easing (purchase of 

sovereign debt).  

Page 109



Concern in financial markets for the Eurozone subsided considerably during 2013.  

However, sovereign debt difficulties have not gone away and major issues could return in 

respect of any countries that do not dynamically address fundamental issues of low 

growth, international un-competitiveness and the need for overdue reforms of the 

economy, (as Ireland has done). It is, therefore, possible over the next few years that 

levels of government debt to GDP ratios could continue to rise for some countries. This 

could mean that sovereign debt concerns have not disappeared but, rather, have only 

been postponed.  

2.1.4    China and Japan 

Japan is causing considerable concern as the increase in sales tax in April has 

suppressed consumer expenditure and growth. In Q2 growth was -1.8% q/q and -7.1% 

over the previous year. The Government is hoping that this is a temporary blip. 

As for China, Government action in 2014 to stimulate the economy appeared to be 

putting the target of 7.5% growth within achievable reach but recent data has raised fresh 

concerns. There are also major concerns as to the creditworthiness of much bank lending 

to corporates and local government during the post 2008 credit expansion period and 

whether the bursting of a bubble in housing prices is drawing nearer. 

2.2 Interest Rate Forecasts  

The Council’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services, has provided the following 

forecast: 
 

 
 

Capita Asset Services undertook a review of its interest rate forecasts on 24 October. 

During September and October, a further rise in geopolitical concerns, principally over 

Ukraine but also over the Middle East, plus fears around Ebola and an accumulation of 

dismal growth news in most of the ten largest economies of the world and also on the 

growing risk of deflation in the Eurozone, had sparked a flight from equities into safe 

havens like gilts and depressed PWLB rates. However, there is much volatility in rates as 

news ebbs and flows in negative or positive ways. This latest forecast includes a first 

increase in Bank Rate in quarter 2 of 2015.  

PWLB forecasts are based around a balance of risks. However, there are potential 

upside risks, especially for longer term PWLB rates, as follows: - 

• A further surge in investor confidence that robust world economic growth is 

firmly expected, causing a flow of funds out of bonds and into equities. 

• UK inflation being significantly higher than in the wider EU and US, causing an 

increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields.  

Page 110



Downside risks currently include:  

• The situation over Ukraine poses a major threat to EZ and world growth if it was 

to deteriorate into economic warfare between the West and Russia where 

Russia resorted to using its control over gas supplies to Europe. 

• Fears generated by the potential impact of Ebola around the world 

• UK strong economic growth is currently mainly dependent on consumer 

spending and the potentially unsustainable boom in the housing market.  The 

boost from these sources is likely to fade after 2014. 

• A weak rebalancing of UK growth to exporting and business investment 

causing a weakening of overall economic growth beyond 2014. 

• Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partner - the EU, inhibiting 

economic recovery in the UK. 

• A return to weak economic growth in the US, UK and China causing major 

disappointment in investor and market expectations. 

• A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis caused by on-going 

deterioration in government debt to GDP ratios to the point where financial 

markets lose confidence in the financial viability of one or more countries and in 

the ability of the ECB and Eurozone governments to deal with the potential size 

of the crisis. 

• Recapitalisation of European banks requiring more government financial 

support. 

• Lack of support by populaces in Eurozone countries for austerity programmes, 

especially in countries with very high unemployment rates e.g. Greece and 

Spain, which face huge challenges in engineering economic growth to correct 

their budget deficits on a sustainable basis. 

• Italy: the political situation has improved but it remains to be seen whether the 

new government is able to deliver the austerity programme required and a 

programme of overdue reforms.  Italy has the third highest government debt 

mountain in the world. 

• France: after being elected on an anti-austerity platform, President Hollande 

has embraced a €50bn programme of public sector cuts over the next three 

years. However, there could be major obstacles in implementing this 

programme. Major overdue reforms of employment practices and an increase 

in competiveness are also urgently required to lift the economy out of 

stagnation.   

• Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth in western 

economies, especially the Eurozone and Japan. 

• Heightened political risks in the Middle East and East Asia could trigger safe 

haven flows back into bonds. 

• There are also increasing concerns at the reluctance of western central banks 

to raise interest rates significantly for some years, plus the huge QE measures 

Page 111



which remain in place (and may be added to by the ECB in the near future).  

This has created potentially unstable flows of liquidity searching for yield and, 

therefore, heightened the potential for an increase in risks in order to get higher 

returns. This is a return to a similar environment to the one which led to the 

2008 financial crisis.  
 

3 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy Update 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2014/15 was approved 

by Council on 25th February 2014.  

 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 

position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already 

approved. 
 

4 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 

This part of the report is structured to update: 

• The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

• How these plans are being financed; 

• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 

indicators  and the underlying need to borrow; and 

• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

4.1   Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since 

the capital programme was agreed at the Budget.   

Capital 

Expenditure 

by Service

2014/15 

Original 

Programme

Budget B’fwd 

from    

2013/14

Virements 

to 

Programme 

in Year

Total 

2014/15 

Budget

Actual 

Spend @ 

Period 6 

2014/15 

Revised 

Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m £m

General Fund 2.982 1.365 - 4.347 0.577 1.130

HRA 6.003 1.483 - 7.486 2.681 7.335

Total 8.985 2.848 - 11.833 3.258 8.465
 

4.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme   

The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure 

plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the 

capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital 

expenditure. Any borrowing element of the table increases the underlying 

indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 

although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt 

(the Minimum Revenue Provision). This direct borrowing need may also be 

supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury requirements. 

Page 112



 

 

2014/15 2014/15

Estimate
Revised 

Estimate

£m £m

Supported - -

Unsupported 11.833 8.465

Total spend 11.833 8.465

Financed by:

Grant 2.583 0.346

General Fund Receipts 0.589 0.232

Section 106 Receipts 0.208 0.209

General Fund Reserve 0.571 0.029

HRA Receipts 0.307 0.315

HRA Reserve 1.366 2.391

HRA Regeneration Fund 0.867 0.461

Major Repairs Reserve 5.253 4.482

General Fund Revenue Contributions 0.089 -

Total financing 11.833 8.465

Borrowing need - -

Capital Expenditure

 

4.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement, 

External Debt and the Operational Boundary 

The table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur 

borrowing for a capital purpose. It also shows the expected debt position over 

the period. This is termed the Operational Boundary. 

4.3.1 Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing 

Requirement. 

4.3.2 Prudential Indicator – External Debt / the Operational Boundary 

  

2013/14 2014/15 2014/15 

Outturn 
Original 

Estimate 

Revised 

Estimate 

£m £m £m 

CFR – Non Housing 1.311 1.162 1.242 

CFR – Housing 68.042 68.034 68.029 

Total CFR 69.353 69.196 69.271 

Net movement in CFR (0.226) (0.075) (0.082) 

Operational Boundary 
   

Expected Borrowing 72.268 72.268 72.268 

Other long term liabilities - - - 

Total debt  31 March 72.268 72.268 72.268 

Page 113



4.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that 

over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a 

capital purpose. Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, 

exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 

CFR for 2014/15 and next two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited 

early borrowing for future years. The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in 

advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.   

 

  

2013/14 
2014/15 

Original 

2014/15 

Revised 

Outturn Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m 

Gross borrowing 65.060 65.060 65.060 

Plus other long term liabilities - - - 

Less investments (28.557) (20.140) (21.035) 

Net borrowing 36.503 44.920 44.025 

CFR (year-end position) 69.353 69.196 69.271 

 

The Executive Director Corporate Services reports that no difficulties are envisaged 

for the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.   

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised 

Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be 

set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, 

could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the 

expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. 

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 

2003.  

Authorised Limit for External 

Debt 

2014/15 

Original 

Indicator 

£m 

Current 

Position 

£m 

2014/15 

Revised 

Indicator 

£m 

Borrowing 89.112 89.112 89.112 

Other Long Term Liabilities 3.000 3.000 3.000 

Total 92.112 92.112 92.112 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



5 Investment Portfolio 2014/15 

5.1    In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital 

and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the 

Council’s risk appetite. As set out in Section 3, it is a very difficult investment market 

in terms of earning the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades 

as rates are very low and in line with the 0.5% Bank Rate. Indeed, the Funding for 

Lending scheme has reduced market investment rates even further. The potential 

for a prolonging of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, 

prompts a low risk and short term strategy.  Given this risk environment, investment 

returns are likely to remain low.  

The Council held £31.30m of investments as at 30th September 2014 (£28.56m 

at 31st March 2014) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of 

the year is 0.56% against a benchmark of the 3 months LIBID of 0.42%. A full 

list of investments held as at 30th September 2014 is detailed in APPENDIX 1. 

 

The Executive Director Corporate Services confirms that on one occasion 

during the first six months of 2014/15 that the approved limits within the Annual 

Investment Strategy were breached. This occurred when an outward going 

CHAPS payment in respect of a deposit was not actioned by an agreed 

deadline, resulting in £2.6m being held within the Co-operative Bank overnight, 

which exceeded the approved limit of £2m. 

 

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2014/15 is £189k, and 

performance for the year is projected to be £3k below budget. 

 

5.2   CIPFA Benchmarking Club 

 

The Council is a member of the CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking 

Club which is a means to assess our performance over the year against other 

members (22 Authorities).  

Our average return for In House Investments for the period October 2013 to 

September 2014 was 0.56% compared to the group average of 0.77% 

(information from CIPFA Benchmarking Draft Report Q2 2014/15) excluding 

the impaired investments in Icelandic banks. This is considered to be a 

reasonable result in light of the current financial climate, our lower levels of 

deposits/funds and shorter investment time-lines due to Banking sector 

uncertainty, when compared to other Authorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



This can be analysed further into the following categories: 

 
Average Balance Invested Average Annual Return Received

£m %

Category

Tamworth 

Borough Council

CIPFA 

Benchmarking Club

Tamworth 

Borough Council

CIPFA 

Benchmarking Club

Fixed Investments (up to 30 

days)
0.1 0.9 0.41 0.38

Fixed Investments (between 

31 and 90 days)
1.7 2.7 0.45 0.44

Fixed Investments (between 

91 and 364 days)
12.1 41.2 0.77 0.68

Fixed Investments (between 

1 year and 5 years)
- 12.0 - 2.25

Fixed Investments (over 5 

years)
- 1.0 - 3.96

Callable and Structured 

Deposits
- 0.9 - 2.46

Notice Accounts 8.8 39.8 0.48 0.57

Money Market Funds 

(Constant Net Asset Value)
7.8 13.1 0.37 0.40

Money Market Funds 

(Variable Net Asset Value)
- 2.0 - 0.68

DMADF - 1.8 - 0.25

CD's, Gilts and Bonds 1.0 7.3 0.54 1.20

Average of all investments 

(Managed in House)
31.4 120.8 0.56 0.77

 
 

The data above and graphs below display that despite the Council being a small 

investor in the markets, performance is marginally better in the <365 day investments 

(coloured green) when compared with other members of the benchmarking club and 

affirms our ‘low appetite for risk’ in the continuing unsettled markets.  

 

The variance appears to be reflected by better returns on deposits over 1 year in 

duration, which in line with our use of the Capita Asset Services methodology and 

our approved specified limits in our Treasury Management Strategy, is currently 

prohibited for Tamworth Borough Council. 

Page 116



 

Investment Counterparty criteria 

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is 

meeting the requirement of the Treasury Management function.   

6  Borrowing 

The Council’s revised capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2014/15 is £69.271m. 

The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If the 

CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 

borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). The 

balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. 

Table 4.4 shows the Council has borrowings of £65.060m and has utilised £4.211m 

Page 117



of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a prudent and cost effective approach 

in the current economic climate. 

 

No new external borrowing was undertaken from the PWLB or the money markets in 

the first half of the year.   

 

As outlined below, the general trend has been a reduction in interest rates during the 

six months, across all maturity bands.  

 

It is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this financial 

year. 

 

The table and graph below show the movement in PWLB rates for the first six 

months of the year to 30th September 2014,    

 

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.20% 2.48% 3.16% 3.75% 3.73%

Date 10/04/2014 28/08/2014 28/08/2014 29/08/2014 29/08/2014

High 1.48% 2.86% 3.66% 4.29% 4.26%

Date 15/07/2014 04/07/2014 20/06/2014 02/04/2014 01/04/2014

Average 1.34% 2.65% 3.67% 4.10% 4.17%   

 
 

7 Debt Rescheduling 

 

Debt rescheduling opportunities have been limited in the current economic climate 

and consequent structure of interest rates. No debt rescheduling was undertaken 

during the first six months of 2014/15. 

Page 118



 

8 Icelandic Banks Update 

 

Appendix 2 contains details of the situation with Icelandic investments as at 30th 

September 2014. 

Expectations of future receipts and timeframes based on current information 

regarding each bank are given below; 

 

• Glitnir  

 

On 15th March 2012, the Council received £2.554m being the majority of our deposits 

with the bank. The balance of our approved claim, equating to £587k, is being held in 

an interest bearing ESCROW account. The release of these funds is dependent on a 

change in Icelandic Law which currently does not allow the distribution of ISK outside 

the country. Interest will accrue on these funds until the date of final settlement, 

which is still unknown.  

 

• Heritable  

 

As at the end of September the Council had received £1.415m against our claim of 

£1.505m, a total recovery of 94.02%. It is anticipated that this will be the final figure 

received, though the Administrators are withholding a sum as a contingency against 

disputed claims.  

   

• Kaupthing, Singer and Friedlander  

 

As at the end of September the Council had received £2.588m against our claim of 

£3.175m. Current estimates given by the Administrator project a total recovery of 

85.25% or approximately £2.707m with the majority of repayments being received by 

June 2015. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR 

Please contact Phil Thomas Financial Accountant extension 239 
 

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Background Papers : - Local Government Act 2003

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 

Public Services 2011

Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential 

Indicators Report 2014/15

Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15

Financial Healthcheck Period 6, September 2014

CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking Club 

Report Quarter 2, September 2014
 

Page 119



 

APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX 1 Current Investment List 

APPENDIX 2 Icelandic Banking Situation 

 
 
 

Page 120



APPENDIX 1 
 
Investments held as at 30th September 2014:  
 

Borrower Deposit      
£m 

Rate           
% 

From To Notice 
 

Lloyds TSB 2.00 0.98 01/11/2013 31/10/2014 - 

Lloyds TSB 1.00 0.98 11/11/2013 10/11/2014 - 

Lloyds TSB 1.00 0.98 02/10/2013 01/10/2014 - 

Bank of Scotland 2.00 0.95 12/02/2014 11/02/2015 - 

Nationwide 1.00 0.50 07/08/2014 07/11/2014 - 

Nationwide 2.00 0.64 08/07/2014 08/01/2015 - 

Nationwide 1.00 0.64 15/07/2014 15/01/2015 - 

Barclays 2.00 0.48 01/08/2014 03/11/2014 - 

Barclays 1.00 0.48 05/09/2014 05/12/2014 - 

Barclays 1.00 0.61 05/09/2014 05/03/2015  

Standard Chartered  2.00 0.56 02/04/2014 02/10/2014 - 

Coventry  1.00 0.41 02/09/2014 02/10/2014  

Coventry  2.00 0.41 05/09/2014 06/10/2014 - 

Coventry  1.00 0.41 16/09/2014 20/10/2014  

Santander  4.00 0.40 - - On call 

MMF - PSDF 4.00 0.38* - - On call 

MMF – IGNIS 3.30 0.42* - - On call 

Total 31.30 
0.56 
(avg) 

   

 
* Interest rate fluctuates daily dependant on the funds investment portfolio, rate quoted is approximate 7 day average. 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

 

 

30/09/2014

Deposit with; Ref Number Date Invested Amount %

1 GLITNIR 1696 10/10/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1715 31/08/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1754 14/12/2007 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000

Estimated of Contractual or Interest due to point 

of administration (subject to currency exchange 

rate fluctuations)

155,000

Total of Claim 3,155,000

Repayments Received to date (2,554,432) * 80.96

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 600,568 **

- Best case recovery 100%

2 Heritable Bank 1802 12/09/2008 500,000

Heritable Bank 1803 15/09/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 1,500,000

Interest due at point of administration 07/10/2008 5,127

Total of Claim 1,505,127

Repayments Received to date (1,415,080) 94.02

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 90,047

- Final recovery received of 94.02% (declared 23/08/13, though Administrators are retaining a
contingency for disputed claims that could be distributed at a later date).

3 Singer & Friedlander 1716 31/08/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1740 31/10/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1746 14/01/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000

Interest due at point of administration 08/10/2008 175,256

Total of Claim 3,175,256

Repayments Received to date (2,587,833) 81.50

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 587,423

- Current indications project an 85.25% recovery of our investments 

Summary

Total Principal 7,500,000

Interest 335,383

Total of Claim 7,835,383

Repayments Received to date (6,557,346) 83.69

Outstanding at 30/09/2014 1,278,038

1 Registered Bank in Iceland - In Administration under Icelandic Law

2 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

3 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

ICELANDIC BANKING SITUATION AS AT

*Partial repayment received on the 15th March 2012 in GBP/EUR/USD/NOK. The balance is currently being 

held in Icelandic Krone (ISK). Release of these funds is dependent on a change in Icelandic Law which 

currently does not allow the distribution of ISK outside the country. **Interest will accrue on these funds untill 

the date of final settlement, the final payment value may also be subject to exchange rate fluctuations.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

27 November 2014 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 

 
 

COUNCIL TAX BASE 2015/16 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To report the Council Tax Base for the Borough Council for 2015/16. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Tamworth Borough Council resolves its calculation of the Council Tax Base for the year 
2015/16 to be 20,628  (2014/15 – 20,389). 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Borough Council is required to calculate its Council Tax Base for each financial year and 
notify Staffordshire County Council, The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Staffordshire and Staffordshire Fire Authority by 31 January preceding that financial year. 
 
The Authority is required to approve the Council Tax Base.   
 
The Council Tax Base is the total of the number of domestic properties in the Borough, after 
making deductions for exempt dwellings and for the granting of reliefs and discounts for 
disabled occupiers, single occupiers and as appropriate empty properties. Since 2013/14 the 
figure is also reduced for the properties where Council Tax Support (replacing Council Tax 
Benefit from April 2013) is given. This is expressed as Band D equivalents.   
 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The figure for 2015/16 Council Tax Base is calculated at 20,628. 
This represents an increase in the current year of 239 or 1.2%. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
If the base is not set in the legally required timeframe it can be calculated by precepting 
authorities and imposed upon us.   
 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended the Borough Council is required 
to calculate its Council Tax Base for each financial year and is required to notify Staffordshire 
County Council, The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Staffordshire and 
Staffordshire Fire Authority by 31 January preceding that financial year. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authority (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 
as amended, the Tax Base for the year 2015/16 is calculated by applying a formula A x B. 
 
A is the number of properties in each band (expressed as a number of band D equivalents).  
 
B is the Authority’s estimate of its collection rate for that year. It is recommended that this 
should be 97.9%. 
 
Applying the collection rate to A gives a Council Tax Base of 20,628 (21,070 x 97.9%). 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Michael Buckland, Head of Revenues, Telephone 01827 709523 
e-mail michael-buckland@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 
Local Authority (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 
Local Government Finance Act 2012 
Local Authority (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A – Council Tax Base Calculation 2015/16 
 

Page 126



P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

27 November 2014 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 

 
 

CABINET REPORT FOR WRITE OFFS 01/4/14 - 30/09/14 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To provide Members with details of write offs from 1st April 2014 to 30th September 2014 
and to seek approval to write off irrecoverable debt in line with policy. re Housing Benefit 
Overpayments in excess of £10k. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Members endorse the amount of debt written off for the period of 1st April 2014 to 30th 
September 2014– Appendix A-D and approve the write off of irrecoverable debt for Housing 
Benefit Overpayments of £12,753.33 – Appendix E respectively.   
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Heads of Service are responsible for the regular review of debts and consider the 
need for write off and authorise where necessary appropriate write offs in line with the 
Corporate Credit Policy. The first part of this report shows the position for the current 
financial year – Appendix A- D. Further updates will continue to be produced on a quarterly 
basis. 
 

Type     01/04/14-30/09/14 

Council Tax (£32.32) 

Business Rates                                                                       £38,397.84 

Sundry Income £0.00 

Housing Benefit Overpayments                                              £18,412.09 
 

 

The second part of the report is in respect of debts which are in excess of £10k. 
 
Under Financial Regulations, debts for write-off greater than £10k require Cabinet 
authorisation and this report details such accounts. The amount for Housing Benefit 
Overpayments is attached in Appendix E.   
 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The write offs detailed are subject to approval in line with the Corporate Credit 
Policy/Financial Regulations.  
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 

Page 129

Agenda Item 10



Not applicable 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
This forms part of the Council’s Corporate Credit Policy and effective management of debt. 
 
The Council is committed to ensuring that debt write offs are kept to a minimum by taking 
all reasonable steps to collect monies due. There will be situations where the debt 
recovery process fails to recover some or all of the debt and will need to be considered for 
write off in accordance with the schemes of delegation prescribed in the Corporate Credit 
Policy. 
 
The Council views such cases very much as exceptions. Before writing off debt, the 
Council will satisfy itself that all reasonable steps have been taken to collect it and that no 
further recovery action is possible or practicable. It will take into account the age, size and 
types of debt together with any factors that it feels are relevant to the individual case. 
 

Authority Account Value  

Head of Revenues Up to £1,000 

Chief Officer(or authorised delegated officer) £1,001 to £5,000 

Executive Director Corporate Services £5,001 to £10,000 

Cabinet Over £10,000 

 
These limits apply to each transaction. 
 
Bad Debt Provision 
 
The level of the provision must be reviewed jointly by the unit and Accountancy on at least a 
quarterly basis as part of the management performance review, and the table below gives 
the mandatory calculation. 
Where the debt is less than 6 months old it will be written back to the service unit. 
 

Debt Outstanding Provision (Net of VAT) 

Between 6 and 12 months old 50% 

Between 12 and 24 months old 75% 

Over 24 months old 100% 

 
The financial effects of providing for Bad Debts will be reflected in the Council’s accounts at 
Service Unit level.      
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Michael Buckland, Head of Revenues, Tel 709523 
e-mail michael-buckland@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Corporate Credit Policy - effective management of debt 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendices A to D give details of write offs completed for Revenues and Benefits Services 
for 01 April 2014 to 30 September 2014 
Appendix E gives details of Housing Benefit Overpayment write offs  
 

Page 130



Appendix A- Council Tax 
 

 

P
age 131



Appendix B- Business Rates 
 

 

P
age 132



Appendix C- Miscellaneous Income 
 

 

P
age 133



Appendix D- Housing Benefit Overpayments 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 134



Appendix E- Housing Benefit Overpayments over £10,000  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2014 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION 

 
 

I AM TAMWORTH 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
N/A 
 
 
PURPOSE 
To seek approval to incorporate the £78,000 Arts Council grant for I am Tamworth into the 
Councils budget following the Arts and Events teams successful bid and to endorse the 
associated programme of activity funded through this and core Council budgets. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
That Members; 
1) Authorise the addition of £78k to the Arts and Events budget for spend in line with the bid 
to the Arts Council  
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
2014 marks the 125th Anniversary of Tamworth Assembly Rooms, the home of arts and 
events in Tamworth. To mark this occasion the Arts and Events team have developed an 18 
month programme of activities and projects to delight and engage Tamworth audiences and 
visitors from across the Midlands region. A copy of the programme is attached in the 
appendices. The project will act as a spring board to support the long term development of 
the arts and events team and ambitions for the Creative Quarter. The bid to the Arts Council 
set out a number of objectives and outcomes.  
 
Objectives and Outcomes 

• To create a strong platform for the arts in Tamworth to grow and flourish from. 

• To increase community pride and cohesion. 

• To breakdown barriers and change perceptions of arts activities. 

• To increase longer term participation levels in the arts. 

• To act as a stimulus for local artists. 

• To create stronger regional working partnerships. 

• To showcase the current artistic talent in Tamworth Borough Council 

• To expose Tamworth audiences to a diverse and wide ranging high quality arts 
programme. 

• Every resident of Tamworth will have access to two free arts activities. 

• Promoting greater collaboration between organisations to increase efficiency and 
Innovation 

• Strengthening business models in the arts, helping arts organisations to diversify their 
income streams including private giving. 

• Attracting new audiences. 

• Improving the delivery of arts opportunities for children and young people. 
 
On 30th May 2013 Cabinet approved the submission of the bid to the Arts Council for funding 
through their Grants for Arts scheme. In reviewing the Arts Council England described the 
project in their feedback as “a model of good practice that should be an example for other 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



local authorities”.  
 
The project includes funding for an independent evaluation system to monitor the above 
objectives around usage figures, new business development, and regular contact with 
participants over a continued period. This will also include a programme of user evaluation 
after each individual project and an exit strategy for participants to enable them to continue 
their participation and strengthen other groups in the area. It is the arts and events team 
intention to create a series of reports 
 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
Not accepting the funding and therefore not delivering the I am Tamworth project. 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
Total Project Costs (inc existing Outdoor Events budget) £193,228 Of this £79,500 will be 
met from the provisional budget for 2015/2016 identified in the medium term financial 
strategy and from the grant award of £78,000 The Arts and Events team are not asking for 
any additional resources for the project. A further £35,728 will be obtained through income 
generation and In-Kind sources such as free use of business premises already committed by 
local organisations across the Borough.  
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
Risk Assessment attached  
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
All elements of the programme will include research of what our communities want from the 
authorities’ arts provision. It will inform our future programme and work with developing 
audiences. We will aim to ensure exit strategies for all projects to ensure residents can 
continue with arts activities. It will also impact on income generation due to an increased 
interested in arts and therefore an increase in ticket sales and venue usage.  
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Elanor Hazlehurst  
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Cabinet 30th May 2013 
 
 
APPENDICES 
I am Tamworth Programme  
 

Page 138



Project Strand Description Marketing Activities  Artists  Employment 
days (based 
on 7 hours) 

Partner 
Organisation 

Participants/ 
Audience 
(approx) 

Development/ Legacy Timeframe 

Taster Sessions Free arts workshops across the town. Taster 
sessions for people to have a go at a range of 
new skills. Basic introduction to increase 
exposure and to learn a new skill across a 
range of genres, enabling every person to have 
the opportunity to a diverse experience of the 
arts. These sessions will be intergenerational. 
Sessions will take place in local community halls 
and other familiar and comfortable spaces for 
participants. We have chosen a range of artists 
and organisations that our community are 
familiar with. As we have mentioned above we 
want to ensure that those participating develop 
a familiarity with the activities.  

New Audiences: 
Direct Mail drop to targeting 
postcodes in deprived wards 
in Tamworth. Different mail 
for each ward as the activity 
genre is tailored to wards 
requirements from the 
consultation.  
 
Walk about tasters. Staff 
dressed up as butlers 
handing out/ offering out the 
opportunity to taste art. This 
will be videoed and put on 
social media to viral our 
social audience.  
 
Existing Audience: 
Segmented  E- Newsletters 
targeting audience in 
particular ward areas. 
 

As detailed in the 
application form. 
 
Why chosen these artists  
We felt it was important to 
use artists that provided us 
with a high quality 
experience and proven 
community arts lead track 
records and also had an 
understanding of 
Tamworth. All sessions run 
by artists we have 
previously worked with and 
are assured of their high 
quality outcomes.  
 

44 Staffordshire 
County Council 
Staffordshire 
Library Service 
Staffordshire Fire 
Service South 
Staffordshire 
College  

2560 Participants  Each session will include a fact 
sheet on local groups and 
contacts that already undertake 
this skill. We will also be working 
with the college to highlight their 
evening classes programme. 
We will also run a series of open 
days throughout the year for 
people to meet and try sessions 
for free with local groups.  

Duration of 
Programme.  

I am Dance A site specific performance involving 
Motionhouse, Tamworth Arts and events 
groups, local schools  
animating Tamworth Castle and telling the story 
of the Saxon Queen Aethelfleda who was 
responsible for refortifying the Saxon town of 
Tamworth. She built a bank and fence system 
around the town. 
 
This project will modernise her as a modern 
warrior queen and to create scenes from this 
fortification process. A modern telling as 
opposed to historical re-enactment. 
 
This will provide a powerful, visual impact that 
will engage participants, audience members and 
create a quality, high profile performance.  

New Audience: 
Flash Mob to dance in a busy 
location in Tamworth. This 
will be published on social 
forums that lead back to the 
website.  
 
Phone Dance groups/ 
Schools to get dancers 
signed up to project.   
 
Existing Audiences: 
Segmented E-Newsletter to 
tagged audiences with a 
preference to dance.  
Phone Tamworth 
Contemporary dance 
participants.  

Local Dance groups & 
Schools  
 
Why chosen these artists  
Working with Motionhouse 
to develop local profile for 
dance. National portfolio 
organisation that creates 
exciting and original work. 
Strong track record of 
creating site specific work 
and telling a story. Engage 
with a range of different 
audiences.  

10 Motionhouse 
Staffordshire 
Performing Arts 
Staffordshire 
County Council. 
Tamworth Castle.  
Mercian Trail 
Partnership  

15-40 To be 
determined by 
final project route 
2000 Audience 

To continue working with 
Motionhouse on future projects 
stimulating the creation of 
projects ensuring we have 
quality dance provision 
programmed in. Ensure we have 
strong links to wider regional 
initiatives and opportunities for 
our local dancers to be involved 
with.  

Spring 2015  

I am Ballet  Working with local Ballet Company Ballet 
Theatre UK. The project will engage local young 
people to experience ballet, in particular young 
men. Breaking down barriers and encouraging 
physical activity and personal development for 
local dancers.  
 
  

 
Ballet flash mob at Football 
grounds prior to football 
match.  
 
Existing Audience:  
Segmented e-newsletter to 
audience members that have 
come to a ballet performance.  

Ballet Theatre UK 
Why chosen these artists  
Proven increase in 
audience engagement with 
Tamworth Assembly 
Rooms. International profile 
of excellence. Locally 
based with a commitment 
to the development of local 
dancers.  

15 Staffordshire 
County Council  

600 Participants 
KS1/KS2 
Audience 2000 

All students involved will be 
given tickets to a ballet 
performance at Tamworth 
Assembly Rooms. They will also 
be introduced to programmes 
ran from across the region. We 
also aim to continue ballet 
sessions longer term at the 
venue.  

October-
December 
2014   

I am the Beat Drumming Events throughout the town. Creation 
of drumming groups and learning new skills. 
Focus on family learning and a family activity. 
Creating an enjoyable inspiring arts experience. 

New Audience 
Sound Installation in 
shopping centre. The Beat is 
coming… 
 
Upload your beat – Touch Fm 
Radio Station  

James Barrow 
 
Why chosen these artists  
Established Pioneer for 
Taiko Drumming with 
International recognition.  

16 Homestart  
Staffordshire 
County Council 
(Education)  
Local Academies 
(Landau Forte, 
Rawlett and 
Tamworth 
Enterprise college) 

Participants 160 
Audience 200 

To develop a programme of 
family learning projects and 
build (where appropriate) groups 
to continue to lead this work.  

September 
2014 - April 
2015  

P
age 139



I am Music The creation of Tamworth Live Music Trail to 
raise the profile of the existing music scene. 
Encouraging new talent to come forward. 
Looking at the venues around the town centre 
that will highlight a wealth of musical genres. 
Tamworth Arts & Events team to provide 
professional technical support and event 
management guidelines.  

New Audiences 
Tamworth Voices doted 
around the town in high 
engaged areas doing a 15 
minute show. 
 
Battle of the Bands winners 
pop up in various locations 
and flash mob.  
 
Existing Audience 
Social Media channels video 
clips 

Various Local Artists  
 
Why chosen these artists 
Developing strong ties and 
giving a profile to our local 
music scene ensuring we 
are highlighting both 
established and emerging 
artists by promoting both 
venues that host these 
events and how to get 
performance slots to local 
musicians.  

N/A Tamworth Live, 
Tamworth 
Assembly Rooms, 
Battle of the Bands, 
Staffordshire 
County Council 
(Education)  
Local Academies 
(Landau Forte, 
Rawlett and 
Tamworth 
Enterprise College) 

Audience 1500 To support the development of a 
clear mapping process for music 
provision and opportunities in 
Tamworth. To ensure this is 
kept up to date and partnership 
projects are developed longer 
term to promote our struggling 
scene and give it the support it 
needs to flourish.  

August-
December   

I am Drama Developing from the taster session we will 
establish Drama Groups across Tamworth to 
create short pieces about the area they live. 
This will then all come together in a summer 
showcase to be called Tales of Tamworth. We 
will use different medias to stimulate the work 
and this will include drawing on popular culture 
themes and also encourage skills development 
in new media and video production.  

Street Scene- drama in the 
every day. Documented and 
recorded for social networks 
and website. Using 
Tamworth’s busy market day 
to bring drama to life in 
people’s everyday.  
Did you see it? Coming 
soon…more tales of 
Tamworth  

Simon Quinn 
 
Why chosen these artists  
 
Experience of delivering 
intergenerational, 
successful performances 
broadcast to a national 
audience. Local artists 
developing a high profile 
company to develop future 
work and local performers.  

23 Tamworth Heritage 
Trust  

Participants 100 
Audience 500 

The aim of this project is to take 
a more traditional art form and 
breakdown some of the fears 
and ideas around it. We aim to 
use this as a stepping stone to 
continue an opera programme 
longer term and also develop 
other links with other quality 
providers 

Jan 2015-
August 2015 

I am Visual Arts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Throughout the year we will create a 
programme of outdoor free to attend arts 
activities. They aim to inspire and excite the 
local community exposing them to new artists 
and work in familiar and loved environments. 
Turning empty shops and spaces across the 
town in to arts spaces. Using the “I am 
Tamworth” theme a portrait trail will be created. 
Turning sad disused spaces in to bright 
colourful canvases and lifting the town in the 
process. To create a public art piece that is 
about and for the local community. That they 
can have pride and understanding in.  
 
All the displays will be created in an imaginative 
and appealing way ensuring all the work created 
by the artists and local participants is side by 
side in a professional and quality manner.  

New Audiences: 
Printed T-Shirts with the “I am 
Tamworth” “I am Visual Arts” 
brand  
 
Segmented E-Newsletter to 
tagged art interested 
audiences.  
 
 

Claire Wood Open Callout 
for Artists 
 
Why chosen these artists  
 
Previous pilot scheme of 
this nature explored and 
deemed successful by 
participants and audiences. 
Previous experience of 
involvement in professional 
exhibitions. Will also 
establish Tamworth as 
“open for Business” by 
developing call out 
opportunities for artists and 
highlighting work potential 
in the area.  

5 Linked to Big Draw 
Local Businesses 
and Landlords 
Family arts 
campaign  

Participants 400 
Audience 10,000 
(footfall through 
town centre 
higher, numbers 
likely to increase)  

The aim is to put the art in the 
everyday using the newly 
formed relationships as a 
platform to continue to have 
quality art work in exciting 
places. Whilst continuing to 
inspire artists to create work for 
public spaces. A fact sheet will 
be provided with groups and 
organisations contact details of 
arts venues and arts groups in 
the local area. The aim is to 
create at least four exhibitions a 
year with the promise to work 
with local artists.  

1 event in 
October 2014 
 
1 event in 
May 2015   
  

Trotters Trail  Pop Up PIGS! Using the Tamworth two as 
inspiration we aim to create an arts trail of pigs 
throughout the town. There will be pigs by local 
artists as well as community groups, schools 
and even local businesses. To improve local 
spaces. To provide fun and interactive activities 
for all communities. A sense of involvement in 
larger project. 

New Audiences: 
Walk about Pigs dressed up 
handing out information of the 
trotters trail. 
 
 
Segmented E-Newsletter to 
current audience with an 
interest in outdoor events and 
arts activities.  

Luke Perry Open Brief 
 
Why chosen these artists  
 
Cultural Champion and 
BCU Alumni of the Year 
2012. Previous successful 
projects of this nature that 
combine heritage and art.  
 

15 Staffordshire 
County Council 
Staffordshire 
Highways  

Participants 350 
Audience 10,000 
(as above high 
footfall areas)  

Our aim is to continue to engage 
the newly captivated audience in 
public art. Working with key 
partners to create trails. We will 
send regular newsletters to 
participants about supporting 
regional projects. 

May 2015-
October 2015  

P
age 140



I am Heroes  WW1 project looking at the stain glass windows 
located in St. Editha's that were funded by the 
people of Tamworth to honour those who lost 
their lives.  With local residents creating their 
own art work and learning new skills. This 
project will not only showcase the stories of the 
windows but also attract people to view other 
windows in the Church which includes work by 
William Morris. The work will be displayed in the 
Library, Church and National Arboretum.  

New Audiences 
Working with The Village 
Market Magazine we will look 
at local heroes. In particular 
the families from the Mercian 
Regiment in Whittington 
Barracks to promote the 
background of the project.  
 
Segmented Newsletter from 
National Memorial Arboretum 
to inform their audience about 
our activities and project.  
Segmented e-newsletter to 
arts participation members.  
 
 

Local Arts Groups  
Open brief to call Artists  
 
 

5 Staffordshire 
Library Service St. 
Editha's Church 
National Memorial 
Arboretum 
Staffordshire 
Regimental 
Museum  

Participants 350 
Audience 3000 

The aim is to create a lasting 
arts programme with these key 
partners whilst using the WW1 
centenary as a foundation for 
this relationship. Also, sending 
newsletters with opportunities 
and exhibitions to the newly 
engaged audiences and artists. 

November 
2014  

This is 
Tamworth  

This will be the projects launch event 
showcasing Tamworth artists and groups at 
Symphony Hall Birmingham. It aims to create 
pride and a sense of occasion for the work they 
are creating.  Further more it will develop a 
relationship between our audience and cultural 
providers in Birmingham. Encouraging 
participants to challenge themselves and 
broaden their experience with our neighbouring 
multi- cultural city. We will work with providers in 
Birmingham to engage with our audiences and 
highlight other regional opportunities.  

New & Existing audiences: 
Provide every performer with 
a sticker to put in their car 
saying “I am Tamworth”  
 
Radio teaser from Touch FM. 
Each group performing will 
have 2 minutes airtime to 
showcase what they are 
bringing to the show.  
 
You tube: Teaser footage 
encouraged to share through 
social networks creating a 
viral word of mouth with 
current audience. 

Gladstone Wilson Local 
Arts Groups  
Why chosen these artists  
 
Strong reputation with local 
arts groups and 
international recognition for 
a delivery of high quality 
music.  
Current delivery of a 
successful choir in 
partnerships with Tamworth 
Assembly Rooms.    

10 THSH  Participants 600 
Audience 1000 

This project aims to highlight the 
options that are available for the 
audiences in this region. With 
the objective of raising 
awareness of other venues. It 
will also building the confidence 
of local performers and 
audiences to visit other venues.  

July  

I am Art Large Closing event that will bring together and 
showcase all the work and events that 
happened over the year and highlight future 
opportunities.  

New Audiences:  
Golden Ticket direct mail to 
Tamworth Households 
through Local Authority 
magazine.  
 
Competition to open the “I am 
Art” closing event for all the 
people that attended 3 or 
more activities of the year 
program. This will be 
segmented from the mailing 
list.  
 
E-Newsletter/ postal letter to 
everyone that attended any of 
the I am Tamworth events.  
 

Local Arts Groups  
 
 

  TBC TBC The legacy for this project is to 
document the year of events 
with a DVD’s/CD’s. Providing all 
participants, artists and 
audience members with a fact 
sheet of what arts activities are 
happening where and when with 
a programme for 2015. The aim 
is to promote greater 
collaboration between 
organisations to increase 
efficiency and innovation. 

October 2015  

I am Words Creative writing and poetry project. The project 
will work around the theme of I am Tamworth 
telling individual stories, feeling and thoughts 
about the area and individuals. The project will 
include the publication of a book and various 
poetry trails throughout the Tamworth Area over 
the year.  Develop Writing Squads and reading 
and writing events in area. Develop an ongoing 
relationship with literature and the opportunity of 
hands on experience. 

Scrabble game in Tamworth 
Library to generate interest in 
the project in a fun way.  
 
Tamworth Library to hand out 
1 scrabble piece to every 
person that checks out a 
book. They will then be 
encouraged to come along to 
the writing squads and along 
with other participants make a 
word for every workshop.  

Nicola Timmis, Malcolm 
Dewhurst 
 
Why chosen these artists  
 
Staffordshire Poet Laureate 
2012. Experience of 
partnerships in the region 
and delivery of inspiring 
projects.  

28 Writing West 
Midlands TCR FM 
Tamworth Herald  

Participants 150  The publication of the poetry 
book will act as a legacy item. 
Another aim is to develop more 
writing squads in hard to reach 
areas from the success of the 
new groups, engaging new 
generations in writing. Continue 
to develop innovative projects 
with newly found artists. To 
continue to house personal 
development days to enable 
writers to become established. 
Holding events to showcase 
Tamworth writers whilst raising 
the profile of Tamworth writers. 

October 
2014- 
October 2015  

P
age 141



I am the Great 
Outdoors 

Annual Event Programme. This year it will be 
shaped around the I am Tamworth theme and 
include outdoor theatre performances.  

Road Signs at the entrance 
points into Tamworth 
 
London Midland Train 
Carriage Panels. Route- 
Lichfield – Birmingham. 
Covering neighbouring towns. 

Range of local companies 
 
 
 

8   Audience 40,000 
(as demonstrated 
in previous year) 

To continue to develop  
relationships with new 
audiences providing them with 
future opportunities with the arts 
in outdoor spaces 

Ongoing 

I am Tamworth 
Assembly 
Rooms 

In-house programme To expose audiences to a 
range of diverse and original arts activities The 
programme will be punctuated with a range of 
ticketed performances throughout the year. 

Pop up theatre at all I am 
Tamworth outdoor events. 
 
Handing out theatre 
programmes at every I am 
Tamworth activity.  
 
 

Vamos, Hoopla, Hull Truck  
 
Why chosen these artists  
 
Utilising companies with 
national accreditation for 
delivering engaging and 
excite new and old 
audiences.  
 

TBC TBC Audience 2000 To make small but significant 
changes to the programme by 
programming quality arts that 
are accessible to all. 

Ongoing 

I am 
Development  

A series of events and courses to support our 
local artists to share knowledge, develop their 
skills and understanding of the regional 
framework. The Series will support business 
development such as legal frameworks, cash 
flow and practical advice as well as good arts 
practice guidance and developing artistic skills. 
Working with quality and recognised education 
providers to support the skills development of 
local artists.  

New Audiences: 
Direct mail to creative 
businesses/ Creative Hubs/ 
college’s/ schools/ University 
 
Existing Audience:  
Utilise current Arts Network, 
ArtSwitch.  
Work with partners to spread 
the word within their arts 
network such as SADOG 
 

 Geko 
Creative Alliance 
Creative Enterprise  
  
 
 

3 Arts Connect South 
Staffordshire 
College  
VAST  
Staffordshire 
Library  

Participants 100    To encourage national quality 
arts providers/ national portfolio 
organisations to become 
ambassadors to support local 
artists aiding them to become 
more sustainable resilient and 
innovative. We aim to build a 
quality portfolio of local artists. 

6 events 
throughout 
the project.   

 

P
age 142



Task Risk Assessment Form 
 

Location/Dept CPP Date Assessment 
Completed 

30th April 2014 Assessor Elanor Thompson  

 

Task or Activity 
Assessed 

2015 Programme  

 
Who Is At Risk 

(tick as appropriate) 
Employee Y Other (please specify) 

 Organisation  Y 

General Public  Y  

Hazards Identified Outcome & Injury 

Not Obtaining External Funding  The programme will continue but in a much reduced format. 

Not Bringing in the Income to Support Programme Will reduce elements of the programme but the reliance on 
income is low.  

Lack of public engagement  Poor take up. Poor Reputation for organisation.  

Poor Marketing  Not developing audience and profile strong enough to attract 
the level of anticipated attention. Poor Reputation for 
organisation. 

 
Examine each of the risks with involved in the task and note down any preventative or safety measures you are going to 

put in place. 

 
Control Measures In Place to Address Above Risks Likelihood Severity Risk Rating 

Not Obtaining External Funding  

• Pre-Application support form Arts Council England  

• Application review by Staffordshire County Council  

• Application development support from additional sources  
 

2 3 High  

Not Bringing in the Income to Support Programme  

• Early and strong ticket promotion.  

 
2 

 
1 

 
Low 

P
age 143



• Large involvement by community for performance.  

• Large press presence 
Lack of Public Engagement   

• Develop strong and clear marketing approach.  

• Ensure arts activities taking place in all ward locations to develop strong 
community profile.  

• Reduce barriers to attendance.  

2 3 High 

Poor Marketing  

• Develop a strong and consistent branding and marketing plan.  

• Start promotion early.  

• Invest support in this area.  

2 1 Low 

 
Further Action Needed to Decrease Risks Person 

Responsible 
Date Required Date 

Implemented 
Likelihood Severity Risk 

Rating 

       

       

       

 
Date  Assessor Signature  

 

 
Reviews 
(If there are no changes then the assessment should just be signed. However if anything changes a new assessment must be 
completed) 

1st Reassessment Date  Assessor Signature  
2nd Reassessment Date  Assessor Signature  

 

P
age 144



Project Strand

Artists/ Staff Notes Trainers Notes Materials 

Taster Sessions £4,000

(5 wards x 13 taster sessions = 65 

sessions) Artsists cost varying between 

£30-45 per hour sesions 1-2hrs 

dependant on genre £500

I am Dance £30,000

Motionhouse have confirmed costs of 

£30,000 

I am Ballet £2,000

Daily Rate Varies from £300-£500 

dependant on artists in Attendance. 15 

days of activities in full although many 

sessions will be half days. 

Expenditure

P
age 145



I am the Beat £2,404 Avergage rate of £250 per day. £500

I am Music £1,000

Current local musician rate varies from 

£50-£250 dependant on musican and 

slot times. Many artists will perform for 

free as part of this including local high 

profile groups. £1,000

I am Drama £2,000

Average full day rate of £100 project 

expected to pull over 23 days in toal but 

split in to sessions of 2hrs at a time. £1,000

I am Visual Arts £2,000

Artists rates vary between £200-£400 

estimate for full day. Additional 

istialltion costs included. £3,000

P
age 146



Trotters Trail £3,000

Rate provided by artist £200 per day 

estimate project to take 15 full days. £5,000

I am Heroes £4,000

Specialist glass work artists rates 

quoted at£400 per days for 10 full days. £3,000

I am Performance £2,000

Costs for MD for project. Quote 

obtained by artist. 

I am Art £2,000

For additional artists to finalise piece. 

Daily rates ranging between £80-£200 £2,000

P
age 147



I am Words £2,000

2 poets working on project with other 

artists joing at points. Rates vary from 

£150-£300. For a total of 28 days. 

Though session will last on average 2 

hours at a time. Costs also include 

finalising dipslay and print works. £1,000

I am the Great Outdoors £40,000

4 events throughout the year costing 

form £4000-£18000. Budgets 

allowances of previous years. £8,192

I am Tamworth Assembly 

Rooms £6,000

Artists costs vary From split deals to 

£3000 Garuntee

P
age 148



I am Developmet £2,000

6 days over 

the year with 

trainers 

varying from 

£400-£600. 

Quotes 

obtained from 

4 training 

providers £2,000

Marketing 23000

Evalutaion £5,000

Hire rate of £100 per day working out at 

50 days for the project £500

Contingency £3,000

Totals £133,404 £2,000 £27,692

P
age 149



Notes Venue Costs Notes Eqiupment Notes

Total 

Expenditure Grants TBC SCC

Working on 

current costs 

attribute to 

sessions. £2,964

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £7,464

£1,200

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £2,000

Outdoor 

Lights and 

projection 

required in 

addtiona to 

current in-

house 

equipement. 

Quotes 

obtained from 

regular 

suppliers £33,200 £1,000

£2,000

Income

P
age 150



Insturment 

hire £2,904

Quoted 

Publication 

costs £2,000

Printed 

materials for 

scripts and 

other 

perofrmance 

equipment in 

addition to 

current stock. £2,000

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £5,000

Materials for 

project. 

Estimate 

provided by 

artists. 

Including the 

loan of high 

quality disply 

equipment to 

ensure 

project looks 

professional. £1,200

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £6,200 £1,000

P
age 151



Estimate 

provided by 

artist. £768

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £8,768

Estimate 

provided by 

artist. £2,000

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £9,000

£8,000

Quote Obtained 

through meeting 

with THSH £10,000

Printed 

materials 

such as 

programmes, 

posters and 

particapnts 

acknowledge

ments £2,000

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £6,000

P
age 152



Prinitng and 

showcasing 

final work £1,000

Venue Costs 

vary between £9 

and £25 

dependant on 

ward for an hour 

session. £4,000

Print material 

and activity 

materails 

form family 

activities. 

Also to 

include site 

dressing and 

public 

information 

print 

materails. 

Quotes from 

current 

providers and 

current 

project costs. £5,000

Equipment 

hire for 

generators 

and outdoor 

equipment for 

programme 

including 

radios for 

staff. 

Estimates 

from curent 

supplies with 

next years 

increases. £53,192 £53,192

£2,000

Additional 

equipment 

not on site 

required by 

artists. £8,000 £8,000

P
age 153



Quotes 

Obtained 

from training 

providers. £4,000

£23,000 £18,308

Previous 

costs for 

consultaion 

materials 

were around 

this mark. £5,500

£3,000

£21,132 £9,000 £193,228 £0 £79,500 £2,000

P
age 154



Ticket Income Notes Sponsorships In-Kind Total Income 

£2,000

Two thrids of 

venues 

invloved have 

offered free 

hire as support £2,000

£4,200

Free Venue 

hire and free 

equipment hire 

offered from 

local suppliers 

to support 

project. £5,200

£1,964

Additional 

support 

offered by the 

schools for 

extra circulum 

work using 

current dance 

staff. £1,964

P
age 155



£0

£0

£2,000

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £2,000

£1,200

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £2,200

P
age 156



£768

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £768

£2,000

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £2,000

£9,596

THSH average 

community ticket 

rate £10 

estimate 1000 

audience £9,596

£2,000

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £2,000

P
age 157



£1,000

Venue hire 

offered from 

Library and fire 

service free of 

charge. £1,000

£53,192

£2,000

Local provider 

supporting 

with hires for 

free. £10,000

P
age 158



£0

£5,000 £23,308

£0

£0

£0

£9,596 £5,000 £19,132 £115,228

GRANT 

REQUEST ACE £78,000

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 27 NOVEMBER  2014 

 
 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION 

 
 

TAMWORTH CASTLE ACCREDITATION SUPPLEMENTARY 2014 

 
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
 
PURPOSE 

To seek Cabinet approval for the adoption and implementation of documents relating 
to the 2014 Accreditation review in respect of Tamworth Castle Museum and 
Collections.  It is a requirement of the Museums Accreditation process that policy 
documents are signed off by the museum's governing body. 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Approve and adopt the Collections Documentation  Policy and Procedures, 
and Tamworth Castle's Emergency / Disaster Plan. 

2. Authorise the Director Communities Planning and Partnerships in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder Economy and Education to progress 
the Castles Museum Accreditation process and make minor changes to the 
documents if required. 

3. In future delegated authority to be given to the relevant Portfolio Holder 
and Director Communities Planning and Partnerships to review and 
approve all Accreditation related documents for Tamworth Castle.  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Tamworth Castle is an Accredited Museum, and by definition it’s core function is to 
collect, safeguard and make accessible the objects or archives which it collects and 
holds in trust for society.  The Castle enables local people and all visitors to explore 
its collections, for inspiration, learning and enjoyment. 
 

Tamworth Castle’s 2014 Accreditation submission requires that all policy documents 
and related procedures are reviewed at a fixed date and re-approved to ensure good 
governance. It is now time for the Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 
and Tamworth Castle's Emergency / Disaster Plan to be reviewed and re-approved. 
 
The adoption and implementation of such policies and plans by a governing body of 
a museum is a requirement of the Accreditation Scheme for Museums and Galleries 
in the United Kingdom. This Scheme is administered by the Arts Council England 
and requires that these policies and plans be formally accepted by the governing 
body of the Museum, in this case Tamworth Borough Council. 
 

 
 
 

Page 161

Agenda Item 12



 
 
At the time of its adoption, the Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures  
represents the aims and objectives of responsible Collections Management at 
Tamworth Castle.  The policy and procedures outline and define the  ways in which 
we will continue to care for, document and manage our objects and archives.   
It also sets out the guidelines that we must adhere to as an Accredited Museum, to 
ensure that we act in an ethical manner and to a standard accepted by all Museums 
in the United Kingdom. It is intended that this policy should be reconsidered at least 
every two years, and a revised statement brought before the governing body for its 
agreement. The date for the review is 2016. 
 
The Emergency / Disaster Plan ensures that as a responsible Accredited Museum 
we can safeguard our buildings and collections against any incident or threat. 
The Emergency / Disaster Plan covers a range of risk assessments and action plans 
to ensure continued good management of our buildings and collections. This will be 
reviewed every two years.  The next date for review is 2016. 
 
A copy of the policies and plans are attached, together with the background papers. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Please note that the Collections Documentation Policy includes the updated Image Usage / 
Reproduction Policy and Procedures form.  This has an increased set of fees and charges.  It 
is hoped that this will increase income to the Castle. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

 

The following risks have been identified should the Council not adopt and then 
implement these policies: 
 
1. Failure to maintain Museum Accreditation Standard Scheme status because of 

failure to meet the minimum standard for the Collections Management 
requirements. 

 
2. Loss of Accreditation Standard will mean inability of Castle to qualify for grant aid 

and awards both nationally and regionally. 
 
3. Loss of awareness that caring for collections are an important and core part of 

Tamworth Castle’s work. 
      Accreditation raises awareness and understanding of museums, building  
      confidence and credibility both within the governing body and among the public. 
 
4. Loss of recognition that Tamworth Castle meets approved National Benchmark 

Standards of Museum work.  
     Accreditation is a quality standard that serves as an authoritative benchmark for  
     assessing performance, rewarding achievement and driving improvement. 
 
5. Loss of confidence amongst donors that we are a suitable repository for objects. 
 
 
 

Page 162



 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
Increase in revenue with updated fees and charges. 
Continued good management of the Castle site and collections. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Sarah Williams, Collections Officer, Tamworth Castle 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

1

 Tamworth Castle & Stores  
Emergency / Disaster Plan 

 
 

 
Copy Number:        [ 1 ] [Master copy]  of  [ 8 ]   

 
Responsibility of: Heritage & Visitor Services Manager  
                                            &  
                            Collections Officer        

 
To be kept at: HOLLOWAY LODGE, TAMWORTH CASTLE                  

 

           Other Copies held by:  Security Manager (TBC) // Fire & 

                                                  Rescue Service // at other Castle sites      

 
 

Introduction 
 
Definition of an Emergency? 

 
1. Collections Link defines an emergency as: 

“an incident that becomes out of control threatening human safety,  
 and damages or threatens to damage, facilities and resources  
 essential to the running of an organisation”1. 

2. This plan is concerned with Emergencies and Disasters: 
a.  A Routine Event is not serious and can be dealt with without 

causing any immediate harm or disruption.   
b. An Incident has potentially serious consequences but which may 

be controlled at local level without the full mobilisation of 
resources.   

c. An Emergency is a serious event that demands immediate 
remedy or action and may require the full mobilisation of your 
own resources and those of the emergency services.   

d. A Disaster is a cataclysmic event on a regional, national or 
global scale about which you can do nothing. 

3. The Fire and Rescue Service define an emergency as 
“ An event or situation that causes or is likely to cause: 

a) one or more individuals to die, be seriously injured or 
become seriously ill, or 

b) serious harm to the environment (including the life and 
health of plants and animals)” 

They also have a statutory duty to limit damage i.e. assist with 
salvage. 

4. The most serious threats arise from fire or flood, which can emanate 
from various sources. Other threats arise from terrorism, vandalism, 
IT/power failure, theft, gas leaks or infestation. 

5. This plan is not to be evoked unless a situation arises which can only 
be defined as an emergency or a disaster above. 

                                            
1
 www.collectionslink.org.uk/plan_for_emergencies, accessed 30/04/2009 

 
 

Page 165



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

2

 
Purpose 

 
6. Successful emergency planning can prevent or reduce the risk of an 

emergency damaging a museum, its staff, visitors, buildings and 
their collections.  It can also prepare staff to react appropriately and 
to recover from it in the medium and longer term. 

7. In a widespread emergency museums are not as high a priority as 
hospitals and transport systems for example.  Therefore this plan 
enables Tamworth Castle to independently respond to an 
emergency. 

8. This plan provides a structured approach for minimising the risk of an 
emergency, as defined above, and allows staff to respond quickly 
and effectively should such an incident take place. 

9. This plan outlines Tamworth Castle’s response to an emergency.  It 
acts as a manual of information and a framework for action which 
can be referred to in an emergency.  It outlines the most significant 
risks to Tamworth Castle, its related buildings below the motte, and 
its stores, and the procedures and guidelines to be followed in an 
emergency, useful contacts and salvage procedures to be followed.   

10. The production of an emergency plan is a requirement of the 
Accreditation Scheme. 

 
Scope 

 
11. The plan includes: 

a. Arrangements for staff and visitors as the first priority. 
b. Arrangements for collections and buildings. 

12. The plan also includes the Fire Evacuation arrangements and the 
Bomb Threat procedures for the safety of visitors and staff in an 
emergency at Tamworth Castle outlined in more detail in  

 Appendix 1 (Tamworth Castle document, also on the Tamworth 
Borough Council S\drive). 

13. The plan is applicable to all situations that can be defined as an 
emergency or disaster in accordance with paragraph 2. 

14. The plan covers all buildings utilised by Tamworth Castle to display 
or store objects and archives. This includes: Tamworth Castle, 
Holloway Lodge, Tamworth Castle Stables, and the main reserve 
collections store at No 44 Sandyway, Amington Industrial Estate 
West, Tamworth. 

 
Circulation of the Plan 

 
15. Copies of the plan are held in the following locations in the 

following buildings: 
a. Castle – Copy 2 Staff room. Copy 3 Emergency Grab box in 

alarm cupboard. 
b. Holloway Lodge – Copy 1 (Master). Copy 4 Emergency Grab 

box in alarm cupboard. 
c. Town Hall  –  Copy 5 Emergency Grab box in the entrance 

hall. 
d. Unit 44 Amington Store – Copy 6 in the office. 

Page 166



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

3

e. Security Manager, Marmion House, Tamworth Borough 
Council offices – Copy 7. 

f. Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Services (Glascote Heath 
station) with a digital copy available to other locations 
through the on-board fire appliance facilities – Copy 8. 

 
16. An electronic copy is stored on the TBC S\drive as per the 

footer below. 
17. Each member of contracted staff has a copy of the basic 

summary page 
18. A pack detailing each role within the Emergency Management 

Team is included within the Grab Boxes. The first person on site 
will take the role of Emergency Response Co-ordinator. The 
other roles will be delegated in sequence to staff and role packs 
provided, or  roles delegated as staff arrive on site out of hours. 

19. Secure copies of the building plans and priority lists are 
included. 

20. Everyone who uses the building is informed of procedures to 
follow in the event of discovering an incident, including 
contractors and re-enactors, and all contractors, visitors and 
volunteers are required to sign in and out, and contractors are 
provided with a copy of the Contractor Fire Safety information.  

 
Review Date 
 

21. This plan is version 4, reviewed in October 2014 as an update. 
22. As a minimum the emergency plan is to be reviewed every two 

years.  Therefore the next date for review will be October 2016, or 
after any activation of the plan in the interim period, or major 
changes. 

23. However the emergency plan is seen as a flexible document.  The 
plan will be tested regularly through simulations and reviewed and 
updated as and when necessary.   

24. All entries in the Emergency Plan such as telephone numbers, 
addresses will be checked for accuracy, and all copies of the Manual 
brought together and checked for consistency.  This is done 
annually, the next check date is October 2015.  

25. Before issue of future versions (versions 5, 6 etc), previous copies 
will be recalled in order to ensure that only one version of the plan is 
in circulation at any one time. The review will be conducted by the 
Collections Officer. 

26. Any suggestions for the improvement of the plan will be welcomed 
and should be directed to the Collections Officer. 

 
Authorisation and Responsibility 
 

27. The Collections Officer, in association with the Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager, is responsible for devising the Emergency Plan. 

28. The Collections Officer is responsible for testing the efficiency of the 
plan and reviewing, amending and maintaining it as required. 

Page 167



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

4

29. The Collections Officer is also responsible for devising and delivering 
appropriate training to all members of staff and volunteers, to ensure 
that everyone understands their role in an emergency. 

30. All members of staff and volunteers are responsible for adhering to 
procedures outlined in the plan in an emergency.   

31. All members of staff and volunteers are responsible for ensuring that 
they fully understand their role in an emergency, if not they must 
inform their line manager or the Collections Officer who will ensure 
that training is provided. 

32. The Heritage and Visitor Services Manager is responsible for 
ensuring that Tamworth Castle meets its obligations for the safety of 
visitors, staff and collections or resources in their care. 

Training 
 

33. Emergency Management Team (EMT) members will receive training 
in the contents and purpose of the plan within the first two months 
after issue, and annually thereafter.  

34. Tamworth Castle staff and volunteers will receive basic training in 
what to do in the event of an emergency thereafter. This basic 
training will be extended to new personnel as necessary. The 
responsibility for organising training will be the Collections Officer.   

35. Building evacuation for the staff and public is practiced annually. 
 
Risk Assessment 

36. Identifying risks is the most important preventive and preparatory 
work for coping with an emergency. 

 
See separate risk assessments outlining potential risks such as fire, water, 
theft and vandalism to: 

• the buildings and sites, including all sites identified in paragraph 14 

• visitor services 

• the collections 

• Collections Care and Conservation 

• Security 

• Health and Safety 
 
Separate Risk Assessments for each building, (including No 44 Amington 
Store) are in Appendix 4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 168



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

5

 
SECTION ONE - Emergency Prevention 

 
37. In the unlikely event of an emergency it is important to know the 

following information relating to maintenance, power failures and 
staff knowledge in order to facilitate ease of response: 

 
Buildings maintenance 
 
A separate 10 year management and maintenance plan has been 
implemented since December 2010, and should be referred to for all building 
and maintenance issues relating to Tamworth Castle, and its related 
buildings. 
This will be reviewed annually. 
 
Responsibility for the buildings maintenance for Unit No 44 Amington store, 
Sandyway, Amington Industrial Estate West, Tamworth remains with 
Tamworth Borough Council (TBC) Property Assets. 
 
 
 

Page 169



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 6

External Maintenance Checklist 
 

 Frequency 
of check 

Check conducted by: Who is 
responsible for 
ensuring checks 
done? 

Date  of 
last 
check 

Date next 
check due 

Gutters:  guttering/down pipes for leaks, 
blockages and signs of overflow 

Annually Mitie Property Services 
UK Limited 

Tamworth Borough 
Council 

Nov 2013 Nov 2014 

Drains:  surface water drains for 
blockages/ obstructions 

Annually Mitie Property Services 
UK Limited 

Tamworth Borough 
Council 

Nov 2013 Nov 2014 

Hydrant:  rising main/hydrant servicing 
and check 

N/A     

Rubbish:  rubbish disposal, check of 
site and procedures 

Once a 
week 

Visitor Services staff  Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

Fences:  check of fences and walls for 
damage, and rapid repair 

Daily All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

Graffiti:  check for graffiti, and rapid 
removal 

Daily All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

Lights:  external flood / security lighting 
– operative  

Daily  / 
Monthly / 
Annually 

Visitor Services staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Sept 2014 Sept 2015 

Tamper:  telephone wires (including 
manhole) / CCTV – tamper check 

Annually  ADT Fire & Securities Visitor Services 
Officer  

Jan 2014 Jan 2015 

Attempts:  check windows, doors, bars 
etc for attempts to force/cut 

Daily All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

Glazing:  check of all glazing for damage 
and rapid repair  

Daily Visitor Services staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

P
age 170



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 7

Internal Maintenance Checklist 
 

 Frequency 
of check 

Check conducted 
by: 

Who is 
responsible for 
ensuring checks 
done? 

Date  of 
last check 

Date next 
check due 

Pipes:  water pipe systems for leaks / 
inadequate lagging 

Daily All staff  Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

  

Stop Valves:  function and accessibility 
of stop valves (all systems) 

Monthly / 
Annually 

All staff 
responsible for 
buildings 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

September 
2014 

September 
2015 

Flow Meters:  function of flow meters / 
controllers 

Daily / 6 
monthly 

All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

July 2014  January 
2015 

Drain-down Points:  function and access 
to all wet systems 

Daily / 6 
monthly 

All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

July 2014  January 
2015 

Water Ingress:  cellar / basement / roof 
space for signs of water penetration 

Daily in 
winter / 
Monthly 

All staff  Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Sept  2014 Ongoing 

Drains:  function of internal drains / 
sewers for blockages 

Monthly All staff  Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager  

Sept  2014 Ongoing 

Sumps:  function of sump water 
detectors and pumps 

     

Heating Systems:  servicing and check Annually MES Midland 
Electrical Services  

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

May 2014 May 2015 

Circuit Breakers:  function and access 

 

Annually MES Midland 
Electrical Services 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

May 2014 May 2015 

P
age 171



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 8

 
 
 
 

Frequency 
of check 

Check conducted 
by: 

Who is 
responsible for 
ensuring checks 
done? 

Date  of 
last check 

Date next 
check due 

Electrical test of circuits: Annually MES Midland 
Electrical Services 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

May 2014 May 2015 

Electrical Appliances:  servicing and 
check 
 

Annual PAT 
Test 

Past Ltd 

 

Tamworth 
Borough Council 

Feb / 
March 
2014 

Feb / 
March 
2015 

Gas Appliances:  servicing and check 
HOLLOWAY LODGE ONLY 

Annual 
service of 
boiler 

PH Jones  

(Non- contract) 

Tamworth 
Borough Council 

August  
2014 

August 
2015 

Fire-Breaks:  integrity of doors and 
partitions (including roof void) 

Fire door only in CNS5 

 ADT Fire & 
Securities 

Visitor Services 
Officer 

Oct 2014 Ongoing / 
Next event 

Fire Detection:  alarm / emergency 
lighting, servicing, and check 

Quarterly ADT Fire & 
Securities  

Tamworth 
Borough Council 

May 2014 May 2015 

Fire Fighting Equipment:  servicing and 
check (includes sprinklers) 

Annual Green Compliance Tamworth 
Borough Council 

July 2014 July 2015 

Flammable Items / COSHH:  storage 
regime adherence 

Annual Health & Safety 
Advisor / Castle 
COSHH Assessor 

Tamworth 
Borough Council 

Oct  2014 Oct  2015 

Fire Escapes:  servicing and check of 
emergency lighting 

Monthly Castle staff / MES Tamworth 
Borough Council 

May 2014 May 2015 

Security Systems: servicing and check 
(intruder, panic and case alarms / CCTV) 

Annually ADT Fire & 
Securities 

Tamworth 
Borough Council 

March 
2014 

March 
2015 

P
age 172



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 9

 

 

Frequency 
of check 

Check conducted 
by: 

Who is 
responsible for 
ensuring checks 
done? 

Date  of 
last check 

Date next 
check due 

Evacuation Drills:  held Annually All staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Dec 2013 Dec 2014 

Display Check:  shelved objects 
‘walking’ within cases / open displays 

Daily / 
Quarterly 
with Pest / 
Environment 
monitoring 

Visitor Services 
staff / Collections 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Oct 2014 Jan 2015 

Pest Check:  evidence of visible 
deterioration (eg dross, droppings) 

Quarterly /  

IPM 

Collections Officer 
/ volunteers 

Collections Officer 
/ Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Oct  2014 Jan 2015 

P
age 173



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

10

Power Failure Checklist 
 
38. A failure of the electrical power-supply is possible, which can affect appliances, 

timing devices and collections. 
39. Intruder and fire detection systems: 

a. Castle – ADT Fire & Security. Fire / Intruder alarms. 
 Fire break door in CNS5 / Emergency lighting – battery back up  
      3 hours. 
b. Holloway Lodge – ADT Fire & Security. Fire / Intruder alarms. 

Emergency lighting – battery back up 3 hours. 
c. Stables – Emergency lighting only - battery back up 3 hours. 
d. No 44 Amington store - ADT Fire & Security. Fire / Intruder alarms 
 Emergency lighting – battery back up 3 hours. 

40. Equipment in use: 
a. Castle – alarms / service tills / glass gates - barriers / IT equipment / 

CCTV / hand radios chargers / heating / appliances / interactives / video 
projection / virtual tour. 

b. Holloway Lodge – ADT Fire & Security alarms / IT equipment / heating / 
lighting. 

c. No 44 Amington store - ADT Fire & Security alarms/ lighting / office 
heating. 

41. Time switches: 
a. Castle – external perimeter lights / heating / virtual tour. 
b. Holloway Lodge – external archway light timer / heating. 
c. No 44 Amington store – not applicable. 

42. Time settings: 
a. Castle – external perimeter lights / heating / virtual tour. 
b. Holloway Lodge – external archway light timer / heating. 
c. No 44 Amington store – not applicable. 

 
Staff Awareness Checklist 

 
43. Staff knowledge and familiarity of the following equipment and procedures is to 

be checked according to the information detailed in the checklist below. 
      Access information for each building is provided. 
44. These are refresher checks – the initial training in each should be part of the 

routine induction given to new staff.   
45. It is especially important that a known routine / staff handover information for the 

control of workmen on site is recognised by all staff - how they will learn that work 
is taking place, how workmen will be introduced and identified, the extent of the 
area where they will have cause to be (including the arrangements for breaks, 
external smoking areas and toilets), and who, from both Tamworth Castle and 
contractor sides, will be overseeing them.  If 'hot work' (eg use of blow lamps) is 
anticipated, all those involved must be briefed on the risks and the special 
procedures to be followed (see further reading, ‘Heritage under Fire’; this volume 
includes an example of a Hot Work Permit).   

 

Page 174



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 11

Castle Staff Awareness Checklist

 

 

Frequency 
of 
knowledge 
check: 

Who checks 
knowledge? 

Who is 
responsible for 
ensuring checks 
are carried out? 

Last check 
done: 

Next check 
due: 

Different Alarm Sounds Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

March 2014 March 2015 

Location of Alarm Points Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

March 2014 March 2015 

Location of Fire Fighting 
Equipment  

Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Sept 2014 Sept 2015 

Fire Extinguisher Types Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Sept  2014 Sept 2015 

Fire Drill Procedure Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

Dec 2014 Dec  2015 

Bomb Threat Procedure Annually Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

March 2014 March 2015 

Control of Workmen on site Annually / 
Ongoing 

Visitor Services 
Officer / Castle staff 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

March 2014 March 2015 

Visitor Signing-in / ID Procedure Annually / 
Ongoing 

All Castle staff Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

March 2014 March 2015 

First Aid Refresher Annually / 
Twice a year 

Visitor Services 
Officer 

Heritage & Visitor 
Services Manager 

August – 
Oct 2013 

Oct 2016 

P
age 175



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

12

Advisory and Familiarisation Visits 
 
46. Tamworth Castle’s contacts in the following professions are: 
 

a.  Fire Safety Officer  

Name: Ashley Mather 

Rank: Fire Safety Assistant 

Address: 
 
 
 
 
 
Email: 

Tamworth Area Command 
Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Service 
Lichfield Fire Station 
Birmingham Road, Lichfield 
Staffordshire WS13 6HU 
 
ashley.mather@staffordshire.gov.uk 

Telephone 
number: 

 
01785 898752 

Date last visited: 
 
Not applicable 

Date next due: Not applicable 

 
b. Local Fire Station Commander 

Tamworth has two fire stations, Marlborough Way and Lichfield Road. The 
Lichfield Road station has a retained element.  The common point of contact 
between them is the Station Manager.  The Station Commanders contact the 
Castle on an annual basis, sometimes more frequently to request 
familiarisation visits by the various watches, particularly when new staff join. 

Name: Simon Craythorne 

Rank: Station Manager 

  
Address:                               
 
 

Tamworth Community Fire Station 
Marlborough Way 
Belgrave               +  Lichfield Road  
Tamworth                 Tamworth 
B77 2NW                   (Retained station) 

 
Telephone number: 01785 898020 

 

Location Date last 
visited 

Reason for visit Officer in charge 

Marlborough 
Way 

 

Sept 2014 Risk 
Assessment / 
Familiarisation 
visit 

Matt Wall 

Mobile 07764 
500004 

Lichfield 
Road 

February 
2015  

Risk 
Assessment / 
Familiarisation 
visit 

 

 

Page 176



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

13

 
c. Crime Prevention Officer 

Name: Mr Simon O'Brien 

Rank: Crime Reduction Officer 

Address: 
 
 
 

Staffordshire Police 
Tamworth Station 

Telephone 
number: 

0300 123 4455 
 

Date last visited: 
Castle: June 2012 
Stores: June 2012 

Date next due: 
Castle: June 2015 
Stores: June 2015 

 
 

d. Environmental Health Officer 

Name : Name: Stephen Lewis 

Address: 
 
 
 

Head of Environmental Health  
Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street,  
Tamworth B79 7BZ 

Telephone 
number: 

01827 709 437 
07528 630 030 
 

Date last visited: Not applicable 

Date next due: Not applicable 

 
   

e. Health & Safety Advisor 

Name: 

Steven Langston 
Health & Safety Manager /  
Jason Hodges  
Health & Safety Advisor 

Address: 
 
 
 

 
Human Resources Team 
Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street,  
Tamworth B79 7BZ 
 

Telephone 
number: 
 
Mobile number:         

01827 709 224 (Tamworth) 
01543 308107 (Lichfield) 
01543 308 114 (Lichfield) 
07980 919 083 
 

Date last visited: October 2014 

Date next due: October 2015 

 

Page 177



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

14

f. Insurance (Buildings) 

Name: Paul Weston 

Rank: Head of Asset Management 
 

Address: 
 
 
 

Property Services 
Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street 
Tamworth  B79 7 BZ 
 

Telephone 
number: 

01827 709 377 

Date last visited: Not applicable 

Date next due: Not applicable 

 
g. Insurance (Contents) 

Name: Roger Bennett 

Rank: Operations Accountant  
 

Address: 
 
 
 

Financial Services 
Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street 
Tamworth  B79 7BZ 
 

Telephone 
number: 

01827 709 246 

Date last visited: Not applicable 

Date next due: Not applicable 

 
Insurance Policy/Cover 
 

Buildings: Please refer to Tamworth Borough Council Property Services.  
Contents:  Zurich Municipal. Please refer to Tamworth Borough Council  
Financial Services. 
 
Contents Valuation 
 
The general contents are covered on all risks by Zurich Municipal for up to £1,000.000 
(one million pounds). See above.  Valuations are assumed to be for restoration (where 
possible) rather than replacement in line with Birmingham Museum hub procedures. 
Specified furniture on loan from the Victoria & Albert Museum, London, is covered 
separately on all risks for £71,900 (seventy one thousand, nine hundred pounds).  
See above. 
 
Fire Risk Assessment 
 
Castle -  please refer to separate Fire Log book (and risk assessments) 
Holloway Lodge -  please refer to separate Fire Log book (and risk assessments) 
No.44 Amington store- please refer to separate Fire Log book (and risk assessments) 
 

Page 178



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

15

 
SECTION TWO - Emergency Preparedness 

 
Emergency Management Team 
 

47. In the event of a large incident, staff will be allocated roles in order to 
manage the incident. It is important that tasks are delegated and split up to 
prevent one person trying to manage the entire operation. 

48. Obviously in the event of a small incident, it will not be necessary to 
activate the entire plan, and the entire Emergency Management Team.  

49. The senior member of staff on duty takes the role of Emergency       
Response Co-ordinator, they will assess whether to involve other members 
of EMT. Sequential roles will be taken by other members of staff. 

50. Out of hours the first person on site will take the role of Emergency 
Response Co-ordinator.  Sequential roles will be taken by other members of 
staff as they arrive on site. 

51. The response mechanism detailed in Section 3 details the EMT roles. 
52. If a senior manager is unavailable, a deputy should fill in.  
53. The Emergency Management Team roles are: 

Emergency Response Co-ordinator  or  Deputy  

• Role:  Incident co-ordination and overall site manager. Co-ordinates 
response; liaises with outside services; deals with suppliers and 
governing body; communication and team liaison; takes overview. 
See Section 3 page 40 onwards for more detail. 

Building Recovery Manager  or  Deputy  

• Role:  Deals with the cutting edge of the incident; facilitates 
recovery in a practical sense; providing logistical support and 
ensuring that the building is accessible and secure. See Section 3 
page 41 onwards for more detail.  

Salvage Manager  or Deputy  

• Role:  To stabilise the collection, arrange and carry out the salvage 
operation for the damaged items from the incident, including 
salvage, moving, sorting and treatment.  See Section 3 page  
41 for more detail  

Service continuity / PR  or Deputy  

• Role:  Considers the needs of people, to control the flow of 
information about the incident to interested parties, including 
members of the public, Friends of the museum and the press.  To try 
to restore the Museum’s service as soon as possible. See Section 3 
page 41 for more detail. 

Other contracted / casual staff will be required to assist, particularly with 
salvage and moving damaged items.  

       Emergency Response Network (ERN) West Midlands might need to be  
       contacted and assistance requested from other local museums and peer 
       staff. 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 179



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

16

 
54. The structure of the Emergency Management Team is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Emergency Grab Packs 
 

55. There are three Grab pack boxes stored at the following locations: 
       Castle: in alarm cupboard – for Holloway Lodge or Amington Store. 
       Holloway Lodge: in alarm cupboard – for the Castle or Amington Store. 
       Town Hall:  in the entrance hall – for Castle, Holloway Lodge, or Amington   
       Store.  
      They contain: 

a. Copy of the emergency plan 
b. The Castle list of staff, volunteers and other workers  
c. EMT role packs. 
d. The Castle floor plans and location lists locating priority items levels 1 & 2, 

evacuation routes and master turn-off switches for electricity, gas and water. 
e. (Spare keys are kept in the Castle for other sites and spare keys for the 

Castle are kept in the black key box in Holloway Lodge) 
f. A co-ordinator log book to record all actions undertaken 
g. A disposable camera to record significant actions 

  Black plastic bin liners 
  Dust pan & brush 
  Jumbo sponge 
  4 x Torches with batteries 
  All purpose cloths (blue & white) 

Governing Body 
(Tamworth Borough 

Council) (TBC) 

Emergency 
Response  

Co-ordinator (ERC) 

Building Recovery 
Manager (BRM) 

 

Emergency Response Team 

(ERT) / 
Emergency Response Network 

(ERN) 

Salvage Manager  
(SM) 

Service Continuity 
Manager (SCM) 

Page 180



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

17

  2 x packs of rubber gloves 
  2 x packs of non-latex gloves 
  2 x pairs of cotton gloves 
  4 x pairs of vinyl gloves 
  Pack of paper hand towels 
  Wide masking tape 
  Duck tape 
  Hazard tape (red & white) 
  Pack of screwdrivers 
  Set of allen keys 
  Retractable craft knife 
  Scissors 
  Ruler 
  Eraser 
  Ball of string 
  Clipboard 
  Marker pen 
  Pens  
  Pencils 
  Notepads 
  Envelope of large labels 
  Pack of re-sealable bags 
 

56. The Collections Officer is responsible for checking the Grab pack  contents. 
57. The Grab pack contents were last checked August 2014.  They are to be 
checked every six months and therefore are due to be checked next on 
February 2015. 

58. Tamworth Castle has access to the following additional emergency 
equipment: 

Equipment Location 

Generators TBC Street Scene 
/ Plant hire 

Sandbags TBC Street Scene 
/ Plant hire / Flat sandbags 

Emergency Lighting / Halogen 
outdoor working lights 

Elanor Hazlehurst (Assembly Rooms) 
07891 052194  or 07793 963780 

Dehumidifiers Andrew Sykes 
0800 211 611  or ERN 

Fans / Air movers Andrew Sykes 
0800 211 611  or ERN 

Crates / boxes Amington store / Stables store  
 

Submersible pumps Andrew Sykes 
0800 211 611 or ERN 

Wet vacs ERN - Emergency Response Network 
(West Midlands) 

Trolley / sack barrows Castle / Stables store / Street Scene 
 

Folding tables Castle  or  Elanor Hazlehurst 
(Assembly Rooms) 07891 052194 or 
07793 963780 
 

Page 181



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

18

Herras fencing TBC Street Scene 
/ Plant hire 

Tarpaulin TBC Street Scene / Plant hire 
/ ERN 

 
Some of the above items may also be available through hire companies, depending 
on the extent of the emergency, or whether it is a localised emergency or 
nationwide. 
 
 

Andrews Sykes Hire Ltd. 
Unit 54 

Gravelly Industrial Park 
Tyburn Road 
Birmingham 

B24 8TQ 
Tel: 0121 3595651 
or  
0800 211 611  24hr line 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 182



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

19

Priority Lists and Locations – Castle 
 
Priority Level One 

59. These items must be salvaged as a matter of highest priority. 
       Photographs of these items and their locations are shown on the  
       floor plans, on the following laminated pages. 
 

Floor  Item  Location  

First - North side 
 

V& A cupboard 
LOAN 

CNS 6 – 2nd bay 
window (Dining Rm) 

First - North side 
 

V& A cupboard 
LOAN 

CNS 6 - 2nd bay 
window (Dining Rm) 

First - North side 
 

V& A chest  (small) 
LOAN 

CNS 6  - 2nd bay 
window (Dining Rm) 

First - North side 
 

Portrait painting 
LOAN 

CNS 6 - 2nd bay 
window (Dining Rm) 

First - North side Chair 
LOAN 

CNS 7 (Day Parlour) 

First - North side 
 

Chair  CNS 7 (Day Parlour) 

First - North side 
 

V&A Box chair 
LOAN 

CNS 7 (Day Parlour) 

First - North side 
 

V&A Banquet (three tier 
sideboard) LOAN 

CNS 7 (Day Parlour) 

First - North side 
 

V&A Dining chair 
LOAN 

CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

First - North side V&A stool 
LOAN 

CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

First - North side V&A stand & desk 
LOAN 

CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

First - North side V&A four poster bed. 
To be covered over. 
LOAN 

CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

   

First - South side 
 
PRIORITY 

V&A dummy board 
(2D figure of a small 
boy) LOAN 

CSS 1 (Georgian Rm) 
 

First – South  side 
 

V&A Dining chair 
LOAN 

CSS 9 (Oak Room) 

First – South side 
 

V&A Dining chair 
LOAN 

CSS 9 (Oak Room) 

First – South side 
 

V&A Dining chair 
LOAN 

CSS 9 (Oak Room) 

First – South side V&A  gate leg round 
table. LOAN 

CSS9 (Oak Room) 

First - South side V&A small beige 
upholstered settee. 
LOAN 

CSS11 (Withdrawing 
Rm) 

First - South side V&A Brass fire fender in 
three parts. 
LOAN 

CSS11 (Withdrawing 
Rm) 

Page 183



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

20

   

Second – North 
side 

Wardrobe CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

Second – North 
Side 

Portrait - female CNS10 (Ladies 
chamber) 

 
 
Priority Level Two  

60. These items must be salvaged after Priority Level One.  
      Photographs of these items and their locations are shown on the  
     floor plans, on the following laminated pages. 

 

Floor  Item  Location  

First - South side Portrait - male CSS9 (Oak Room) 

First - South side Portrait – female CSS9 (Oak Room) 

First - South side Portrait – female with 
baby 

CSS9 (Oak Room) 

First - South side Long case clock CSS9 (Oak Room) 

First - South side Long case clock CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

First - South side Portrait – male CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

First - South side Portrait – female CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

First - South side Landscape / Castle CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

First - South side Oval fire screen CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

First – South side Four leaf black room 
screen 

CSS11 (Withdrawing Rm) 

Second - South 
side 

Rosewood table CSS3 (Nursery) 

Second - South 
side 

Doll’s bazaar (on top 
of above table) 

CSS3 (Nursery) 

Second – South 
side 

Portrait – female CSS6 Cooke’s bedroom 
(Currently in CSS3 
cupboard) 

Second – South 
side 

Portrait - female child  CSS6 Cooke’s bedroom 
(Currently in CSS3 
cupboard) 

Second – South 
side 

Contents of 
Medieaval 
display cabinet 

CNS9 (Tamworth Story) 

Second – South 
side 

Portrait – male on 
horseback 

CNS9 (Tamworth Story) 

Second - South 
side 

Contents of Peel 
display cabinet 

CNS9 (Tamworth Story) 

Second – South  
Side 

Contents of Civic 
display case 

CNS9 (Tamworth Story) 

 
Other materials 

61. After the salvage of priority level one and two, all other items must be 
salvaged on the basis of how badly damaged they are and how quickly they 
are likely to develop mould. The salvage strategy decisions will be made by 
the Emergency Response Co-ordinator and Salvage Manager based on the 
type and scale of incident.  

Page 184



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

21

Emergency Plan copies location list 
 

1 Master copy 
 

Holloway Lodge HL1 Shelf E1 

2 Castle copy 
 

Castle Staff room 

3 Castle Grab box copy 
 

Castle Alarm cupboard 

4 Holloway Lodge Grab box copy 
 

Holloway Lodge Alarm cupboard 

5 Town Hall Grab box copy 
 

Entrance hallway 

6 Store copy No. 44 Amington Store office 
 

7 Security Manager copy 
 

Tamworth Borough Council,  Marmion House  

8 Fire Brigade copy 
 

Tamworth Community Fire Station 
Marlborough Way, Belgrave, Tamworth 
(Details are scanned to fire appliance on 
board computers) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photographs & floor plans: 
 
Following pages - laminated - in Castle Priority Lists section. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 185



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

22

Location Information for Tamworth Castle 
 
General Location Map 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For TAMCM store at Amington see Appendix 4 - 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

23

General Location Instructions for Tamworth Castle: 
 
Large vehicles:  
From the A51 Lichfield  
Follow the Lichfield Road to the island, take the fourth exit into onto Tame Drive. At the next island 
take the second exit onto Riverdrive, keeping in the left lane. At the next island take the first exit. At 
the next island take the first exit into Bolebridge Street and first left into George Street, paved 
pedestrian area with bollards follow this up until you see a division of the paved area with a 
building in the middle, the Town Hall, keeping to the left of this, park near the small bridge on the 
left. 
 
From the M42 junction 10 
Follow the A5 (also signed A51) and exit at the Tamworth junction. 
Follow the steep curve round to the first island and take the third exit.  At the next island take the 
third exit onto Riverdrive keeping in the left lane. At the next island take the first exit. At the next 
island take the first exit into Bolebridge Street and first left into George Street, paved pedestrian 
area with bollards follow this up until you see a division of the paved area with a building in the 
middle, the Town Hall, keeping to the left of this, park near the small bridge on the left. 
 
From the M42 junction 11 / B5493 Ashby de la Zouch 
From the A513 Burton on Trent / Alrewas road 
Follow Upper Gungate down to the traffic lights, with Kwik Fit ahead, remaining in the left lane and 
bearing left onto Offa Drive. At the next island take the second exit onto Saxon Drive. At the next 
island take the third exit and at the second island take the first exit into Bolebridge Street and first 
left into George Street, paved pedestrian area with bollards follow this up until you see a division of 
the paved area with a building in the middle, the Town Hall, keeping to the left of this, park near the 
small bridge on the left 
 
Smaller vehicles 
From the A51 Lichfield  
Follow the Lichfield Road to the island, take third exit on to Lichfield Street. Follow this road to the 
traffic lights to turn right. Turn right into Silver Street, follow the road down past the Castle Hotel on 
the left, and turn in at the lodge gateway / or passed the gateway to the bollards at the end before 
the bridge. 
 
From the M42 junction 10 
Follow the A5 (also signed A51) and exit at the Tamworth junction. 
Follow the steep curve round to the first island,  take the third exit keeping MacDonald's on left.  
At the next island, take second exit onto Tame Drive. At the next island take fourth exit on to 
Lichfield Street. 
Follow this road to the traffic lights to turn right into Silver Street. Follow the road down past the 
Castle Hotel on the left, and turn in through the lodge gateway. 
 
From the M42 junction 11 / B5493 Ashby de la Zouch 
From the A513 Burton on Trent / Alrewas road 
Follow Upper Gungate down to the traffic lights, with Kwik Fit ahead, keep in the far right lane. 
Follow the road down past the BP fuel garage on the left. At the next traffic lights go straight 
ahead. At the next set of traffic lights go ahead and left, into Silver Street. Follow this road down 
past the Castle Hotel on the left, and turn in at the lodge gateway / or passed the gateway to the 
bollards at the end before the bridge. 

Page 187



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

24
 

Site Plan 

Page 188



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

25

Building Plans 

Page 189



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

26

 
 

 

Page 190



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

27

Instructions for Turning Off Utility Supplies – CASTLE 
 
Water system (Stop Cock):  Back cellar, in left wall arch. 
Water pressure system.       Back cellar, in left wall arch (see Hydro folder)  
 
Electricity:  Main breaker in Alarm cupboard  
           North Stairs first floor - in Tamworth Story breaker cupboard  
                    South Stairs breaker in cupboard on Cooke’s bedroom landing 
                    South Stairs by Withdrawing room door on landing.   
          ALL REQUIRE KEYS 
 
Alarm Reset Instructions: on sheet in Alarm cupboard 
 
 
 
 

GAS: ONLY APPLICABLE TO HOLLOWAY LODGE 
 
 
 
 
 

Instructions for Turning Off Utility Supplies – HOLLOWAY LODGE 
See Appendix 3 
 

Instructions for Turning Off Utility Supply (Electric only) – STABLES STORE 
See Appendix 3 
 

Instructions for Turning Off Utility Supplies – No. 44 AMINGTON STORE  
See Appendix 3  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

28

Locations for Recovery Operation  

 
Primary location                 Secondary location 

Assembly Area. 
Where people will gather 
when called in for Castle 
emergency  

Town Hall / Holloway Lodge Holloway  Lodge / Town Hall 
/ Marmion House 

Control Point. 
Private, with phones and IT 
For Castle emergency 

Town Hall / Holloway Lodge Holloway Lodge / Town Hall 
/ Marmion House 

Rest Area  
Preferably with kettle and 
kitchenette 
For Castle emergency 

Town Hall / Holloway Lodge Holloway Lodge / Town Hall 
/ Marmion House 

First Aid Point  
 
For Castle emergency 

Town Hall / Holloway Lodge 
/ Marmion House 

Holloway Lodge / Town Hall 
/ Marmion House 

Sorting Area  
Large area in central 
location  
For Castle emergency 

Castle Grounds near 
Stables if possible 

 

Storage for unaffected 
material. 
For Castle emergency 
Secure area 

No.44 Amington Store  Any available neighbouring 
unit at Amington Industrial 
Estate 

Treatment area. 
Large area with good 
ventilation 
For Castle emergency 

Stables   

Packing area  
 
For Castle emergency 

Stables  

Contractor parking  
 
For Castle emergency 

Holloway Lodge / Castle 
grounds  

Holloway Pay & Display car 
park 
Jolly Sailor car park  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 192



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

29

SECTION THREE - Emergency Response 
 
Emergency Plan Summary 
 

62. If you discover any threat to the collections or buildings during or outside 
of office hours please contact the following staff - in this order-  for 
immediate assistance and call the Emergency Services on (9)999 if 
necessary. 

63. Our location details are:  See under Maps, Plans & Floor plans 
64. Our emergency assembly point is: Holloway Lodge / Town Hall  (where 

applicable) 

Name  Internal  Home  Mobile  

Sarah Williams 
Collections Officer 
 

01827 709 631 01827 790 408 07800 677 320 / 
07713 438 069 

Linda Baker 
Education & Events Officer 
 

01827 709 632 01543 426 924 07708 027 577 

Louise Troman  
Heritage & Visitor Services 
Manager 
 

01827 709 630 01543 250 795 07528 630 013 

 
Visitor Services Officer 
 
 

   

Neil Mason 
Head of Community Leisure 
(Communities, Planning & 
Partnerships) 

Work:  
01827 709 568 

Home:  
01827 706 871 
To be 
contacted by 
the ERC 

Mobile:  
07891 052 163       

Robert Mitchell 
Corporate Director, 
(Communities, Planning & 
Partnerships) 

Work:  
01827 709 616 

Home:  
01509 412 831 
To be 
contacted by 
the ERC 

Mobile: 
07773 792 489   

 
 
 

   

 
65. In the event of a fire, or direct lightning strike the alarm will sound and you 
should assist with evacuating the building.  See page 30 / 31 

66. In the event of a flood, see page 31 / 32.  If there are electrical appliances or 
outlets near the water, do not approach or stand in water – electrocution 
hazard.   

67. Utility supplies, instructions for turning off are on page 27 / Appendix 4-6. 
68. Neighbouring property contact numbers are on page 43. 
69. Maps and floor plans, are on pages 24 – 26.       
70. Risk & Incident Assessment / Damage Record forms -  Appendix 10 - 12 
71. A risk assessment must be undertaken before any salvage operation can 
begin. Appendix 10 - 12 

72. Health & Safety advice is on page 37– 38   

Page 193



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

30

73. Priority Salvage items, lists and locations are on pages 19 – 20   
74. Salvage Suppliers- Appendix 8 / Salvage Guidelines- Appendix 9 
75. Emergency Accommodation, details are available through Tamworth 
Information Centre (TIC) on page 43. 

76. Equipment, services, facilities and suppliers - pages 17 - 18; 45 – 59      
77. Grab box equipment to assist with salvage,  and EMT role packs are 
available in these locations: 
a. Castle 
b. Holloway Lodge 
c. Town Hall 

78. Full copies of this Emergency Plan can be found in the following locations. 
a. Castle  
b. Holloway Lodge 
c. Town Hall 
d. Security Manager, Marmion House, Tamworth Borough Council. 

79. If you are contacted to assist with salvage, out of office hours, please 
remember to bring some cash, ID, house keys, your mobile, warm clothes 
and stout shoes, glasses rather than contacts, a drink in a flask and 
something to eat, and any torches or useful equipment you may have at 
home. 

80. Do not talk to the press upon arrival.  For press release see page 46. 
 

UTILITIES  
 

Alarm company  ADT Fire & Alarm Company 

Water company  South Staffs Water 

Gas company (Holloway Lodge ONLY) British Gas 

Grid Power supply Western Power Distribution  

Electric Substation (bottom of slope) Western Power Distribution  

Electricity provider British Gas 

Lightning conductors Omega Red Group Ltd 

Facilities Management Tamworth Borough Council 

Telephone Telewest / Orange / BT 

Local Hire Shop  A Plant Hire / Gulliver’s 

See Key Contacts Info on page 47 - 55  Appendix 7 for contact details for all the above 
and other specialist contacts. 
 
Alarm Raising Procedures 
 
During Opening Hours - FIRE - OR DIRECT LIGHTNING STRIKE 

81. The fire alarm should go off automatically. If not RAISE ALARM immediately 
- break the glass of the nearest fire point 

82. Commence evacuation of building  
83. Only tackle a small fire if you have had training, feel confident enough and 
are sure of which type of extinguisher to use. If efforts are not immediately 
successful, leave building at once.  

84. Fire Warden, in Reception only who will be identified by a reflective tabard  
with “Fire Warden” on it should direct visitors to the Assembly Point,  
which is the Castle Grounds Bandstand, and ensure procedures for 
disabled people are followed. 

Page 194



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

31

85.  Fire Marshals will sweep building - feel for heat with back of hand and use 
foot to safeguard door if opening towards you, including a thorough check 
of toilets / stores / hiding places. 

86. Doors should be closed where possible as the building is swept. 
87. Never allow the fire to come between you and the exit. 
88. Do not break windows unless you have no other option – oxygen will feed 
the fire.  

89. A telephone call to 999 should be made from the assembly point outside 
the building to ensure that emergency services are on their way (do not 
delay your exit to collect a mobile telephone). 

90. A register of all staff should be taken at the muster point using the staff 
register and visitors book by the Fire Warden.   

91. Only re-enter the building when the Fire and Rescue Services and EMT 
have confirmed it is safe to do so.  

92. Contact the Castle Management team (contact details available in the 
summary plan).  

93. The Fire Warden and Duty Manager should liaise with the Fire and Rescue 
Services until the arrival of the Emergency Response Co-ordinator.  

94.  In the event of a direct lightning strike to the building the above 
procedures should be followed and the Fire and Rescue Services should 
attend to check that there are no areas of damage or hidden smouldering in 
the building. 

95. The Duty Manager, or an EMT member should check all 8 lightning 
conductors on the outside walls, and those coming down into the courtyard 
for any visible scorch damage, when it is safe to do so  

     following the storm, or if it is thought an area might be smouldering.  
96. Alarms will require a re-set from ADT Fire & Alarm Securities and all 
electrical equipment in use at the time should be checked, such as 
telephone lines, computers, tills, entrance gates, timed devices, and 
interactive technology to ensure they are still working. 

 
During Opening Hours – FLOOD / LEAK / WATER INCURSION 

97. Alert the Castle Management staff.  
98. If the leak is localised and Castle Management are more than 5 minutes 
away, then take action to contain its spread before their arrival. 

99. If there are electrical appliances or outlets near the leak, do not approach or 
stand in standing water – electrocution hazard.  

      Isolate power in that area and undertake a risk assessment.  
 100. Attempt to ascertain the source of the water and deal with if possible. 
       (e.g. turn off stop cock, turn off tap etc).  
       Sources may include water pipes in the toilets, boiler / under floor heating  
       system in cupboard in Ladies; water pipes / boiler in staff room; water  
       pipes and water pressure system in Back Cellar. See Folder. 
101.  If large quantities of water are escaping, the Fire and Rescue / Emergency 
    Plumber should be contacted. See contact details page 46  
102. Try to direct the flow of water away from collections with polythene 

sheeting, or contain the spread of water with absorbent materials, mops, or 
wet vacs if available.  

103. Protect collections in danger of becoming wet, but not yet wet – move or 
shield with polythene sheets. Check adjacent areas for water ingress.  

104. Await the arrival of the Castle Management or EMT. Do not commence 
removal of wet objects or air-drying without authorisation.  

Page 195



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

32

105. The Castle Management / EMT will advise on the next steps upon arrival.  
 
 
During Opening Hours – RIVER WATER /  FLOOD WARNING 
The Castle building is not at risk, due to its elevated location, from river / ground water 
flooding. The area around the Castle, the grounds, car parks and Holloway Lodge could be 
at risk from high river / ground water flooding, and it is this that would need to be managed 
to ensure that visitors and staff are able to safely leave the area. 

106. Alert the Castle Management / EMT. 
107. Evacuate Castle and grounds, and car parks of visitors.  
108. Contact Floodline 0845 988 1188 or  

www.environment-agency.gov.uk/floodline for authoritative advice.  
109. Immediate actions to be taken by Castle Management or EMT / 
  Tamworth Borough Council / Ankerside Security who will advise on  
areas of flooding.  

110. Turn off gas, electricity, and water supplies at mains in Holloway Lodge 
(do not reconnect after flooding until checked by accredited person). 

111. Unplug all electrical items and move to higher area. 
112. Move priorities offsite/ higher ground / up a floor level. 
113. Limit entry of water with sandbags / plywood or metal sheeting on   

outside doors, window frames and airbricks until waters recede.  Use a 
 silicone sealant to increase resistance 

114. Empty items stored at lower levels. 
115. Raise items on bricks / blocks / pallets. 
116. Leave internal doors open 
117. Weight items down that cannot be moved / tie together  
118. Move kit / emergency plan / catalogues offsite 
119. Arrange for overnight security.   
120. Put plugs in sinks, lid down on toilets and weigh down with heavy 

 object.  
121. Weigh down manhole covers 
122. Move any dangerous chemicals or objects which may further  
       contaminate flood waters.  
123. Move away from site to safe area and do not re-enter until directed by 

 Emergency Services.  
 
During Opening Hours – STORM OR HIGH WIND WARNING 

124. Alert the Castle Management / EMT.  
125. Evacuate building of visitors.  
126. Immediate actions to be taken by Management or EMT member, or staff 

working under their direction by phone.  
127. Shut curtains / blinds to contain any flying glass.  
128. Consider boarding windows up if high risk.  
129. Remove or secure any potential objects from the exterior of the 

building which could dislodge. 
130. Turn off gas, electricity, and water supplies at mains (do not reconnect 

 after flooding until checked by accredited person). 
131. Consider moving objects away from windows, doors and walls, or 

 covering with polythene.   
132. Consider moving high priority items off site if sufficient advance  
        warning. 
133. The Castle Management / EMT will advise on further necessary actions.  

Page 196



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

33

 
 
 
During Opening Hours – UTILITY FAILURE 

134. Decision whether to evacuate building will be taken on safety grounds by 
Duty Manager, or the most senior member of staff on site.  

135. Open all blinds / curtains to receive more outside light.  
136. Provide assistance to visitors and staff in your area.  
137. Torches can be found in Emergency Grab boxes located in the alarm 

 cupboards at the Castle, Holloway Lodge, and  in the Town Hall hallway  
       by the stairs. 
138. If you are in an unlighted area, go cautiously to an area that has 

 emergency lighting.  
139. If the telephones  / mobiles are working, report the failure using the 

numbers in Emergency Plan Summary page 30 / Contacts page 47 - 55. 
       WESTERN POWER DISTRIBUTION - TEL: 0330 123 5008 
140. The Castle Management / EMT will advise on further necessary actions  in 

discussion with the Tamworth Borough Council, the governing body.  
141.  Check water pressure system in Back Cellar. Water boilers. Under floor 

 heating system in cupboard in Ladies toilets. See Folder. 
142. Check glass barriers in Courtyard. See Folder. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

34

 
 
 
 
During Opening Hours – GAS LEAK - HOLLOWAY LODGE ONLY  

143. Evacuate the building and proceed to muster point up the Castle slope 
towards the bandstand. 

144. Do not operate any light switches, other electrical equipment or use a 
 mobile phone in the building to avoid danger from explosion. 

145. A call should be made immediately (away from the building) to the 
       National Gas Emergency Helpline on 0800 111 999   

      Provide the address of the site  -  postcode: B79 7NB 
♦ number of people at the property 

♦ how long the smell has been noticeable  

♦ details of any neighbours (especially any with hazardous activities) 

♦  your name and contact number and access information.  
You will be advised of further required actions by the operator and the 
service engineers upon arrival. 

146. Report the discovery immediately to the Duty Manager at the Castle / 
        Visitor Services Staff. 
147. Available members of staff should, where possible ensure that the public   
        do not walk through the Holloway Lodge gateway. 
148. A register of all staff should be taken at the muster point. 

 

During Opening Hours – VANDALISM / THEFT 
149. Remain calm.  
150. Do not engage with the person involved if still on site.   
151. Alert the Collections Officer / Heritage & Visitor Services Manager. 
152. Restrict access to the affected area, including areas where broken 

 objects may have scattered. Use hazard tape from emergency kit.  
153. Do not touch the objects 
154. Alert local security on the Tamworth “Townsafe” radio, taking the 
 radio to a discrete location to do so. 
155. Report the incident to local police non-emergency number  
       0300 123 4455 or (9)999 if the incident escalates. 
156. Duty Manager / senior staff may evacuate the building if scene  
 cannot be controlled.  
157. The Heritage & Visitor Services Manager / Collections Officer will  
 advise on further necessary actions in discussion with the police.  

 

During Opening Hours – NUISANCE / ABUSIVE VISITOR 
158. Examples of anti-social behaviour would include violence, threats, 

 derogatory remarks, excessive foul language, drunkenness, theft 
159. Remain calm and contact a Duty Manager  
160. Additional member of staff to take the Tamworth “Townsafe” radio 

to a discrete location and alert Ankerside Security of the situation,  
and request back up from Street Wardens and / or Police. 

161. Restrict access to affected area. 
162. The visitor should be given a verbal warning as to the unacceptable  

 nature of their behaviour and the expected standards of behaviour.   
163. If the visitor does not amend his / her behaviour, they should be asked  
       to leave and the Street Wardens / Police should be called and the visitor  
        notified of this.  

Page 198



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

35

164. Await the arrival of Street Wardens / Police for the physical removal of  
       the person. Do not engage in physical contact.  
165. The Duty Manager will advise on further necessary actions in 

                 discussion with the Police.  
During Opening Hours – BOMB / SUSPECT PACKAGE 
         165.  See 'Guidance for Dealing with Bombs or Suspect Packages and Security 
                  of Premises' (APPENDIX 1) 
                  Report the discovery immediately to the Duty Manager. 

166.  The Duty Manager  will inspect the suspicious item and contact Police 
 on (9) 999 and take advice as to whether to evacuate building.  

167. If evacuation is recommended, sound the fire alarm.  
168.  Members of staff and public should leave the building in accordance 
         with normal evacuation procedures.  
 169. Await the arrival and instructions of the Fire and Rescue Services / Bomb  

 Disposal Team. 
      
During Opening Hours – MEDICAL INCIDENT  

170. In the event of a medical incident, a member of staff trained in First Aid  
       should be contacted. All contracted staff and visitor services staff are  
        trained in First Aid at Work    
171. Notify the Duty Manager, unless they are the one to respond as a First  
       Aider. 
172. If the nature of the injury or ailment requires an ambulance, then (9)999 
        should be dialled using the nearest phone.  
173. If the nature of the injury or ailment is minor, the member of staff should 
        be either transferred to the A& E department in a staff vehicle or  
       transported home.  
174. For a member of the public an ambulance should be called in any event. 
175.The Duty Manager will advise on any additional actions required.  

 

During Opening Hours – INTERRUPTION TO STAFF COVER 
         176. In the event that the number of staff available at opening time is not  
                 sufficient to maintain security and safety, contact the Heritage & Visitor 

        Services Manager (or in their absence the Line Manager) 
177. Options available will include:  

a. Diverting core management staff to front of house duties  
b. Calling casual staff / volunteer list for assistance (see staff handbook)  
c. Closing some rooms or area.  A decision to close rooms or area 
should only be taken by the Heritage & Visitor Services Manager or 
appointed deputy. 

178. The Heritage & Visitor Services Manager or appointed deputy will advise 
         on any additional actions required.  

 

Outside Opening Hours – IF YOU DISCOVER A PROBLEM WITH THE BUILDING 
179. Do not attempt to enter the building alone, even if you believe the  
        building or holdings to be under threat. Remember that safety is of 
        paramount importance. 
180.Contact the Collections Officer. If you cannot contact them, try 
        the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager, Education and Events Officer,  
        or one of the Casual Visitor Services Officers (in that order) until you  
       receive a response. In the unlikely event that none of the above are  
       available then senior line managers at Tamworth Borough Council  
       should be contacted. 

Page 199



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

36

       Refer to contact details in Emergency Plan summary page 29.  
181.Contact the Fire and Rescue Services if necessary. Liaise with the  
        Fire and Rescue Services upon arrival until a member of the  
       Management team / EMT arrives.  
 
182. Information about priority objects can be found on pages 19 & 20 and  
        building plans are on pages 24 - 27. Provide this information to the  
         Fire and Rescue Services, if they do not already have it  with them,        
        pending the arrival of Management / EMT.  
183. The Management / EMT will take over from you upon arrival.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 200



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

37

 
 
 
 
Outside Opening Hours – IF YOU ARE INFORMED OF A PROBLEM WITH THE  
    BUILDING 

184. Outside of opening hours, a problem with the building is likely to be  
         reported by the alarm / security / first response company, or the Fire 
         and Rescue Services. They hold emergency contact numbers for the  
        Management / EMT and are instructed to contact them in the event of a     
        problem with the building. 
185. ADT call the security / first response company G4S who will attend 
       initially. 

         186. ADT will notify the first contact on their key holder / alarm call out  
                  list 

187. The first contact will assume the role of Emergency Response  
        Coordinator (ERC) until such a time as the other members of staff can  
         arrive on site. 
188. EMT should obtain as much information as possible: 

a. What has happened / Where is the damage / Who is on site / Who has 
been contacted? 

b. Is the normal meeting point okay?  
c. Advise ERC on what to do until you arrive (where to find priority lists, 
liaise with Fire and Rescue Services until your arrival) 

189. Based on information given and time of day / night , the Emergency  
        Response Co-ordinator should decide which other members of the  
        EMT Team to notify.  Due to the small size of the staff team, all staff will 
        usually be required to attend the emergency as soon as possible.  
        Page 29 for contact details of staff.  
190. The ERC should proceed as quickly as possible to the meeting point 
        and make an assessment of the incident as quickly as possible.  
191. Advise those called in of which assembly point to use and to bring: 

d. Money & ID 
e. Keys and mobile phone (with charger if possible) 
f. Warm clothes and stout shoes 
g. Wellington boots and waterproofs 
h. Useful equipment like torches 
i. Glasses rather than contact lenses 
j. Drink in a flask and something to eat 
k. Don’t talk to press on arrival 
l. Equipment they may keep at home 

 

Health and Safety 
 
General points 

192. It is important that Health and Safety is the highest priority in a salvage 
  situation. The aftermath of a fire or flood will be potentially hazardous 
         and it is the responsibility of the EMT to ensure that steps are taken to 
        control the risk of anyone being injured in the course of the work. 
 193. In the event of a major incident, the Fire and Rescue Services will be  
         available to advise and you will be permitted in the building if it is  
         structurally sound. If their presence has not been necessary, advice can 

Page 201



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

38

         be obtained from Steven Langston or Jason Hodges,  Health & Safety   
         Advisors on Mobile: 07980 919 083 or (Lichfield) 01543 308 107 / 01543  
         308 114 or (Tamworth) 01827 709 224, or the local branch of the Health         
        and Safety Executive on (Newcastle under Lyne) 01782 602300. 
         Nobody should re-enter a building until the Senior Emergency Services 
         Officer has given the all clear.  
         Property Assets must check the building first. 
194. The Risk Assessment form, see Appendix 11 should be completed 
         before salvage begins. This will prompt you to look for hazards so that 
         the appropriate precautions can be taken.  
195. Key steps will include:  

m. Ensuring there is no risk from live electricity and water – power 
should be off until supply can be checked by a qualified person.  

n. Clearance of standing water  
o. Provision of suitable personal protective equipment – gloves and 
boots will be a must.  

p. Clearing the floor from debris such as glass and rubble / wood or 
twisted metal  

q. Constant monitoring for signs of mould growth and the issue of 
suitable respirators 

r. Use of equipment to help with manual handling and briefing staff on 
do’s and don’ts (lift from knees, not back etc)  

s. Provision of adequate lighting 
t. Site control and register  
u. Check COSHH files in the Castle for Hazardous substances  
v. Check collections files for Hazardous items(including arrowheads, 
taxidermy, chemicals) 

w. Briefing of staff before they enter site to advise on areas where they 
can and cannot go.  

x. Regular breaks for staff to avoid tiredness and accidents 
 
Emergency Management Team 
 
Incident Assessment and Control 

196. While the Emergency Services remain on site, they remain in control.   
        The Fire & Rescue Service are in control of the interior of the site,  
         while the Police provide an external cordon of control. 
197. On arriving at the emergency scene, the EMT member should: 

a. Get report from first responder ERC 
b. Determine when access will be possible - seek to conduct a site tour as 
soon as possible, use forms in Appendix 10 & 11 

c. Liaise with Emergency Services if present   
d. Discuss priority material  
e. Contact governing body for assistance 
f. Assess the scale and categorise the incident    
g. Call in other EMT staff as necessary and appoint roles (deputies or ERN 
Emergency Response Network - West Midlands to fill in if necessary) 

h. Set up a control point  
198. If access is possible : 

a. EMT members present should conduct a site tour and use forms in 
Appendix 10 – 12 to record damage.  

Page 202



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

39

b. Upon completion of assessment, the salvage strategy should be 
determined.  

c. Each Manager should use their checklists and determine what actions 
are required (see Section 3).  

d. Key actions will include: 
o Access to building / pumping out standing water and 
dehumidify 

o Risk assessment, identification of necessary personal 
protective equipment PPE (gloves, hard hats, safety boots etc) 

o Emergency lighting for affected areas.  
o Arrangement of sorting / temporary storage / emergency 
accommodation 

o Agree areas for work (start with first floor, then ground) 
o Determining priorities for salvage 
o How available personnel can be utilised and to split into teams.   
o Provision of refreshments for personnel 
o What equipment / suppliers will be necessary for the salvage 
operation  

o Whether to contact your insurers. Advice should be sought 
from Tamworth Borough Council Finance team. 

e. Emergency Management Team members should be briefed before 
they started work and provided with appropriate PPE (Personal 
Protective Equipment) as per risk assessments.  

f. Regular rest breaks should be taken.  
g. Emergency Response Co-ordinator, Salvage Manager, Building 
Recovery Manager and PR Manager should meet at regular intervals to 
update on the salvage progress.  

199. If access is not yet possible : 
a. Based on the briefings, prepare response as necessary 
b. Alert suppliers, staff and volunteers, governing body. (Key depositors, 
stakeholders, where necessary)  

c. Prepare equipment and order in more as required 
d. Activate Business Continuity arrangements  
e. Pro-actively liaise with the press 
f. Stand down staff not immediately required or contact ERN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

40

 
 
 
 
 
Emergency Management Team Structure 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidelines for Emergency Response Co-ordinator (ERC)  

200. Role: Incident Co-ordination and Overall Site Manager 
201. Tasks:  

a. Stay in the Control Point and facilitate recovery 
b. Co-ordinate response 
c. Liaises with the Emergency Services 
d. Liaises with Governing body regarding the building  / situation. 
e. Decides on the overall scale of response 
 f. Dictates regularity of meetings and co-ordinates flow of information  
g. Ensures a risk assessment is carried out and area made safe,  
    oversees the safety and care of staff 
h. Arranges for necessary personnel to be contacted 
i.  Manages communications with stakeholders  
j.  General overview with salvage, building and service continuity 
    and operations. 
k. Oversee Health and Safety. 
l.  Call Insurers, (through the TBC Operations Accountant, Roger  
     Bennett, for Contents) or (the TBC Investment Manager, Paul Weston 
     for Buildings). 
m. Manage finance issues via Governing body – paying for supplies,  
     arranging funding. 
n.  Manage calling in suppliers via Governing body.  
o. Contact other institutions for assistance (space, people, equipment,  
    expertise). 
p. The Co-ordinator is to ensure all staff are regularly briefed on  
     progress.   
q.  Clear records are to be kept of the plans and actions undertaken 

Governing Body 
Tamworth Borough 

Council (TBC) 

Emergency Response  
Co-ordinator (ERC) 

Emergency Response 
Team Members 

(EMT) 

Service Continuity 

Manager (SCM) 

Building Recovery 

Manager (BRM) Salvage Manager 
(SM) 

Page 204



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

41

     (this is to include the type of action, reason, times, responsibilities 
     and outcomes).  A log book is provided in each Grab Box, located at  
     the Castle, Holloway Lodge, and the Town Hall.   
r.  Photograph site & salvage operation. 

 
Guidelines for Building Recovery Manager (BRM) 

202. Role: Deals with the cutting edge of the incident, facilitates recovery in a 
                             practical sense, providing logistical support and ensuring that the 

        building is accessible and secure. 
203. Tasks: 

y. Liaise with Salvage Manager (SM) 
z. Provide risk assessment and determine and distribute PPE 
aa. Make salvage area accessible and safe for work as far as possible  
bb. Comprehensive building checks 
cc. Arrange for water to be pumped out etc   
dd. Arrange for utilities to be switched off  
ee. Remove electrical items once power turned off  
ff. Remove wet non-collections material from affected area (carpets, 
furniture etc) 

gg. Protect areas not affected but in danger with polythene sheeting 
hh. Control access to site - set up register.  
ii. Arrange generators, lighting, dehumidifiers  etc 
jj. Provide logistical support to salvage (lifters / shifters - possible ERN 
support)  

kk. Determine requirement for external support – glaziers etc and ask 
TBC to arrange 

ll. Determine risk of secondary damage and take steps to control 
environment (organise dehumidifiers)  

                 mm. Humidity should be below 60%RH 
nn.  Arrange for security of building during recovery operation 
oo.  Recovery of services 

 
Guidelines for Salvage Manager (SM) 

pp. Role: To stabilise the collection, arrange and carry out the salvage   
                operation for the damaged collection items from the incident,  
     including salvage, moving, sorting and treatment. 
qq. Tasks: 

a. Liaise with Building Recovery Manager (BRM) 
b. Set salvage schedule based on agreed priorities 
c. Set up treatment areas with emergency equipment 
d. Establish priorities per floor / damage area and appoint the 
groups working there 

e. Brief all personnel on appropriate handling techniques and the 
do’s and don’ts of salvage.  

f. Start salvage when BRM has made salvage area safe for work.  
g. Set up: 

• Salvage Team  

• Sorting Team  

• Treatment Team  

• Stabilising / Packing Team  
h. Organise the logistics / moving / sites of recovery, salvage, 
packing with BRM – will ERN assistance be required? 

Page 205



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

42

i. What items will be best left in situ (fragile / large) and provide 
in-situ treatment for these (apply principles of air-drying in 
affected area) 

j. Determine the treatment options for all damaged items  
k. Security of objects in temporary storage areas 
l. Find space required for salvage, storage etc 
m. Work out how to best use suppliers with your own personnel 
n. Set up documentation procedure 
o. Break- out equipment required and monitor usage - establish if 
more is needed 

p. Ensure regular breaks are taken (1.5 hours maximum), that PPE 
is worn and that particularly difficult tasks are shared 

q. Determine if shift system is required, and if colleagues from the 
Emergency Response Network (ERN - West Midlands) are 
required as support. 

 

Guidelines for Service Continuity / PR Manager (SCM) 
rr. Role:  Considers the needs of people, to control the flow of 
information about the incident to interested parties, including 
members of the public, Friends of the Castle, neighbours, (see next 
page for contacts),other interested bodies, and the press. To try to 
restore the Castle’s service as soon as possible.  

ss. Tasks: 
a. Co-ordinate telephones, respond to all incoming calls. 
b. Establish timeframe for reopening of building, in part or total, 
including power, light, sanitation.  

c. Organise rest breaks, areas and refreshments for staff and 
volunteers. 

d. COMMUNICATE! Update website with the situation and keep 
everyone informed, having agreed what will be said. 

e. Issue press statement as per Section 4 page 45. 
f. Restore basic administration – phones, receipt of post, email 
etc  

g. Refer to information on utility companies on summary page.  
h. Arrange diversion of any incoming lines with BT or Tamworth 
Borough Council.  

i. Establish an information point at entry points to Castle / 
Grounds / put up notices directing visitors to the information 
point / Tamworth Information Centre (TIC) 

j. Can any rooms remain open, with barricade tape restricting 
entry to hazardous areas?   

k. Use media to make appeals for help where appropriate and 
proactively liaise with the press 

l. Use the recovery operation as an exhibition in itself ?? 
m. Restoration of Castle shop and catering  
n. Seek emergency funding through local ACE representative / 
Museums Development Officer.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 206



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

43

 
 
 
 
 
Neighbouring Properties Contacts: 
 

♦ Anne Leach, 34D Market Street, Tamworth Telephone: 01827 64052 

♦ Mr Peter Mearns, Castle Cottage, 31b Market Street, Tamworth 01827 705694  
    Mobile 07754 164 636 

♦ Castle Hotel, Ladybank (The Holloway) Tamworth Telephone: 01827 317 700 
(Reception) 

♦ Tim Wedgwood (Castle Hotel Manager) Mobile: 07768 094448 

♦ Cancer Research UK (Charity shop) 24 Market Street, Tamworth Telephone: 01827 
69941  

♦ Nationwide Building Society, 26 Market Street, Tamworth Telephone: 0845 2660529 

♦ Julie Anne Interflora (Florist’s) 26A Market Street, Tamworth Telephone: 01827 55532 / 
64991 

♦ ABD Carpets Ltd, 32 -33 Market Street, Tamworth Telephone: 01827 52688 
 

Contingency Budget 
 

The Heritage and Visitor Services Manager is responsible for the Castle, related buildings  
and the off-site store building.   
The Castle’s Reserve fund for the Collections will be utilized in an emergency.  
The code GX1501 30101, should be used.  
Additional support will be available from existing budgets, within the Communities, 
Planning & Partnerships Department and Tamworth Borough Council’s Assets Department 
secured via Robert Mitchell, Corporate Director, (Communities, Planning & Partnerships) 
 
Senior Manager(s) to be Advised of an Incident 
 
Neil Mason, Head of Community Leisure, (Communities, Planning & Partnerships) 
Work: 01827 709 568 
Home: 01827 706 871 
Mobile: 07891 052163      To be contacted by the ERC 
 
Robert Mitchell, Corporate Director, (Communities, Planning & Partnerships) 
Work: 01827 709 616 
Home: 01509 412 831  
Mobile: 07773 792489  To be contacted by the ERC 
 
County / District / Regional Emergency Planning  
 
Staffordshire Emergency Planning Unit 

Staffordshire Civil Contingencies Unit | 01785 898618 

 
 
TAMWORTH INFORMATION CENTRE  - (TIC) 
 
01827 709 581 / 618 
Phil Dix Centre, Corporation Street, Tamworth. 
 

Page 207



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

44

Recovery, Restoration and Debrief 
 

tt. The aim of the salvage operation will be to recover and return the 
affected area and its contents to normal as soon as possible. 

uu. Maintain meetings and dialogue with the ERT as the salvage 
operation continues. Keep a close eye on timescales – how much 
material is being salvaged each day and how that can be improved.  

vv. Continue liaison with the press – update on progress.  
ww. Motivation for the staff in recovery effort. Be alert for signs of post 
 traumatic stress and provide counselling where necessary.  

xx. Think ahead with ordering new / replacement stock and equipment  
yy. Consider best conservation and treatment options for damaged 
materials  

zz. Consider the environmental effects of the incident on undamaged 
items in situ.  Regular monitoring of temperature and relative 
humidity must be maintained – use of dehumidifiers and fans may be 
necessary. The area should be kept well ventilated. 

aaa. Allocate one person to co-ordinate the insurance claim (usually the 
Emergency Response Co-ordinator ). 

bbb. Damaged floors, furniture (or shelves if in the store) should be 
removed and replaced.  

ccc. To inhibit mould growth, walls, ceilings, floors and shelving may 
have to be washed with an anti-fungal solution as well as  

     environmental control with dehumidifiers.  
ddd. Re-decorating (re-shelving if in the store) should wait until the 

conditions have stabilised.  
eee. Do not re-shelve air-dried material immediately – keep separately for 

a period of a month to ensure that no mould growth has developed.  
fff. Before re-shelving, consider modification of storage / display if there 
is a  possibility of recurrence (raise shelving higher from floor, box 
items with high quality boxes PEL (Preservation Equipment Limited) 
Really Useful boxes which will give significant protection from water. 

ggg. A debriefing meeting should be arranged with all personnel involved 
in the recovery process to discuss the successes and failures of the 
response.  

hhh. Re-stock kit and refill fire extinguishers.  
iii. Re-examine building risk assessments in light of what happened.  
jjj. Scrutinise the performance of the plan.  
kkk. Review the emergency / disaster plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

45

SECTION FOUR – EMERGENCY PLAN APPENDIX 
 
 
 
Appendix List 
 
Fire Evacuation & Bomb Threat, Tamworth Castle FOH document     Appendix 1 
 
Priority Level 1 & 2 Salvage Castle floor plans & photographs   Appendix 2 
 
Location & site information for TAMCM  / Stores    Appendix 3  
 
Separate Risk Assessments for TAMCM  /  Stores    Appendix 4 
 
Accident & Incident Reporting Procedures / RIDDOR info   Appendix 5 
 
Prepared Press statement        Appendix 6 
 
Key Contact information         Appendix 7 
 
Salvage suppliers          Appendix 8 
 
Salvage techniques & Guidelines       Appendix 9 
 
Risk Assessments for Emergency Situation     Appendix 10 
 
Incident Assessment Form        Appendix 11 
 
Damage Record Form        Appendix 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 209



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

46

Appendix 6 – Prepared Press Statement  

 
Prepared Press Statement [only to be issued with the authorisation of the 
Emergency Response Co-ordinator (ERC) or Service Continuity Manager (SCM).  
Press statements to be made solely by the ERC. All press queries to be directed to 
them.  
 
“A fire / serious incident  / flood occurred at Tamworth Castle Museum, / stores / 
last night / early this morning.  Fire and Rescue Services / Emergency Services were 
at the scene quickly and have worked hard to extinguish the fire / limit the damage 
to our collections and building.  
Our emergency control plans are now activated and we are working hard to salvage 
our holdings. The building(s) will be closed / area cordoned off for the rest of the 
week/ next few days and further information will be circulated later today / 
tomorrow.”  
 
 
List of local media and contact details 
 

Local newspapers  
 

Tamworth Herald 01827 84 85 86 
Ventura Business Park 
Tamworth     
Gary Phelps - Group Editor 
gary.phelps@cintamworth.co.uk 

Local radio Touch Radio (Aldergate, Tamworth) 
01827 318 000 
 
BBC WM  0121 567 6070 
 

Local television news BBC Regional Centre, BBC Birmingham, 
The Mailbox, Birmingham B1 1RF 
0121 567 67667 
 

Other - Tamworth Borough Council Communications and  PR Manager 
01827 709 571 
 
Natalie Missenden 
Public Relations Officer 01827 709 572 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 210



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

47

Appendix 7 - Key Contact Information 
 
Contracted Services 
 

Intruder alarm company 

ADT Fire & Alarm Securities 

0844 800 1999 

 
Fire detection/alarm company 

ADT Fire & Alarm Securities  

0844 800 1999 

 
Security firm  

G4S plc, The Manor, Manor Royal 
Crawley, West Sussex, RH10 9UN 
 

Switchboard:  020 8770 7000  / 020 8722 2000 

 
Computer support company (hardware, software, Helplines etc) 

Tamworth Borough Council 

ICT Services  

Tel: 01827 709 423 

 
Insurance company / broker / manager 

Roger Bennett, Operations Accountant, Tamworth Borough Council, 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth B79 7NZ 

Tel: 01827 709 246   (For Contents insurance) 

 
Insurance company loss adjusters  

Paul Weston, Head of Asset Management, Tamworth Borough Council, 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth B79 7NZ 

Tel: 01827 709 377   (For Buildings insurance) 

 
Specialist salvage /damage control / disaster response companies 

� Fred Gibson, S T Walker & Duckham, (Chartered Architects) 14, The 
Tithing, Worcestershire WR1 1HD  Telephone: 01905 28525 

� Steve Mason, Hancock, Wheeldon & Ascough (Structural Engineers), 
64 Yoxall Road, Shirley, Birmingham B90 3RP Telephone: 0121 745 
7600   Lightning Strike / Structural Collapse 

� Andrew Bradley, John Austin & Partners, (Quantity Surveyors) 9, 
Greenfield Crescent, Edgbaston, Birmingham B15 3AU  Telephone: 
0121 454 4800 

Page 211



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

48

Specialist tree & motte management company 

H R J Gould, Crabtree Farm, Park Lane, Stockwell Heath, Rugeley, 
Staffordshire  

Contact - Tony Roberts 07816 311206   Telephone: 01889 578999 (Hettie) 

 
Water company 

South Staffordshire Water 

24 Hour Emergency Service 0800 389 1011 

 
 
Gas company 

HOLLOWAY LODGE ONLY 

TRANSCO  0800 111 999 (free call)  [Southern Electric] 

 
 
Grid Power company 

Western Power Distribution  0330 123 5008      [24hr / 7 / 365] 

 

Electric supplier - (British Gas) Southern Electric 0800 052 0400 (24hr) 

 
 
Telephone company 

Telewest / Virgin Media 0800 953 0180 

EE  

BT                                    0800 800 151 

 
 
Local hire company 

Gulliver’s (Municipal Hire) (crane’s, crates, freezer vehicles, skip loaders) 
Unit 7 , Claymore, Tame Valley Industrial Estate, Wilnecote, Tamworth B77 
5DQ   

Telephone: 01827 288 242  

Open Mon – Fri 07.00 – 18.00, Sat 07.00 – 12.00, Sun closed.  

National Hot line number 0870 8509990 

 

Or  - Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene 

Tel: 01827 709 361 

Mobile: 07891 052 120 

 
 

Page 212



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

49

Specialist contractors / Key contacts 
 
English Heritage Inspector of Ancient Monuments - West Midlands region 

Ian George, English Heritage West Midlands, The Axis, 10 Holliday Street, 
Birmingham B1 1TG 

Telephone: 0121 625 6859 

Mobile: 07967 208295 

Ian.george@english-heritage.co.uk    (In office on Tuesdays) 

 
Archaeologist 

Marion Blockley, 6 Cherry Tree Hill, Coalbrookdale, Telford TF8 7EQ 

Telephone: 01952 432 561 

Mobile: 07969 672343 

mail@marionblockley.co.uk 

 

Bob Meeson, 16 Falna Crescent, Tamworth, Staffordshire B79 8JS 

Telephone: 01827 69434 

bob@meeson.co.uk 

 
General Conservation Repairs - covering all areas 

Fairhurst Ward Abbotts, The Studio, Charter House, Sandford Street, 
Lichfield, Staffordshire, WS13 6QA    
 
Tel: 01543 262764 
Contact: Ian Bird  (Senior Contract Manager) 
                07785 463034 
 
 
Croft Building & Conservation, Unit 7 Hemlock Park, Hyssop Close, 
Hawks Green, Cannock WS11 7FB 

Telephone:01543 509 156 

Contact: Graham Chesters: 07989 406082 

 
Graffiti Removal 

P A Gough, 3 Lichfield Road, Walsall, West Midlands WS4 2HT 

Telephone: 01922 627952 

Contact: Peter Gough 07710 604837 

 

Page 213



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

50

Lead Roofing 

Fairhurst Ward Abbotts, The Studio, Charter House, Sandford Street, 
Lichfield, Staffordshire, WS13 6QA    
 
Tel: 01543 262764 
Contact: Ian Bird  (Senior Contract Manager) 
                07785 463034 
 

 

Norman & Underwood Ltd, The Freeschool Building, 170 Scudamore Road, 
Leicester LE3 1HP 

Telephone: 0116 231 8000 

 
Painting work 

Fisher Decorations Ltd, Unit 4 - Optical Park, Middlemore Lane West, 
Aldridge, Walsall  WS9 8EJ 
 
Telephone: 01785 251300 

 

 
 
 
Lightning Conductors 

Omega Red Group Ltd, Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Bulwell, 
Nottingham NG6 8WA 

Telephone: 0115 877 6666   /  07876 038 412 (Out of hours) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

51

Local Services 
 
Plumber 

MITIE Property Services (UK) Ltd, West Coppice Road, Coppice Side, 
Brownhills, West Midlands WS8 7HF 

Telephone: 0161 869 0568  (Out of hours as well) 

 

 
Glazier/boarding-up 

♦ Glazier -  (Historic glazing specialist ) 

      Nick Beacham, 62, Heath Field Road, Webheath, Redditch B79 5RH   

                    Telephone: 01527 402073      Mobile: 07831 822882 

♦ Boarding up - A & N Joinery, 56, Keppler, Lichfield Road Industrial  

                  Estate, Tamworth B79 7XE  

       Telephone: 01827 736606  Nigel Heath - Mobile: 07971 835185 

                     MITIE Property Services (UK) Ltd, West Coppice Road,     
                                Coppice Side, Brownhills, West Midlands WS8 7HF 

                      Telephone: 0161 869 0568   (Out of hours as well) 

PLEASE NOTE:  Any window boarding should be NON-INVASIVE i.e.: coach 
bolting two boards either side of the broken window. NO mastick or sealant to 
be used. 

 
Locksmith 

Quality Lock Company, Leve Lane, Willenhall, West Midlands  WV3 1PS 

Telephone: 01902 602 942 

Contact: Peter 

 
Scaffolding erector/roof repairer 

Tamworth Scaffolding Company, 25 Marsett, Wilnecote, Tamworth B77 4QU  

Telephone: 01827 892900 

Mobile: 08458 390606   Contact: Jem 

 
General builder(s) 

Crofts Building & Conservation, Unit 7, Hemlock Park, Hyssop Close, Hawks 
Green, Cannock, Staffordshire WS11 7FB 

Telephone: 01543 509156 

A&N Joinery, 56 Keppler, Lichfield Road Industrial Estate, Tamworth B79 7XE 

Tel: 01827 736606  / Nigel Heath Mobile: 07971835185    

Page 215



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

52

Cont/d.. 

MITIE Property Services (UK) Ltd, West Coppice Road, Coppice Side, 
Brownhills, West Midlands WS8 7HF 

Telephone: 0161 869 0568   (Out of hours as well) 

 
Drain clearing  

Mat Lab Ltd, The Dell, Bickenhill Lane, Catherine-de-Barnes, Solihull, West 
Midlands B92 0DE 

Telephone: 0121 704 3339 

 
Electrician 

MES  - Midlands Electrical Specialists, 3 Ariane, Lichfield Road Indus. Est. 

             Tamworth B79 7XF 

Telephone: 01827 63293     Mobile: 07976 683 763 (Out of hours) 

MITIE Property Services (UK) Ltd, West Coppice Road, Coppice Side, 
Brownhills, West Midlands WS8 7HF 

Telephone: 0161 869 0568   (Out of hours as well) 

 
Police 

Tamworth (Staffordshire) Police 0300 123 4455 

 

 
Fire & Rescue Services-  pumping / salvage service 

Tamworth Community Fire Station  01785 898020 

Marlborough Way, Belgrave, Tamworth 

 
Security firm (personnel / dogs) 

G4S plc, The Manor, Manor Royal 
Crawley, West Sussex, RH10 9UN 
 

Switchboard: 
+44 (0) 20 8770 7000 
or +44 (0) 20 8722 2000 
 

 

Page 216



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

53

Removal and secure storage 

� Pickfords Business Moving, Unit 2 Ninian Point, Ninian Way, Tame 
Valley Industrial Estate, Tamworth B77 5DE 

      Telephone: 0121 326 1780   

 

� Harrow Green, Moving Professionals, Unit 3, Bromford Central, 
Bromford Lane, Birmingham B8 2SF 

      Telephone: 0121 326 0810 

 

 
 
Pest Control 

Paul Lakin, Pest Control Services 

Telephone: 01827 50396 

 Mobile: 07981 378 516 

 
 
Bat Survey / Protection 

Christopher Smith MRICS MSc. CEnv 

Tamworth Property Services, Suite D, 4/5 Market Street, Tamworth B79 7LU 
 
Telephone: 01827 310 475   / Mobile: 07967 636 115 

Email: enquiries@bat-survey.co.uk  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 217



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

54

Local Personnel 
 
Conservators 

Jane Thompson Webb 
Collection Services Manager 
Birmingham Museum and Art Gallery 
Telephone: 0121 303 4589 
Email: Jane.Thompson-Webb@birmingham.gov.uk 

 
Catering assistance/equipment hire  

Jody Ross, (Jock) Duty Manager (Bar & Catering), Tamworth Assembly 
Rooms, Corporation Street, Tamworth Borough Council  

Telephone: 01827 709 621 

Mobile: 07891 052203 (Elanor Hazelhurst) 

 
 

Local Facilities and Sources of Equipment 
 

Freezing facility (cold store) 

Store Manager, Sainsbury’s, Bonehill Road, Tamworth B78 3HD 

Telephone: 01827 56888 

 
Van/truck hire  

Gulliver’s (Municipal Hire) (crane’s, crates, freezer vehicles, skip loaders) 
Unit 7 , Claymore, Tame Valley Industrial Estate, Wilnecote, Tamworth B77 
5DQ   

Telephone: 01827 288 242  

Open Mon – Fri 07.00 – 18.00, Sat 07.00 – 12.00, Sun closed.  

National Hot line number 0870 8509990 

 
Dustbins/plastic crates/trays/bin bags  

Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene -  Mobile : 07891 052 120       

For large rubbish removal: 

William M Briers & Son (Tamworth) Limited, Anchor Sidings, Glascote Road, 
Tamworth B77 2AF 

Telephone: 01827 62668 

 
Tarpaulins & Plastic Sheeting (Heavy Builders Grade) 

� Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene  -  Mobile : 07891 052 120       

� Jewson Ltd, Builders Merchants, Station Wharf, Victoria Road, 
Tamworth        Telephone: 01827 68311 

� Emergency Response Network - West Midlands 

Page 218



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

55

Wooden Pallets 

� N & R Manufacturing Ltd, Lawrence House, Apollo, Lichfield Rd Ind. 
Est., Tamworth, B79 7TA     Telephone: 01827 57218 

� A & A Recycling Services Ltd, Bentley Sawmill, Coleshill Road, 
Atherstone,   Telephone: 01827 722300 

 
Portable Generators 

Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene  - Mobile : 07891 052 120       

 

Andrews Sykes Hire Ltd, 290 Leek Road, Hanley, Stoke On Trent 
ST4 2EJ Tel: 01782 263864 

 

 
Emergency lighting systems/heavy duty extension cables 

Tamworth Assembly Rooms 

Corporation Street, Tamworth 

Telephone: 01827 709 617 

Elanor Hazelhurst 07891 052203 

 
Pumps 

Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene  - Mobile : 07891 052 120       

 
24 / 7 / 365 -  Andrew Sykes Emergency Pumping equipment  
0800 211 611 

 
Wet and dry vacuum cleaners 

Emergency Response Network (West Midlands)   

Key Office Supplies 

 
Heaters 

ERN  -  Emergency Response Network (West Midlands) 

 

Andrews Sykes Hire Ltd, 290 Leek Road, Hanley, Stoke On Trent 
ST4 2EJ Tel: 01782 263864 

 

Page 219



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

56

Dehumidifiers 

ERN - Emergency Response Network (West Midlands) 

 

Andrews Sykes Hire Ltd, 290 Leek Road, Hanley, Stoke On Trent 
ST4 2EJ Tel: 01782 263864 

 

 
Other tools/plant 

Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene - Mobile : 07891 052 120       

 

24 / 7 / 365 -  Andrew Sykes Emergency Pumping equipment  
0800 211 611 
 

 
Council depots 

Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene  - Mobile : 07891 052 120       

Sandy Way Depot, Amington Industrial Estate, Tamworth  

 

 
 

Emergency sorting area 

Tamworth Castle Grounds 

Tamworth Castle Stable block 

 
 
Temporary storage area 

Tamworth Castle Stable block 

Any available unit at Sandyway, Amington Industrial Estate. 

Contact: Barry Curtis  07528 630011 Tamworth Borough Council Property 
Assets 

For non-sensitive items: David Wilkes, Applied Vibration Ltd, 48 & 50 Sandy Way, 
Amington Industrial Estate, Tamworth 

01827 311128 

David Wilkes 07710 738 856 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 220



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

57

Appendix 8 – Salvage Suppliers 
 
Remember to find local, regional and national contractors. If you’ve been flooded because 
of a river flood or storms in your area, local contractors are likely to be overwhelmed too.  
Ask what their availability is (24/7 contact is preferable, Sunday opening a bonus). Do they 
deliver to site? Can you set up a credit account in advance to save problems of cash up 
front.   
 

Protective clothing / Personal protective equipment 
www.arco.co.uk, Arco Ltd, PO Box 151, Omega Enterprise Park, Electron Way, Chandlers 
Ford, Eastleigh, S023 4ZS Tel 023 8027000 (offices nationwide)  
 

www.protec-direct.co.uk  Protec Direct,  Unit 1 Britannia Park, Trident Drive, Wednesbury, 
West  Midlands, WS10 7XB 
Tel 0870 333 3081 
 

Dryers, air movers, dehumidifiers, floodlights, generators pumps, cherry pickers,  
etc 
Tool hire firms – HSS, Hewdens, Hire Center, Brandon Tool Hire – see Yell.co.uk for your 
local branch 
www.hss.co.uk – 08457 282828  
www.hewden.co.uk - 0845 60 70 111 
www.brandontoolhire.co.uk – 0870 514 3391 
 
Dehumidifiers  
 

Disaster Recovery firms – Munters MCS (see below) 
24 / 7 / 365 -  Andrew Sykes Emergency Pumping equipment 0800 211 611 
Pumps – Local fire brigade (they may charge for this) 
Dyno Rod – 0800 316 4599 
 
Disaster Recovery – Specialists 
 

Polygon (formerly part of Munters MCS [Moisture Control Services])  
Blackstone Road, Huntingdon, Cambridgeshire, PE29 6EE 
Tel: 01480 442327  |  Fax: 01480 442374 

HDRS Harwell Office (Head Office) Harwell Document Restoration Services,  

Dalton Building, Maxwell Avenue, Harwell Science and Innovation Campus,  

Didcot, OX11 0QT.  

Tel: 0800 019 9990 / 01235 432245   (24 Hour Hotline: 01235 434373) 

Rainbow International - 24-Hour National Helpline: 01623 422488 
See also www.bdma.org.uk 
 
Crates  

N & R Manufacturing Ltd, Lawrence House, Apollo, Lichfield Rd Ind. Est. 

Tamworth, B79 7TA Telephone: 01827 57218 

A & A Recycling Services Ltd, Bentley Sawmill, Coleshill Road, Atherstone 

Telephone: 01827 722300 

Page 221



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

58

Rentacrate http://www.rentacrate.co.uk/ 020 7740 3370 + other regional offices  
 
Teacrate www.teacrate.co.uk – various regional offices, London office 020 8282 0000 
 
Refrigerated Storage  CHECK they will take flooded objects and aren’t restricted to 
food only!  
 
Albert Baxter Cold Storage Ltd,  Boulevard, Hull, North Humberside HU3 4DY   
Tel: 01482 221661    
 
Coolcare International Ltd, Quadrant 2, Yorkshire Way, Doncaster, South Yorkshire DN3 
3FB  Tel: 01302 300800    
 
Fylde Cold Stores, 270, Carnfield Place, Walton Summit Employment Centre, 

Bamber Bridge, Preston, PR5 8AN Tel: 01772 314888 

 
Matthews Transport, Warehousing & Distribution Ltd, Greengate, Middleton Junction 
Manchester M24 1RU  Warehousing/Storage Office: Tel: 0161 643 6462 
 

TDG Headquarters, Head Office,  Euroterminal, Westinghouse Road, Trafford Park 

 Manchester M17 1PY  Tel: 0161 932 6900 

 TDG Cannock, Bellsize Close, Norton Canes, Cannock WS11 9TQ 

 Tel: 0 7795 237260  odling@tdg.co.uk       

 
 Also HDRS Harwell (see above) 
 
 
Packers and removal firms  
 
Museum moves specialists 
 
Harrow Green, Moving Professionals, Unit 3, Bromford Central, Bromford Lane, 
Birmingham B8 2SF 

Telephone: 0121 326 0810 

 
Pickford's Business Moving, Pickfords Business Moving, Unit 2 Ninian Point, Ninian 
Way, Tame Valley Industrial Estate, Tamworth B77 5DETelephone: 0121 326 1780   

 
(The following company only in event of Pickford's being unable to provide the 
service) 
 
Gander & White Shipping Ltd, 1, St. Martin's Way, London, SW17 0JH 
Tel: 020 8971 7171   
 
  
 
 
 

Page 222



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

59

Private conservators – see www.conservationregister.com for detailed searches for 
your specific objects  
 
Plowden & Smith Limited, 190 St. Ann's Hill, London SW18 2RT Tel: 0181 874 4005 
 
HS Walsh and Sons, 243 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, BR3 4TS 
Tel 020 8778 7061 
 
Ian Clark Restoration, 1 Railway Cottages, Old Station Road, Itchen Abbas, Winchester, 
SO21 1BA 
Tel: 01962 779495 
 
Richard Rogers Conservation Ltd, 15 Barrett Road, Fetcham, KT22 9HL, 01372 805751 
 
Textile Cleaning and Conservation, Castle Lodge, 271 Sandown Road, Deal, CT14 6QU, 
01304 373684 
 
Valentine Walsh, 3 Whitehorse Mews,London, SE1 7QD 
 
Museum Conservation Services, Building 213, Imperial War Museum, Duxford, 
Cambridge, CB2 4QR 
Tel: 01223 830373 
 
Poppy Singer and  Annabelle Wylie, The Old Village Hall, Plough Road, Great Bentley, 
Colchester, CO7 8LD   Tel: 01206 252376 
 
Textile  Conservation Centre, The University of Southampton, Winchester Campus, Park 
Avenue, Winchester, SO23 8DL 
 
Conservation Equipment, Boxes etc 
 
Preservation Equipment Limited, Vinces Road, Diss, Norfolk, IP22 4HQ 
Tel: 01379 647 400 
 
Conservation Resources, 15 Blacklands Way, Abingdon, Oxon OX14 1DY  
Tel: 01235 553 166 
 
G Ryder and Co, Denbigh Road, Bletchley, Milton Keynes, MK1 1DG 
Tel : 01908 375 524 
 
Conservation by Design, Timecare Works, 5 Singer Way, Woburn Road Industrial 
Estate, Kempston, Bedford, MK42 7AW, Tel: 01234 853555 
 

Page 223



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

60Page 224



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

61

 

Page 225



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

62Page 226



\\svr02\shared$\Community&Environment\Communities Planning & 
Partnerships\Castle\Collections\Accreditation\Emergency Plan 2014 

63

 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$ijktwfsx.doc 

Holloway Lodge Emergency access information 
 

Access 
 

• Enter through HL1 main office door (black outer door, white inner door) 

• Fire and intruder alarms are in the extension HL2, in cupboard to the 
right with the gas boiler heater. 

• Intruder alarm can be deactivated with the alarm fob, or by entering the 
code on the key pad. Follow any instructions displayed on the screen if 
necessary. 

 

• Alarm fob should be held against the ADT logo at the bottom of the key 
pad to de-activate the alarms, any instructions on the screen should 
then be followed as above. 

• To re-activate alarms having used an alarm fob just press the A button 
on the key-pad.  (Use code again if code used to de-activate) 

• In the event of an alarm activation please see separate alarm 
codes sheet. 

• Fire alarm is separate black panel on the right. Laminated instructions 
sheet on top of white box. Instructions label on black panel also. 

• Please ensure door between office & extension (HL1 & HL2) is closed 
when exiting after setting the alarm, or it will not set. 

• On exit press little black button at the bottom, on the outside of the 
inner white door, before closing & locking the outer black door. 

• Access to the office on the opposite side of the gateway requires the 
alarms to be de-activated. 

• Key to back gate padlock on top of filing cabinet 7 next to back door. 

• Emergency lights in all areas, including HL3 and HL4 

• Any power failure will require a re-set on ADT Fire and Intruder 
Alarms / boiler heating clock / external timed light under archway. 

 

Access to stores 
 

• Keys are required for both archive stores HL3 and HL4 upstairs in 
Holloway Lodge. (set 52c) See below.  

• Keys are required for all other stores. Spare keys in red cash box, 
bottom drawer to left of Collections Officer’s desk.  All keys are 
identifiable. 

• Spare Castle keys in black key box in bottom drawer to left of 
Collections Officer's desk.  All keys are identifiable. 

 
 

GAS  & ELECTRIC 
 

• Meters / isolation and distribution box are in the second office. 
(Door on the opposite side of the gateway) 

• Meters are on right behind the door when entering, in the cupboard 
at floor level. 

 

• Gas meter is in right hand cupboard with isolation key above meter. 
 

• Electric meter - AMR (automatic meter read) is in left hand cupboard 
with fuse board & isolation switch to left of meter. 
(Small white switch with clock dial marked ‘Immersion Heater’, on 

 far right is timed switch for the external light under the archway) 
 

 
 

Page 229



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$ijktwfsx.doc 

Power switches in  HL2  

• Single switch ‘on’ and taped above socket & fridge in kitchen sink area is 
switch for external PIR light.  Do not switch off unless in an emergency. 

• Gas boiler is in alarm cupboard 

• Beneath boiler and marked 'Boiler'.  Only switch off in an emergency. 

• Switch to the left marked 'Ring main'.  

• Switch to the right and marked 'Intruder Alarm', taped 'on' and labelled 
'Do not switch off' 

 

• Small 'silver' box with 'keyhole' and tiny green panel, to left of main 
entrance door and inner door to HL2 - these are panic alarms and are 
linked to Police response. 

 

• Telephone incomer point is located to left of main entrance door to 
HL1. 

• White grill fronted box near the floor to left of main entrance door to 
HL1 is sounder box for front door buzzer. Has powered socket behind 
HL1 Holding Bay shelving. Only switch off in an emergency. 

 
WATER 

• Isolator valves / keys under downstairs sink and upstairs hand-
basin.  To be turned with screwdriver or coin 
Will only isolate the taps on the sink & hand-basin 

• Outside tap on the grounds side can be isolated under the 
downstairs sink. Has to be turned with screwdriver or coin 
Top to tap with screw & screwdriver on top of filing cabinet 6 next to 
microwave. 

 

• TO TURN OFF THE WATER: 
THERE IS NO MAIN STOP COCK INSIDE HOLLOWAY LODGE. 

• Use labelled tool in alarm cupboard and go to small water mains 
cover in the pavement on the road side - nearest the wall - outside 
Holloway Lodge (Turn right out of the archway) 
Use tool to open cover and swing to one side – cover is attached by a 
stanchion. 
Reach down and  turn off by hand. 

• Hot water tank 
Upstairs, in cupboard in corridor beyond toilet – light switch next to the 
cupboard. 
The red unit near the floor is the pump. 

• Radiators 
 There are radiators in all the rooms of Holloway Lodge. 
 HL1 radiator below the window with thermostatic radiator valve (trv) 
 HL2 radiator under the bookshelves with trv. 
 HL3  x 2 radiator under the window and very small radiator along wall  
 both with trv. 
 HL4 radiator under the window with trv.  
 Toilet radiator behind the door - no trv, this is the feeder radiator. 
 Second office radiator under the window with trv. 
 There are no other thermostatic controls. 

Page 230



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$t2r0q5mf.doc 

No 44 Amington store Access Arrangements 
 
Directions to the store 

1. No. 44 Amington store is located on the Amington Industrial Estate in the 
North East direction of Tamworth town centre, off the B5000 / Mercian Way.   
From the town centre follow the A5 / A51 bypass signposted for the M42 / 
Nuneaton. 
Take the first exit from the A5 bypass signposted for Glascote / Wilnecote /  
B5000. At the island take the first exit, follow the road straight up until the next 
island with the B5000. 
Take the third exit.  At the next island take the second exit, and then the slip 
road to the left just after the bus stop. 
Follow the road round past the Calico Business Park on the left, and take the 
second left signed Sandyway Units 27 – 68.   
Follow this round -  Unit no.44 is half way down on the right hand side. 
See the previous page of maps and aerial view. 
The small estate that the unit is part of has a one-way system that 
should be observed by vehicles when entering and exiting the estate. 
When leaving turn right out from the unit and follow the road down round the 
curve and down to the junction with the road, turn left or right. 
Alternative routes: 
Follow the B5000 out from the town centre, through Glascote to the island 
and take the second exit. 
Follow the brown signs for the Golf course. 
At the next island take the second exit and then the slip road to the left just 
after the bus stop. 
From Polesworth follow the B5000 towards Tamworth, taking the third exit at 
the island at Mercian Way, follow the road through the Industrial Estate. 
At the next island take the second exit onto Sandy Way and follow the above 
directions 
From the A5 bypass travelling out of Tamworth, take the second exit just 
before the A5 / M42 interchange / island, signed for Stonydelph. 
At the island take the first exit for Stonydelph and follow the road through until 
reaching the island on Mercian Way, and follow the above directions. 
From the A5 / M42 interchange / island towards Tamworth.  On the A5 
bypass take the first exit after the island signed for Wilnecote / Stonydelph / 
Glascote. 
At the island take the third exit. At the next island take the first exit and follow 
the road through until reaching the island on Mercian Way and follow the 
above directions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$t2r0q5mf.doc 

The unit 
 

2. Approached by turning right off the access road. 
 Ample parking outside. Large vehicle parking outside full height roller  

shutter door, and three further car parking bays at the front of the unit. 
Further vehicles can be accommodated opposite the unit next to the grass 
verge, which is also the Fire Assembly point by the road sign, or on the 
access road. 

3. The unit is a corner unit in the left corner of a block of 5 units.  
A steel frame construction, in-filled with brick and block to half height, vertical 
cladding in corrugated sheet to top half with insulation and boarding to 
interior.  Roof of similar corrugated sheet design with gutters drained via an 
internally installed stack.  The roof and cladding has been encapsulated in a 
liquid plastic coating system with a 15year manufacturers warranty to that 
system. 
The roller shutter door is full height for vehicle access.   
To the left of the roller shutter is the green steel front door, main access to the 
unit, which opens outwards.  
To the left of the front door there are two windows which are sealed over with 
steel sheeting.  One window gives onto the entrance hallway, the second 
window gives onto the office space. 
There is a halogen security light above the entrance to the unit and an ADT 
external alarm unit on the wall beneath. 
To the extreme left of the unit is a steel door which is inset within an open 
storm porch, faded to pale blue this is the front Fire Escape door, and a small 
high window covered with a steel sheet which gives onto the window light in 
the ladies toilet. 
There is a small barriered area at the corner of the unit. 
Down the side of the building on the access road side, there are two small 
high windows, also covered with a steel sheet, and these give onto the 
window lights in the men’s toilet and the small kitchen space. 
There are also three small plastic louver covers, mid way up on the same 
wall, these cover the air vents located inside under the Mezzanine floor. 
At the end of the unit space is another pale blue steel store set flush to the 
wall, this is the rear Fire Escape for the unit. 
Unit no.44 backs onto a Unit 46 that runs at right angles down the back and 
almost the width of the unit block.  To the right of Unit 44 is Unit 42 which is 
currently occupied by Apollo Chemicals based across the outer road. 
The whole block of units opposite the front door of Unit no 44 are currently 
occupied by Neuteq – Europe Ltd along with two further units across the 
access road. 
Units 48 – 50 on the far side of the block of units is occupied by Applied 
Vibration Limited. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 232



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$t2r0q5mf.doc 

Access / Emergency Access 
4. The front door opens onto an entrance hall where the intruder and fire  

alarm panels are located immediately to the right of the door. 
The building is alarmed. 
See separate emergency alarm access details. 
Power failure will activate the Fire and Intruder Alarms. 
There is emergency lighting throughout the building.  
All visitors and contractors must sign in on the log in the entrance  
hall and contractors must be provided with the Fire Safety details  
slip. 
Visitors must be made aware of the Fire Escape routes and the  
Fire Assembly point 
The door straight ahead opens into the main store area of the building 
and the stairs to the partial Mezzanine. 
The door to the left opens into the office space, beyond this of a small  
corridor is the front Fire Escape door and the ladies and 
men’s separate toilets, and a small kitchen space.   
The door at the end of the small corridor opens onto the main store  

 area and the area under the Mezzanine stairs to the partial Mezzanine. 
 
 

Emergency contact details 
 
 

Sarah Williams  Collections Officer 
CASTLE 

Day: 01827 709 631 
Mobile: 07800 677 320 / 07713 438 069 
Out of hours: 01827 790 408 

Louise Troman Heritage & Visitor Services 
Manager 
CASTLE 

Day: 01827 709 630 
Mobile: 07528 630 013  
Out of hours: 01543 250 795 

Neil Mason 
TBC 

 

Day: 01827 709 568 
Mobile: 07891 052 163 
Out of hours: 01827 706 871 

Robert Mitchell 
TBC 

Day: 01827 709 616 
Mobile: 07506 092297 
Out of hours: 01509 412 831 

 
 

Utilities 
5. The only utility supplies connected to the unit are electricity and water. 

(Although there is a gas meter on the extreme left wall of the store under the 
Mezzanine, when entering, this has been disconnected) 

6. The electricity meter, fuse box / main distribution box and alarm boxes are all 
under the stairs to the partial Mezzanine. 
The mains stop cock for the water is in the ladies toilet under the hand basin – 
door nearest the front Fire Escape door.  
There are separate isolator valves in both toilets under the hand basins and 
under the kitchen sink unit.  There is an operational water meter in the ladies 
toilet under the hand basin, which also has an isolator directly above it. 
See separate emergency utility isolation details 
 
 

Fire Escape doors and Front door 

Page 233



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$t2r0q5mf.doc 

7. Fire Escape doors are red on the inside and have two sliding bolts top 
and bottom on each door, each is locked with matching suited padlocks.  One 
key fits all four fire door padlocks 
The padlocks must be undone and the bolts slid back immediately upon 
entering the building for work, or with any visitors or contractors.  This 
enables the panic bar to be operated safely. 

8. Once in the building the front door closes on a Yale lock.  
The front Fire Escape door can be used once the building is unlocked, for 
access to and from the building if required.   
Fire Escape doors should not however be left unattended or left open, even in 
hot weather particularly if working in another part of the store, or upstairs. 

9. In hot sunny weather the front door can become very hot.  Take care when 
leaning on it to lock it. 

10. Changes in weather temperature can also mean that the front door and the 
Fire Escape doors can flex, affecting the alarm contacts on the doors and 
occasionally triggering a false alarm.  

 
Roller shutter door 

11. The roller shutter door is padlocked at either side with individual  
padlocks with different and individual keys. 
The door must be fully down when closed to ensure the alarm sensor  
to the right on the floor is contacted.   
The D locks must be closed up before putting the padlocks on. 
To open, the roller shutter is operated manually by removing the  
padlocks form the D locks and dropping them down at the bottom of  
the door on either side. 
Release the chain from the restraint on the right of the door, first 
removing the allen keys used as retaining pins.  
Pull on the chain to open the door to the required height.  Whether 
partially or fully open, ensure the chain is returned to the restraint and 
the allen keys put back in as retaining pins before using the shutter for  
access to the store. 

Keys 
12. Keys for the unit are currently held by the Collections Officer, the  

Heritage and Visitor Services Manager, and the alarm company. 
Keys are suited for the Fire Escape padlocks, un-suited for the roller  
shutter door, and un-suited for the front door. 
The key for the padlock on the chain for the dustbin is a standard 404  
key. 

Facilities 
13. The following facilities are provided in the unit:: 

♦ Office space with desks and a work space, with two double electric 
sockets. 

♦ No landline phone 

♦ Ladies toilet and hand basin and hot water 

♦ Men’s toilet and hand basin and hot water 

♦ Kitchen space with sink unit and hot water, cupboards double electric 
socket and kettle. 

♦ Electric sockets on the ground floor of the store. (To the right of the door 
from the small corridor, and on the back wall between the picture racking 
and row 1 of racking) 

Page 234



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$t2r0q5mf.doc 

♦ Extension cables have been run upstairs from the downstairs sockets to 
provide access to sockets on the partial Mezzanine.  No hard wired 
sockets installed upstairs. Total load must not exceed 13amps plugged 
into each extension reel. 

  

Racking / storage 
Provided by Metalrax Storage. 

14.  Rows 1 – 4 of screen picture racking beneath the Mezzanine 
are not bolted to the floor.  The counter balance of the feet is sufficient 
support.  Each row can be moved independently (preferably with two people) 
but all paintings or objects hung on the racking must be removed before 
attempting to move it.  The row must be absolutely straight before attempting 
to re-hang paintings or objects. 

15. All blue framed racking on the ground floor is bolted to the floor. 
Each bay has a weight loading notice at the end of it 
The pallet racking on the ground floor is bolted to the wall and to the floor. 
There is a weight loading notice at the end of the row. 
Individual shelves are easily removed and relocated 
The wooden slats on the pallet racking Bay 2B have been braced to support 
the weight of the base of the gryphon. 

16. Some items stored upright against the wall at the back of the space 
 between Rows 4 and the pallet racking have been ratchet strapped to  the 

pallet racking  to prevent any movement. 
17. All racking on the partial Mezzanine upstairs is bolted to the floor and has 

been braced to the structural beam behind each section 
18. Access to the pallet racking can only be gained if all objects stored in front of 

it can be removed.  A reach lift rather than a fork lift will be the only means 
small enough to fit between the racks. Weight loading should be considered 
very carefully when moving any of the items on the pallet racking. Specialist 
advice and assistance from a licensed fork lift / reach lift driver should be 
obtained in the event of moving items on the pallet racking. 

19. Some heavy items are stored on pallets on the floor beneath the pallet racking 
and will require a hand pallet truck to move them.  A hand pallet truck can be 
obtained, along with assistance from Tamworth Borough Council Street 
Scene, or hired in. 

20. Object storage - see Display and Storage Location Guide.  
 Can be found in Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures,  
 Appendix 4.   
 Emergency Plan Appendix 3 and Tamworth Borough Council S\drive  
 under Castle/ Collections/ Accreditation 
21. Housekeeping Plan / Log  
  Can be found in Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 
  Appendix 4 and Tamworth Borough Council S\drive under Castle/ 
 Collections/Accreditation. 
22. Monitoring Plan / Log  
 Can be found in Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures  Appendix 
4 and Tamworth Borough Council S\drive under Castle/ 
 Collections/Accreditation. 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$xdmn225i.doc 1

TAMWORTH CASTLE 

 

 

COLLECTIONS DOCUMENTATION  
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURES  
 

MANUAL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Created & written by 
 

Rachael Haines, Temporary Collections Assistant 
 

March 2009 

 
Revised by 

 
Sarah Williams, Collections Officer 

 
June 2009 

 
Amended / Authorised by  

 
Louise Troman, Heritage & Visitor Services Manager 

 
August 2009 

 
Review date 

 End of August 
2014 

 
Reviewed by 

 
Sarah Williams, Collections Officer 

 
October 2014 

 
Reviewed & Authorised by 

  

 
Next Review date 

  
October 2016 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 237



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$xdmn225i.doc 2

Tamworth Castle 
Documentation Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. All objects in a museum’s collection require minimum standards of 
information to be recorded about them in order to make them more 
accessible and to meet the requirements for the Museum Accreditation 
Scheme1.   

2. The eight primary procedures identified by SPECTRUM2 as necessary 
minimum standards are:-  

a) object entry;  
b) loans in;  
c) acquisition;  
d) location and movement control;  
e) cataloguing;  
f) object exit;  
g) loans out;  
h) retrospective documentation.   

3. This documentation procedural manual will record the procedures 
followed by Tamworth Castle in achieving these minimum standards of 
information.  

4. These procedures are to be applied to any object under the museum’s 
care including loaned items, items awaiting identification and items 
permanently accessioned into the museum’s collection. 

5. “A procedural manual is an evolving series of clear instructions to 
standardise the recording of information about the collection in a 
museum.” Collections Link 
(http://www.collectionslink.org.uk/manage_information/procedural_man
ual) 

 
Scope 

6. This policy applies to Tamworth Castle, which has sole responsibility 
for curating the collections of Tamworth Borough Council. 

7. The policy replaces any former Documentation policy statements of 
Tamworth Castle.  Any objects that have entered the museum under 
former policies will now be subject to this policy and accompanying 
procedures.  

8. Throughout this policy the terms ‘object’, ‘item’ or ‘artefact’ are taken to 
mean archive material as well as actual objects within the museum 
collections. 

 
 

 

                                                 
1 This is the minimum standards scheme for museums in the UK, administered by the Museums, 

Libraries and Archives Council (MLA) 
2 SPECTRUM is the UK and International standard for Collections Management, a copy of which 

can be consulted at Holloway Lodge or can be downloaded from 

www.collectionstrust.org.uk/spectrum 

Page 238



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$xdmn225i.doc 3

Aim and Objectives 
9. This manual will describe the documentation policies and procedures in 

place, providing clear, standardised, guidelines to all members of staff 
and volunteers. 

10. On reading this manual all staff and volunteers should be able to: 
a) Identify the eight primary procedures required to meet the 

documentation requirements for the Museum Accreditation 
Scheme. 

b) Identify the SPECTRUM definition and minimum standards required 
for each of the eight primary procedures. 

c) Understand previous documentation systems employed at 
Tamworth Castle. 

d) Easily understand and apply Tamworth Castle’s documentation 
procedures in practice. 

e) Locate detailed information about any item in the collection, 
including its identity, its location, its reason for being there, its 
method of acquisition and the original and current owner. 

 
Use of the Manual 

11. This manual is to be used as a training manual for all new collections 
staff and volunteers to ensure uniformity of practice. 

12. It is also to be used as an ‘aide memoire’ by current collections staff 
when queries arise and also to ensure best practice is maintained. 

13. All documentation carried out will be done so in accordance with the 
policies and procedures contained within this manual, any need for 
variation will require the procedures and policies to be updated. 

 
Staff Responsible for Documentation 

14. This manual was originally compiled by Rachel Haynes, Temporary 
Collections Assistant at Tamworth Castle and was completed in March 
2009.  

 It was later revised by the Collections Officer, and by the Heritage  
 and Visitor Services Manager in August 2009 
15. The manual should be updated immediately should procedures 

change, with the revision date to be included on the front cover.  It will 
be due for review next at the end of August 2016.   

16. The Collections Officer has responsibility for documenting objects, and 
is assisted by volunteers who are trained in documentation procedures.   

17. Changes to procedures will only be implemented by the Collections 
Officer after discussion with the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 
The Collections Officer will be responsible for ensuring that the 
Documentation Procedural Manual is kept up to date.   

18. All amendments to the manual have to be agreed with the Heritage and 
Visitor Services Manager. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 239



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$xdmn225i.doc 4

History of Documentation at Tamworth Castle  
 

19. In 2005 documentation standards were assessed by the Collections 
Officer and found to be equivalent to level 2/3 of the MDA 
documentation guidelines.  This is below the level three required for 
minimum standards. 

20. There was poor entry documentation, major backlogs and poor 
labelling.  For further information on previous documentation systems, 
procedures and records please see Tamworth Castle Backlog Policy. 

 
Previous Documentation Systems and Procedures  

21. Documentation procedures at Tamworth Castle have lacked uniformity.  
There has been frequent change in procedures with staffing changes; 
little written record of these procedures has been produced, except for 
a manual produced in 1979.   

 
Object Entry/Exit 

22. There was no standard entry or exit documentation between 1897 - 
1996, which makes it difficult to prove ownership of many items. 

23. Hand written receipts in receipt book format or typed thank you letters 
were in use 1980-2000, and correspondence with other museums 
receiving objects disposed of by Tamworth Castle from the collections 
do exist.  However these are not filed together, but scattered amongst 
the objects and records. 

 
Location and Movement Control 

24. Location lists and the locations recorded on catalogue cards are 
currently outdated, also there is little up to date information recording 
the movement of objects. 

 
Acquisition 

25. There is little documented evidence that donors held the original title to 
objects, or that they were provided with terms and conditions of their 
donation up until 2002.  

 
Cataloguing 

26. The Accession numbering system has remained the same throughout.  
Nearly all objects are given a number based on the year that they were 
accessioned, followed by a consecutive number for each item 
accessioned that year, followed by another consecutive number for if 
there is more than one part belonging to an object, for example 
2009.10.1.  However, some objects accessioned 1897–1976 were 
done so with the prefix ‘RA’ to the accession number.  This prefix is 
also present on the manual index cards, which are in the process of 
being amended to implement a uniformed numbering system which will 
be used on the new Modes XML database.  

 
 

Page 240



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$xdmn225i.doc 5

27. Manual object cards and donor card indexes have been made for most 
objects since 1897 through to present day.  However, some are 
incomplete or missing.  

28. A computerised, Microsoft access, database was in use between 2000-
2008.  The database had many flaws and the records on it are not 
deemed to be worthy of use.  Some records are duplicated, object 
information is incomplete and location information is inaccurate. 

29. The type of information recorded is inconsistent, with the main source 
of reference varying for each item between the history files, catalogue 
cards and the old access database.  

 
Labelling/Marking 

30. Not all objects are permanently labelled or numbered.   
31. Methods of labelling have been used which have irreparably damaged 

items and would not comply with current documentation standards.  
These include adhesive labels that are currently peeling off items, 
sellotape and the use of tippex and ink directly onto items.   

 
Loans 

32. Loan documentation has not been used.  Some objects that have been 
loaned to and from the museum are marked in the accession registers 
and there are occasional letters noting the loan or return of an object, 
but these are not filed together 

 
Previous Records 

33. A daybook has been in use since 2002 to record all items offered to the 
museum.  There are two further daybooks 1966 – 1970 and 1984 – 
2001  with notes about items that cannot be located.  These are all 
located in the bottom draw of the middle filing cabinet in HL2. 

34. There are three accession registers.  
a) An MDA register was completed by volunteers in retrospect and covers 

the period 1897 – 1976.  There are several pages with accession 
numbers and no information, presumably left for back filling.  The back 
pages have been used to list items that have been left out from 1945-
1976. 

b) A second register was originally started as a daybook in 1970 and 
therefore duplicates the other register.  However from 1976 it continues 
as an accessions register.  There are, however, many duplications and 
inconsistent recording of data.  Entries for 2001-2002 can be found at 
the front of this book. 

c) The current register was started in 2002 and follows more closely the 
procedures described in this manual. 

35. Duplicate history cards have been used to provide another index 
categorised by object type.  This had been organised based on SHIC 1 
classification3, this is currently being adapted to SHIC 2 classification. 

 
 

                                                 
3
 Social History and Industrial Classification 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Accessions Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Definition and Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to document 
and manage the addition of objects and their associated information 
into the Museum’s collections.  It therefore describes the 
circumstances when accession will be permitted and when it will not, 
the treatment of objects on entering the collection, the terms and 
conditions under which objects will be acquired, authorisation levels, 
and the documentation required for accessioning. 

 
Scope 

2. The policy applies to:- 
a) All objects that are to be accessioned into the main collection 
b) All objects that are to be accessioned into the handling 

collection. 
3. The policy does not apply to:- 

a) Objects that are to be returned to their owners. 
b) Objects that have already been accessioned. 
c) Objects that have recently entered the museum and are due to 

be disposed of. 
 
Objects Permitted to be Accessioned 
 

4. See Collections Development Policy (Appendix 3) for detailed 
collecting guidelines relating to the subject areas around which objects 
are collected at Tamworth Castle. 

5. Objects that will be permitted to be accessioned into the collections 
include:- 

a) Purchases 
b) Donations 
c) Anonymous donations.  However there is a strong presumption 

against accepting anonymous donations into the collection 
unless absolutely necessary for display or handling purposes. 

6. Objects that will not be permitted to be accessioned into the collections 
include:- 

a) Loans-In (see Loans-In policy and procedures) 
b) Objects received for Identification (see Identification Policy and 

Procedures) 
c) Objects that have been found in store with no identifying number 

(see Backlog Policy).  Only once it can be proven that these 
objects have definitely never been accessioned into the 
collection will they be allowed to be accessioned. 

d) Obviously hazardous items i.e.: explosives or harmful 
chemicals.  

Page 243



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

e) Where there is any suspicion that the object entering the 
collection may have been involved in illicit trade or spoliation or 
is a protected natural material listed by CITES. 

See Tamworth Castle Collections Development Policy 2014 - 2019, 
section 9 Acquisition Procedures a-g;  section 10  Spoliation, and 
section 11 Repatriation and Restitution. 

  
7. All objects that are to be accessioned should have undergone Entry 

Procedures and will therefore have an accompanying Object Entry 
Form.  It is important to ensure that the transfer of title section of this 
form is completed before the accessioning process is begun.  If not, 
this will need to be signed before the accessioning process is begun. 

 
Treatment of Objects on Entering the Collection 

 
8. On entering the collection the decision to acquire an object must be 

made within one month.  See Object Entry Policy paragraph 11.  The 
object should be accessioned into the collection, catalogued and 
placed into store within one month of the decision being made to 
acquire the object.  See also Cataloguing Policy and Procedures. 

 
Numbering the Accession Transaction 

9. Tamworth Castle will assign a unique identifying number to every 
object that it accessions.  This number will be called the accession 
number.  For number format see Accession Procedures paragraphs 
12-16. 

10. Tamworth Castle will mark the accession number onto the artefact in a 
semi-permanent way, ensuring it is reversible.  See Labelling and 
Marking Policy and Procedures. 

 
Recording the Accession Transaction 

11. Tamworth Castle will record each newly accessioned object in the 
Accessions Register.  Information will be recorded relating to the 
acquisition details, current location, item description and accession 
number.   

12. Back-up copies of the Accession Register are stored in the Castle safe 
and the main safe at Tamworth Borough Council offices, Marmion 
House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth.  As each new page is completed in 
the Accession Register it is to be photocopied and added to the back 
up copies in both safes.  The copies are printed on archival quality 
paper. 

13. All newly accessioned items are to be fully catalogued as soon as 
accessioned.  See Cataloguing Policy and Procedures. 

14. The object is to be photographed when accessioned.  The photograph 
is to be stored digitally in the ‘New Accessions Images’ file on the 
server until the object is catalogued.  See Cataloguing Policy and 
Procedures. 

15. Information collected about newly accessioned objects, including the 
blue copy of the Object Entry Form and the thank you letter issued to 
the donor, are to be stored in either the accessions file for the year of 

Page 244



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

acquisition or a separate history file for the object.  See History Files 
Policy and Procedures. 

 
Handling Collection 

 
16. Objects placed into the Handling Collection are accessioned separately 

from the main collection. 
17. Objects are not allocated an accession number.  Instead they are 

marked with an ‘H’.  See Labelling and Marking Policy. 
18. Objects are not recorded in the Accessions Register, instead a manual 

list of items in the Handling Collection is maintained in the handling 
collection file and includes summary information about the object.  See 
Accessions Procedures. 

19. See ‘Backlog Policy’ for action plan to improve policy and procedures 
for dealing with the Handling Collection in line with practice for 
accessions into the main collection.  

 
Photographic Collection 

20. Items placed into the Photographic Collection are accessioned 
separately from the main collection.  This includes photographs, prints, 
photographic postcards, negatives and slides. 

21. Items are given a PH accession number with a different format to the 
numbers of the main collection.  

22. Photographs are recorded in a separate Accessions Register.  Back-up 
copies of the Photograph Accessions Register are stored in the Castle 
safe and the main safe at Tamworth Borough Council offices, Marmion 
House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth.  As each new page is completed in 
the register it is to be photocopied and added to the back up copies in 
both safes.  The copies are printed on archival quality paper. 

 
Transfer of Title 

 
23. The Museum will not normally acquire objects if the vendor or donor 

declines to sign the transfer of title section of the form.  If the form was 
not signed due to an oversight, the entry form will be posted to the 
vendor or donor to obtain transfer of title.  Only when this has been 
received will an object be accessioned. 

24. Tamworth Castle refuses to accept items where transfer of title has not 
been secured. 

 
Backlog Accessioning 
 

25. Objects found in the store with no accession number are subject to the 
Backlog Policy and Action Plan.  As part of the Backlog Policy objects 
found with no accession numbers will be reconciled with a list of 
accessioned objects not found.  Un-accessioned objects, with no clear 
provenance, will only be accessioned if the object is of significance for 
handling or display.  See Backlog Policy.  

 
 

Page 245



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

Conditions Applicable to Accessions 
 

26. For standard terms and conditions for acquisitions see reverse of 
Object Entry Form, Appendix 1. 

27. Tamworth Castle will bear the cost of items entering the collection that 
it has sought to acquire (purchases, loans-in).  However items which 
are to be accessioned and did not enter the Museum at the Museum’s 
request (identifications, donations, anonymous deposits) may require 
the owner to be responsible for any additional costs incurred.  
Additional costs may include storage, photography, courier, transport 
and conservation costs.  This is subject to negotiation for donations 
that are deemed to be particularly significant to the collection. 

 
Letters of Thanks 

28. A standard thank you letter is to be written to the donor when it is 
decided to accept a donated object into the collection.  The letter 
should formally thank the donor for the donation of the object, 
acknowledge its receipt and inform the donor of the Museum’s 
intended use of the object.  See standard letters Appendix 2, the 
template for the letters is stored on the Castle’s server in the 
Collections folder to print off and use as required. 

 
Authorisation and Responsibility  

29. It is the responsibility of all members of staff and volunteers to ensure 
that all objects under the care of the Museum are cared for in 
accordance with Tamworth Castle’s Handling and Storage Guidelines. 

30. The decision to acquire an object and accession it into the permanent 
collections can be made by the Collections Officer, but only with 
approval from the Heritage  and Visitor Services Manager.   

31. The decision to acquire an object and place it into the Handling 
Collection must be made by the Collections Officer and also the 
Education Officer, with approval from the Heritage Services Manager. 

32. The Heritage and Visitor Services Manager has the right to decide on 
objects to be accessioned into the main collection or placed in the 
Handling Collection independently of the Collections Officer.  In cases 
of dispute the decision of the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager is 
final. 

33. The Accessions Register is to be completed by (in order of 
preference):- 
a) Collections Officer 
b) Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 
The Collections Officer is responsible for ensuring that objects are 
 accessioned according to the Accession Procedures. Objects are 
 to be entered into the Accessions Register following the printed 
 instructions at the front of the new MDA Accessions Register. 

34. The Collections Officer is responsible for writing a letter of thanks to 
owners of donated objects within one month of the object being 
accessioned. 

 
 

Page 246



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Accessions Procedures 

Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the documentation 
processes that must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to 
document and manage the addition of objects and their associated 
information into the Museum’s collections.  The procedures are the 
physical actions required to implement the Accessions Policy.  They 
therefore provide a step-by-step account of how to document the 
accession of an object that has entered the museum’s collections.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Accessions Policy. 

 
Spectrum Definition 

3. Documenting and managing the addition of objects and associated 
information to the collections of the organisation and their possible 
accession to the permanent collections. 

 
Spectrum Minimum Standard 

4. The organisation must have a policy covering the acquisition of objects, 
which should include a collecting policy. 

5. The procedure for managing and documenting acquisitions must:- 
a) Ensure that written evidence is obtained of the original title to an 

object and the transfer of the title to the acquiring organisation; 
b) Enable the reconciling of acquisition records with objects as part 

of retrospective documentation, audit and inventory activity; 
c) Ensure that a unique number is assigned to, and physically 

associated with, all objects; 
d) Ensure that accession registers are maintained, describing all 

acquisitions and listing them by number; 
e) Ensure that information about the acquisition process is 

retained; 
f) Ensure that donors are made aware of the terms on which their 

gift or bequest is accepted by the organisation; 
g) Ensure that collecting complies with the organisation's collecting 

policy, and does not contravene any local, national or 
international law, treaty or recognised code of practice; 

h) Ensure a copy of the information in the accession register is 
made and kept up to date. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

Transfer of Title 
6. Tamworth Castle does not use separate Transfer of Title Forms.  

Therefore before an item can be accessioned it is necessary to ensure 
that the Transfer of Title section of the Object Entry Form has been 
completed, signed and dated in full.  An item cannot be accessioned 
until the owner has signed their title to the object over to Tamworth 
Castle. 

 

Completion of Accessions Register 
7. Accessions are to be recorded in the Accessions Register.  This is 

located in the bottom drawer of filing cabinet 4, HL2 in Holloway Lodge. 
8. Each accession should be started on the line immediately beneath the 

previous accession record.  
9. The information to be recorded includes:- 

a) Entry number 
b) Accession number 
c) Date acquired 
d) Details of who acquired from 
e) Acquisition method 
f) Simple name, basic description, identification and historical 

information. 
g) Notes  

10. The register is to be completed following the printed instructions at the 
front of the new MDA Accessions Register, using an archival quality 
pen. 

 
Numbering the Accession Transaction 

11. Each item is to be given a unique accession number.  It consists of the 
year of accession, followed by a consecutive number for each item 
accessioned that year.  For example 2009.1 or 1972.64.  

12. It is extremely important to ensure than no number is duplicated.  Every 
accession number allocated is recorded on the Object Entry log located 
in the object entry file and also the Accession Log located in the 
Accession file for each year.  Therefore when recording the fate of the 
item on the Object Entry Log the next consecutive accession number is 
to be allocated based on the last accession number listed.  This is to 
be cross referenced with the Accessions Register and the Accession 
Log. 

13. For groups of items that consist of more than one item, each item in the 
group receives its own identity number, but remains part of the same 
accession number.  This is easily done by appending a further 
consecutive number to the Accession number.  An object consisting of 
5 items might be given the numbers 2009.1.1, 2009.1.2, 2009.1.3, 
2009.1.4 and 2009.1.5.  For example in a tea set numbered 2009.1, a 
saucer might be numbered 2009.1.1, a tea cup 2009.1.2 etc. 

 
 
 

Page 248



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

14. It is important to note that parts of one item will be part of the same 
number, ie a teapot in a tea set is given one number.  The lid and 
teapot are not numbered separately. 

15. Where large numbers of similar objects are physically grouped together 
they can be numbered as one object.  For example a group of sherds 
in a secure container or a card of twenty buttons. 

16. No re-numbering of objects in the accessioned collection will take 
place, except: 

a) Temporary numbers allocated to items as part of the inventory 
process. 

b) In order to avoid duplication.  
c) To allow for the individual recording of previously group 

accessioned items. 
d) Where suffixes include letters instead of numbers, these are to 

be substituted for numbers to ensure uniformity.   
17. Photographs are subject to a separate numbering system.  They 

consist of a consecutive number pre-fixed by the letters ‘PH’, for 
example PH1003, or PH11,324.  This numbering system is to be used 
on any photograph, print, photographic postcards, negatives and 
slides. 

 
Processing the Accessioned Object 

18. Once the object has been allocated an Accession number and details 
of the object have been recorded in the Accession register the object 
must then be photographed.  These photographs are to be stored 
digitally in the ‘Newly Accessioned Images’ file on the server in the 
Collections file. 

19. The object has to be marked or labelled with the Accession number.  
See Labelling and Marking Policy and Procedures. 

20. A letter of thanks is to be sent to a donor, see Accessions Policy 
paragraph 28. 

21. The blue copy of the Object Entry Form and copies of letters of thanks 
are to be filed in the Accessions file for that year, or the History file for 
the object if more information is obtained.  See History Files Policy and 
Procedures.   

22. The object should be immediately catalogued after being Accessioned.  
See Catalogue Policy and Procedures. 

 
Handling Collection 

23. On entering the Handling Collection objects are to be recorded on a log 
found at the front of the ‘Handling Collection’ file in filing cabinet 3, HL2 
in Holloway Lodge.  

24. For new objects it is not necessary to enter the object into the main 
Collection’s Accessions Register first.  Instead the item should enter 
the Handling Collection immediately. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$u30rcwfv.doc 

25. For Accessioned objects that Tamworth Castle wishes to transfer into 
the Handling Collection, the details of the object’s Accession number 
must be recorded on the Handling Collection log. All corresponding 
history files must be transferred into the ‘Handling Collection’ files. 

 
26. The information to be recorded on the Handling Collection log is:- 

a) Simple name 
b) Previous accession number (if applicable)/ Object Entry Form 

number 
c) Condition on entering the Handling Collection (Excellent, Good, 

Fair or Poor) 
d) Location (The Handling Collection are all stored in one location 

in the Castle’s back cellar, therefore the location box should 
indicate which box the item was placed into.) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 250



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Labelling and Marking Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to easily 
identify an object with its associated documentation.  It therefore 
describes the objects that require labelling / marking, the guiding 
principles, responsibility and authorisation, methods of labelling / 
marking, labelling groups of items, labelling / marking packaging, the 
removal of numbers, retrospective labelling / marking and labelling / 
marking of the Handling Collection.   

 
Scope 

2. The policy applies to:- 
a) All objects that have been accessioned into the main collection 

(purchases and donations). 
b) All objects that have been accessioned into the Handling 

Collection (purchases and donations). 
c) Objects that have not been accessioned (newly entered items, 

items to be identified, Loans-In). 
3. The terms temporary and semi-permanent are used in this policy to 

describe the longevity of marking methods used. Definitions of their 
use are to be found in Tamworth Castle’s Labelling and Marking 
Procedures, paragraph 3. 

 
Guiding Principles 
 

4. At each stage in an object’s transition through the Museum its 
identifying number needs to be clearly visible.  There are no exceptions 
to this rule.  See the Numbering Guidelines for a summary of 
numbering formats in use at Tamworth Castle. 

5. The following principles will guide the decision on marking and 
labelling: 
a) Permanence. The chances of accidental removal of the label / 

mark from the artefact must be extremely low. 
b) Long-term reversibility. It must be possible for a label or mark to 

be removed from an artefact, even after 50-100 years. 
c) Care of the artefact. Neither the materials applied to the artefact 

nor the way in which they are applied must risk significant 
damage to the artefact. 

d) Risks to staff. The Health and Safety risks to staff must either be 
insignificant, or easily managed. The management of such risks 
must comply with Tamworth Castle / Tamworth Borough 
Council's Health and Safety Policy. 

 
 
 
 

Page 251



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

Objects That Require Labelling/Marking 
 

6. In interpreting the above principles the balance to be struck between 
security and reversibility will be appropriate to the legal status of the 
item. If Tamworth Castle does not own the object, temporary methods 
will normally be used. If Tamworth Castle owns the object semi-
permanent methods will normally be used. 

7. Throughout its time at the Museum an object will receive various 
identifying numbers which need to be temporarily labelled or 
permanently marked on the object:- 

a) Object Entry numbers – temporarily labelled.  Alternatively the 
object may be securely packaged and the entry number 
temporarily marked onto the packaging. 

b) Accession numbers – the only number to be semi - 
permanently marked / labelled (where possible) 

c) Incoming Loan Agreement  numbers – temporarily labelled 
d) Exit numbers – no labelling required.  

 
Methods of Labelling / Marking 
 

8. The preferred method is marking on the object itself, wherever 
possible. If a number cannot or should not be marked onto the object, it 
will be written onto a label instead and attached to or directly 
associated with the item. The label will contain only the same 
information as would normally be marked onto the object. Any other 
information which is to be recorded will be written on a separate label. 

9. The method used, and the location of the mark or label, will be that 
indicated by the guidelines in Tamworth Castle's Labelling and Marking 
Procedures. 

10. All objects will be marked at the site of their accessioning, either 
Holloway Lodge or the off-site store at Amington.  However, as part of 
the Backlog Action Plan it will be necessary to carry out retrospective 
labelling of items in their current store. 

 
Labelling and Marking of Groups and Parts  
 

11. Parts of an object or members of a group of objects will normally be 
marked separately. However, where this would require the marking of 
over 20 related objects, they may be securely packaged and the 
packaging marked. When such items are removed from that packaging 
for display, they must be marked individually, when this is not possible 
a label must be attached. 

 
Labelling and Marking of Packaging 
 

12. Where groups of objects are packaged for storage, the packaging will 
be marked with the numbers of all the objects it contains.   Where large 
numbers of objects are packaged, number ranges, summarising the 
contents, will be used. 

13. Where objects are packaged for transit to an external body, for 

Page 252



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

example for loan-out or for conservation, additional detail may be 
written on the outside of the packaging, such as directions to handlers 
to keep one face vertical. See handling and storage guidelines. 

 
 
Security Marking 

14. Items at significant risk of theft are not currently marked with smart 
water or a UV security marker pen.  This has been identified as an 
action point in the Backlog Plan. 

 
Removal of Numbers 

15. When an object held under the terms of the Entry Policy is returned to 
its owner, or when an object leaves the collection permanently (that is 
when it is disposed of) all numbers must be removed.  

16. When an object held under the terms of the Entry Policy is accessioned 
into the permanent collection, any entry number will be removed before 
the accession number is applied. 

17. If an object is re-accessioned with a new number, the old accession 
number should not be removed.  However there is a strong 
presumption against re-numbering, see Backlog Policy. 

 
Retrospective Labelling and Marking 

18.  Objects from the accessioning backlog, when accessioned, will be 
marked with an accession number, as will those which have been 
accessioned but are currently unmarked, or have been given a 'T' 
Temporary number during the Collections Audit.  See Backlog Policy 

 
Responsibility and Authorisation 

19. It is the responsibility of the person creating the Accession record to 
label or mark the object using the appropriate method the same day as 
they make the relevant Accession record.  

20. The Collections Officer  and collections volunteers are responsible for 
carrying out labelling / marking.   

21. All staff and volunteers at Tamworth Castle are responsible for 
ensuring that all labels remain with their objects.  If they should notice a 
label that has become detached from an object they should notify the 
Collections Officer as soon as possible. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 253



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Labelling and Marking Procedures 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the processes that 
must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to easily identify an object 
with its associated documentation.  The procedures are the physical 
actions required to implement the Labelling and Marking Policy.  They 
therefore provide a step-by-step account of how to label and mark an 
accessioned object.  The item specific procedures have been 
reproduced from the relevant sections of the Collections Trust Labelling 
and Marking booklet.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Labelling and Marking Policy. 

3. Throughout these procedures the following definitions apply: 
a) Temporary labelling – this refers to the process of writing an 

object’s accession number onto a non-adhesive label which is 
usually tied onto an object.  It can easily be removed and so is 
therefore only temporary. 

b) Semi-Permanent marking – this refers to the act of writing an 
object’s accession number directly onto the object.  However 
this is done using materials that can be removed if required and 
is therefore only semi-permanent. 

 
Accreditation Standard 

4. Labelling and marking is part of the Spectrum primary procedure 
Acquisition.  For Spectrum definition and minimum standard see 
Accessions Procedures paragraphs 3-5. 

5. The Accreditation Standard says: 
‘Each accessioned item, or group of items, must be marked and / or 
labelled with its / their unique identity number in a way that is as 
permanent as possible without damaging the item.’ 

 
Labelling and Marking Materials and Equipment 

6. The equipment for labelling and marking is stored in two clearly 
labelled kits, housed in red metal tool boxes. One kit is kept in the work 
area in Holloway Lodge HL2. One kit is kept in the office work area in 
the off-site store at Amington. 

7. The Marking and Labelling Kit contents are as follows: 
a) Safety goggles 
b) Permanent black marker pen 
c) Permanent black ink 
d) Permanent white ink 
e) Paraloid B72 solution  
f) Acetone 
g) Solvent dispenser 

Page 254



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

h) Brush 
i) Cotton wool swabs. 
j) Cotton gloves 
k) Tie on card labels 
l) Scissors 
m) Unbleached cotton tape in various widths. 
n) Fine cotton thread 
o) Sewing Needles 
p) Stainless steel dressmakers pins 
q) Scissors 

8. The contents of the Photograph and Archive labelling kit are: 
a) 2B pencil 
b) Permanent black marker pen 
c) Foil backed labels 
d) Sharpener 
e) Eraser 

9. The following materials must never be used to mark museum objects:- 
a) Tippex (instead of white ink).   
b) Clear Nail Varnish (instead of Paraloid B72).   
c) Nail Varnish Remover (instead of laboratory grade Acetone).   

 
Where to Carry Out Labelling and Marking 

10. Guidelines from Collections Trust:- 
a) Avoid physically unstable surfaces. Also avoid placing labels or 

marks across a line of weakness or fracture;  
b) Choose a position so that the number is unlikely to be visible 

when the object is on display but is accessible in store;  
c) Avoid decoration and painted / varnished / pigmented / waxed 

areas;  
d) Avoid surfaces where the mark is likely to be at risk from 

abrasion, such as surfaces on which it normally rests, or where 
touched during handling;  

e) Mark all detachable parts of an object;  
f) Locate the number so that the handling necessary to read it is 

minimised (consider marking the packaging or adding an extra 
tie-on label as well);  

g) With composite objects, mark the part on which the most secure 
method can be used;  

h) Where duplicate marks are made these should be in different 
positions on the object (bearing in mind, of course, the other 
principles listed above).  

11. Photographs and archive material are marked on the reverse and 
labelled on the front of their packaging in the top left hand corner. 

12. All other objects are to be marked as far as possible on their base or 
on their reverse. 

13. As far as possible costume and textiles should have sewn-on and 
 tie–on labels attached, avoiding damage to the fabric, preferably 
 through a stable seam area. If there is nowhere to attach a tie–on label,  
 then a label must be sewn onto the object, and the tie - on  label  
 attached to that. 

Page 255



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

Specific Techniques 
14. The techniques detailed below are the most commonly used 

techniques at Tamworth Castle, as listed in the Collections Trust 
booklet on Labelling and Marking.  For a wider variety of techniques 
see the Collections Trust booklet. 

 
Writing on the Object 

15. This method is to be used for objects made from wood, glass, metal or 
plastic that require semi-permanent marking. 

16. The work area should be as well ventilated as possible.  
17. Method: (reproduced from Collections Trust booklet) 

a) Select a clean area on the object's surface.  
b) Support the object if necessary so that you will be able to leave 

it to dry after marking.  
c) Fill the cap brush or an artist’s brush with the Paraloid B72 

solution but do not overload it to avoid drips.  
d) For non-porous surfaces: with one steady movement first move 

the brush in one direction to make a mark only slightly larger 
than the size of the number to be applied. Then stroke again in 
the opposite direction to use the solution on the other side of the 
brush. Then leave it to dry. Some people find it easier to apply 
single brush strokes.  

e) For porous surfaces it is important to build up enough lacquer to 
prevent the ink penetrating the surface. Apply at least three 
coats of B72, allowing it to dry before applying the next coat. 
Enough lacquer has been applied when it dries to a fairly 
consistent smooth dull sheen. Hint: try this out on a similar trial 
surface or even paper first then see if you can remove the 
number or if the ink has penetrated the surface.  

f) The ink should be applied in quite thick strokes with a pen 
appropriate to the size of the number you want to write. Leave it 
to set and dry before applying a top layer of Paraloid B72. If the 
ink is applied too thinly it may be damaged by the top layer of 
B72.  

g) Only one top layer should be necessary, spread lightly over the 
surface to avoid smudging the ink below. You can add additional 
layers after the first is dry to give added protection against the 
number being worn away.  

h) If you make a mistake wipe it off with a swab soaked in Acetone.  
 
Sewn on Label 

18. This method is to be used for labelling textiles.   
19. Method:- 

a) Assess the object and decide whether to sew on a label, attach 
a tie on label, or make a special tag. If you are going to sew on a 
label it must be possible to stitch into the textile without causing 
damage. Tie on labels should be attached through a buttonhole, 
or similar, or the sewn-on label so that the fabric is not 
damaged. 

Page 256



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

b) Choose a location. Bear in mind whether the label needs to be 
visible when the textile is in storage. If the textile is going to be 
rolled it may be worth marking a long cotton tape with the same 
number and tying it round the rolled textile.  

c) Choose a tape width or label size appropriate to the object size.  
d) Write the label neatly. This is easier with a marker pen.  
e) For a standard flat cotton tape sewn-in label cut the tape 

approximately 5mm longer at each end than the finished length 
of the label, Turn under the raw ends and stitch in place with 
several long stitches at each end in a fine thread, preferably one 
that matches the label not the textile, so the thread is easily 
identifiable. The procedure for a sewn-in Tyvek label is the 
same, except no turnings are needed.  

f) Tape and Tyvek can also be used to make looped labels sewn 
to the textile at one end only. This is particularly suitable for flat 
textiles with a hemmed edge. The loop can be arranged so that 
the number can be seen with the textile flat in store, but tucked 
beneath for display. The stitching can be concealed in the hem 
so that it cannot be seen from the right side.  

g) Special Tyvek tags are used for fragile textiles, where a stitched 
label or a tie-on tag would cause damage. The number is written 
on a small piece of Tyvek and a fine needle is used with a length 
of fine cotton thread which is passed through the Tyvek and 
through an existing hole in the textile or between the threads 
from which it is woven. The ends of the thread are then knotted. 
This lightweight label puts little strain on the textile.  

Costume and Textile label location  
 In order to maintain consistent location of labels on costume and   
 textiles, and to minimise excessive handling, or the need to search   
 items for labels in different places Tamworth Castle uses the following 
standard locations: 
       h) flat textiles: 
           sewn on loop label attached on a stable corner or end, with a 
 string paper label attached to the loop, ensuring that the label is 
 on the top layer when packing into the box 
       i) hats, bonnets, headwear: 
 sewn on loop label attached inside on the hat band or the fabric 
 at a seam or other suitable stable place. 
       j) coats, jackets, bodices, shirts, blouses, dresses, pinafores: 
 sewn on loop label attached to the proper left shoulder seam, or 
 where no seam is available in the back of the collar. 
       k) skirts, trousers, petticoats, aprons: 
 sewn on loop label attached to the proper left of the waistband  
 opening. 
        l) underwear:  
 as above depending on whether half or full garment.  
       m) stockings, tights, socks, gloves: 
  always keep in pair by sewing either end of the label loop to   
  each one at the cuff, preferably at the seam point, or by looping
 a string paper label through wrist buttonholes on leather gloves. 

Page 257



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

 for tights sewn on loop label at the centre waistband seam. 
       n) accessories: 
 sewn on loop labels and / or string paper labels attached where  
 appropriate, stable and evident, i.e. when attaching a label to  
 spectacles always attach on the same side. 

Loose Label 
20. Some objects, such as coins, are too small and detailed to be marked, 

nor is it easy to tie a label onto them.  One option is to use a loose 
label:- 

a) Examine the object to check if the method is appropriate. If in 
doubt, consult a conservator. 

b) Write the object number on an acid-free paper or Tyvek label 
using a suitable marking ink or marking pen. Put it underneath 
the object in its storage tray.  

c) Take a photograph of the object, and mark the object number on 
the rear border of the print using a suitable marking ink and 
marking pen (record the weight of the object as an additional 
means of identification).  

Alternatively place the coin, for example, into a paper coin pocket and 
mark the pocket, or place in a re-sealable plastic pocket and mark the 
pocket on the opaque writing strips 

21. Always keep the label / pocket with the object. When the object (and 
hence label / pocket  is moved, an Object Movement card should be 
put in its place. 

  
Tie-on label 

22. Method:- 
a) Examine the object to check if the method is appropriate. If in 

doubt, consult a conservator.  
b) Write the object number on an acid-free paper, Tyvek label, or 

string label using a suitable marking ink or pen.  
c) Pass tape, string or thread (as appropriate to the object) through 

hole in label.  
d) Tie tape loosely round the 'hole', 'handle' or 'neck' of the object 

using a reef knot or by looping it round and through itself.  
 
Pencil Mark 

23. Paper is easily marked with a good-quality 2B pencil, which can be 
removed with a very soft, clean eraser.  

24. Method:- 
a) Examine the object to check if the method is appropriate. If in 

doubt, consult a conservator. 
b) Number the object where appropriate, in pencil on the reverse, 

preferably on the lower edge, using gentle pressure.  
c) If newly sharpened, scribble the pencil until it writes smoothly 

before numbering.  
d) For book collections using four-fold-flap packaging, books will be 

numbered in pencil on the first available page beyond the front 
cover. This will minimise the handling of the book within the four-

Page 258



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$2fns1k5g.doc 

fold-flap to look for numbers on the reverse or at the back of the 
book. 

 
Marking the Packaging 

25. The method is to be used predominantly for books in four-fold-flap 
packaging, photographs or archive material and is to complement the 
pencil mark approach above. 

26. The method is to label and mark the packaging of the object rather 
than the object itself, or place a label in the packaging:- 

a) Four-fold-flap book packaging should be marked on the spine, 
 in 2B pencil so as to be easily identifiable on the shelf. 
b) Photograph and archive packaging should, where possible, be 

transparent 'Melanex' sleeves which reduce the need for 
handling of the original item.   

c) A foil backed label is to be placed in the top left hand corner.  
The Accession number is to be written on the label using an 
archival quality black marker pen. 

 
Security Marking 

27. Method:- 
a) A layer of Paraloid B72 should be brushed onto the object to act 

as a base coat and ensure reversibility. 
b) The UV marker pen can be applied on top of this base coat. 
c) A layer of B27 Paraloid should be brushed over the area to 

provide a protective top coat.   
 
 
 
 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 1

Tamworth Castle 
Cataloguing Policy 

Introduction 
 
Definition and Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to assemble 
and easily access key information about each item in the collection. It 
therefore describes when cataloguing will be required, the level of 
cataloguing required and the documentation required for cataloguing.   

Scope 
2. The policy applies to:- 

a) All objects that have been accessioned into the main collection.  
3. The policy does not apply to:- 

a) Objects that have not been accessioned into the main collection.  
b) Objects that have been accessioned into the Handling 

Collection, as these do not require cataloguing, instead a 
manual list is maintained detailing summary information about 
an item, any extra information is stored in History Files. See 
Accessions Policy and Procedures. 

 
Objects That Require Cataloguing 
 

4. All objects that have been accessioned into the main collection both 
recently and historically require up to date catalogue records. 

5. Newly accessioned objects require the Cataloguing Policy and 
Procedures to be actioned in full as part of the accessioning process.  
New objects will not be placed into store until they have been fully 
catalogued. 

6. Once the cataloguing process has been started for an object it must be 
completed the same day.  

7. Objects found in store that have been re-associated with their 
Accession number must be checked to ensure that they meet the 
requirements of the Cataloguing Policy and Procedures.  If they do not 
their documentation must be bought up to date.  See Backlog Policy. 

 
Level of Documentation Required 
 

8. Every object that is accessioned into the main collection must have a 
completed MDA / Collections Trust Simple Catalogue Card and a 
corresponding entry on Tamworth Castle’s Modes XML database. 

 
MDA / Collections Trust Simple Catalogue Card 

9. Every box on the catalogue card must be completed if known.  If the 
information is not known then it is to be left blank in case this 
information is acquired at a later date.  Therefore the following 
information is to be recorded as an absolute minimum in order to meet 
minimum standards:- 

a) Simple object name,  
b) Accession number  
c) Number of items 

Page 261



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 2

d) Brief Summary 
e) Acquisition details 

10.  In addition the following information must be recorded, if known: 
a) Classification 
b) Production information 
c) Associations 
d) Physical description 
e) Conservation information 
f) Reference to a photograph 

11. It is not acceptable to only partially complete the catalogue card as this 
will create a cataloguing backlog.  Every section of the card must be 
completed if the information is known. 

12. A cataloguing backlog currently exists at Tamworth Castle.  Previous 
documentation systems have not insisted on all the information being 
recorded about an object.  Therefore as part of the Backlog Plan the 
catalogue cards are in the process of being checked and updated, for 
every item, to ensure that they are accurate and up to date.  See 
Backlog Policy. 

13. Separate catalogue cards are completed for Photographs.  The 
information recorded includes:- 

a) Photograph subject, number and classification 
b) Production information, acquisition information, date of 

photograph and location 
c) Extra information 

14. Once complete the Photograph catalogue cards are stored in filing 
cabinets 5 and 6 in Holloway Lodge HL2. 

 
Modes XML Database 

15. Every Item must be catalogued fully on the Modes Computer database.  
The following items should be recorded according to the on-screen 
catalogue sheet.  The sheet should be completed in full where the 
information is known for the following sections: 

a) Object Identity 
b) Number of items 
c) Object Name 
d) Classification 
e) Description 
f) Production 
g) Association 
h) Object Location 
i) Acquisition 
j) Deposit 
k) Description Material 
l) Condition check 
m) Recorder 

16. A photograph should be taken of the item where possible.  
17.  Term lists should be adhered to, to ensure a standardised form of 

entry onto the system. 
18.  Please refer to Appendix 5 for copy of Modes Catalogue Sheet 

 

Page 262



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 3

 
Authorisation and Responsibility 

 
19. The Collections Officer is responsible for entering data onto and 

amending data within the Modes XML Database. 
20. The Collections Officer is responsible for ensuring all volunteers 

complete catalogue cards according to the procedures outlined above.  
21. The Collections Officer is responsible for training volunteers in the 

correct Policy and Procedures for cataloguing the collection. 
22. The Heritage and Visitor Services Manager has responsibility for 

administration of the Modes XML Database only.  Therefore any 
changes that need to be made to the structure of the database have to 
be authorised and implemented by the Heritage and Visitor Services 
Manager. 

23. The database will be set up to allow other members of staff, such as 
the Education Officer, the option of searching the Modes XML 
Database, but any amendments on the information held about an 
object, can only be made by the Collections Officer or Heritage and 
Visitor Services Manager.   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 263



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 4

Tamworth Castle 
Cataloguing Procedures 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the documentation 
processes that must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to 
assemble and easily access key information about each item in the 
collection.  The procedures are the physical actions required to 
implement the Cataloguing Policy.  They therefore provide a step-by-
step account of how to document an object that has been accessioned 
into the Museum’s collections.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Cataloguing Policy. 

 
Spectrum Definition 
 

3. The compilation and maintenance of key information, formally 
identifying and describing objects. It may include information 
concerning the provenance of objects and also collections 
management documentation e.g. details of acquisition, conservation, 
exhibition and loan history, and location history.  It need not bring 
together in one location everything known about an object, but should 
provide cross-references to any other relevant information source 
known to the museum. 

 
Spectrum Minimum Standard 

4. Cataloguing information must: 
a) Provide a level of description sufficient to identify an object or 

group of objects and its differences from other, similar objects; 
b) Provide an historic archive relating to an object or cross-

references to sources where information can be found;  
c) Be held in a system that allows convenient access, e.g. using 

indexes or free-text retrieval. 
 
Completion of a Catalogue Card 

5. Catalogue cards are to be completed in accordance with the 
Cataloguing Policy. 

6. The blank catalogue cards are kept in the stationery cupboard in 
Holloway Lodge HL1. 

7. They are to be completed using a black archival quality pen. 
8. The following information is to be recorded on the MDA / Collections 

Trust Simple Catalogue card, see the example of catalogue card in 
Appendix 5, the items in italics must be completed to meet Spectrum 
minimum standards.  However Tamworth Castle aims to complete 
each catalogue card in full, if the information is known:- 

a) Object name, number and classification 

Page 264



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 5

- Simple object name 
- Other object name 
- Title 
- Serial number 
- Number of items 
- Institution and identity number 
- Classification 

b) Summary of item 
c) Production information 

- Maker/creator 
- Date made 
- Where made 
- Method of production 

d) Associations 
- People 
- Places 
- Date 

e) Acquisition information 
- How acquired 
- Who acquired from 
- Date acquired 
- Entry form number 
- Home location and date 
- Current location and date 

f) Physical description 
- Materials, colour, shape, inscriptions etc. 
- Size 
- Whether the object is complete 
- Condition of the object 

g) Conservation information 
- Conservation method  
- By whom conserved 
- Date conserved 

h) Reference to a photograph 
- A photograph can be attached here or the location of a 

corresponding digital photograph on the server or 
Modes XML Database be recorded. 

- A drawing can be made if this better represents the 
object. 

 
Completion of a Photo Card 

9. Photograph catalogue cards are to be completed in accordance with 
the Cataloguing Policy. 

10. The blank catalogue cards are kept in HL2 on the shelves with the 
labelling and marking equipment, further supplies are located in the 
stationery cupboard in Holloway Lodge HL1. 

11. They are to be completed using a black archival quality pen. 
12. The following information is to be recorded on the Photograph 

catalogue card, see the example of a catalogue card in Appendix 5:- 
a) Classification (SHIC) 

Page 265



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$wyut4exw.doc 6

b) Photograph number 
c) Cross references to related material (Accession numbers to be 

recorded) 
d) Copyright details – who owns the copyright. 
e) Subject of the photograph (to be broken down into main subject 

and subsidiary subjects) 
f) Date/Period of the Photograph subject and Grid Reference if it is 

known. 
g) Date of cataloguing (which should be the same date as the 

object was accessioned) 
h) Name of photographer (if known) 
i) Details of owner/donor 
j) Acquisition method i.e. gift / copy / purchase 
k) Original date of photograph 
l) Current store location 
m) Extra information, this should include: 

- Physical description, materials, colour, shape, 
inscriptions, size, condition of the photograph 

 
Completion of a Database Record 
  

13. Every Item must be catalogued fully on the Modes XML Database.  
The following items should be recorded according to the on-screen 
catalogue sheet.  The sheet should be completed in full where the 
information is known for each of the sections listed: 

a) Object Identity 
b) Number of items 
c) Object Name 
d) Classification 
e) Description 
f) Production 
g) Association 
h) Object Location 
i) Acquisition 
j) Deposit 
k) Description Material 
l) Condition check 
m) Recorder 

14. A photograph should be taken of the item recorded and appended to 
the database. 

15.  All terms lists and classification information should be completed in the 
standardised form required.  

16. Please refer to Appendix 5 for further information on the Modes XML 
Database. 

 

Page 266



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Tamworth Castle 
Backlog Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. Accreditation requires that a museum meets minimum requirements 
in the documentation and care of its collections.  As part of Tamworth 
Castle’s preparation for Accreditation a review of the collections has 
been undertaken and significant backlogs have been identified in all 
areas. 

2. The Accreditation Standard Section 4.4 requires the 
'Creation of a written documentation plan, setting out actions, including 
the timescale, for dealing with any backlog'. 

3. This backlog policy has been produced by Tamworth Castle and 
outlines the Castle’s target position, providing an accurate statement 
of the current procedures in place, reviews retrospective procedures 
and identifies areas for action in a comprehensive Backlog Action 
Plan.   

 
Scope 

4. This policy covers backlogs with the documentation of the collections 
before moving on to look at backlogs with the care of the collections.  
Action points relating to documentation and care issues are combined 
in the action plan.  With limited staff resources it is more efficient to 
address the backlogs in the collection as a whole and combine action 
points. 

5. This policy replaces any former policies, formal and informal, relating 
to backlogs in the documentation and care of collections at Tamworth 
Castle.  All items that have entered the museum under former 
policies will now be subject to this policy. 

6. Throughout this policy the terms ‘object’, ‘item’ or ‘artefact’ are taken 
to mean archive material as well as three dimensional objects within 
the museum collections.  

7. The term ‘backlog’ is taken to mean a procedure which has either not 
been implemented or has been implemented but not to Accreditation 
standard. 

 
Policy Review Procedure 

8. The Backlog Policy will be reviewed at least once every five 
years. The date when the policy is next due for review is August 
2019. 

9. The Backlog Action Plan is to be updated yearly to ensure that it 
remains relevant to current priorities.  The next review will be due 
in September 2015. 

 
Authorisation and Responsibility 

10. The Collections Officer is responsible for reviewing the Backlog 
Policy and Action Plan and liaising with The Heritage and Visitors 

Page 267



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Services Manager. The final edition requires the authorisation of 
the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager for all amendments. 

11. The Collections Officer and volunteers are responsible for 
implementing the Backlog Action Plan. 

 
Target Position 
 

12. Tamworth Castle aims to meet the Accreditation standards for 
documentation and collections care. 

13. The minimum standards for the eight SPECTRUM primary 
procedures will be used to measure Tamworth Castle’s 
documentation procedures in the following areas: 
a. Object Entry 
b. Loans-in 
c. Acquisitions 
d. Location and Movement Control 
e. Cataloguing 
f. Object Exit 
g. Loans-out 

14. The accreditation standards for collections care will be used to 
measure Tamworth Castle’s standards of care in the following 
areas:  
a. Collection condition overview 
b. Environmental Monitoring and Integrated Pest Management 

(IPM) 
c. Housekeeping 
d. Provision of suitable building conditions 
e. Planned programme to institute improvements in collection 

care 

f. Conservation and collection care advice and services.   
 
Review of Current Documentation Procedures 
 

15. For a detailed overview of current documentation procedures see 
Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014.  This 
outlines Tamworth Castle’s policies and procedures relating to 
the SPECTRUM primary procedures. 

16. As part of Accreditation Tamworth Castle has implemented 
SPECTRUM compliant procedures throughout its collections.  
Therefore the following review of current documentation 
procedures will not identify any current procedures that form part 
of the backlog.  All items that enter the museum are documented 
in accordance with the required standards to ensure that 
Tamworth Castle’s backlog will not expand further. 

17. Tamworth Castle’s main backlog lies in its retrospective 
documentation, which has not been carried out to the required 
standards, resulting in a wide ranging documentation backlog.   

 
 
 

Page 268



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Object Entry 
18. Museums are expected to take the same care of objects not 

belonging to their collections as they would their own objects.  
  They might be held liable for loss of or damage to, objects 
whether solicited or not. Object Entry records log every item 
which is left in the care of the museum at the time of its arrival. 
Entry documentation should be applied to all potential gifts or 
purchases, and items to be identified, even if they will only 
remain in Tamworth Castle for a short time. 

19. All items entering Tamworth Castle have a Collections Trust 
Object Entry form completed in full, including the transfer of title 
section, a copy of which is given to the depositor with the terms 
and conditions of deposit.    Each form is given a unique entry 
number and filed in the Object Entry file in HL1 Holloway Lodge 
office.   
On entry archive and smaller items will be located in Holloway  
Lodge, stored in the Holding Bay in HL1, pending further action,  
along with the blue copy of the relevant Object Entry Form.  
Larger three dimensional items, or large numbers of items will be 
located in the entrance area of the off-site store at Amington, 
pending further action, along with the blue copy of the relevant 
Object Entry Form. 
A log is kept of Object Entry Form numbers and the fate of items,  
to allow for easy cross reference, stored in filing cabinet 1 in HL1 
Holloway Lodge. 

20. A detailed Object Entry Policy and Procedure within the 
Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014 provides 
more information, including timescales for action, procedures for 
the return of items and Tamworth Castle’s responsibility for items 
left under its care. 

 
Accessions 

21. Accessioning is the formal acceptance of all permanent 
acquisitions (whether by gift, purchase or bequest) into the 
museum collection. It is achieved through the following steps:  

• Transfer of Title: A legal term to describe the formal process of a 
change of ownership of an object from one person or organisation 
to another.  

• Accessioning: The formal inclusion of an object into the museum's 
collections. It follows transfer of title and includes assigning a 
number to an object and recording details in an Accessions 
Register. An Accessions Register is the permanent record of all 
objects which are, or have been, part of the museum's permanent 
collections. An entry should record details concerning the source, 
identification and history of each item.  

• The Accession Register is the most important document in a 
museum. It acts as a formal list of the museum's collections for 
which staff are accountable. It should last as long as possible and 
be made from the best quality, high rag content, archival paper. If 
using a manual system, the volume should have sewn pages and a 

Page 269



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

stout binding. The best quality permanent ink should be used when 
making entries and unnecessary handling avoided. If a computer 
system is used for cataloguing Accession records could be 
generated from the computer record in the form of a print-out. 
These print-outs should be made on archival quality paper and then 
bound.  

• Security Copy of Accessions Register: A back-up copy of the 
Accessions Register should be made and held at an outside 
location. Ideally copies should be made on microfiche. 
Photocopying is an acceptable alternative. The Accreditation 
Standard states that: 'A second, back-up copy of the museum's 
Accession records must be created and maintained. Both registers 
must be held securely, with one available to authorised staff for 
reference and the other stored off-site.  

22. Transfer of title for all items is signed on entry to the museum in case 
the item is later accessioned.  Only items that comply with Tamworth 
Castle’s collecting policy are Accessioned.  All Accessioned items are 
given a unique identity number and are recorded in an Accessions 
Register in Accession number order, a backup copy of the 
Accessions Register is maintained in Tamworth Castle’s safe.  All 
information relating to Accessioned items is stored in History Files. 

23. A detailed Accessions Policy and Procedure within the Collections 
Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014 provides more 
information.  See also the Collections Development Policy 2014 -
2019 

Labelling and Marking 
24. Labelling and marking should accompany the Accessioning 

procedure. Each item in a museum collection must carry its 
identity number at all times. Every item can then be identified and 
its history traced. If this bond between the object and its 
documentation is broken, the consequences may be serious. At 
best, time will be wasted because of the need to track down 
documentation and re-establish the link. At worst, the object will 
lose its provenance for all time.  

25. The Accession number is marked or labelled onto the object as 
soon as it is Accessioned using archival quality materials.  
Guidelines for labelling and marking are contained within the 
Labelling and Marking Policy and Procedures within the 
Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014. 

 
Location and Movement Control 

26. Museum’s need to log current and past locations of all objects in 
their care to ensure that they can locate any object at any time. 
This information should be recorded in the catalogue record. This 
system should include: location coding, location recording and a 
means of recording a change of location. 

Page 270



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

27. Each display area, store, bay and shelf has an identifying 
location code to enable standardardised location records. See 
Tamworth Castle Display and Storage List.  

28. The location of all items is recorded at every stage of its 
documentation on Object Entry Forms and catalogue cards / 
audit database / Modes XML database.  This allows for an item’s 
location to be identified from its identifying number.  The 
databases also allow for a search by location. 

29. If an item is moved from its location for more than one working 
day the documentation is updated.  For temporary moves a 
Movement ticket is completed and the audit / Modes XML 
database updated, for permanent moves the catalogue card and 
audit database / Modes XML database is updated. 

30. The Location and Movement Control Policy and Procedures 
within the Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 
2014 contains more information, including those responsible for 
the movement of items and authorising the movement of items. 

 
Cataloguing 

31. The requirement of the Accreditation Standard is that there 
should be at least three indexes giving access to catalogue 
information.  Cataloguing is the assembling together of all 
primary information about each item in the collection. This 
information is held in a file of records. These could be cards, 
loose-leaf sheets or computer records. This file is the collection 
catalogue. Information in the record is sorted into a set of 
pigeonholes known as 'fields'. Each discrete piece of information 
such as the date the item was made or the name of donor is held 
in a separate field. This may be a box on a catalogue card or an 
entry on a database computer screen. The record should be 
consistently structured in this way, as it is easier to index than 
unstructured information. When information is placed in these 
fields certain rules must be followed to aid indexing. These rules 
govern the words used, the order in which they are entered and 
any punctuation which may be required. This regulation of data 
entry is known as 'terminology control'.  

32. As soon as an item is accessioned it is also catalogued.  This 
includes the completion in full of a Collections Trust Simple 
Catalogue card, a donor record card and an entry in Tamworth 
Castle’s audit database / Modes XML database.   

33. This provides an index organised by accession number, an index 
organised by donor name and the databases also allow for 
searching via location, simple name etc,. 

34. The Cataloguing Policy and Procedures within the Collections 
Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014 contains further 
information. 

 
Object Exit 

35. Exit records should log any item from the reserve collection 
which leaves the museum premises. The procedure should be 

Page 271



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

applied to all Loans-out, temporary transfer of material for 
conservation, copying etc, permanent transfer to another 
museum, or the permanent disposal or destruction of an object 
due to damage. The return of an object to its owner (e.g. an 
unwanted offer of a gift) does not normally require the creation of 
an exit record. Its removal will be logged on the appropriate 
section of the Object Entry Form. 

36. Any item from the collections exiting Tamworth Castle has a 
Collections Trust Object Exit form completed in full, this includes 
those items permanently exiting the museum and those items 
exiting on loan.  The signature of the receiver is obtained in all 
situations. The second, pink copy of the form, with terms and 
conditions on the reverse, is issued to the receiver as a receipt. 

37. An Object Exit Log is kept of all items leaving the museum and 
catalogue cards and database entries are updated when an item 
leaves the museum to ensure Tamworth Castle is able to locate 
accessioned items at all times. 

38. The Object Exit Policy and Procedures within the Collections 
Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014 contains further 
information, including who is responsible for the authorisation of 
object exits. 

 
Loans-in / Loans-out 

39. Museums need to manage and document the process of 
borrowing objects, for which they are responsible for a specific 
period of time and for a specified purpose, normally display, but 
including research, education or photography. Museums also 
need to manage and document the process of loaning objects to 
other museums for a specific period of time. All loans into 
museums should be for a fixed period of time with agreed terms 
and conditions. Museums should not accept items on 'permanent 
loan'.  

40. All Loans-in and Loans-out are recorded on a Loans-in or Loans-
out Agreement, which is signed by both parties before the loan 
commences.  These documents outline the terms and conditions 
for the loan and the responsibility for insurance.  They also fix the 
period of the loan, stipulate the reason for loan and stipulate that 
all items should and will receive the same level of care as 
Tamworth Castle applies to its accessioned items.  

41. Any information about Tamworth Castle requested by a borrower 
or lender is provided, where this does not contravene the Data 
Protection Act.  

42. Tamworth Castle ensures that all of its Loans-in and Loans-out 
are reviewed annually and provides and expects to receive 
annual condition reports on borrowed items. 

43. All Loans-in and Loans-out are recorded on Loans-in and Loans- 
out logs, which record the items on loan, their lender, date of exit 
/ entry and expected date for return.  This is to ensure that all 
loans are maintained up to date. 

Page 272



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

44. The Loans-In and Loans-Out Policies and Procedures within the 
Collections Documentation Policy and Procedures 2014 contains 
further information 

 
Current Care Procedures 
 
Collection Condition Overview 

45. Tamworth Castle had not previously met the Accreditation Standard’s 
requirements in respect of collection conditions overview.  Tamworth 
Castle had maintained ad hoc records on an object’s condition.  
There was no formal programme in place to ensure that a visual 
inspection of all the collections was carried out. Limited action was 
taken to identify sensitive or vulnerable items and plan appropriate 
action. 

46. Action: The Care and Conservation Policy, as well as the Collections 
Care Manual both implement a condition check survey process as 
part of the updating of documentation that will take place as part of 
this Backlog Policy, and has been actioned during the auditing 
process. 

 
Environmental Monitoring/Control 

47. Tamworth Castle has implemented a regular programme to monitor 
relative humidity, temperature and light conditions since 2009. 

48. The Care and Conservation Policy 2014 outlines the target 
environmental conditions that Tamworth Castle will aim to achieve. 

49. Currently Tamworth Castle aims to house items in conditions that will 
minimise the risk of damage with the use of blinds and UV film on 
windows where required, and control of temperature using heaters 
within the room displays.  However due to the nature of the building 
Tamworth Castle does not at present attempt to control the museum 
environment.   

50. Current storage conditions for Tamworth Castle's collections have 
been improved since 2010 by being stored in an off-site industrial 
unit.  Environmental conditions have been monitored over this time 
and risk areas have been identified.   
Action: As part of the Care and Conservation Plan 2014 - 2019 
Tamworth  Castle will use the results from the monitoring to continue 
informing the Environmental Plan, to implement more interventive 
methods of environmental control within the stores, where possible 
and the most at risk areas have been identified. 

 
Provision of Suitable Building Conditions 

51. Tamworth Castle has improved on the suitability of the building 
housing its collections having moved all the object collections into an 
off-site industrial unit, which is in a good state of repair and any 
potential threats to collections are minimised.  See Care and 
Conservation Policy 2014.  

 
 
 

Page 273



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Housekeeping 
52. Tamworth Castle has implemented a housekeeping programme, 

together with Integrated Pest Management (IPM) for both the Castle 
and the store . This means that every display room in the Castle and 
every area of the store is cleaned once a year on a rolling basis.  All 
room displays are cleaned on a regular and rolling basis, and all 
floors, and shelves will be cleaned in the off-site store. 

53. Tamworth Castle has also implemented an IPM strategy, which sees 
all areas housing collections inspected on a quarterly basis for signs 
of pest infestation using bat-proof pest traps.  The insects are 
identified, the results recorded and analysed annually. 

54.  Any areas identified as a potential risk to the Collections will be 
resolved.  As part of this strategy all incoming items are inspected for 
signs of pest infestation.  Any item found to contain a pest infestation 
is kept in isolation from the remaining items in the collection. 

 
Planned programme to institute improvements in collection care 

55. Tamworth Castle produces a Conservation Action Plan annually 
which outlines the programme for the year to improve collections 
care.  It also highlights other issues for future consideration. 

 

Collection Care and Conservation advice and services.   
56. Remedial conservation work is to be undertaken by externally 

qualified conservators only.   
57. Due to staff knowledge Tamworth Castle only implements 

preventive conservation.  It regularly seeks expert advice from 
external conservators on issues it does not have the knowledge 
to deal with in-house. 

 
Retrospective Documentation 
 

58. Tamworth Castle’s backlog lies predominantly in its retrospective 
procedures.  Documentation practices at Tamworth Castle have been 
previously inconsistent and did not conform to current Accreditation 
requirements.  This section will describe the backlog Tamworth 
Castle has accumulated in its documentation and recommend 
changes.  It is important to note that not all of the primary procedural 
requirements can be applied retrospectively.  However, where it is 
possible to apply the primary procedures retrospectively this will be 
listed as an action point. 

 
Object Entry 

59. Tamworth Castle’s retrospective documentation fails to meet the any 
of the object entry requirements on the retrospective documentation 
checklist: 
a. Establish the terms and conditions under which objects will be 

received for deposit? 
Until the use of MDA / Collections Trust Object Entry Forms in 
1995 depositors were not issued with terms and conditions. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

Page 274



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

b. Uniquely identify the newly received object or associated group 
of objects? For example, by giving each object or group an entry 
number?  
There is no evidence that all items were allocated an entry 
number on entry to the museum. 
Action: Carrying out an inventory of all items under Tamworth 
Castle’s care will allocate those items that have yet to be 
accessioned a temporary number. 

c. Ensure the museum is able to account for all objects left in its 
care? Could you, for instance, find any object easily if asked? 
Items were not stored in one location when they entered the 
museum, this has resulted in a number of items within the stores 
that are not accessioned.  There is evidence that entry 
documentation has been left with the item in store or filed 
randomly.  Object Entry documentation is now stored in filing 
cabinet 1, HL1 Holloway Lodge.  However there may still be a 
small number of entry records to be found in previous curator’s 
paperwork. 
Action: Carrying out an inventory will identify all the items that 
Tamworth Castle has within its stores and will enable the Castle 
to easily locate all items historically left in its care.  Sorting any 
Object Entry records contained within this paperwork and filing 
them with the current Object Entry records in date order will 
enable easy access to all of Tamworth Castle’s Object Entry 
documentation. 

d. Provide a receipt for the owner (or depositor acting on behalf of 
the owner)? 
Hand written receipts in receipt book format or typed letters 
thanking the donor for a donation were in use in 1980s-1990s.  
However there is no evidence that other donors were issued 
with a receipt. 
Action: N/A, cannot retrospectively rectify. 

e. Help establish the extent of the museum's liability? What would 
happen if the object were lost or damaged while in your care? 
There is no documentation to suggest that the extent of the 
museum’s liability was established to the donor. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

f. Indicate the reason for the receipt of the object? Is it on loan, an 
enquiry left for identification, on offer as a donation, etc? 
Some of the documentation records the reason for receipt of the 
object, but this is patchy. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

g. Determine a finite end to the deposit? Do you agree a fixed 
period for all loans, and ensure that other objects left at the 
museum are dealt with, one way or another, within a specified 
time? 
Timescales were not recorded. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

Page 275



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

h. Enable the object to be returned to the owner or depositor as 
required? Is it clear what steps the museum can take to avoid 
becoming cluttered up with unwanted items? 
For the minority of items that have Object Entry documentation 
the contact details of the donor are not consistently recorded. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

i. Allow for objects and associated records to be checked on entry 
to ensure that they correspond to any accompanying inventory 
and/ or transfer of title documentation supplied? 
This was not previously carried out. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

j. Help establish legal title to the object in case of subsequent 
acquisition? If the object is offered for sale or as a donation, do 
you get a signed statement that the person making the offer is 
the undisputed owner of the object (or acting on their behalf)? 
For the minority of items that have Object Entry documentation 
there is little evidence of any signatures from donors until 2002, 
authorising transfer of title to the museum. 
Action: Where donors can be contacted Tamworth Castle will 
endeavour to obtain a signature confirming transfer of title. 

k. Capture key information about the object, to be augmented in 
the future? E.g., factual information, anecdotes, copyright 
information. 
Any Object Entry documentation that does exist provides little 
detail, in some cases just a name, date and item name. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

l. Inform the decision making process? 
The lack of Object Entry documentation suggests that it was not 
used to inform Tamworth Castle’s decision making process. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 
 

Accessions 
60. Tamworth Castle failed previously to fully meet all the requirements of 

the retrospective documentation checklist: 
a. Ensure that written evidence is obtained of the original title to an 

object and the transfer of the title to your institution? 'Transfer of 
title' is a legal term to describe the formal process of a change of 
ownership from one person or organisation to another. 
There is little or no early documented evidence that donors held 
the original title to items. 
Action: Where donors can be contacted Tamworth Castle will 
endeavour to obtain a signature confirming transfer of title. 

b. Ensure that a unique number is assigned to, and physically 
associated with, all objects? 
Most items were allocated a unique number.  However there are 
instances of duplicated numbers, items not allocated numbers 
and numbers not recorded. 
Action: After conducting an audit inventory listing every item 
within the collections, the Accessions Registers and catalogue 
cards will be compared with the audit inventory to eliminate 

Page 276



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

anomalies and ensure that all items are recorded with one 
accession number. 

c. Ensure that an accessions register is maintained, describing all 
acquisitions and listing them by number? 
An Accessions Register has been maintained since 1976, with 
all accession numbers from 1897 – 1976 retrospectively 
recorded in one Accessions Register, with subsequent years to 
date recorded in another two Accessions Registers. 
Action: After comparing the results of the audit inventory with the 
Accession Registers anomalies will be rectified.  Where 
numbers have been recorded incorrectly in the Accessions 
Registers they will be amended.  Where items have not been 
allocated an accession number they will be Accessioned with a 
current Accession number.  Where numbers have been 
duplicated, one of the items will be re-accessioned with a new 
number, making reference to the old number.  Where numbers 
were allocated to items but not recorded in either of the earlier 
Accessions Registers a new number will be allocated and the 
item recorded in the current Accessions Register, making 
reference to the old number. 

d. Ensure that information about the acquisition process is 
retained? For example, do you keep copies of relevant letters, 
receipts, etc on file? 
Some History files have been maintained containing information 
about the acquisition process.  However not all information is 
stored within the history files, and there is a backlog of 
paperwork from previous curators that was not filed . 
Action: All paperwork from previous curators will be sorted and 
filed accordingly to ensure that any information relating to 
acquisition or Object Entry is stored in one location, within an 
item’s history file. 

e. Ensure that donors are made aware of the terms on which their 
gift or bequest is accepted by the museum? 
There is no documented evidence until 2002 when Object Entry 
Forms were consistently in use, that donors were made aware of 
any terms or conditions to their gift. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

f. Ensure that collecting complies with the museum's collecting 
policy, and does not contravene any local, national or 
international law, treaty or recognised code of practice? 
There is no evidence that items have been collected illegally or 
without following ethical requirements, or contravened any 
current treaties or codes of practices.  However there are 
instances of items that have been collected that fall outside of 
collecting criteria, due to the lack of a contemporary collecting 
policy.  See current Collections Development Policy 2014 - 2019 
Action: As part of the inventory process Tamworth Castle will 
identify items that can be disposed of as being outside of the 
Collections Development Policy 2014 -2019, and the previous 
Acquisitions and Disposals Policy. After the inventory has been 

Page 277



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

completed and reconciled, these items will be disposed of 
following the appropriate procedures. 

g. Do you ensure that a copy of the information in the accession 
register is made, kept up-to-date and stored off-site? 
A back-up copy of the Accessions Registers had not historically 
been maintained.  Tamworth Castle now has two copies of the 
Accessions Registers printed on archival quality paper, stored in 
Tamworth Castle safe, and the main safe in Tamworth Borough 
Council offices.  As new pages are completed copies are made 
and added.   
Action: Any page in the Accessions Register where 
amendments are made must also be re-copied. 
The ability now exists to scan copies which can be store 
electronically on the Tamworth Borough Council server. To be 
actioned. 

h. Ensure that a unique number is assigned to, and physically 
associated with, all objects? 
There are items within the collection that share an accession 
number with another item or have not been allocated an 
accession number. However, most items are allocated a unique 
accession number.  Items found without numbers during the 
audit inventory process have been given a Temporary number. 
Action: Tamworth Castle will conduct an audit inventory, which will 
record the accession numbers of all items within the collection.  Any 
items found without an Accession number will be allocated a 
Temporary number.  The completed inventory will be compared 
with the Accessions Registers and Catalogue cards to match items 
temporarily numbered with their original Accession numbers.  
These numbers will then be marked on the item or securely 
labelled.  Any items that are discovered not to have been 
Accessioned will be accessioned with a new Accession number 
and this number will be marked / labelled on the object in 
accordance with the Labelling and Marking Policy and Procedures 
contained within the Collections Documentation Policy 2014-2019 

i. Do you have guidelines on preferred marking and labelling 
methods? 
Tamworth Castle did not have guidelines for marking and 
labelling methods until 2002.  Therefore labelling / marking 
varies and includes adhesive labels, ‘Tippex’ and archival pen 
(with or without Paraloid solution). 
Action: Where possible detrimental labelling / marking will be 
removed, and marking and labelling procedures will be followed 
instead, in accordance with the Labelling and Marking Policy 
and Procedures. Items without numbers labelled or marked will 
have their number labelled securely or marked onto the item. 
Both of these actions will be in accordance with the Labelling 
and Marking Policy and Procedures contained within the 
Collections Documentation Policy 2014 - 2019 
 
 

Location and Movement Control 

Page 278



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

61. Tamworth Castle failed previously to meet any of the requirements of 
the retrospective documentation checklist: 
a. Provide a record of the location where an object is normally 

displayed or stored? 
Location records have been recorded randomly, however these 
have not always been updated when locations were changed.  
Therefore the location records on the catalogue cards are 
outdated.  
Action: Compile an audit inventory of every item in the collection, 
recording its accession number or Temporary number and its 
location.  Following this, implement a programme to update the 
information recorded on catalogue cards and to add this to the 
Modes XML database entry for every item.   

b. Provide a record of the location of an object when it is not at its 
normal location? 
The movement of items has not been consistently recorded.  
Movement tickets are now in place. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

c. Enable you to search for location information by object number 
and by location name? 
A catalogue card index has always provided the option to search 
for an item by accession number. The audit inventory now 
provides the option to search by room display and store location. 
Action: Create a database entry for every item based on the 
audit inventory information, which will allow for easy searching 
by accession number and / or location name. 

d. Provide a record of the movement of an object both within the 
organisation and outside the organisation? 
The movement of items has not been consistently recorded.  
Movement tickets are now in place for within Tamworth Castle 
and its stores, and Loans-Out and Exit Forms are now in place. 
See Collections Documentation Policy 2014 -2019 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

e. Provide a record of the person responsible for moving an 
object? 
The movement of items has not been consistently recorded.  
Movement tickets are now in place for within Tamworth Castle 
and its stores, and Loans-Out and Exit Forms are now in place. 
See Collections Documentation Policy 2014 -2019 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

f. Provide a record or a statement of the people responsible for 
authorising object movements? 
Historically there has been no policy document outlining those 
responsible for authorising movement.  The Location and 
Movement Control Policy and Procedures within the Collections 
Documentation Policy 2014 -2019 now provide this information. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 
 

 
Cataloguing 

Page 279



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

62. Tamworth Castle’s cataloguing information is its most comprehensive 
information, but given that it is severely outdated, it represents one of 
the Castle’s largest backlogs.  Tamworth Castle failed previously  to 
meet the requirements of the retrospective documentation checklist: 
a. Do you have any indexes (manual or computerised) enabling 

you, for example, to look up: All the objects associated with a 
particular person or place? All the objects located in a particular 
place within the museum? All the examples you have of a 
particular type of object? All the objects associated with a 
particular theme or topic? All the objects of a certain date? 
Tamworth Castle maintains an up-to-date card index of donors 
and an-up-to date index of items by Accession number.  
However the information contained on the catalogue cards filed 
by Accession number is incomplete and outdated.  
The location of all objects within the collections is now 
searchable on the computerised audit inventory list. 
Types of object are searchable on the computerised audit 
inventory list, as well as a limited SHIC index, both on the 
computerised audit inventory list, and catalogue cards although 
these in particular are now outdated. 
Most themes / topics and dates can also be searched on the 
computerised audit inventory.  
Action: Undertake a comprehensive programme to update the 
catalogue cards for all items, completing all sections in full.  
Create a Modes XML database entry for all items recording as a 
minimum all of the details recorded on the catalogue cards.  This 
will allow easier searching by object type, accession number, 
location and donor. 

 

Object Exit 
63. Tamworth Castle has not previously met any of the requirements of 

the retrospective documentation checklist for Object Exit.  However, 
as with Object Entry, this is an area in which it is difficult to recreate 
documentation retrospectively: 
a. Ensure that legal requirements and the institution's policy are 

fulfilled by objects leaving its premises? 
Tamworth Castle has not knowingly contravened legal 
requirements relating to object exit.  Tamworth Castle did not 
have an Exit policy until 2009. 
Action: N/A, cannot retrospectively rectify. 

b. Ensure that you can account for all objects leaving the 
premises? Including those which have been deposited or loaned 
and are being returned to the owner? 
Exit documentation is less evident than the Entry documentation 
held for items.  There is the occasional note, filed amongst loan 
paperwork providing a date for exit and name of the receiver. 
Action: All paperwork relating to previous curators will need to 
be sorted and filed accordingly.  Any paperwork found relating to 
Object Exit will be filed in date order in the Object Exit file in 
filing cabinet 1, HL1 Holloway Lodge. 

Page 280



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

c. Ensure that location information for accessioned objects leaving 
the premises is kept? Do you know where all your accessioned 
objects are, whether in the museum or out for any reason? 
The location records on an item’s catalogue cards have not 
been maintained, therefore the location of many items was 
unknown, until the audit inventory was completed in 2014. 
Action: Compile an inventory of items to identify what items are 
currently within the collection and record an up-to-date location 
for each item.  Retrospective documentation cannot be 
recreated. 

d. Ensure that all objects are despatched with appropriate 
authorisation? Do you know who is allowed to send or take 
objects out of the museum? 
There was no Object Exit policy recording those responsible for 
Object Exit until 2009. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

e. Ensure that a signature of acceptance from the recipient is 
always obtained? 
Exit documentation is scarce and rarely includes the signature of 
the recipient. 
Action: All paperwork relating to previous curators will need to 
be sorted and filed accordingly.  Any paperwork found relating to 
Object Exit will be filed in date order in the Object Exit file in 
filing cabinet , HL1 Holloway Lodge. 

 
Loans-In / Loans-Out 

64. Documentation relating to Loans-in and Loans-out has also been 
patchy.  Tamworth Castle had failed previously to meet the 
requirements of the retrospective documentation checklist for Loans-
in: 
a. Establish the purpose for which a loan is being requested? 

The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-in terms and 
conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of information about 
items received on loan, including the purpose in some instances. 
Action: For Loans-in that are still current contact the owner and 
ensure that a new Loans-in Agreement, Loans-in checklist and 
terms and conditions are completed in full and signed. 

b. Enable at least the same care of the borrowed object as of the 
permanent collections? 
Loaned items have always been subject to the same conditions 
of care as items within Tamworth Castle’s collection. 

c. Include written agreements signed by both borrower and lender 
before the loan begins? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-in Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of information about 
items received on loan. 
Action: For Loans-in that are still current contact the owner and 
ensure that a new Loans-in Agreement, Loans-in Checklist, and 
Terms and Conditions are completed in full and signed. 
 

Page 281



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

d. Ensure that the terms and conditions of loan are adhered to? 
All loaned items have been used and cared for in accordance 
with the lender’s terms and conditions. 

e. Ensure that all loans are for fixed periods? 
Loans have been accepted in the past without specifying the 
term of the loan. 
Action: Review loan paperwork and identify current loans that 
have no end date.  Contact the lender and ensure that a new 
Loans-in Agreement, Loans-in Checklist, and Terms and 
Conditions are completed and signed, including the end date of 
the loan. 

f. Enable effective control of the loan process? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-in Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of control over the 
Loans-in process. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

g. Ensure a written record of the loan is retained? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-in Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of written information 
about items received on loan. 
Action: For Loans-in that are still current contact the owner and 
ensure that a new Loans-in Agreement, Loans-in Checklist, and 
Terms and Conditions are signed and completed in full. 

h. Enable the provision of information about the borrower and the 
loan as requested by the lender? 
Tamworth Castle has always provided any information 
requested by the lender, where this does not contravene the 
Data Protection Act. 

i. Provide insurance or indemnity cover for the loan period? 
The absence of detailed Loans-in records means that it is 
unclear whether insurance or indemnity cover for the loan period 
was established. 
Action: For Loans-in that are still current, contact the owner and 
ensure that a new Loans-in Agreement, Loans-in Checklist, and 
Terms and Conditions are signed and completed in full, 
including information about insurance and indemnity. 

j. Ensure that up-to-date information about the location of 
borrowed objects is maintained? 
The locations of loaned items were well maintained when the 
item was received on loan.  Locations are now recorded on the 
computerised audit inventory that was completed in 2014. 
Action: Compare the inventory information with the Loans-in files 
to match up any items on loan.  The location information for 
these items should be updated within the Loans-in file. 

k. Ensure that up-to-date information about the security and 
physical well-being of borrowed objects is maintained, including 
the environment and condition of the objects? 
Information recorded about loaned items is patchy. 
Action: Copies of any Environmental Monitoring results and 
security reviews conducted in areas housing items on loan must 

Page 282



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

be placed into the Loans-In file.  It is not possible to 
retrospectively recreate information.  All items on loan should be 
condition checked annually and their condition updated in the 
Loans-In file, filing cabinet 3, HL2, Holloway Lodge. 
 

65. Tamworth Castle had failed previously to meet the requirements of 
the retrospective documentation checklist for Loans-out: 
a. Ensure that loan requests are assessed according to the 

institution's policy? 
Tamworth Castle did not have a Loans-Out Policy until 2005. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

b. Ensure that there are written agreements signed by both 
borrower and lender before the loan commences? 
The absence of a Loan agreement and Loans-out Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of written information 
about items issued on loan. 
Action: For Loans-out that are still current contact the borrower 
and ensure that a new Loans-out agreement, Loans-out 
Checklist and Terms and Conditions are signed and completed 
in full. 

c. Ensure that the loan is for a finite period? 
Loans have been issued in the past without specifying the term 
of the loan. 
Action: Review Loan paperwork and identify current Loans that 
have no end date.  Contact the borrower and ensure that a new 
Loans-out Agreement, Loans-out Checklist, and Terms and 
Conditions are completed and signed, including the end date of 
the loan. 

d. Ensure that the institution maintains and retains a record of all 
loans, including details of the borrower, the venues, the loan 
period and the purpose of the loan? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-out Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of written information 
about items issued on loan. 
Action: For Loans-out that are still current contact the borrower 
and ensure that a new Loans-out agreement, Loans-out 
checklist, and Terms and Conditions are signed and completed 
in full. 

e. Enable effective control of the loan process? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-out Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of control over the 
Loans-out process. 
Action: N/A cannot retrospectively rectify. 

f. Ensure that the borrower confirms their intent and ability to 
provide an acceptable level of care and safekeeping for the 
object and to conform to the conditions of loan specified? 
The absence of a Loan Agreement and Loans-out Terms and 
Conditions until 2005 has resulted in a lack of written information 
about items issued on loan. 

Page 283



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Action: For Loans-out that are still current contact the borrower 
and ensure that a new Loans-out Agreement, Loans-out 
checklist, and Terms and Conditions are signed and completed 
in full, including the care requirements section. 

g. Ensure that the loaned objects are covered by insurance or 
indemnity as appropriate? 
The absence of detailed Loans-out records means that it is 
unclear whether insurance or indemnity cover for the loan period 
was established. 
Action: For Loans-out that are still current, contact the owner 
and ensure that a new Loans-out Agreement, Loans-out 
checklist, and Terms and Conditions are signed and completed 
in full, including information about insurance and indemnity. 
 

Retrospective Care Procedures 
 

66. Tamworth Castle has historically failed to meet all of the current 
Collections Care requirements of the Accreditation Standard.   
a. The Castle has recorded condition details for items on 

completion of catalogue cards.  These details have been 
randomly updated as and when a catalogue is checked.  
However it is not possible to re-create lost condition checks for 
items.   
Action: A condition check programme has been devised, see 
Care and Conservation Policy 2014, together with the 
Collections Care Policy and is being implemented. 

b. Environmental monitoring has been carried out by previous 
curators.  However only temperature and relative humidity has 
been recorded.  The monitoring was extremely inconsistent and 
patchy and the results had not been analysed.  However it is not 
possible to re-create lost conditions checks for items.   
Action: An Environmental Monitoring programme has been put 
in place, see Care and Conservation Policy 2014, together with 
the Collections Care Policy, and is being implemented on a 
rolling programme. 

c. Environmental control was been carried out by previous 
curators, with the use of dehumidifiers in former store rooms.  
However this was not conducted as the result of any recorded 
environmental monitoring findings and was not maintained. The 
dehumidifiers became obsolete and when the collections were 
moved to an off-site industrial unit, base line monitoring was put 
in place. Dehumidifiers will be put in place according to the 
needs of the environment following baseline monitoring and 
assessment. 
Action: Following consistent Environmental Monitoring, at the 
off-site store an Environmental Improvement Plan needs to be 
devised and implemented.  This will need to highlight those 
areas that require action and outline what action will be taken, 
the action points are to form part of the Conservation Action 

Page 284



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

Plan for that year, see Care and Conservation Policy 2014 
together with the Collections Care Policy. 

d. The object collections have been housed within an industrial unit  
 off-site store since April 2010, ensuring improvements in building 
 maintenance and security with the premises protected by new
 intruder and fire alarm systems. 

Action: Tamworth Castle has a one year and a five year rolling 
Buildings Maintenance and Security Plan to be included within 
the Collections Care Manual, as well as the Emergency Plan. 

e. Housekeeping was previously on an ad hoc basis and was 
carried out by  predominantly by Front of House staff and 
volunteers.  Pest monitoring had been carried out erratically and 
the results had not been adequately analysed. 

 Comprehensive housekeeping and Integrated Pest Management 
 (IPM) for both Tamworth Castle and the store are now in place, 
 and have a rolling programme of cleaning and pest monitoring 
 with pest trap results logged on a computerised record sheet. 

Action: A comprehensive housekeeping and IPM pest 
monitoring programme is in place, see Care and Conservation 
Policy 2014, together with the Collections Care Manual, and is 
implemented on a rolling programme. 

 f. There was no planned programme previously to implement  
 improvements in collections care.  Packing had been done 
 throughout the collections that did not comply with current 
 recommended practice by Collections Link.   
 All collections are now stored in acid-free paper and archival 
 quality boxes, 'Melinex' sleeves, calico or 'Tyvek' sleeves, 
 covered in calico covers on open shelving or four-fold book 
 covers of archive quality card  
 Action: Completed. 
f. The museum has always sought external professional advice 

where gaps have been identified in internal professional staff 
knowledge. 

 RAW Collections Health Checks have been carried out and the 
 advice implemented. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Areas for Action 
 

67. Tamworth Castle has identified significant backlogs in its 
retrospective documentation, current care procedures and 
retrospective care procedures.  As far as possible Accreditation 

Page 285



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

compliant procedures and policies have now been implemented to 
ensure that the size of the backlog is contained.  However there are 
significant areas for improvement.   

 
Documentation 
 
Inventory - audit inventory completed June 2014. 
 
Sort paperwork belonging to previous curators and file accordingly.  
Action: Item 3 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Revised timescale Oct 
2014 - Oct 2016. 
 
Review object entry paperwork and attempt to fill in any gaps. 
Action: Item 3 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Revised timescale Oct 
2014 - Oct 2016. 
 
Update security copy of accessions registers when amendments are made to 
a page. 
Action: Item 8 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Ongoing. Revised 
timescale Jan 2017 - Jan 2018 
 
Update catalogue card information, database entries and labelling of items 
Action: Labelling of items with Temporary numbers completed June 2014. 
Item 3 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Revised timescale Oct 2014 - 
Oct 2019 
 
Review Loans-in paperwork and attempt to fill in any gaps  
Action: Item 11 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Ongoing. Revised 
timescale Feb 2018 - April 2018 
 
Review Loans-out paperwork and attempt to fill in any gaps  
Action: Item 11 in Documentation Backlog Action Plan. Ongoing. Revised 
timescale Feb 2018 - April 2018 

 
Care 
Implement condition check survey - Ongoing.  
 
Implement environmental monitoring programme - Ongoing. 
 
Devise and implement environmental improvement plan. 
 
Produce Buildings Maintenance and Security policy 
 
Produce Emergency Plan - in place 2009, review date 2014. 
 
Implement housekeeping and pest monitoring programme - Ongoing 
 
Re – pack all areas of the collection - Commence July 2017 following Packing 
and Storage Policy and Procedures 2014 
 

Page 286



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 287



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$w2guly2n.doc 

 

 

Page 288



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Location and Movement Control Policy 

 
 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to easily locate 
objects and identify losses promptly.  It therefore provides a location list 
of current stores, the location details required for each object, 
circumstances when movement will be permitted, methods of 
movement, authorisation levels and the documentation required for 
location and movement control. 

 
Scope 

2. The policy applies to:- 
a) The location records of all objects that enter Tamworth Castle 

and are left under the care of the Castle, regardless of the time 
span involved.  This includes both accessioned items and non-
accessioned items.  See Object Entry Policy for objects allowed 
to enter the museum. 

b) The movement of accessioned items between Tamworth Castle 
and the off-site museum store at Amington, and Loans Out. 

 
 

3. The policy does not apply to:- 
a) Objects which have to be moved urgently in the case of an 

emergency.  The Museum’s Emergency Plan provides the 
guidelines for this. 

b) The movement of Handling Collections. 
c) The movement of non-accessioned items between Tamworth 

Castle and the off-site museum store at Amington. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 289



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

Store Locations 
 

4. Tamworth Castle has three buildings in which items are located,  
  this includes:- 
 

Location Items Stored 

Tamworth Castle Objects on display in period room 
settings. Armour & weapons collections 
and Handling Collection. 

Holloway Lodge HL1 Holding Bay 

Holloway Lodge HL 2 Photographs and negatives 

Holloway Lodge HL 3 Archives  

Holloway Lodge HL 4 Archives and photographs 

  

Amington Store Ground Floor Mixed social and industrial, 

Amington Store Mezzanine             textiles, fine art and  

 archaeology. 

Amington Entrance area Holding Bay / Isolation 

 
5. All of the above locations have an information file about them in filing 

cabinet 1 in Holloway Lodge HL1.  This records:- 
a) The address of the store 
b) A plan of the store. 
c) Security details. 
d) Access details 
e) Environmental conditions 
f) Pest and environmental monitoring results for each store are 

stored in the Pest Monitoring and Environmental Monitoring 
files. 

 
6. For detailed information on individual Object Stores see  
 Appendix 6. 
 

Shelving Locations 
 

7. All shelving is numbered to enable easier location of objects.  
 Locations have been listed on the collections audit.  
 Shelving at No 44 Amington Store is identified by row and shelf level.
 Numbered and floor marked Zones for large items.  
 Holloway Lodge has new shelving and the labelling is in progress.  
 This labelling is to be rolled out across all of Tamworth Castle’s storage 
 as part of the Backlog Policy.  See Backlog Policy. 

 
8. The current numbering system requires that each row or bay is 

identified with a number and each shelf within the row or bay is 
identified with a letter and a number.  As there is often more than one 
column of shelves per row or bay the shelves are to be given a number 
after their letter.  The shelf column numbering runs consecutively from 
left to right within a bay.   

Page 290



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

 As soon as a new bay is reached the numbers start from 1.  For 
 example Bay 1, Shelf A1 or Bay 4, Shelf C3.   
 Recorded on the collections audit as 1A1 or 4C3. 
 
9. The row and shelf numbers are to be written onto card which fits into 

the magnetic label holders with a plastic front cover. 
10.  Row / bay identifying labels are to be placed at eye level at the end of 

the rows of shelving. 
11. Row / shelf identifying labels are to be placed on the left of the shelf, 

wherever possible.  However, there are exceptions for the sake of 
visibility, where the label will be in the middle, as in the bottom shelves 
at the Amington store, or to the right side, due to obstructions on the 
shelf. 

12. Boxes are numbered at Amington store.  
13. Some boxes in the Archive stores at Holloway Lodge are numbered 

where there is more than one box relating to a single collection of 
archives. 

 
Location Details Required 
 

14. Location records are to be maintained for every object that enters the 
Museum.  They should provide an accurate record of the location of 
every object under the Museum’s care.   

15. Location information is to include:- 
a) Store code (see Display and Storage Location Codes - 

Appendix 4A) 
b) Bay number 
c) Shelf number 

16. Location details are to be recorded, checked and updated on the 
following occasions: 

a) Entry into the museum 
b) Cataloguing as part of the accession process. 
c) Cataloguing as part of the Backlog Policy. 
d) Permanent removal from the museum. 
e) Movement between storage locations. 

17. An object may only remain in a temporary location for the duration of 
the working day without the location record being updated.  At the end 
of every working day all objects should be located according to the 
location recorded on their catalogue cards and on the database.  If an 
object has been moved from its location and will not return before the 
end of the working day this must either: 

a) be recorded on the catalogue card and audit database / Modes 
XML database if the move is permanent. 

b) undergo movement procedures, which involves the completion 
of a movement ticket. 

18. Current location records stored on the catalogue cards are to be 
checked as part of the Backlog Policy and updated where necessary.  
See Backlog Policy. 

Page 291



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

19. If an object is part of a larger group of items then the location of the 
associated items should also be recorded on the Entry form or the 
catalogue card and audit database / Modes XML database. 

 
 
Permitted Circumstances for Movement of an Object 
 

20. Movement of an object will only be permitted in certain circumstances:- 
a) To improve storage conditions 
b) To place the object on display 
c) To improve access to an object 
d) To use an object for research / enquiry 

21. Movement of an object will not be permitted unless it is for one of the 
above reasons. 

22. Objects will only be allowed to move within the museum sites listed 
above, see paragraph 4.  If an object is moved to a site that is not 
owned by the museum then it is subject to the Exit Policy and 
Procedures i.e. disposals, loans out, return of loans in. 

23. Movement of an object will not be permitted unless a suitable location 
has been made available for the object to be moved to. 

24. An object is not subject to the movement policy and procedures if it is 
moved and returned to its permanent location within the same working 
day.  This policy only applies to objects that are removed from their 
permanent location for longer than one working day. 

 
Methods of Movement 
 

25. Before an object can be moved it is first to undergo a condition check 
to confirm that it is fit to be moved.  See Condition Check Policy and 
Procedures. 

26. Before movement the object is to be prepared according to Handling 
and Storage Guidelines. 

27. Where possible the object should be moved by the Collections Officer,  
 or where necessary with assistance from another trained member of 
 staff or volunteer(s) according to the Handling and Storage Guidelines. 
28. Where the object is too large or heavy for movement by a staff member 

a suitably qualified removals company should be used.  Health and 
Safety regulations also require that a Risk Assessment for the move 
should be completed.  This is to be filed in the object’s History file with 
the movement ticket. 

29. If the object has to be dismantled for moving this process should be 
recorded on a separate piece of paper to be stored in the History file 
with the copy of the movement ticket, along with a photographic record 
of the process, with particular emphasis on photographing before, 
during and after . All methods should record the dismantling in 
sufficient detail to explain what was done and the reasons why it was 
dismantled.  The methodology of assembly and disassembly, along 
with any packaging and handling methods must be recorded, including 
photographs, as well as any alternative numbering systems utilised as 
part of the process. 

Page 292



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

 
Documentation Required for Location and Movement Control 
 

30. Location details for objects with an Object Entry form as their only 
documentation are to be recorded on the Object Entry form.  

31. The catalogue cards, audit database / Modes XML database are the 
only location records for accessioned objects and therefore must be 
accurately maintained. 

32. Movement Control is to be managed with the use of Collections Trust 
Movement Tickets.  The movement tickets are to be completed at the 
time an object is moved.   

33. If the move is permanent the catalogue card, audit database / Modes 
XML database is to be updated immediately after the move has taken 
place.   

34. By the end of the working day all location information about an object 
that has been moved must be up to date. 

35. The completed documentation for all recorded movements is to be 
stored in the Object’s History File to provide an audit trail as part of the 
object’s history.  

 
Authorisation and Responsibility 
 

36. No unauthorised movement of objects will take place 
37. All members of staff are allowed to request the movement of an object 

if it complies with the requirements of the Location and Movement 
Control Policy. 

38. The Collections Officer and the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager 
are the only members of staff authorised to approve requests for the 
movement of an object.  

39. Only the Collections Officer and the Heritage and Visitor Services 
Manager have authority to edit location and movement records on the 
database, catalogue cards and Object Entry Forms.   

40. The physical movement of the objects is to be carried out by the 
Collections Officer, the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager, or the 
Education Officer, in accordance with the Handling and Storage 
Guidelines. 
Any other trained staff, volunteers, or visitors must be accompanied by 
one of these three designated staff. 

41. Objects used for temporary display or temporary event purposes 
 should be returned to their location in the store within 14 days of being 
used via the Collections Officer, and in their absence the Heritage and 
Visitor Services Manager, or in the absence of both these the 
Education Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 293



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Location and Movement Control Procedures 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the documentation 
processes that must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to easily 
locate objects and identify losses promptly. The procedures are the 
physical actions required to implement the Location and Movement 
Policy.  They therefore provide a step-by-step account of how to record 
the location of an object and also record the movement of an object.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Location and Movement Control Policy. 

 
Spectrum Definition 

3. The documentation and management of information concerning the 
current and past locations of all objects or groups of objects in the 
organisation's care to ensure the organisation can locate any object at 
any time. A location is a specific place where an object or group of 
objects is stored or displayed. 

 
Spectrum Minimum Standard 

4. The procedure for managing and documenting location and movement 
control must: 

a) Provide a record of the location where an object is normally 
displayed or stored; 

b) Provide a record of the location of an object when it is not at its 
normal location; 

c) Enable access to location information by, at the very least, 
object number and by location name; 

d) Provide an up-to-date record of the relocation of an object within 
the physical or administrative boundaries of the organisation; 

e) Provide an up-to-date record of any movement of an object 
across the physical or administrative boundaries of the 
organisation; 

f) Provide a record of the person responsible for moving an object; 
g) Provide a record or a statement of the persons responsible for 

authorising object movement; 
h) Provide a history of an object's previous locations, while in the 

organisation's care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 294



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

Location Procedures 
 
Object Entry 

5. On entry into Tamworth Castle museum every object must have its 
location recorded on the Object Entry Form.   

6. This will be the Holding Bay in the Holloway Lodge office HL1, for small 
items or archives where items are stored pending further action. 

7. The entrance area of the off-site Amington store for all other objects or 
large groups of objects.  

8. If the object is moved before further action has been taken the Object 
Entry Form must be updated with the new location details. 

9. It is not necessary to complete a movement ticket for an object that is 
still subject to the Entry Procedures. 

 
Accessioned Items  

 
10. When a new object is accessioned it must also be catalogued, see 

Accession Policy and Procedures.  The location that the item will be 
stored in is to be recorded on the catalogue card and on the database 
using the codes in the Location and Movement Control Policy 

11. The cataloguing process must be completed within one working day to 
ensure that the location information for the object on the catalogue card 
and the audit database / Modes XML database is up to date. 

 
Movement Procedures 
 

12. The movement of an object will only take place according to the terms 
of the Location and Movement Control Policy.  As stated in the policy, 
objects that are temporarily moved from their locations and returned 
within the same working day are not subject to these procedures.  
Neither are objects that have not been accessioned into the collection.  
All other object moves are subject to these procedures. 

13. The first stage in actioning a move is to complete a movement ticket.  
All objects that are moved within Tamworth Castle’s sites must have a 
movement ticket completed.   

14. For moves lasting longer than one working day the movement ticket 
must be completed the same working day as the move, immediately 
before the movement of the object.  It is not acceptable to complete the 
ticket after the move.   

15. The following information is to be recorded on the movement ticket: 
a) Old location 
b) New location 
c) Date of move 
d) Person moving the object 
e) Reason for move 
f) Additional information about the move as required. 

 
Temporary Moves 

16. The top (white) copy of the movement ticket is to be left in place of the 
item in its permanent store location. 

Page 295



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

17. The middle (yellow) copy is to be attached to the object’s catalogue 
card. 

18. The bottom (blue) copy is to be attached to the object (or in the case of 
medals / coins remain with object / packaging) See Labelling and 
Marking Procedures. 

19. All movements must be recorded on the Movement Record log located 
in the Object Movement file in filing cabinet 3 in Holloway Lodge HL2.  
See Appendix 6 for Movement Record Log. The following information 
is to be recorded:- 

a) Accession number  
b) Permanent location 
c) Temporary location 
d) Date moved 
e) Date returned. 

20. The move should also be recorded on the audit database / Modes XML 
database record for the object.  The location record is to remain the 
same, but a movement record / note should be made on the database, 
see Cataloguing Policy and Procedures. 

21. When an object is returned to its permanent location the audit 
database / Modes XML movement record for the object is to be 
updated.  The bottom (blue) copy of the movement ticket is to be 
destroyed, the top (white) copy of the form is to be filed in the object’s 
History File and the middle (yellow) copy of the movement ticket is to 
be filed in the Completed Temporary Moves folder in the Object 
Movement file.  The movement record list is to be updated with the 
date the object has been returned to its permanent location. 

 
Permanent Moves 

22. The decision to move an object permanently might be made 
immediately before the object is moved or it might be made after the 
object has been in its temporary location for some time.   

23. Objects that are moved permanently require a movement ticket to be 
completed.  The same information is to be recorded as a temporary 
move, see paragraph 17.  

24. For objects that have already been subject to the temporary movement 
procedures a movement ticket will already have been completed and 
filed according to the above procedures.  For a permanent move it is 
not necessary to complete a new movement ticket, instead the copies 
of the ticket will need to be amended and re-filed. 

25. If the move is permanent the top (white) copy of the form is to be 
placed in the object’s history file. 

26. The middle (yellow) copy of the form is to be placed in the Permanent 
folder of the Object Movement file in filing cabinet 3, Holloway Lodge 
HL2.  

27. The bottom (blue) copy of the form is to be destroyed. 
28. The Movement Record table located in the Movement File in filing 

cabinet 3 HL2 must also be completed for each object moved 
permanently.  The same information is to be recorded as for a 
temporary move, but in the date of return box ‘permanent’ should be 
recorded.  

Page 296



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$uogpcwxf.doc 

29. The catalogue card and audit database / Modes XML database must 
be updated immediately as soon as an object is permanently moved, 
see Cataloguing Policy and Procedures.  The location records of an 
object must be up to date at the end of the working day, or at the end 
of the movement process if the object needs to be dismantled / 
disassembled, and reassembled or stored elsewhere. 

 

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Loans Out Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to be 
accountable for items it lends and to control the process of lending to 
borrowers.  It therefore describes the permitted purposes, 
circumstances, authorisation levels and minimum documentation 
required for loans out.  

 
Scope 

2. The policy applies to:- 
a) All accessioned objects that leave Tamworth Castle to be placed 

under the care of another institution.  
b) All objects that are currently on loan to another institution and 

require their loan agreements re-negotiating at the request of 
the lender or because they are due to expire.  

c) Objects that are currently on loan out of Tamworth Castle.   
 A list of existing loans has been compiled.  However, not all  
 objects have been located and documentation has been  
 previously inconsistent and patchy.  Retrospective 
 documentation of existing loans is covered by the Backlog  
 Policy and is based  upon implementing this policy and  
 procedures across all Loans-Out.  See Backlog Policy. 

 
3. The policy does not apply to:- 

a) Objects that permanently leave the collection and are disposed 
of to another museum.  These are covered by the Object Exit 
Policy and Procedures and the Collections Development Policy. 

b) Objects that are received on loan from another museum.  The 
return of Loans-In is covered by the Loans-In Policy and 
Procedures it is not an outward loan. 

c) Objects that are moved internally from one museum site to 
another, this is covered by the Location and Movement Control 
Policy. 

4. The term owner is used throughout this policy on the understanding 
that the owner is also the lender.  In the small number of cases where 
the lender is not the owner but a third party, the Museum must ensure 
that the lender has the owner’s authority to act on their behalf. 

 
Items to be Loaned 

5. Before an object can be considered for loan to another institution 
Tamworth Castle must first ensure that the object:- 

a) Has been fully accessioned 
b) Has been fully catalogued 
c) Is legally owned by Tamworth Castle. 

6. Items must only be loaned to another institution for the following 
reasons:- 

Page 299



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

a) Display / exhibition 
b) Public study, research and teaching. 

7. Wherever possible Tamworth Castle will only lend objects to other 
Accredited museums.  This is to ensure that objects are cared for 
according to agreed standards amongst museums. (See UK Registrars 
Group Standard Facilities Reports Appendix 4A) 

8. Items will not be lent to private individuals or companies other than in 
exceptional circumstances.  If Tamworth Castle lends to a private 
individual or company the borrower must:- 

a) Have a professional permanent staff competent to deal with the 
administration and handling of the loan and; 

b) Meet the requirements of security as defined by the National 
Security Advisor who must approve each venue; and 

c) Meet the requirements of Tamworth Castle as to humidity, 
temperature and lighting conditions, and as to the construction 
and dressing materials employed in the display. 

9. Tamworth Castle will assess each loan request on its individual merits 
to ensure that it complies with the conditions as outlined below and 
supports the Castle's own priorities and aims.  Tamworth Castle must 
also determine if it has the resources available to prepare the loan. 

10. Before agreeing to any loan, Tamworth Castle requires reassurance 
from the borrower that there is no reasonable cause to believe that any 
object in the exhibition in which the loaned objects shall be displayed 
has been stolen, illegally exported or illegally imported from its country 
of origin.  

11. Tamworth Castle will not lend objects: 
a) To film and television, or media companies. 
b) That are not fit to travel or be displayed, unless it has made prior 

arrangements with the borrower to conserve an item to display 
standard prior to its departure from Tamworth Castle. 

c) That are subject to licensing (i.e. firearms), unless the borrower 
holds and can provide the appropriate authority and licence to 
acquire, possess and return the items in question. 

d) Original film or photographic negatives, prints, video or sound 
recordings. 

e) Those items that are not owned by Tamworth Castle, except 
where the owner’s approval has been specifically granted. 

f) Those items that are inherently dangerous. 
g) That are on display or in use (or are planned to be) within 

Tamworth Castle 
h) Where the loan of the material would conflict with conditions of 

access agreed at the time of acquisition. 
i) Where the display of the material is thought likely to cause 

offence. 
j) That are not on display to the public due to reasons of security 

and confidentiality. 
k) That are subject to a claim for repatriation. 

 
 
 

Page 300



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Considering Applications for Loans Out 
12. The Collections Officer will provide information and advice to interested 

parties, regarding the potential to borrow objects, within the constraints 
of Tamworth Castle's resources.  Receipt of enquiries will be 
acknowledged within one month.  Any correspondence relating to the 
initial loan enquiry will be made as to not commit the Castle to the loan. 

13. Potential borrowers may visit the Castle to research and select objects.  
Visits will be arranged by appointment only with the Collections Officer 
and are on a non-committal basis. 

14. The first formal step in the loan application procedure will be a formal 
request in writing to the Collections Officer on the headed paper of the 
organisation concerned. 

15. Tamworth Castle will make every effort to fulfil loan requests that fall 
within permitted purposes.  However, care must be taken not to make 
commitments which could overload Tamworth Castle's resources. 

16. A minimum notice period of three months is required for a loan. 
17. Tamworth Castle will be transparent in handling loan requests; 

including providing an explanation of any difficulties or delays and full 
reasons behind any refusal to lend. 

18. Where requests for reference material are received from enquirers, 
such reference material will be provided in the form of scans or 
photocopies rather than originals. 

 
Conditions Applicable to Loans Out 
 

19. Loans out will only proceed where the owner is prepared to accept 
Tamworth Castle’s conditions as detailed below: 

 
General 

20. Tamworth Castle will request a completed UK Registrars Standard 
Facilities Report and an annual Condition Report including a 
photograph of the items from each borrower. A conservator, curator, 
registrar or an employee of the borrowing venue can produce both the 
UK Registrars Standard Facilities Report and Condition Report. If the 
borrower does not provide a report or the report raises issues of 
concern, a site visit may be required. The cost of this visit will be borne 
by the borrower. 

 
Loan Period 

21. The loan request letter, specifying the objects requested must be 
received by Tamworth Castle a minimum of three months in advance of 
the loan start date. 

22. All loans out will be for a fixed period with the possibility of renewal. 
The initial loan period will be between one month and three years. 

23. In the case of loans for temporary exhibition, the loan period will be the 
period of the exhibition plus whatever time is reasonably required for 
transport, preparation, installation, de-installation, packing and return 
transport. 

 
 

Page 301



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Costs 
24. Unless a specific agreement has been made for an individual loan, the 

borrower will bear all direct costs of borrowing including, transport, 
photography, conservation, display preparation (material costs), 
independent valuation, insurance, and regular inspection of the loaned 
Items.  

25. In addition, any costs arising from an insurable incident may be borne 
by the borrower. This may include travel, legal fees or consultants’ 
fees.  

26. The Borrower may be required to cover indirect costs such as staff time 
to: administer the loan, prepare items for display, or courier the items.  
Tamworth Castle will advise the borrower of any indirect costs to be 
covered at the time the loan is approved. 

27. For any item or group of items, which present certain risks associated 
with the loan, Tamworth Castle may send the Collections Officer as a 
courier who will be responsible for supervising handling, installation 
and de-installation. The courier, as Tamworth Castle's official 
representative, has the right to withdraw items from display where the 
stipulated requirements have not been met. All courier costs including 
travel and subsistence will be borne by the borrower. 

28. Tamworth Castle recognises that there can be valid reasons why a 
borrower may cancel a loan before the object has been transferred.  
However the Castle will consider passing on any preparatory costs 
incurred. 

29. Tamworth Castle wishes to encourage public access to its collections 
and therefore does not charge a loan fee for lending for public 
exhibition and / or study. 

30. Tamworth Castle will work with the borrower to ensure costs are kept 
at a minimum for all parties. 

 
Care of Loans 

31. The Borrower must complete the UK Registrars Group Facilities Report 
along with the Display Case Supplement and Security Supplement. 
Tamworth Castle will provide the borrower (if necessary) with copies of 
these documents for completion. 

32. Tamworth Castle may request additional measures of care and security 
on the advice of its own staff, or that of specialists including the 
National  Security Advisor (based at Arts Council England - ACE) for 
items valued over £1000. Special transport, handling, environmental 
and security requirements will be specified in the Loan Agreement. 

33. All Loans-Out will be condition-checked prior to packing and transport 
at Tamworth Castle’s premises, Holloway Lodge or the off-site store at 
Amington by the Collections Officer and / or Borrower, or their 
appointed agent. 

34. All Loans-Out will be condition-checked on arrival at the Borrower’s 
premises, upon exit at the end of the loan period and at appropriate 
intervals during the loan period, by the museum’s curator and / or by 
the borrowing institution’s staff. Records of condition checks will be 
sent to Tamworth Castle and kept in the Loans-Out file. 

Page 302



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

35. The Borrower must seek Tamworth Castle’s written permission before 
any interventive work is carried out either to the loaned items or to any 
accompanying part of it, e.g. a frame or display box. Such conservation 
work will only be carried out in order to protect the items, the public or 
the borrowing institution’s staff. 

36. Any item borrowed from Tamworth Castle for the purpose of exhibition 
will not be operated, worn, entered into or climbed onto without the 
Castle’s written permission. 

37. If the Borrower wishes to handle or move any items during the course 
of the loan, the borrower will ask Tamworth Castle for permission to 
move the items. If the item is for research purposes, the proposed 
handling and movement methods will be discussed and agreed prior to 
the loan going out. 

38. Tamworth Castle will usually carry out, or have performed by a 
specialist contractor, appropriate packing of the object.  Where 
possible the Borrower should retain and store in good condition the 
packing materials for the object’s eventual return. 

39. The return journey will preferably be by the equivalent method and 
carrier as the outward journey – any change must be agreed 
beforehand between Tamworth Castle and the borrower. 

40. Customs formalities and export licences are the responsibility of the 
borrower.  However, copies of associated documentation must be 
made available to Tamworth Castle. 

 
Valuation, Indemnity and Insurance 

41. The Borrower will be responsible for insuring all the items against all 
risks and will be required to provide proof of cover prior to transport of 
the items. If the insurance coverage is not adequate, Tamworth Castle 
will approach a reputable commercial insurer to provide coverage. 
Costs for this coverage will be borne by the Borrower. 

42. Tamworth Castle will lend at its own risk where the Borrower is a 
Treasury-funded institution listed in Annexe A to the Department for 
Culture Media and Sport’s Government Indemnity Scheme Guidelines 
(DCMS). 

43. Where the Borrower is a local authority museum and where 
satisfactory security and environmental management are in place, a 
Government Indemnity will be offered to the Borrower by Tamworth 
Castle on behalf of the DCMS. 

 
Monitoring 

44. If the item is damaged during the period of the loan, the borrower will 
inform Tamworth Castle immediately and proceed to complete an 
Incident Report Form within seven days of the incident. An Incident 
Report Form will be provided to the Borrower by Tamworth Castle. 

45. If there is a loss of the items e.g. theft, Tamworth Castle will carry out 
procedures as outlined in the Loss Policy. 

46. Tamworth Castle will be informed by the Borrower of matters of display 
and / or study or research access, including the location of display, the 
method by which the material is displayed, the content of any 
accompanying text and the choice of any photographs. 

Page 303



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

47. Tamworth Castle will be allowed reasonable access to the loaned item 
during the loan period at a mutually convenient time arranged. 

48. Annually Tamworth Castle will obtain written assurance form the 
borrower regarding the object’s condition and continued security. 

49. Tamworth Castle staff will visit and inspect objects no less than once 
every two years. 

50. Tamworth Castle will stipulate in the Loans-Out Agreement the 
acknowledgement required for use in caption, catalogue and exhibition 
publicity during the course of the loan negotiation.  This will usually be 
in the format ‘By kind permission of Tamworth Castle Museum’. 

 
Photographs 

51. If the Borrower wishes to take photographs or make other 
reproductions of the loaned items for commercial purposes, the 
Borrower must first have written permission by Tamworth Castle to do 
so. A fee may be payable. 

52. Photography by members of the public for non-commercial purposes, 
and by the Borrower for the purpose of managing the item whilst it is on 
loan is permitted. 

53. A fee will be payable by the Borrower for the use of photographs 
provided by Tamworth Castle in which the Castle has copyright. 

 
Environment and Facilities 

54. All objects from Tamworth Castle’s collections require particular 
conditions for display and storage.  Tamworth Castle will ensure that 
the facilities and requirements for lighting, climate conditions and the 
availability of special facilities comply with the UK Registrars Group 
Standard Facilities Report and are sufficient for the loan to go ahead 
safely and securely.  This may be expedited through the completion of 
a UK Registrar Group Facilities Report in advance by the Borrower, or 
a site visit and report by Tamworth Castle’s Collections Officer. 

 
Termination/Extension 

55. Tamworth Castle or the Borrower may terminate the loan with a 
minimum of three months notice in writing. 

56. If the Borrower does not comply with the terms and conditions of the 
loan, the loan may be terminated immediately. 

57. Any items borrowed from Tamworth Castle will not be lent to a third 
party without prior consent from Tamworth Castle. 

58. In the event of any dispute or difference between the Borrower and 
Tamworth Castle, both parties will attempt to resolve such dispute or 
difference without recourse to a third party. Should it prove impossible 
to resolve such dispute to the satisfaction of both parties, the dispute 
shall be referred to and determined by a sole arbitrator, appointed by 
agreement between the Borrower and Tamworth Castle. 

59. Three months before the end date of a long-term loan out, Tamworth 
Castle will write to the Borrower advising if the item can be renewed for 
a further fixed period or must be returned. 

60. The Borrower must write to Tamworth Castle requesting an extension 
to a loan as soon as possible. 

Page 304



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Authorisation and Responsibility 
 

61. In accordance with the Object Exit Policy Tamworth Castle will 
relinquish responsibility for accessioned objects upon completion of an 
Object Exit form. 

62. Tamworth Castle’s responsibility for an object will resume upon 
completion of the Return section of the Exit form.   

63. All Loans-Out must first be authorised by the Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager. 

64. The Collections Officer is responsible for managing the Loan-Out and 
its associated documentation. 

65. The Loans-Out Agreement can be signed by either the Collections 
Officer, or the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 

 
Documentation 
 

66. No objects will be lent until they have been recorded by accurate and 
sufficient photographs and a condition report. 

67. Only objects that have been accessioned, fully catalogued and fully 
labelled / marked will be loaned.  The relevant accession and 
catalogue records, as well as the Modes XML database are to be 
checked for accuracy before the loan proceeds.   

68. The Castle’s Loan-Out form will be used as the main means of 
formalising any loan agreement.  The Castle will not accept the 
borrowing institution’s Loans-In document alone. 

69. A Loans-Out Checklist will also be completed detailing the extra 
information required. 

70. An Object Exit Form will also be used to record the exit and return of 
the loan to and from Tamworth Castle Museum. 

71. The Collections Officer will maintain a list of borrowers who have failed 
to honour the museum’s terms and conditions of loan, supported by 
documentary evidence. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 305



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Loans Out Procedures 

Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the documentation 
processes that must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to be 
accountable for items it lends and to control the process of lending to 
borrowers. The procedures are the physical actions required to 
implement the Loans-Out Policy.  They therefore provide a step-by-
step account of how to document the Exit of an object on loan.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Loans-Out Policy. 

 
Spectrum Definition 

3. Documenting and managing the loan of objects to other organisations 
or individuals for a specific period of time and for a specific purpose, 
normally exhibition/display, but including research, conservation, 
photography and education. 

 
Spectrum Minimum Standard 

4. The procedure for documenting and managing loans out must: 
a) Ensure that all loan requests are assessed according to the 

organisation's policy; 
b) Ensure that there are written agreements signed by both 

borrower and lender before the loan commences; 
c) Ensure that the loan is for a finite period; 
d) Ensure that the organisation retains a record of all loans, 

including details of the borrower, the venues, the loan period 
and the purpose of the loan; 

e) Enable effective control of the loan process; 
f) Ensure that the borrower confirms their intent and ability to 

provide an acceptable level of care, security and safekeeping for 
the object and to conform to the conditions of loan specified; 

g) Ensure that the loaned objects are covered by insurance or 
indemnity as appropriate for the duration of the loan period. 

 
Creating a Loans Out File 

5. All documentation relating to Loans-Out is stored in filing cabinet 3, 
Holloway Lodge HL2 in the Loans-Out file.   

6. Files are created for each receiving institution.  They are stored in 
alphabetical order of the institution to which the item is on loan.  

7. A new file should be created for each new loan either within the 
existing file for the institution or in a new institution file.  The new file 
should be established as soon as the possibility of a loan is being 
explored, to provide a storage place for initial research provided.  If the 
loan goes ahead this file is to be used for all documentation relating to 

Page 306



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

the loan.  If the loan does not go ahead the file should be transferred to 
the Unsuccessful Loans folder, also located in filing cabinet 3, HL2. 

8. When a potential borrower requests information about borrowing an 
object from Tamworth Castle their enquiries should be acknowledged 
and responded to within one month.  They should be provided with a 
copy of Tamworth Castle’s Guide to Borrowing, a copy of the relevant 
terms and conditions for Loans Out and the UK Registrars Group 
Standard Facilities Report with the Display Case Supplement and 
Security Supplement.  

 
Loans Out Request 

9. Requests for Loans-Out should be received according to the reasons 
outlined in the Loans-Out Policy and within the specified timescales. 

10. The loan request letter should contain the following information: 
a) Title of exhibition, display or project 
b) Date of proposed loan 
c) Specific venue 
d) Scope of the exhibition, display or project. 
e) Type of loan – temporary, long term, touring exhibition. 
f) A complete list of items requested, where possible quoting 

object numbers (all research should have been conducted prior 
to sending the loan request) 

g) Reasons for loan 
h) The name of the member of staff responsible for the loan 
i) Who will be responsible for organising transport between 

venues. 
j) Who will be providing insurance. 
k) Whether the exhibition will tour and details of responsibility for 

arranging transport and meeting costs. 
l) Whether a publication will be produced. 

11. A completed UK Registrars Group Standard Facilities Report with the 
Display Case Supplement and Security Supplement should be included 
with the letter. 

12. Within ten working days a letter to the potential borrower should be 
sent advising when a decision will be made as well as asking for any 
outstanding information not sent with the request. 

13. To determine if a loan is to be granted, the following is to be 
considered: 

a) Is the item available? 
b) Does the item support the loan request? 
c) Is the item suitable for display?  
d) Does the venue provide the correct level of security and 

environmental conditions? 
e) Does the borrower have staff skilled and experienced to handle 

and maintain the items considered for loan. Extra consideration 
needs to be given to items such as weapons or firearms to 
ensure the borrower has the appropriate skills, licences, and 
security etc,. This can be achieved by reviewing the UK 
Registrars Group Standard Facilities Report with the Display 
Case Supplement and Security Supplement. 

Page 307



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

f) If the value of the loan is over £300, the National Security 
Advisor at ACE (Arts Council England) will need to be contacted 
to carry out a security check. 

g) Are there ethical issues to consider? 
14. Tamworth Castle will assess each decision to lend on its individual 

merits to ensure that it complies with the terms and conditions such as 
the ones noted above, but also supports Tamworth Castle’s own 
priorities and aims. Tamworth Castle must also determine if it has the 
resources available to prepare the loan. 

 
Checklist for Loans Out 

15. Within a month of acknowledging receipt of the potential Borrower’s 
letter, the Collections Officer should write the to the potential Borrower 
advising: 

a) Whether or not Tamworth Castle will lend the requested 
object(s). If some items are not available, further discussions will 
need to be held. 

b) Costs and responsibilities to be borne by the Borrower including: 
conservation, insurance, packing, transport, staff time and 
couriers. All costs are generally borne by the Borrower. 

c) Enclose the individual Checklist for Loans-Out. 
16. If Tamworth Castle decides not to lend all or some of the items 

requested, effort needs to be made to find alternative items or 
potentially provide other resources such as photographs or scanned 
copies (n the case of Archives) of the items. 

17. The checklist for Loans-Out should be used to ensure that the 
necessary information has been gathered before a loan is undertaken. 
The checklist for Loans-Out (Appendix 4A) is to be found in the forms 
folder in HL1 on the shelf below the Holding Bay and is stored on the 
TBC server. The Checklist for Loans-Out contains space for the 
following information and should be completed for each item or group 
of items : 

a) the Loans-Out agreement number (to be completed after a 
Loans -Out agreement number has been assigned) 

b) Items name , title (if applicable), manufacturer or maker 
c) Owner’s reference number  
d) Name of owner - Tamworth Castle and name of the individual 

acting as the point of contact for the owner and where the items 
will be collected from and delivered to.  If an item on long term 
loan into Tamworth Castle is requested for loan out, the legal 
owner must be contacted and advised of the request.  It is up to 
the legal owners to negotiate their own agreement with the 
borrower.  Tamworth Castle may administer the loan for the 
owner i.e. packing, handling and installation. 

e) Lender (if not the owner) – Tamworth Castle may hold items 
belonging to an owner but have the right to lend it.  Tamworth 
Castle may be acknowledged as the lender with no owner 
stipulated.    

f) Materials – what is the item made of? Item details – i.e. 
manufacture, date, model or registration number. 

Page 308



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

g) Dimensions i.e. external frame, widest points on models, closed 
and open dimensions of a printed book or bound document 

h) Weight (metric or imperial) 
i) Related objects – keys, boxes, comes with an existing mount 
j) Display recommendation – (e.g. secured to the wall with security 

screws, mount on Perspex, comes with a mount) 
k) Environmental parameters for display (UV, Lux levels, RH% and 

temperature) 
l) Security requirements – (does it need to be in a display case or 

can it go on open display?) 
m) Handling recommendations (for purposes of packing and 

installation) 
n) Packing recommendation – (i.e. soft wrapped, transit frame, 

crate) 
o) Special requirements – (e.g. Items with Mercury cannot travel by 

air so must travel by road) 
p) Legal / licence requirements – (i.e. firearms licence, export 

licence). If an approved fine art shipper is being used, they 
normally prepare these legally required documents. 

q) Courier to be sent?  
r) Is the Castle the copyright holder? If not, who is?  
s) Visual Condition Check.  A separate Condition Check is to be 

carried out by the Collections Officer before an item is loaned. 
t) Acknowledgement is required and this will usually be in the 

format: ‘By kind permission of Tamworth Castle Museum’ in 
 the exhibition catalogue or on the label accompanying the 
item on display. 

u) Valuation (Sterling) -  for Government Indemnity purposes a 
valuation is required. If the value is unknown an independent 
valuation can be carried out with the cost of such service to be 
covered by the Borrower.   

 
Loans Out Agreement 

 
18. When the list of items has been finalised and the required information 

has been obtained the next step is to complete the Loans-Out 
Agreement.  Blank Loans-Out Agreements (Appendix 4A) are located 
in the forms folder in HL1 on the shelf below the Holding Bay and are 
stored on the TBC server. 

19. A Loans-Out number will be issued at this stage.  Loans-Out numbers 
are the letters LO followed by a consecutive number based on the 
number of outward loans made that year, then a dash and then the 
year the loan agreement was signed i.e. LO5-2009.  The Loans file for 
the loan should now be numbered with the Loans-Out Agreement 
number in the top left hand corner.  

20. The agreement must be completed in full ensuring crucially that the 
owner’s signature is obtained.  The following information is to be 
recorded:- 

a) Loans-Out agreement number 
b) The Borrower’s name, address and further contact details. 

Page 309



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

c) The number of items on loan. 
d) The total value of the items. 
e) The loan period – this must be a fixed period of time. 
f) The purpose of the loan – exhibition, display, research. 
g) The agreement clause. 
h) The Borrower’s signature with date. 
i) Contact name, department and date. 
j) Signature of either the Collections Officer or Heritage and Visitor 

Services Manager. 
21. All checklists must be attached to the Loans-Out agreement. 
22. The terms and conditions must also be attached to the Agreement. 
23. Two copies of the Loans-Out Agreement are sent to the Borrower for 

review, signature and return of one copy. 
24. It is frequently the case that Borrowers, especially museums and art 

galleries have their own Loan Agreements. However, the Lender’s 
Agreements always take priority and the Borrower’s is not to be used 
under any circumstances.  

25. The Loans-Out Agreement is to be stored in the Loans-Out file for the 
loan with the checklist attached.  The Loans-Out file is stored in filing 
cabinet 3 Holloway Lodge HL2.  A copy of the Loans-Out Agreement 
should also be placed in the History file to allow easy cross referencing 
between the Loans file and object History file. 

 
Preparation for Dispatch from the Museum 

 
26. When the Loan Agreement has been signed Tamworth Castle should 

prepare for dispatch of the object by briefing all necessary staff, 
implementing any requirements specified by the Borrower and 
packaging the item ready for dispatch. 

27. If appropriate offer the Borrower a Government Indemnity on behalf of 
DCMS. 

28. The Borrower must provide a copy of the insurance certificate or 
confirmation of indemnity at least two weeks before the item is 
dispatched. 

29. A delivery date should be arranged and the appropriate arrangements 
for packing and shipping undertaken including appointing couriers. 

30. If applicable make the necessary arrangements with Customs and 
Excise to obtain appropriate documentation (shipping agents generally 
prepare such documentation)  Ensure supporting documentation such 
as condition reports, air weigh bills and instructions are given to the 
courier or travel with the item. 

31. The item should exit Tamworth Castle on an Object Exit form.  The 
form is to be signed by the Borrower’s contracted shipper, or by the 
Borrower themselves if the Borrower is collecting the item.  The 
appropriate location records are to be updated, see Object Exit Policy 
and Procedures. 

32. The Castle’s copy of the Loan Agreement is to be stored in the Loans -
Out file created for the loan. 

 
 

Page 310



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

Delivery of the Loan  
 

33. It is to be stipulated that each item is condition checked by 
appropriately trained staff on arrival at the Borrower’s premises and a 
record of this check is obtained by Tamworth Castle. 

34. The Castle’s Object Exit Form must be signed by the Borrower or their 
agent to confirm arrival. The Borrower is to retain their copy of the form 
and the other two copies are to be returned to Tamworth Castle, see 
Object Exit Policy and Procedures.  

35. The carrier / borrower is responsible for a loaned item as soon as the 
Object Exit form is signed.  

 
Renewal of Loan / Extension of Period 
 

36. A Loan-Out can be renewed for a specific reason and time.  Renewals 
should be completed within the timescales specified in the Loans-Out 
Policy.  

37. Tamworth Castle will write to the Borrower three months before the end 
of the loan to advise if the item can be renewed or must be returned. 

38. A decision to renew the loan should be based on the condition report 
provided by the Borrower, Tamworth Castle’s requirements for the 
item, the satisfactory care and handling of the items carried out by the 
Borrower, a possible site visit and other relevant conditions. 

39. If the loan is to be renewed a new Loan-Out Agreement should be 
prepared ensuring that the valuation reflects the agreed value, a 
condition report has been sent if the owner has requested one, and the 
documentation has been updated with the new date for return. 

40. If a Loan-Out is returned before the indemnity expiry date the 
Government Indemnity must be cancelled. 

 
Termination of the Loan 
 

41. Arrange for the return of the loan, and confirm packing, transport and 
receipt arrangements as agreed in the Loans-Out Agreement. 

42. A final condition report should be requested from the Borrower with 
photographs if necessary. 

43. Items are to be packed referring to original packing notes and 
photographs.  The Borrower should be encouraged to use original 
packing if it has been kept. 

44. The Borrower’s responsibility for the loaned item will cease when the 
original Exit form is signed by either Tamworth Castle's Collections 
Officer, or the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager to confirm return 
of the item. In the absence of either the Exit form can be signed by the 
Education Officer. 

45. On entry back into Tamworth Castle the object is to be unpacked, 
condition checked and Tamworth Castle should produce a Condition 
Report.  The report is to be filed in the Loans-Out file.   

46. The original Exit Form must be signed to acknowledge return, this 
includes the Borrower’s copy which must then be returned to the 
Borrower.  The Borrower may also have a dispatch document that they 

Page 311



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$oxnqhjg0.doc 

require signing, this will usually be their Object Entry form which will 
require Tamworth Castle’s Collections Officer, or Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager to sign to acknowledge return of the object. In the 
absence of either the document can be signed by the Education 
Officer. 

47. The object must then immediately be returned to its permanent 
location. 

48. The location records on the object on the Modes XML database and 
the catalogue card must be updated as soon as the object is returned 
to its permanent location. 

49. The Borrower is to be invoiced for any costs incurred. 
50. The documentation is to be retained as a permanent record and audit 

trail of the loan. 

Page 312



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Loans In Policy 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to be 
accountable for items it borrows and to control the process of 
borrowing.  It therefore describes the permitted purposes, 
circumstances, authorisation levels and minimum documentation 
required for a loan in.  

 
Scope 

2. The policy applies to:- 
a) All new objects that enter Tamworth Castle museum and are left 

under the care of the Castle on loan from another institution.  
b) All objects that are currently on loan to the museum and require 

their loan agreements re-negotiating at the request of the 
Lender or because they are due to expire.  

c) Objects that are currently on loan to the museum.  A list of 
existing loans has been compiled.  However, not all objects 
have been located and documentation has been inconsistent 
and patchy.  Retrospective documentation of existing loans is 
covered by the Backlog Policy and is based upon implementing 
this policy and procedures across all Loans-In.  See Backlog 
Policy. 

 
3. The policy does not apply to:- 

a) All other objects that enter the Castle which are not on loan from 
another institution i.e. identifications, donations, purchases, 
items found in the store, internal movement of objects, items 
acquired for the handling collection.  These are all covered by 
the Object Entry Policy and Procedures. 

b) Objects that enter the Castle from another organisation but are 
not placed under its care; for example: objects accompanying a 
guest speaker that will remain under the care of their owner 
throughout their time at the Castle. 

c) Objects that are loaned out to museums.  The return of outward 
loans to the museum is covered by the Loans-Out Policy and 
Procedures it is not an inward Loan. 

4. The term Owner is used throughout this policy on the understanding 
that the Owner is also the Lender.  In the small number of cases where 
the Lender is not the Owner but a third party, Tamworth Castle must 
ensure that the Lender has the Owner’s authority to act on their behalf. 

 
Items to be Borrowed 
 

5. Tamworth Castle will only undertake to borrow items where absolutely 
necessary, when there are deficits within its own collections, or for the 

Page 313



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

purpose of special displays or exhibitions.  Items accepted on loan 
must fall within Tamworth Castle’s collecting remit. 
See Tamworth Castle Collections Development Policy 2014 – 2019.  
Any exceptions to this policy will be for the purpose of contextualisation 
of other displays and are to be approved by the Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager. 

6. Items may be borrowed by Tamworth Castle for the purposes of:- 
a) display / exhibition 
b) public study / research (only where there is demonstrable public 

benefit) 
7. Tamworth Castle will not borrow items which are:- 

a) not fit to travel 
b) hazardous 
c) offered for loan without the owner’s consent 
d) offered for loan with conditions attached that Tamworth Castle is 

unable to comply with. 
e) not fit to be displayed. 

8. Items may be borrowed from other Accredited museums, private 
individuals and commercial organisations. 

9. Loans can be initiated by either Tamworth Castle or by the Lender. 
 
Loan Requests 
 

10. Loan requests must be in writing and should be submitted to potential 
lenders in the UK, Channel Islands and Isle of Man at least six months 
in advance of the beginning of the loan period.  For European lenders 
this lead in time should extend to nine months and for other 
international lenders twelve months.  The owner’s minimum lead in 
time will stipulate the exact time required. 

11. In exceptional circumstances a Loan-in may be initiated by an owner 
who recognises the benefit to the public of offering their items for 
display or public study and research.  Such loans will be subject to a 
minimum six month lead in period to allow for preparation to receive 
the object. 

 
Conditions Applicable to Loans-In 
 

12. Loans-in will only proceed where the Owner is prepared to accept 
Tamworth Castle’s conditions as follow below: 

 
Loan Period 

13. Permanent or indefinite loans are not permitted for any purpose.  All 
Loans -In will be for a fixed period and of no longer than five years with 
the possibility of renewal if agreed by both Tamworth Castle and the 
Owner. 

14. Loans that will be received under the Government Indemnity Scheme 
must have a renewal / end date of no later than three years to comply 
with the requirements of the scheme. 

15. The minimum length of time for a Loan is one month. 

Page 314



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

16. In the case of Loans for temporary exhibition, the Loan period will be 
the period of the exhibition plus whatever time is reasonably required 
for transport, preparation, installation, de-installation, packing and 
return transport.  

17. When negotiating a Loan the end date of the Loan must be fixed.  If it 
is envisaged that the Loan will last for longer than five years a date of 
five years is to be fixed for the Loan Agreement to be renewed.  

 
Costs 

18. Tamworth Castle will bear the cost of borrowing objects for any of its 
permitted loan purposes.  This may include costs for transport, 
couriers, photography, exhibition preparation, lenders’ fees and 
independent valuation. 

19. Tamworth Castle will not bear the cost of conservation work required 
for immediate display purposes as it is outside of the remit of the 
Loans-In policy to accept objects which are not fit for display.   

 
Care of Loans 

20. All objects loaned to Tamworth Castle will receive the same level of 
care and security as is provided for its own collections, in accordance 
with Tamworth Castle’s Handling / Packing / Storage Guidelines. 
See Object Handling Guidelines 2014 and Care and Conservation 
Policy 2014. 

21. Tamworth Castle may agree to additional measures of care and 
security at the request of the owner or on the advice of specialists as 
long as they are achievable and affordable. 

22. It is expected that objects will not require interventive work given that 
Tamworth Castle will not accept objects that are not fit for purpose or 
display.  However if interventive work is required it will not be carried 
out on the object while under Tamworth Castle’s care unless done so 
by the Owner / Lender or by permission of the Owner / Lender.   

23. Through borrowing, Tamworth Castle may become temporarily 
responsible for items which fall beyond its customary area of expertise.  
It will not, however, borrow items for which it does not have, or cannot 
procure, the specialist skill to handle, store, move or in any other way 
maintain, if such activities are required in order to borrow. 

24. Tamworth Castle will only accept responsibility for damage and 
deterioration of an object whilst in its care if it is proved beyond 
unreasonable doubt that the museum has been negligent in the care of 
the artefact. 

25. Tamworth Castle will not be responsible for damage caused by acts of 
God, war, hostilities, terrorism, negligence by the owner or his agents 
or for claims by third parties claiming entitlement to the object. 

26. If any item is damaged or there is a loss e.g. theft, Tamworth Castle 
will immediately inform the owner and the Loss Policy and Procedures 
will be followed.  If an item is damaged, an Incident Report Form will be 
completed and procedures carried out. 

27. Tamworth Castle reserves the right to remove items to a place of 
safety in the event of an emergency.  

Page 315



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

28. The Owner and Tamworth Castle must agree transport arrangements.  
Tamworth Castle does not accept liability for artefacts in transit unless 
it is directly as a result of negligence of Tamworth Castle staff. 

29. Where appropriate, any special packing material may be retained for 
re-packing.  Objects will be packed in the same manner (or better) than 
that originally employed.  The packing materials will be stored carefully 
during the period of the loan in conditions that avoid damage and 
permit re-use. 

 
Valuation, Indemnity and Insurance  

30. No items will be accepted on loan without a valuation agreed by both 
the Owner and Tamworth Castle.  If the Owner and Tamworth Castle 
cannot agree a valuation, one should be provided by an independent 
assessor, the cost of valuation is to be met by the lender. 

31. The owner of the item(s) accepts responsibility for ensuring that the 
object(s) are insured while on loan to Tamworth Castle. 

32. Tamworth Castle will offer a Government Indemnity to private owners, 
institutional owners from other countries and non-national institutional 
UK owners for items valued at £301 or above.  Items valued at £300 or 
less will be borrowed at Tamworth Castle’s risk. 

33. The Government Indemnity Scheme will come into effect from the date 
specified on the Indemnity documentation (the date when Tamworth 
Castle becomes responsible for the item).  Indemnity cover can be 
extended to cover the transportation of the item(s) to and from 
Tamworth Castle to the owner, if Tamworth Castle carries out the 
transport.  If items are delivered or retrieved by the Owner they must 
ensure that they are adequately insured during transit.  

34. A copy of the official Government Indemnity document will be provided 
to the item’s owner when received by Tamworth Castle from DCMS. 

 
Display 

35. Tamworth Castle cannot guarantee the display of a loaned item.  This 
will be made clear by Tamworth Castle to the owner at the time of 
arranging the loan. 

36. Tamworth Castle will have discretion in all matters of display and study 
/ research access.  This includes the location of the item on display, the 
method by which the object is displayed, the content of any 
accompanying text, unless specifically agreed otherwise with the 
owner. 

37. Items lent to the Castle for exhibition will not be available for public 
handling and use without the Owner’s written permission and then only 
if it is clear that such use is safe and non-damaging to staff, the public 
and the loaned items. 

38. Any captions will, unless Tamworth Castle is otherwise instructed by 
the owner, acknowledge that the object is on loan from the particular 
owner / institution.  The caption and any exhibition brochures will, 
unless agreed otherwise with the Lender, state no more than the 
Lender’s name. 

Page 316



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

39. Two copies of any published exhibition brochures which contain entries 
relating to items borrowed may be provided to the Lender free of 
charge by Tamworth Castle. 

  
Photography 

40. All photographs taken by Tamworth Castle for record or publicity 
purposes remain the copyright of Tamworth Castle unless otherwise 
agreed with the Owner.   

41. Visitors to Tamworth Castle are allowed to photograph and sketch 
items on display and to view and request purchased copies of archive 
material for their own private use.  This will include Loan-in items 
unless a request is received from the owner. 
Excepting items on loan to Tamworth Castle from the Victoria and 
Albert Museum, London, where the Loan Agreement does not allow 
photography specifically of the loan items.  See V&A Loan Agreement 
2013 – 2016. 

42. Tamworth Castle retains the right to disallow all photography by 
members of the public. 

43. If the Owner agrees that a photograph may be taken by a third party, 
Tamworth Castle reserves the right to charge the third party a ‘facility 
fee’ to cover access to the material for those purposes. 

 
Ownership 

44. The Owner will be asked to keep Tamworth Castle informed of any 
changes in ownership or contact details during the period of the loan. 

45. If ownership of the item does change during the period of the loan a 
new Loan- in agreement with the new Owner will be required for the 
loan to continue.  The new Owner will be required to prove their legal 
title to the item prior to its being dispatched to them or prior to the 
signing of a new loan agreement.  

46. If the Owner wishes to sell the loaned items the Owner must notify 
Tamworth Castle as soon as possible in order to terminate the loan 
and arrange the return of the item to the Owner. 

47. If, at the end of the Loan period, the Owner cannot be contacted and 
after all practicable measures to arrange the return of the items have 
been taken, Tamworth Castle reserves the right to accession the item 
in order to be fully accountable for it.  

48. Tamworth Castle will establish the copyright status of an item borrowed 
where applicable.  

49. Tamworth Castle will allow the Owner reasonable access at all 
reasonable times, by prior appointment, for inspection for whatever 
reason. 

 
Termination/Extension 

50. If the Loan Agreement is to expire Tamworth Castle will contact the 
owner three months prior to the expiry date to advise if Tamworth 
Castle wishes to renew the loan or return the items. 

51. The Owner or Tamworth Castle may terminate the loan with three 
months notice in writing.  The item must be removed within the notice 
period. 

Page 317



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

52. Where an object is no longer required and the Lender cannot be 
contacted to agree an early collection date, Tamworth Castle will store 
the object until the end of the planned loan period. 

53. After reasonable effort to contact the Owner, Tamworth Castle 
reserves the right to accession or dispose of objects if they are not 
collected six months after the agreed collection date. 

54. In the case of the dissolution of a corporate body or institutional owner, 
or the death of a private owner, Tamworth Castle will take steps to find 
out who the legal owner is in order to ensure that the Loan is returned 
to the legal owner. Tamworth Castle may pursue legal title to the object 
for objects loaned by corporate bodes.  However, Tamworth Castle will 
not pursue title to objects loaned by private individuals or 
unincorporated organisations. 

55. A condition report will be made upon termination of the Loan.  This will 
help to minimise the likelihood of any dispute over deterioration of the 
object. 

 
Third Parties 

56. Items received on Loan will not be lent to a third party without the prior 
written consent of the Owner.  

 
Disputes 

57. In the event of any dispute or difference between the Owner and 
Tamworth Castle both parties will attempt to resolve such dispute or 
difference without recourse to a third party.  Should it prove impossible 
to resolve such dispute to the satisfaction of both parties, the dispute 
shall be referred to and determined by a sole arbitrator, appointed by 
agreement between the Owner and the Castle. 

 
Responsibility and Authorisation 

58. In accordance with the Object Entry Policy Tamworth Castle will take 
responsibility for objects received as a Loan-In, upon completion of an 
Object Entry Form. 

59. In accordance with the Object Exit Policy the Castle’s responsibility for 
an object will cease upon completion of an Exit form.  If Tamworth 
Castle is unable to obtain a signed copy of the Exit Form, 
acknowledging receipt by the Owner, Tamworth Castle will advise the 
Owner in writing that they ceased to be responsible for the item at the 
time the shipper received the item. 

60. All Loans-In must first be authorised by the Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager. 

61. The Collections Officer is responsible for drafting the Loan request and 
managing the Loan-In and its associated documentation. 

62. The Loans-In Agreement can be signed by either the Collections 
Officer or the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 

 
Documentation 

63. Loans-in will be recorded using a Loan-in Agreement setting out the 
obligations and responsibilities of each party, agreed by both sides and 
without opportunity for ambiguity and contradiction.  Wherever possible 

Page 318



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

this will be Tamworth Castle’s Loan Agreement.  However, where 
necessary this may be the agreement of the Lending institution.  On no 
account will two organisation’s agreements be used simultaneously as 
one may invalidate the other, the Lender’s Agreement has priority. 

64. The Loan Agreement form must be signed by both the Owner or their 
representative and Tamworth Castle’s Collections Officer. 

65. It is important to note that documentation must also be completed to 
comply with other, associated collections management policies.  This 
will include an Object Entry Form and two Condition Report forms (on 
Entry and Exit).  See the relevant Policies and Procedures. 

66. Upon arrival at Tamworth Castle each group of Loaned items will be 
unpacked and condition checked by the Collections Officer and given a 
unique Loans-in number.  A Condition Report is to be produced for 
each individual item and stored in the Loans-in file. 

67. A copy of Tamworth Castle’s Loans-in Form signed by the Collections 
Officer administering the Loan on receipt of the object, will be sent to 
the Lender. 

68. Due to the small number of Loans-in to Tamworth Castle they will not 
currently be stored on a computer database.  Instead a Loans-in Log is 
to be maintained of all Loans-in, found in the front of the Loans-in 
folder stored in filing cabinet 3 Holloway Lodge HL2. 

69. Up to date information about the location, security, environment and 
condition of the item is to be maintained.  This is to be stored in a 
Loans file along with all correspondence and other information 
acquired about the loan.  Loans files are produced for each lending 
institution. 

 
Previous Loans Records 

70. There are relatively few items on Loan to Tamworth Castle.  There is 
however patchy documentation of these loans, some of which were 
received by Tamworth Castle on permanent loan. 

71. Permanent loans are no longer acceptable, Tamworth Castle is to trace 
the owners of permanent loans and convert the loan agreements into 
either a fixed term loan or a gift.  This is incorporated into the Backlog 
Policy. 

72. See Backlog Policy for further detail about how previous Loan-in 
documentation is to be brought into line with current policies and 
procedures. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Loans In Procedures 

 
Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of these procedures is to describe the documentation 
processes that must be followed to enable Tamworth Castle to be 
accountable for items it borrows and to control the process of 
borrowing.  The procedures are the physical actions required to 
implement the Loans-In Policy.  They therefore provide a step-by-step 
account of how to document an object that has entered the museum on 
loan.   

 
Scope 

2. The procedures are to be applied to all objects that are subject to the 
Loans-In Policy. 

 
Spectrum Definition 

3. Managing and documenting the borrowing of objects for which the 
organisation is responsible for a specific period of time and for a 
specified purpose, normally exhibition/display, but including research, 
conservation, education or photography/publication. 

 
Spectrum Minimum Standard 

4. The procedure for managing and documenting loans in must: 
a) Establish the purpose of the loan; 
b) Enable at least the same care of the borrowed object as if it 

were part of the permanent collections; 
c) Include written agreements signed by both borrower and lender 

before the loan commences, as appropriate to the collection; 
d) Ensure that the terms and conditions of loan are adhered to; 
e) Ensure that all loans are for fixed periods; 
f) Ensure a written record of the loan is retained; 
g) Enable effective control of the loan process; 
h) Enable the provision of information about the borrower and the 

loan as requested by the lender; 
i) Provide insurance or indemnity cover for the loan period; 
j) Ensure that up-to-date information about the location of 

borrowed objects is maintained; 
k) Ensure that up-to-date information about the security of 

borrowed objects is maintained; 
l) Ensure that up-to-date information about the physical well-being 

of borrowed objects is maintained, including the environment 
and condition of the objects. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 320



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

Creating a Loans-in File 
 

5. All documentation relating to Loans-in is stored in filing cabinet 3, 
Holloway Lodge HL2 in the Loans-in file.   

6. Files are created for each Lending institution.  They are stored in 
alphabetical order of the institution from which the item is on loan.  

7. A new file should be created for each new Loan either within the 
existing file for the institution or in a new institution file.  The new file 
should be established as soon as the possibility of a Loan is being 
explored to provide a storage place for initial research.  If the Loan 
goes ahead this file is to be used for all documentation relating to the 
Loan.  If the Loan does not go ahead after initial research the file 
should be transferred to the Unsuccessful Loans folder, also located in 
filing cabinet 3, Holloway Lodge HL2. 

 
Loans-in Request 

8. Requests for Loans-in should be completed according to the reasons 
outlined in the Loans-In Policy within the specified timescales. 

9. The loan request letter should contain the following information: 
a) Title of exhibition, display or project 
b) Date of proposed loan 
c) Specific venue 
d) Scope of the exhibition, display or project. 
e) Type of loan – temporary, long term, touring exhibition. 
f) A complete list of items requested, where possible quoting 

object numbers (all research should have been conducted prior 
to sending the loan request) 

g) Reasons for loan 
h) The name of the member of staff responsible for the loan 
i) Who will be responsible for organising transport between 

venues. 
j) Who will be providing insurance. 
k) Whether the exhibition will tour and details of responsibility for 

arranging transport and meeting costs. 
l) Whether a publication will be produced. 
m) A completed UK Registrars Group Standard Facilities Report. 

 
Checklist for Loans-In 

10. Once a Loan has been agreed in principle and the list of items to be 
borrowed has been established, further information is to be requested 
on the items.  The checklist for Loans-in should be used to ensure that 
the necessary information has been gathered before a Loan is 
undertaken. The checklist for Loans-in is to be found in the forms folder 
in HL1 below the Holding Bay shelf, the Loan-in folder, and a copy is 
stored on the Tamworth Borough Council server on the S\drive. 

11. The Checklist for Loans-in is either to be issued to the Owner to 
complete or if sufficient information is already known about the objects 
by Tamworth Castle, the checklist can be completed by Tamworth 
Castle and used as a reminder as to what information is still required.  

Page 321



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

If the checklist is completed by the Owner it is to be later incorporated 
into the Loans-in Agreement.   

12. The checklist requires the following information:- 
a) The Loans-in Agreement number (to be completed after a Loan-

in Agreement number has been assigned) 
b) Items name, title (if applicable), manufacturer or maker 
c) Owner’s reference number) 
d) Name and address of Owner and name of the individual acting 

as the point of contact for the Owner and where the Item(s) will 
be collected from and delivered to. 

e) Materials – what is the Item made of? Item details – i.e. 
manufacture, date, model or registration number. 

f) Dimensions i.e. external frame, widest points on models, closed 
and open dimensions of a printed book or bound document 

g) Weight (metric or imperial) 
h) Related objects – keys, boxes, comes with an existing mount 
i) Display recommendation – e.g. secured to the wall with security 

screws, mount on Perspex, comes with a mount 
j) Environmental parameters for display (UV, Lux levels, RH and 

temperature) 
k) Handling recommendations (for purposes of packing and 

installation) 
l) Packing recommendation – i.e. soft wrapped, transit frame, 

crate, 
m) Special requirements – e.g. Items containing Lithium batteries or 

cells, and Mercury are subject to dangerous goods regulations 
for air, road and sea transport. 

n) Legal / Licence requirements – i.e. firearms licence, export 
licence. If an approved fine art shipper is being used, they 
normally prepare these legally required documents. 

o) Details if a courier is required. 
p) Details of copyright if applicable.   
q) Can the Owner supply a transparency or digital image? 
r) Details of acknowledgement - How does the Owner wish to be 

credited in the exhibition catalogue or on the label 
accompanying the Item(s) on display? 

s) Valuation (Sterling) for Government Indemnity purposes a 
valuation is required. The owner may not know the value and 
Tamworth Castle may provide guidance on the value advising 
the Owner that Tamworth Castle recommends seeking an 
independent valuation. Tamworth Castle will liable for the cost of 
this valuation. Ensure that any value agreed on is for the 
purpose of this Loan only. 

t) Visual Condition check by the Owner and dated – A conservator 
is not required for this check, but can aid the museum in 
determining if the object is fit for travel and display. The 
Government Indemnity Scheme does not provide coverage for 
conservation work unless it is in preparation for display i.e. low 
reflect glass, mount built. 

 

Page 322



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

 
Loans-in Agreement 

 
13. When the list of items has been finalised and the required information 

has been obtained either verbally, or by the Owner completing a 
Loans-in Checklist, the next step is to complete the Loans-in 
Agreement.  
Blank Loans-in Agreement forms are located in the forms folder in HL1  
under the Holding Bay shelf, and a copy is stored on the Tamworth 
Borough Council server on the S\drive. 

14. A Loans-in number will be issued at this stage.  Loans-in numbers are 
the letters LI followed by a consecutive number based on the number 
of inward loans received that year the year, then a dash and then the 
year the agreement was signed i.e. LI5-2009.  The Loans file for the 
Loan should now be numbered with the Loans-in Agreement number in 
the lower right corner.  

15. The Agreement must be completed in full ensuring crucially that the 
Owner’s signature is obtained.  The following information is to be 
recorded:- 

a) Loans-in Agreement number 
b) The Owner or Lender’s name, address and further contact 

details as well as the collection and return address. 
c) The number of items on loan. 
d) The total value of the items. 
e) The loan venue at Tamworth Castle. 
f) The purpose of the loan – exhibition, display, research. 
g) The loan period – this must be a fixed period of time. 
h) The agreement clause. 
i) The Owner’s or Lender’s signature with date. 
j) Contact name, department and date. 
k) Signature of Tamworth Castle’s Collections Officer or, in their 

absence, the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 
16. All checklists must be attached to the Loans-in Agreement. 
17. The terms and conditions must also be attached to the Agreement. 
18. For private loans it might be necessary for the Lender to confirm title 

and provenance of the loaned object.  
19. Two copies of the Loans-in Agreement are sent to the Owner for 

review, signature and return of one copy. 
20. It is frequently the case that Owners, especially museums and art 

galleries, use their own Loan agreements. Provided the terms and 
conditions reflect Tamworth Castle’s own, the Owner’s form can be 
used. It is important that both parties sign either the Owner’s Loan 
Agreement or Tamworth Castle’s Loans-in Agreement, but not both. 

21. If another museum’s agreement is used it is even more important to 
ensure that Tamworth Castle’s checklist is completed in full and 
attached to the Agreement to ensure that the correct information is 
recorded. 

 
 
 

Page 323



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

 
Preparation for Arrival at the Museum 

 
22. When the Loan Agreement has been signed Tamworth Castle should 

prepare for receipt of the object by briefing all necessary staff, 
implementing any requirements specified by the Owner and identifying 
a location for the item on its arrival. 

23. Once the shipping dates have been agreed it will be necessary to apply 
for an Indemnity Application (if required).  It can take up to three weeks 
for this process to be completed.  The Collections Officer should 
forward a copy of the certificate to the owner when it is received at 
Tamworth Castle. 

24. The appropriate licences will also need to have been obtained eg: for 
working items requiring import / export documentation. 

25. Tamworth Castle’s copy of the Loan Agreement is to be stored in the 
Loans-in file created for the loan, see paragraphs 5-7. 

 
Arrival of the Loan at the Museum 
 

26.  On initial entry into Tamworth Castle every inward loan is subject to 
the Entry Policy and Procedures.  See Object Entry Policy and 
Procedures. 

27. Once an object has passed the entry stage it will be located in the 
Holding Bay in HL1 Holloway Lodge or the entrance area at the off-site 
store at Amington pending further action. Each object, or group of 
objects will have been allocated a separate Object Entry number, and 
sub-numbers depending on how many items there are in the group. 

28. The first action is to unpack the item.  The packaging should be 
removed carefully so as to avoid damaging both the object and the 
packaging.  The packaging should then be placed in the Holloway 
Lodge store, Castle Stables store, or the Amington store, to be used 
when the object is to be returned.  It is to be clearly labelled with the 
Loan Agreement number and the institution from which the loaned 
objects came. 

29. It is then necessary to conduct a condition check, completing a 
Condition Report.  Condition Report forms are located in the forms 
folder in HL1 Holloway Lodge beneath the Holding Bay shelf.  
Where possible every effort should be made to encourage the Lender 
to prepare a condition report before the object leaves their care.  This 
report would then provide the basis on which Tamworth Castle is to 
prepare an ‘on arrival’ condition report. If a courier accompanies the 
item the Collections Officer should work with the courier to ensure an 
agreed condition. A photograph of the item should be taken, for record 
purposes only, to accompany the condition report. 

30. Each loan will be given a Loan Agreement number, see paragraph 14 
above.  Each object or group of objects will be given their own Object 
Entry number.  Throughout their time at Tamworth Castle the group of 
objects will be identified by their Loan Agreement number and each 
individual item, or group of items will be identified by its Object Entry 
number and sub-numbers.   

Page 324



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

31. Inward loans must never be accessioned into the main collection, 
unless the Lender decides to donate the item to Tamworth Castle and 
signs the transfer of title section of the Object Entry Form.   
The identifying numbers given to the items by their owners can be 
recorded on the Loan Agreement form to provide further detail, but will 
not be used to identify the objects whilst at Tamworth Castle as the 
numbers might duplicate numbers in Tamworth Castle’s collections and 
some items might not be numbered.   

32. A Loans-in log is maintained, which records: 
a) Object Entry number 
b) Loans-in agreement number 
c) Date received 
d) Institution received from 
e) Simple name 
f) Date scheduled for return 
g) Date returned 
h) Location 

33. The unique Object Entry number for each item or group of items is to 
be attached to the object(s) wherever possible with a tie on label.  
Where this is not possible because the item is on display the label 
should be placed underneath the object. 

34. A Loans-in Receipt should be completed and a copy sent to the Owner 
to confirm safe arrival of the item.  A copy is also to be retained by 
Tamworth Castle in the Loans-in file. The receipt requires the following 
information to be recorded: 

a) Loan-in Agreement Number 
b) Owner’s name and contact details 
c) Item(s) received with information on their unique museum 

number, description and condition note. As most Item(s) on loan 
to Tamworth Castle will be accompanied by a condition report, 
the Condition Note will reflect the condition report provided. The 
Condition Report may have already been provided and can be 
noted in the Condition Note section. 

d) Are there any hazards? If so, they are to be identified before 
arrival of the item(s). 

e) Reason for Receipt e.g. temporary exhibition 
f) Note any accompanying documents e.g. Condition Report. 
g) Despatched by - shipper, contractor or owner’s name 
h) Received by member of staff and dated. 

35. The location of all the items is to be recorded both in the Loans-in Log 
and a record should also be made in the Loans-in file.  If a number of 
items are placed on display in Tamworth Castle it might be preferable 
to record the location of items on a plan of Tamworth Castle according 
to Tamworth Castle Display and Storage Location List. 

 
Monitoring the Loan 
 

36. The loaned items are subject to the same environmental monitoring 
and conditions checks as other objects under Tamworth Castle’s care.  
See Integrated Pest Management Strategy, Environmental Monitoring 

Page 325



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

Policy and Procedures, Housekeeping Policy and Procedures and 
Condition Checking Policy and Procedures.  Reference to reports 
describing conditions in rooms in which loaned objects are stored 
should be noted in the Loans-in files for loaned objects. 

37. The loaned items are also subject to the Location and Movement 
Control Policy.  Up to date location records must be maintained about 
the objects at all times. The location of an object should be recorded on 
the Object Entry Form, these details should be correct at the end of 
every working day.   

38. The movement of Loans-in is subject to the Location and Movement 
Control Policy and Procedures and requires the use of movement 
tickets, the same as any objects under Tamworth Castle’s care. This 
particularly applies if the loan(s) have to be moved out of the Castle, to 
the off-site store for example or for any reason, other than an 
emergency. Movement of objects must first be approved by the Lender. 

39. Any change in circumstances, (e.g. damage) is to be reported to the 
owner even if items on loan are not directly affected (e.g. attempted 
theft of other loaned items). In the case of serious damage an Incident 
Report form should be used.  Blank copies of the Incident Report form 
are kept in the forms folder in Holloway Lodge HL1 beneath the 
Holding Bay shelf. 

 
Changes in Ownership 
 

40. In the case where Ownership of the items has changed during the 
period of the loan, a new loan agreement with the new Owner will be 
required for the loan to continue. The new Owner will be required to 
prove their legal title to the items prior to their being despatched to 
them or prior to the signing of a new loan agreement. If ownership 
changes during the loan period a new Indemnity Certificate will also be 
required. 

 
Renewal of Loan/Extension of Period 
 

41. A Loan-in can be renewed for a specific reason and time.  Renewals 
should be completed within the timescales specified in the Loans-in 
Policy.  

42. If the Loan-in is to be renewed a new Loan-in Agreement should be 
prepared ensuring that the valuation reflects the agreed value, a 
condition report has been sent if the owner has requested one, and the 
documentation, such as the Loans-in Log has been updated with the 
new date for return. 

43. If a Loan is returned before the indemnity expiry date the Government 
Indemnity must be cancelled. 

 
Termination of the Loan 
 

44. Arrange for the return of the Loan, and confirm packing, transport and 
receipt arrangements as agreed. 

Page 326



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$cw54tou4.doc 

45. Complete a final condition report on the items, taking photographs if 
required. 

46. Items are to be packed referring to original packing notes and photos 
where these exist.  Original packing should be re-used if it has been 
kept. 

47. The original Object Entry form is to be sent with the object(s) to the 
Lender to sign to acknowledge return of the object.  If Tamworth Castle 
is unable to obtain the Lender’s signature to acknowledge return 
Tamworth Castle will record in the Loans-in file its steps taken to obtain 
the Owner’s acknowledgement of receipt. Tamworth Castle will obtain 
the shipper’s acknowledgement of the item being received by them and 
forward a copy to the Owner advising in a letter that Tamworth Castle 
ceased having responsibility on the date the item was received by the 
shipper. 

48. The Loans-in Log is to be updated with the return date.  
49. The documentation is to be retained as a permanent record and audit 

trail of the loan. 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

Tamworth Castle 
Image Usage / Reproduction Policy 

 

Introduction 
 
Purpose 

1. The purpose of this policy is to enable Tamworth Castle to provide usage 
and / or copies from the Photographic Collections, which for the 
purposes of this policy also refers to prints, negatives and slides, thus 
increasing access to Tamworth Castle's Collections.  It therefore 
describes when image usage / reproduction requests will be dealt with, 
how the requests will be dealt with, who is responsible for dealing with 
the request and the type of usage / reproduction it is possible to provide.   

 

Scope 
2. The policy applies to:- 

a) All requests for usage / copy of images received by Tamworth 
Castle relating to photographs, prints, negatives and slides in the 
collections, these can be via:- e-mail, telephone, in writing or in 
person. 

3. The policy does not apply to:- 
a) Enquiries about objects in Tamworth Castle’s collections or other 

archive material, this is covered by the Enquiries Policy and 
Procedures. 

b) Requests for copies / usage of photographs, prints, negatives or 
slides not owned by Tamworth Castle. 

 
When Will Requests be Dealt With? 

4. Requests for image usage / reproduction can be time consuming and so 
will only be dealt with on Mondays.  Even if requests are received 
throughout the week they are to be diarised for action on the next 
available Monday, or the following day if it is a Bank Holiday. 

5. The only exception to this rule is if a request is marked as urgent or if a 
date is specified for a reply, that is earlier than the next available 
Monday.  An extra charge is levied for a quicker response, see 
Photograph Order Form for price list. 

 
Response to Requests 

6. When a request for usage or copy is received in person it is to be 
recorded on an Image Request Form, noting the contact details of the 
person or company making the request, the details of the image(s) to be 
used / copied, the appropriate sections for usage noted / deleted, and 
signed, and the total cost for usage / copying.   

7. If the request is by email, telephone or via a third party such as the 
Tamworth Information Centre or Tamworth Library a copy of the Image 
Request Form (including the Terms and Conditions sheet with costs) 
should be emailed, or posted out to the person(s) or company making 
the request. 

8. Requests from third parties will not be accepted over the telephone. 
9. Requests will not be processed until the Image Request form has been 

signed by the person(s) or company making the request, and returned by 
email or post and payment has been received.  This is to prevent 
unnecessary location and reproduction of image(s) at the expense of 
Tamworth Castle and staff time.   

Page 329



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

10. Within one week of receiving a completed Image Request form it must be 
responded to, acknowledging receipt of the request and outlining the 
timescales likely in providing the image(s).   

11. Requests are to be responded to by the same means in which the order 
was received i.e.: in person, by telephone, e-mail or letter.  A standard 
format for a letter or e-mail is appended to this policy. 

12. The request will be dealt with on the next available Monday, or the next 
day if this is a Bank Holiday and the photograph(s) located. The 
person(s) or company requesting the photograph(s) will then be 
contacted and advised of the outcome of the request and whether or not 
usage or copies can be provided from the image(s) requested.  

13. Copyright of the image(s) must be checked before responding to the 
person(s) or company requesting usage or copy.  Not all of the 
photographs, prints, negatives and slides in Tamworth Castle's 
collections are the copyright of Tamworth Castle. 

 
Responsibility and Authorisation 

14. It is the responsibility of the Collections Officer to receive requests for 
usage / copy of image(s).  Wherever possible the initial request will be 
re-directed to the Collections Officer.  However, in their absence it is 
acceptable for any member of staff or volunteer to take the details of  

 a request regarding image usage or reproduction, and pass it on to the 
 Collections Officer when they are next available, whilst notifying the 
 person(s) or company that this will be the process. 
15. Only the Collections Officer is responsible for responding to image 

requests / orders for usage or copy.  In the absence of the Collections 
Officer, and if the request is urgent the Heritage and Visitor Services 
Manager is the only other member of staff who should respond. 

16. If a request is urgent and the Collections Officer needs to deal with it 
before the next available designated Monday, the Collections Officer 
needs to be mindful of other work priorities, and if necessary seek advice 
from the Heritage and Visitor Services Manager. 

 
Information Available 

17. Under the Freedom of Information Act (2002) local authorities are 
required to allow as much access as possible to their archives and 
collections.  Therefore a person or company making a request should be 
provided with as much information as possible.  They should also be 
offered the opportunity to be allowed to visit the Collections and see the 
image(s) that they are requesting before making payment. 

18. If there is any doubt as to the implications of the Freedom of Information 
Act on Tamworth Castle’s Photographic collections, especially as to its 
effect on private image(s) deposited at Tamworth Castle, consult the 
Information Security Manager for  Tamworth Borough Council on ext 
587, or the Solicitor for Tamworth Borough Council on ext 258, before 
responding to a request, particularly where usage is for public broadcast 
by television programme, documentary, film or via the internet. 

19. It is also important to be aware of copyright legislation (see Collections 
Trust copyright factsheet).  If a person or a company requests usage or 
copy of an image it must first be established whether Tamworth Castle 
owns the copyright to the image.  

 
 

Page 330



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

20. If Tamworth Castle does not own the copyright it must be checked to see 
if copyright is still likely to be in existence for the image by using the 
Collections Trust fact sheet, or in the case of a private image by 
contacting the donor / owner. 

21. The person or company requesting usage or copy of an image not in the 
copyright of Tamworth Castle should be notified that checking copyright 
with the donor / owner may incur a delay in providing the image. 

 
Payments 
22. The method of payment is to be received by Tamworth Castle, by Visa / 

MasterCard / Debit card payment, (American Express is not accepted), 
cash or cheque in £ sterling, and processed through the shop till so that  

 a receipt is issued. 
 Cheques must be made payable to Tamworth Borough Council.   
 Two copies of the till receipt should be printed off. One copy to be 
 provided to the person or company requesting the image, the second  
 copy is to be attached to the completed Request form.  
 See Completed Request section. 
23. BACS payments are accepted for invoice / company payments.  
 Full bank details are required from any company making a BACS 
 payment. 
24. Requests from non-UK sources such as the USA and Australia are 
 subject to a surcharge to cover exchange rates and UK banking 
 charges. 
25.  Any surcharge for non-UK requests should be agreed in conjunction  
  with Tamworth Borough Council's Finance officers at the time of the 
 request. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 331



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

 
Tamworth Castle 

Image Usage / Reproduction Staff Procedures 
 

Requests 
1. An Image Request form is to be completed ensuring a signature from the 

person or company making the request is obtained.   
2. Blank Image Request forms with price list attached are located in the 

Forms Folder on the shelf below the Holding Bay, HL1 Holloway Lodge, 
or the Photograph Orders file in filing cabinet 1, HL1 Holloway Lodge.     

3. Payment is to be received before any request for image usage / 
reproduction is carried out. This is to ensure that images are not located / 
copied unnecessarily.   

4. The method of payment is to be received by Tamworth Castle, by card 
payment, cash or cheque in £ sterling and processed through the shop 
till so that a receipt is issued. 

 Cheques must be made payable to Tamworth Borough Council.   
 Two copies of the till receipt should be printed off. One copy to be 
  provided to the person or company requesting the image, the second  
 copy is to be attached to the completed Request form.  
 See Completed Request section. 
5. BACS payments are accepted for invoice / company payments. 
6. Requests from USA / Australia are subject to a surcharge to cover 
 exchange rates and bank charges.  
7. No refunds are available if the image does not meet the expectations of 
 the person(s) or company requesting the image.   
8. The person(s) or company requesting the usage or copy of an image 
 should be given a copy of the Terms and Conditions, which is usually 
 attached to the Image Request form. 

 
Timescales 

9. The person(s) or company making a request for usage or copy of an 
 image should be advised of the timescales for providing the image.   
10.Image requests are only to be dealt with on the designated day – 
 Mondays.  On this day images for usage or copy should be located, 
 removed from the storage, copyright checked and scanned / copied.   
11.For items removed from storage it is important to remember to complete 
 a Movement Ticket and file the top copy in the Movement File (see 
 Collections Documentation Policy 2014 for further details), if it is 
 expected that the image(s) will not be returned to storage within the 
 same working day. 

 
Reproduction 

12. The Collections Officer is to copy the image(s) using the flat bed HP 
 scanner or the MiniScan, and save the image to the shared drive 
 (S\drive) on the Tamworth Borough Council website under Castle. 
13. In cases where an image is requested frequently it will be possible to 
 select the image(s) from the shared drive as previously scanned and 
 saved. 
14. Following payment the image(s) can be emailed out to the person / 
 company requesting them, or they can be sent via drop box websites if 
 the image size is too large, or several images have been requested.  

Page 332



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

15. If a printed copy of the image(s) is requested the printer in Holloway 
 Lodge office is capable of reproducing good quality images, using 
 photograph paper up to A4 size. 
16. Sizes A3 + cannot be printed out from the printer in the Holloway Lodge 
 office.  For these sizes it will be necessary to liaise with Tamworth 
 Information Centre who have the facility to print out to that size; TBC 
 Planning department who have large scanner / plotter printers.  
 ACE Copying at Kettlebrook provide a printing service and can receive  
 an image by email / disk / memory stick on request.  Printing costs  
 available on request from ACE Copying. 

 
17. For the reproduction of negatives it is possible to use the MiniScan and 
 MiniScan light box.  

 Depending on the intended usage and quality required it may be  
 necessary to request the assistance of the Web Digitisation Technician, 
 for Staffordshire Archives and Heritage, based at Shugborough, with  
 facilities for reproducing negatives. Reproduction / printing costs from
 Shugborough available on request. 
 
Completed requests 

18.One copy of the payment till receipt should be given / sent to the person /  
 company requesting the image(s).  Where the image(s) is not collected / 
 received in person, receipts can be scanned and emailed along with the 
 image(s), or separately, or posted out with the hard copy image. 
19. Once the request has been completed and the till receipt attached to the 
 form this can then be filed in filing cabinet 1, HL1, Holloway Lodge in the 
 Photographic Orders file. 
20. From 2012 requests are logged on a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet, as 
 name / date / request / what image(s) / usage / media provided in (email / 
 disk / hard copy) similar to the one used to log Enquiries / Access to 
 Archives / Collections, and provided as an annual report to the Heritage 
 and Visitor Services Manager at the end of the year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G 
G 
G 
G 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 333



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$vcdjyjmk.doc 

 
Tamworth Castle 

Standard Responses to Requests for Image Usage / Reproduction 
 

Response to Request 
 
Dear (name) Mr/Mrs/Miss (Surname) / Company 
 
Thank you very much for your request for this / these image(s). 
I can confirm that we hold this / these image(s) in our collections and we can 
provide a copy of the image(s).   
I attach an order form for you to complete, along with a copy of the Terms and 
Conditions for you to read as well as the scale of charges.  Please tell us what 
format you would like the image in: email / disk / hard copy. 
Please return the completed order form with payment to Tamworth Castle as 
soon as possible, and we will process your request.  Cheques should be 
made payable to Tamworth Borough Council. Payment can also be made by 
credit card over the telephone. 
Should you have any questions do not hesitate to contact me via e-mail or 
telephone on: 01827 709 631. 
 

Many thanks 
(Name) 
Collections Officer 
 

Page 334



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$itjk0hv0.doc 

 

 
           Tamworth Castle 

Image Usage / Reproduction Request Form 
 
I / we request Tamworth Castle to supply copy / reproduction of the image(s) 
detailed below which I / we require for research* / private use* / reproduction* / 
publication* / television* / film* / commercial use* (*delete as applicable).   
I / we undertake not to use the copy / reproduction supplied except as indicated 
above, without the written permission of Tamworth Castle, and will use it only subject 
to the Terms and Conditions overleaf.  I / we will provide payment with the order - 
(or commercially, upon invoice) 
 

Please note that images will not be released, nor permission granted, until this form is 
completed and returned with your payment. 

 
Name………………………………………………………………………………….... 
 
Company / Organisation.................................................................................... 
 
Address………………………………………………………………………………..... 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………….... 
 
Phone No. & E-mail…………………………………………………………………..... 
 
 
Signature……………………………………………………..Date…………………... 
 

Images taken with own camera will be for private use only: 
 
Signature..........................................................................Date........................... 
[ 

 

Image / 
Format 

Original 
size 

Date 
requested 

Reproduction / 
Format 

Cost 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

Images burned to CD £5.00 

                                                                       Postage & Packing * £2.50 

Total cost  £ 

Page 335



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\3\AI00004320\$itjk0hv0.doc 

 

 
                    Tamworth Castle 

Image Usage / Reproduction Costs 
 

 Less than A4 A4 A3 From Slides / 
Negatives  

Documents 

 B/W  Colour B/W Colour B/W Colour B/W Colour  

Non-commercial 
use. 
Scan or hard copy 

 
£4.00 

 
£5.00 

 
£5.00 

 
£6.00 

 
£6.00 

 
£7.00 

 
£8.00 

 
£10.00 

£5.00 per 
single sheet + 

£1.00 each 
thereafter 

Commercial use / 
Public display 
Scan or hard copy 

 
£8.00 

 
£10.00 

 
£10.00 

 
£12.00 

 
£12.00 

 
£14.00 

 
£18.00 

 
£20.00 

£10.00 per 
single sheet + 

£2.00 each 
thereafter  

 
TV  / Film / Website 

 

 
£20.00  per image + £5.00 per image thereafter 

 

  
£22.00 

  
£25.00 

£25.00 per 
single sheet + 

£2.00 each 
thereafter 

USA / Australia / World  Surcharges apply. Rates provided on request. 

Image(s) burned to CD £5.00  

Postage and packing  £2.50 

 
Image Usage / Reproduction Terms and Conditions 

Availability 
Copy images in the collections of Tamworth Castle (images / commissioned images / 
documents) may be purchased (if not prevented by copyright law) subject to the physical 
condition of the original in our possession and the requirements of copying.    
Copyright 
If the image required is not Tamworth Castle's copyright, it is the responsibility of those 
requiring the copy to obtain written permission from the copyright owner, and provide it to 
Tamworth Castle before the order will be accepted.  No transfer of copyright is permissible 
or implied by the supply of a print or scan from an original image. 
Print Quality for images 
It is not always possible to obtain a perfect match to an original image due to differences in 
tone and colour caused by copying processes.  Reproduction size will be the same as the 
original, unless otherwise requested.  Poor quality originals may not enlarge well.  Images up 
to A3 size can be copied on glossy paper in black and white, or colour, according to the 
original.  Digital copies of images on CD can be provided if required at an additional charge 
of £5.00 
Use of Image 
Public display / Publication / Broadcast / Web use requires acknowledgment in the following 
credit line form: ‘Reproduced by kind permission of Tamworth Castle’.   
The minimum acknowledgement required is title and credit line.  50% of the original fee will 
be charged for incorrect or insufficient acknowledgment. Tamworth Castle may, at the 
discretion of the management, accept a copy of a published work in lieu of a facility fee. 
Timescales 
All requests are dealt with on Mondays only. Images will be available by the following 
Monday at the latest. Faster reproduction will incur an extra charge of £5.00. 
Payment 
Payments can be made in cash, by Debit / Credit card, BACS, or by cheque payable to: 
Tamworth Borough Council.   
Commercial / company requests can be invoiced if valued over £50, subject to receipt of the 
completed request form from your company.   
USA / Australia / World requests are subject to a surcharge applied appropriately on the day 
to cover exchange rates and UK banking charges. 
No refunds can be given. Postage & packing is charged at £2.50 

Page 336



Appendix 2             Tamworth Castle 
Documentation Backlog  - Action Plan – 2014 - 2019 

 
 
 

New timescales had to be developed for this Backlog Action Plan due to the impact that the events and changes at Tamworth Castle 
and the museum stores had on Castle staff. All staff were required to pick up extra tasks before and during the Staffordshire Hoard 
touring exhibition, the HLF project, and the capital works on Tamworth Castle and motte between April 2011 and July 2013 

 
 

 

Documentation Actions 

Action Procedure Performance 
Indicator 

Date Comments 

Make an inventory of all items held in the Castle 
Collections 

List every item on a new spreadsheet 
noting name, temporary number, 
accession number, brief description, 
location, notes 
 
Items without a number should be 
given a temporary number 

Inventory 
completed 

May 2009 to 
Oct 2011 

Completed 
June 2014 

Use inventory to update existing object card system, 
with information for missing objects including, 
location and accession number information 

Go through inventory and transfer new 
information to object cards 

All cards are 
updated with 
inventory 
information 

Nov 2011    Revised 
timescale  
Sept 2014 – 
Sept 2015 

Reconcile the new inventory with existing 
documentation: Aim is to: 
a) Assign an accession number to objects that 
previously had no number but which now 
have a temporary number 

b) Match up objects to specific documentation 
where documentation was previously 
inadequate, including checking numbering 
sequences and matching objects to 
descriptions 

c) Match documentation to objects that were 
previously thought lost and have now been 
located 

 

Go through all existing documentation: 
day books, accessions registers, 
objects cards, catalogues and match 
each object to a corresponding entry in 
the new inventory. 
 

Replace temporary numbers with true 
accessions numbers if a match is found 
 

Ensure documentation is updated with 
data transferred from old records if 
required 
 

Ensure objects are recorded with one 
accession number only 

Log to be kept 
on inventory 
when numbers 
are matched / 
located, 
keeping 
ongoing record 
of success. 
 
 

Nov 2011 – 
June 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised 
timescale  
Oct 2014 – 
Oct 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 337



Action Procedure Performance 
Indicator 

Date Comments 

Assess remaining unnumbered items and take a 
decision if they are to be accessioned or disposed of 

Collections Officer and Heritage and 
Visitor Services Manager to discuss 
and make recommendations. Full lists 
to be produced  and all decisions 
documented 

Meeting held, 
items 
documented 
and draft report 
prepared for 
Cabinet 

May 2012 Revised 
timescale 
Dec 2016 

Accession un-numbered objects that are to remain 
within the collections 

Treat all items as though they are a 
new acquisition.  
Complete an entry form but note that 
the items has been found in store 
 
Where possible if any documentation 
exists, try to contact the donor to obtain 
a signature confirming transfer of title 
as part of the entry process. 
 
Assign an accession number from 
within the current year 

All items 
accessioned 

June 2012 
to 
Oct 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised 
timescale 
Jan 2017 –  
Jan 2018 

Designate items for disposal Collate all documentation, and 
photograph the objects 
Explore avenues to contact the donors 
to inform them of the decision to 
dispose 
 
Follow Castle procedures for the 
disposal of objects 

Meeting held, 
and draft report 
prepared for 
Cabinet 

June 2012 
to Oct 2012 

Revised 
timescale 
Dec 2016 –  
March 2017 

Collate documentation for which no objects have 
been found and formally deaccession the objects 

Follow Castle de-accession procedures 
within Collections Development Policy 

Commence 
procedures for  
de-
accessioning 

June 2012 
to Oct 2012 

Revised 
timescale 
Jan 2017 – 
July 2017 

 
 

P
age 338



Action Procedure Performance 
Indicator 

Date Comments 

Update the Accessions register with reconciled 
items and new items found as a result of the 
reconciliation process 

Enter all new accessioned 
items into the accession 
register 
 

Enter all items into the 
accession register that may 
have updated information (e.g. 
donors, description) from 
reconciliation process. 
 

Amend numbers that have 
been recorded incorrectly 
 
Where numbers have been 
duplicated, ensure one item is 
re-accessioned with its original 
number and cross reference 
with the most recent/re-
accessioned number  
 

Re-copy all amended pages of 
the accessions register to 
ensure the secure off-site copy 
is up to date 

Accession 
register 
completed and 
up to date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2012 
to Oct 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised 
timescale 
Jan 2017 – 
Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commence a comprehensive programme to update 
the catalogue information held for all objects 
including the object cards and introduce a new 
database system 

Update catalogue cards to 
complete all sections in full 
 

Create a new database 
catalogue for all objects using 
MODES XML 

Catalogues 
updated and 
complete 

Oct 2012 to 
Sept 2015 

Revised 
timescale 
Jan 2017 – 
Jan 2018 

Review object exit documentation including sorting 
and filing previous paperwork 

Check that all documentation 
can be traced for historic object 
exits 

Documentation 
sorted and filed.  
Any new records 
kept in 
appropriate files 

Oct 2015 Revised 
timescale 
Feb 2018 – 
April 2018 

 

P
age 339



 

Action Procedure Performance 
Indicator 

Date Comments 

Review and reconcile outstanding Loans –in and 
Loans Out 

Collate and check through all 
Loans files. 
Contact owners where records 
are incomplete. Aim to reduce 
loans including re-establishing 
terms and potential donations 
and issue new and updated 
loan agreements if required. 

All loans-in and 
Loans-out 
agreements 
filed, current  
and within date 

Oct 2015 to 
Sept 2016 

Revised 
timescale 
Feb 2018 – 
April 2018 

Update catalogue for photograph collection Re-catalogue on MODES XML Catalogue 
completed 

Dec 2015 – 
June 2016 

Revised 
timescale 
April 2018 
– Dec 2018 

 
 

 

P
age 340



Dear Mr. Goodwin, 
  
A meeting is being held on the 27th November 2014 by Tamworth Borough 
Council entitled “Golf Course Disposal of Asset”. I notice on the website that 
this meeting is to be held in private and that the public are not able to attend. 
  
I would be grateful if you could clarify the reason for holding this meeting in 
private as I believe it should be a public meeting due to the following: 
  
Information is not exempt if it relates to proposed development for which the 
local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to 
Regulation 3 of the Town & Country Planning General Regulations 1992(a). 
  
The disposal of the golf course asset does relate to proposed development 
and the local planning authority do plan to apply and grant itself planning 
permission. 
  
I believe this meeting is in the public interest, the people of Tamworth have a 
right to know how the site will be disposed, when the site will be disposed, 
which parts of the site and how much the site disposal will generate financially 
for the borough. 
  
I believe this meeting should be changed to allow the public to attend. 
  
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 

Page 341

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Dear Tony, 
 
I have just noticed that part of the proceedings of the above meeting has been 
marked Exempt which excludes the public from the chamber.  
 
Could you kindly advice me why the council has decided to exclude members 
of the public from attending the debate on the disposal of Amington Golf 
course assets.  
 
What is so sensitive that would warrant the public be excluded? 
 
Should there not be clear transparency in this matter, has the council’s 
previous lack of engagement with the residents of Amington taught them 
nothing. This kind of action will only lead to further claims of conspiracy or 
cover up.  
 
I would therefore respectfully ask that you & your cabinet reconsider the 
decision to exempt the public. This would enable the public and especially 
Amington residents to see that Tamworth Council actually operate in an open, 
transparent and accountable manner. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you in due course. 
 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



Chief Executive’s response 
 
The website provides the reason for the restriction – Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  There is information in the 
report relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
 
As the proper officer of the Council my paramount consideration is 
accountability, openness and transparency in the decision making process.  
However there are situations where it is appropriate to restrict agenda items 
given the nature of the information contained in an officer’s report.  This is 
such a situation.  The report contains sensitive information which could result 
in misleading the public and affect potential commercial transactions. The 
nature of the report and associated documents are such that by being public 
at this stage could have an adverse affect on the proposed development.  It is 
my opinion that this report should be confidential at this early stage in the 
disposal process. 
 
This is the first time any agenda item regarding the golf course has been 
confidential. This is to ensure potential purchasers do not have an unfair 
advantage once the land is for sale.  
 
In addition, elements of which parts of the site will be for sale - along with the 
Section 106 Agreements - are still in draft and subject to change.  
 
Full details of the documents will be released at the earliest opportunities to 
potential purchasers and the public once the information is no longer 
considered commercially sensitive. This is likely to be early next year when 
the final details regarding the site have been released to the market place. 
 
The purpose of next week’s Cabinet report is to set out the methods of how 
the land could be disposed of. Councillors will also be discussing what could 
be included in the Section 106 Agreement at the point of sale. These 
agreements are financial contributions to areas such as education, highways, 
open space and providing health, to name just a few.  
 
A planning application for outline permission is likely to be submitted later this 
year. This will include changes made to the masterplan following last month’s 
consultation.  
 
Recommendations being put to Tamworth Borough Council’s Cabinet 
include: 

• Money from the sale of the land to be either be held for future 
regeneration or invest to save projects  

• Using the Home and Communities Agency framework to appoint 
specialist sales and marketing agents  

• Key head of terms – these include which part of the site is for sale, 
what conditions will be imposed and what land will be retained within 
the council’s ownership  

• The Leader of the Council, Cabinet member and key senior council 
officers to approve final sale documentation  

Page 345



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 351

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 371

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 373

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Draft Base Budget Forecasts 2015/16 to 2019/20
	7 Quarter Two 2014/15 Performance Report
	Enc. 1 for Quarter Two 2014/15 Performance Report

	8 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2014/15
	Enc. 1 for Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2014/15
	Enc. 2 for Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2014/15

	9 Council Taxbase 2015/16
	Enc. 1 for Council Taxbase 2015/16

	10 Cabinet Report for Write Offs 01/4/14 - 30/9/14
	Enc. 1 for Cabinet Report for Write Offs 01/4/14 - 30/9/14

	11 I am Tamworth
	Enc. 1 for I am Tamworth Project Plan
	Enc. 2 for I am Tamworth Project Risk Assesment
	Enc. 3 for I am Tamworth Budget

	12 Tamworth Castle Accreditation Supplementary
	Tamworth Castle Emergency Plan
	Holloway Lodge Access
	Tamworth Castle collections store access
	Collections Documentation Policy & Procedures (CDP)
	CDP Accessions Policy & Procedures
	CDP Labelling & Marking
	CDP Cataloguing
	CDP Backlog Policy & Procedures
	CDP Location & Movement
	CDP Loans Out Policy & Procedures
	CDP Loans in Policy & Procedures
	CDP Image Usage / Reproduction Policy & Procedures
	CDP Image Usage / Reproduction form
	CDP Documentation Backlog Action Plan

	13 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	Representation 2 27.11.14
	Chief Executive's Response

	14 Golf Course Disposal of Asset
	Enc. 1 for Golf Course Disposal of Asset
	Enc. 2 for Golf Course Disposal of Asset
	Enc. 3 for Golf Course Disposal of Asset


